Western Indian Ocean JOURNAL OF Marine Science

Volume 22 | Issue 2 | Jul - Dec 2023 | e-ISSN 2683-6416



$\begin{array}{c} \textbf{Western Indian Ocean} \\ \textbf{J O U R N A L O F} \\ \textbf{Marine Science} \end{array}$

Chief Editor José Paula | Faculty of Sciences of University of Lisbon, Portugal

Copy Editor Timothy Andrew

Editorial Board	Blandina LUGENDO	Atanásio BRITO	Nyawira MUTHIGA Kenya
Salomão BANDEIRA	Talizallia	Mozambique	Reliya
Mozambique	Aviti MMOCHI Tanzania	Sean FENNESSY South Africa	Ronel NEL South Africa
Ranjeet BHAGOOLI Mauritius	Cosmas MUNGA Kenya	Lena GIPPERTH Sweden	Brent NEWMAN South Africa
Louis CELLIERS		Issufo HALO	Sérgio BOSENDO
Germany	Associate Editors	South Africa	UK
Pascale CHABANET France	Serge ANDRÉFOUËT French Polynesia	Kassim KULINDWA Tanzania	Melita SAMOILYS Kenya
Bernadine EVERETT	Chandani APPADOO	Thierry LAVITRA	Max TROELL
South Africa	Mauritius	Madagascar	Sweden
Johan GROENEVELD South Africa	Jared BOSIRE Kenya	Joseph MAINA Australia	

Published biannually

Aims and scope: The *Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science* provides an avenue for the wide dissemination of high quality research generated in the Western Indian Ocean (WIO) region, in particular on the sustainable use of coastal and marine resources. This is central to the goal of supporting and promoting sustainable coastal development in the region, as well as contributing to the global base of marine science. The journal publishes original research articles dealing with all aspects of marine science and coastal management. Topics include, but are not limited to: theoretical studies, oceanography, marine biology and ecology, fisheries, recovery and restoration processes, legal and institutional frameworks, and interactions/relationships between humans and the coastal and marine environment. In addition, *Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science* features state-of-the-art review articles and short communications. The journal will, from time to time, consist of special issues on major events or important thematic issues. Submitted articles are subjected to standard peer-review prior to publication.

Manuscript submissions should be preferably made via the African Journals Online (AJOL) submission platform (http://www.ajol.info/index.php/wiojms/about/submissions). Any queries and further editorial correspondence should be sent by e-mail to the Chief Editor, wiojms@fc.ul.pt. Details concerning the preparation and submission of articles can be found in each issue and at http://www.wiomsa.org/wio-journal-of-marinescience/ and AJOL site.

Disclaimer: Statements in the Journal reflect the views of the authors, and not necessarily those of WIOMSA, the editors or publisher.

Copyright © 2023 – Western Indian Ocean Marine Science Association (WIOMSA) No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means without permission in writing from the copyright holder. e-ISSN 2683-6416



$\begin{array}{c} \textbf{Western Indian Ocean} \\ \textbf{J O U R N A L O F} \\ \textbf{Marine Science} \end{array}$

Volume 22 | Issue 2 | Jul – Dec 2023

Table of Contents

A decade of the Blue Economy concept in the western Indian Ocean region: research and technology perspectives	
Majuto C. Manyilizu	01
Suitability of a superheated steam dryer for drying sardines	
Prissillah Antelm, Leonard M.P. Rweyemamu, Lillian D. Kaale	13
Hydrodynamics of nearshore coastal waters: Implications for marine cage farming in Kenya	
David O. Mirera, Athman Salim, Josyline Kendi	25
Lessons for ensuring continued community participation in a mangrove blue carbon conservation and restoration project in Madagascar	
Lalao A. Ravaoarinorotsihoarana, Jenny Maltby, Leah Glass, Jenny Oates, Cicelin Rakotomahazo, Dolce A. Randrianandrasaziky, Lantoasinoro N. Ranivoarivelo, Thierry Lavitra	43
Feeding habits and diet composition of <i>Octopus cyanea</i> (Gray, 1849) in Zanzibar waters, Tanzania	
Amini I. Hamad, Christopher A. Muhando	61
Salinity tolerance of Nile tilapia (<i>Oreochromis niloticus</i>) to seawater and growth responses to different feeds and culture systems David O. Mirera, Douglas Okemwa	75
Diet and trophic interactions between catadromous eels and sympatric fish in Kenyan east flowing river systems	
Japhet K. Tembo, Charles M. Kihia, Nzula K. Kitaka, Gordon O'Brien, Céline Hanzen, Emmanuel Mbaru, Kariuki C. Wanjiru	87
Phthalates in marine sediment, water and the cockle <i>Anadara antiquata</i> on the coast of Tanzania	
Sai Ngassa, Cyprian Mpinda, Kessy Kilulya, Rose Masalu	107
Seasonal variation in mineral concentrations of four marine fish species retained by fishers in Vanga and Msambweni, Kenya	
Athman Mwakaribu, Cosmas Munga, Paul Njihia	125
River discharge, fishing effort and catch composition of prawn fisheries in coastal Tanzania	
Mathew O. Silas, Said S. Mgeleka, Simon J. Kangwe	135
Mitigating proximate impacts of tropical cyclone landfalls in the Southwest Indian Ocean	
Charles Serele, Michel Kouadio, Francois Kayitakire	147

Instructions for Authors

Original Article

A decade of the Blue Economy concept in the western Indian Ocean region: research and technology perspectives

Majuto C. Manyilizu^{1*} ()

¹ Department of Computer Science and Engineering, College of Informatics and Virtual Education, The University of Dodoma, PO Box 490, Dodoma, Tanzania

■ Open access

Citation:

Manyilizu MC (2023) A decade of the Blue Economy concept in the western Indian Ocean region: research and technology perspectives. Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science 22(2): 1-11 [doi: 10.4314/wiojms.v22i2.1]

Western Indian Ocean JOURNAL OF Marine Science

Received: October 20, 2022

Accepted: June 14, 2023

Published: October 2, 2023

Copyright:

Owned by the journal. The articles are open access articles distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY 4.0) licence.

* Corresponding author: majuto.manyilizu@udom.ac.tz Abstract

The World Bank defines the Blue Economy as "the sustainable use of ocean resources for economic growth, improved livelihoods, and jobs while preserving the health of the ocean ecosystem". The implementation of Blue Economy concept at global, continental, regional and country levels have had mixed results since its origin in 2012. Here, a systematic review of progress in the western Indian Ocean region is undertaken, focused on research and technology between 2012 and 2021. Apart from applications to ocean modelling, big data and satellite data, the term Blue Economy did not appear as a key term in most publications from the region, suggesting that it is not well understood or researched. Existing studies aligned with three Africa Blue Economy Strategy thematic areas: (1st) fisheries, aquaculture and ecosystem conservation; (3rd) environmental sustainability, climate change and coastal infrastructure; and (5th) policies, institutional and governance. Multi-disciplinary and multi-institutional collaborations focusing on technology are required to boost Blue Economy implementation in the Western Indian Ocean region, including for thematic areas for shipping transportation and trade (2nd) and sustainable energy, extractive minerals, gas, and innovative industries (4th).

Keywords: Blue Economy, ocean economy, ocean model, satellite data, western Indian Ocean, Africa Blue Economy Strategy

Introduction

The concept of the Blue Economy originated from the United Nations Conference for Sustainable Development held in Rio de Janeiro in Brazil in 2012 (UNC-TAD, 2014). Although the concept is interchangeably referred as "Ocean Economy" or "Marine Economy", the term "Blue Economy" is currently widely used at international, regional and national levels. It is considered as the mid-neutral factor to resolve the two long term competing/conflicting discourses around opportunities of growth and development through ocean resources, and protection of the healthy ocean ecosystems threatened by socio-economic activities (Voyer *et al.*, 2018). The United Nations concept paper defined the Blue Economy as an ocean economy that aims at "the improvement of human well-being and social equity, while significantly reducing environmental risks and ecological scarcities" (UN, 2014). In 2017, the World Bank provided a comprehensive definition of the Blue Economy as "the sustainable use of ocean resources for economic growth, improved livelihoods, and jobs while preserving the health of ocean ecosystem" (World Bank, 2017). This definition was further emphasized in World Bank (2020).

Growth and development using ocean-based economic activities conflicts with the balance of the longterm capacity and protection of the health of ocean ecosystems to support the activities in a sustainable manner. Human activities are responsible for about 80 % of ocean pollution through dumping waste products including sewage, pesticides, industrial chemicals, and other solid waste, as well as through climate change, other forms of environment pollution, unsustainable fishing and unregulated coastal development (WWF, 2014; Tirumala and Tiwari, 2022). The Blue Economy is further defined as a "practical oceanbased economic model using green infrastructure and technologies, innovative financing mechanisms, and proactive institutional arrangements for meeting the twin goals of protecting our oceans and coasts, and enhancing their potential contribution to sustainable development, including improving human well-being, and reducing environmental risks and ecological scarcities" (PEMSEA, 2012; Tirumala and Tiwari, 2022). Therefore, the Blue Economy posits the inherent conflicts of ocean activities for economy and protection of the health of ocean ecosystems to support the activities in a sustainable manner.

Since the introduction of the Blue Economy concept in 2012, different studies have been conducted mainly with a focus at global and continental levels to achieve different objectives. For example, Lee et al. (2021) described the Blue Economy and the total environment through mapping the interface between the two, and Tirumala and Tiwari (2022) reported fewer financial flows for Blue Economy projects as compared to others types of investments. Furthermore, Lee et al. (2020) compared the scope and boundaries as well as the key stakeholders and their interests and roles between the Blue Economy and the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (UN SDGs) which were launched by the United Nations General Assembly (2015). Lee et al. (2020) found that the Blue Economy is highly associated with SDGs 14-17 although most stakeholders with direct or indirect involvement in the Blue Economy prefer to associate Blue Economy with SDG 3-Good health and well-being, and SDG 8-Decent work and economic growth.

At continental level, the Africa Blue Economy Strategy as narrated by Sacko (2020) indicates five critical blue economy sectors, considered as thematic areas including: a) fisheries, aquaculture and ecosystem conservation; b) shipping transportation and trade; c) sustainable energy, extractive minerals, gas, and innovative industries; d) environmental sustainability, climate change and coastal infrastructure; and e) policies, institutional and governance (https://www. au-ibar.org/strategy-documents). These critical thematic areas for the Blue Economy in Africa are considered to play significant roles for socio-economic development in different countries and should be of high priority for scientific research. The current development in computing (numerical modelling) in conjunction with the theories, observations and satellite data in the Blue Economy research field helps to avoid difficulties associated with each approach when used separately. Consequently, a better understanding of different aspects/factors related to the Blue Economy can be achieved, including perspectives in research and applied technology on this important topic, which is the subject of this study.

Blue Economy contribution and management approaches

The Blue Economy concept emphasizes the importance of embracing the opportunities related to economic activities from ocean resources and environments while recognizing and addressing ocean threats in order to preserve healthy ocean ecosystems in a sustainable manner. The contribution of the coastal and marine resources and related industries to the market value is estimated as USD 3 to 5 trillion making up about 5 % of the global Gross Domestic Product (GDP) (UN, 2015) and 15 %–20 % of GDP in some East Asian countries (Pauli, 2010).

The estimation of annual value generation in 2018 for the Africa Blue Economy sectors was USD 296 billion with 49 million jobs (AU-IBAR, 2019; Sacko, 2020). Such contribution to the African continent involves USD 80 billion from offshore oil and gas exploration, USD 80 billion with 24 million jobs from the tourism sectors, and about 3 % of the global shipping value with about 500 million tonnes of goods handled through the African harbours. Furthermore, fishing contributes to about USD 15 billion with about 13 million employees where the marine capture fisheries product is about 10 million tonnes providing food and nutritional security to 200 million Africans, contributing about 20 % or more of the animal protein consumed in Africa (AU-IBAR, 2019; Sacko, 2020). However, Agnew et al. (2009) reported that the illegal catch of seafood in world was at least 20 % leading to losses of about US\$ 10 and \$ 23 billion per year.

In Tanzania, Jiddawi and Öhman (2002) reported fishing as the main food source and commercial activity in the coastal communities which contribute about

2.1-5.0 % to the country's gross domestic product for mainland Tanzania and about 2.2-10.4 % for Zanzibar. Manyilizu et al. (2014; 2016) pointed out the recent discoveries of offshore oil and gas near Mtwara on the southern Tanzanian shelf are expected to boost the country's economy substantially. Moreover, marine and coastal shipping through the four major ports of Dar es Salaam, Zanzibar, Tanga and Mtwara, contributes significantly to the country's trade and income. These ports provide transport services to local communities as well as transit goods to landlocked countries such as Uganda, Rwanda, Burundi, Democratic Republic of Congo, Zambia and Malawi. The aforementioned socio-economic activities fall in the Blue Economy concept and involve formal planning and managing of marine fisheries, ecosystems and shipping as well as oil and gas extraction in the region.

There are different instruments and institutions supporting sustainable development of the Blue Economy from a global scale to national levels. The UN SDGs, endorsed by all member states in 2015, advocate potential solutions regarding the Blue Economy at the global level. The notable endorsement is through SDG-14-Life below water for conserving and sustainably use the oceans, seas and marine resources for sustainable development by 2030. The United Nations (UN) declared 2021-2030 as the "Decade of Ocean Science for Sustainable Development" to support efforts to reverse the cycle of the decline in ocean health and gather ocean stakeholders worldwide behind a common framework. Such a framework is aimed to ensure ocean science can fully support countries in creating improved conditions for sustainable development of the ocean.

The African Union Agenda 2063, the Africa we want, goal number 7 calls for accelerated economic growth of marine resources, renewable energy, ports operations and marine transport. This agenda is in line with the Policy Framework and Reform Strategy for Fisheries and Aquaculture in Africa (PFRS) as stated in AUC-NPCA (2014), the 2050 African Integrated Maritime Strategy (AIMS 2050) published in African Union (2012), Lome Charter on maritime security and safety and development in Africa 2016, the Africa Blue Economy Strategy launched in February 2020, and is supported by eight Regional Economic Communities (RECs), Regional Fisheries Bodies and Regional Seas Programmes. All these programmes support Blue Economy research and applications at the continental and regional levels in line with the Blue Economy Strategy as narrated by Sacko (2020), with the five critical blue economy sectors which are considered as thematic areas. Thus, this study focuses on studying the Blue Economy concept in the context of research and the corresponding technology used in research in the countries of the Western Indian Ocean (WIO) region.

Research gaps

The five critical thematic areas for the Blue Economy in Africa are considered to play significant roles for socio-economic development in different countries and should be earmarked as high priority in scientific research.

The roles of research and development (R&D) as well as technology for the Blue Economy related studies should be addressed at regional and country levels. Furthermore, technologies applied to the Blue Economy concept like satellite and big data as well as modelling have not been given strong attention in research. The information technology stakeholders working to support Blue Economy studies appear to have be overlooked in previous analyses. Thus, this study applies a systematic review after a decade of the Blue Economy concept in the western Indian Ocean region in relation to research and technology from 2012 to 2021. The study is guided with the five critical blue economy sectors which are considered as thematic areas from Africa Blue Economy Strategy as narrated by Sacko (2020). The study aims at addressing the following specific research questions:

- To what extent has the Blue Economy concept been associated with research conducted in the WIO from 2012 to 2021 based on the thematic areas of the African Blue Economy Strategy?
- What has the involvement been of each country in research on the Blue Economy concept in the WIO in terms of institutions and authors from 2012 to 2021?
- What technology has been used in research related to the Blue Economy concept in the WIO from 2012 to 2021?

Addressing these research questions provides insight into the Blue Economy concept in the region in order to assist researchers and policy makers in their work in this field.

Materials and Methods

Study area

This study applies a systematic review of a decade of the Blue Economy concept in the WIO with regard to research and technology from 2012 to 2021. The Western Indian Ocean Marine Science Association (WIOMSA) is a leading non-governmental organization promoting science and research in the WIO. The WIOMSA was established as a regional, nonprofit, membership organization in 1993 and registered in Zanzibar, Tanzania in 1994 (https://www. wiomsa.org/).The WIOMSA focuses on supporting and promoting the educational, scientific and technological development of all aspects of marine sciences in the WIO region which includes 10 countries: Somalia, Kenya, Tanzania, Mozambique, South Africa, Comoros, Madagascar, Seychelles, Mauritius, Réunion (France).

In the region, the organization is interested in connecting research skills and knowledge generated from marine and coastal ecosystems in the region with management and governance issues (https://www. wiomsa.org/). The WIOMSA has managed to promote different activities regarding marine and coastal ecosystems in the region. Since its establishment, the number of members has significant increased especially from 1999 to 2014. Furthermore, the organization has broadened the scope of research in the region by supporting multidisciplinary, interdisciplinary and transdisciplinary (MIT) research approaches in order to have significant impacts to the communities. Previously, the focus was on natural science only while nowadays the organization supports work on ocean governance, accounting and social sciences in the region.

In order to accelerate research in the region, the organization provides grants for research and conference/training participation for members in the region. Furthermore, the organization has launched its own symposium with the 12th WIOMSA Scientific Symposium held in October 2022 in Nelson Mandela Bay in South Africa, as well as the Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science (WIOJMS). Both the symposium and the journal facilitate disseminate of research in the region and bring together different stakeholders in the field of marine and ocean sciences. The scope of this study includes the 10 countries in the WIO and extensive review of the publications in the WIOJMS has been undertaken.

Research dataset and identification of literature

The WIOMSA is well recognized as an organization which promotes and supports research activities in the WIO through different approaches. As mentioned, this study was based on research published in the WIOJMS with Journal Identifiers eISSN: 0856-860X, print ISSN: 0856-860X. It should be noted that the analysis does not include research that may have been conducted in the WIO but has been published in other journals besides the WIOJMS.

The WIOJMS provides an avenue for the wide dissemination of high-quality research generated in the region targeting the sustainable use of coastal and marine resources. It deals with original research articles in all aspects of marine science and coastal management. The journal mainly focuses on topics including, but are not limited to theoretical and empirical studies in oceanography, marine biogeochemistry, legal and institutional frameworks as well as interactions/relationships between humans and the marine environment.

The journal features state-of-the-art review articles and short communications with special issues on major events or important thematic issues. It is noteworthy that the submitted articles are subjected to standard peer-review prior to publication (https://www.ajol.info/index.php/wiojms/index).

Data analysis

The database of journal articles from the WIOJMS was analyzed for 10 years from 2012 to 2021. Network analysis has evolved as a methodology for the study of social structure using VOSviewer version 1.6.18. The most significant feature of network analysis is the use of relational data.

The people, organizations, and objects that form a network are referred to as nodes, and a network structure is that which expresses the position and relation between nodes (Scott, 2012). For network analysis, it is important to determine the nodes and links of the network. Here, community analysis is an analysis that detects the community structure at the substructure level of the network. A community structure in a network is a subgroup (community or module) in which the relationships among specific nodes (local communities) are dense internally but not externally (i.e., with other communities) (Newman, 2010).

In the analysis, the meaning of the community structure is the identification of conceptual groups that form a contextual cluster (Paranyushkin, 2011). VOSviewer calculates the community, or cluster, based on modularity (Newman and Girvan, 2004). VOSviewer also improves the accuracy by adding a smart local moving algorithm (Waltman and van Eck, 2013), and adjusts the number of clusters by adjusting the resolution parameter γ in the Modularity function (Yan *et al.*, 2012).

The analysis of the WIOJMS database involved articles from 2012 to 2021 using VOSviewer software to create a co-occurrence map based on text data downloaded through API Crossref through Search Query searching. About 85 journal articles were retrieved to which co-occurrence terms in title and abstract fields were extracted with conditions of ignoring structured abstract labels and copyright statements. Basing on the threshold with the minimum number of occurrences of term 10 of the total 2583 terms, 33 terms met the threshold and were selected for analysis. Statistical descriptions were used to evaluate trends in temporal growth, and geographical and national interests in the Blue Economy literature. Bibliometric analyses based on keywords conducted in VOSviewer software (Van Eck and Waltman, 2014) were employed to scrutinize interrelations and patterns of knowledge production. Co-occurrence analysis was employed to analyze networks in respect of the intellectual structure and terminological interrelation that have evolved in this knowledge base (Udomsap and Hallinger, 2020).

Furthermore, the analysis of the WIOJMS database involves journal articles from 2012 to 2021 using VOSviewer software to create a co-occurrence map based on bibliographic data for authors downloaded through API Crossref through Search Query searching. About 85 journal articles with 252 authors were retrieved based on counting their main authorships with a minimum of two documents for an author. About 52 authors were calculated according to the total strength of the co-authorship links with other authors. However, some of the items in the network were not connected to each other; thus, the largest set of connected items consists of 23 items which were considered to show the set of items instead of all. Statistical descriptions were used to evaluate trends in temporal growth, geographical and national interests in the Blue Economy literature. Bibliometric analyses based on authors conducted in VOSviewer software (Van Eck and Waltman, 2014) were employed to scrutinize interrelation and patterns of knowledge production. Co-occurrence analysis was employed to analyse networks in respect of the intellectual structure and

terminological interrelation, that have evolved in this knowledge base (Udomsap and Hallinger, 2020). To visualize a network, the relatively different size of each node-assigned keyword expressed that keyword in a bigger node and indicated it occurred across the whole network as compared to the smaller sized ones. Link strength was expressed as the relative width of the line in the network structure. Altogether, occurrences, link strength to the Blue Economy, and total link strength of keywords were analysed and organized using cluster analysis.

Results and Discussion

The results and discussion of this research focuses on systematic research of key terms and key authors in the research conducted in the WIO region. Furthermore, the extent to which technology has been utilized in the regional research is presented. Generally, the term Blue Economy did not appear in the majority of the studies conducted in the region. Thus, the study considers terms related to the five thematic areas identified by the Africa Blue Economy Strategy as reference to the Blue Economy concept. As mentioned above, the thematic areas are 1) fisheries, aquaculture and ecosystem conservation; 2) shipping transportation and trade; 3) sustainable energy, extractive minerals, gas, and innovative industries; 4) environmental sustainability, climate change and coastal infrastructure; and 5) policies, institutional and governance (https:// www.au-ibar.org/strategy-documents).

Blue Economy vs key research terms

Density visualization of the keywords in the study are portrayed in Figure 1. Basing on the five thematic areas of the African Blue Economy Strategy, the keywords appeared to relate to the first, fourth and fifth thematic areas of fisheries, aquaculture and ecosystem conservation; environmental sustainability, climate change and coastal infrastructure; and policies, institutional and governance, respectively. However, no key term appeared to be associated with the second and third thematic areas of shipping transportation and trade; and sustainable energy, extractive minerals, gas, and innovative industries, respectively.

The first thematic area on fisheries, aquaculture and ecosystem conservation relates to key terms including species, fishery, fish, habitat, catch, mangrove, *S. commersonnii*, and fishing area. In this thematic area, the term species appeared to be the central key term among the other key terms in the largest cluster with about 81 frequencies. This finding suggests that much



Figure 1. Density visualization of research keywords for publications on the Blue Economy concept in the western Indian Ocean region.

of the research focused on species and that the majority of the research focused on marine biology.

The fourth thematic area of environmental sustainability, climate change and coastal infrastructure is reflected by the key terms water, estuary, activity, coast, western Indian Ocean, Kenyan coast, microplastic, community, and Bons Sinais Estuary. The keyword water appeared very frequently on about 44 occasions. The key terms in this thematic area include microplastics, as a ocean/sea pollutant. Furthermore, the term community which could be associated with coastal infrastructure in the region appeared in this thematic area.

The fifth thematic area which is about policies, institutional and governance is reflected by the terms data, study, site, area, sample, year, region, information, effect, management, Mida Creek, Ngomeni, Zanzibar, Kenya, Mozambique, and Tanzania. In this thematic area, the terms study, data, site and Kenya appeared more frequency with 75, 49, 45 and 45 occurrences, respectively. This suggests that many of the studies might have focused on Kenya. Moreover, terms like Zanzibar, Tanzania, and Mozambique indicate their coverage in studies related to the Blue Economy in the region.

To understand links and clusters among the key terms in the study, a network analysis diagram with different colours was created (Fig. 2). In VOSviewer, creation of a network picture (also known as Label view) circles or labels important items (in this case, key terms with many simultaneous links) which appear large. In Figure 2, the link strength, which calculates the distance between nodes, is extracted by the full counting method. As the similarity of the items increases, the distances appear closer, but the minimum distances are maintained to prevent complete overlap (Van Eck and Waltman, 2010).

Cluster 1 (in red) consists of the eight key terms of activity, community, data, management, mangrove, region, study and year reflecting the fourth thematic area relating to environmental sustainability, climate change and coastal infrastructure and the fifth thematic area for policies, institutional and governance from the Africa Blue Economy Strategy.

Cluster 2 (in green) consists of the seven key terms of area, catch, coast, fishing area, Kenya, Ngomeni and species reflecting the first thematic area for fisheries, aquaculture and ecosystem conservation, the fourth thematic area environmental sustainability, climate change and coastal infrastructure, and the fifth thematic area for policies, institutional and governance.

Cluster 3 (in blue) consists of the six keywords of effect, Kenyan coast, microplastic, Mida Creek, sample and water reflecting the fourth thematic area environmental



Figure 2. Network visualization of research key words for publications on the Blue Economy concept in the western Indian Ocean region.

sustainability, climate change and coastal infrastructure, and the fifth thematic area for policies, institutional and governance from the Africa Blue Economy Strategy.

Cluster 4 (in yellow) consists of the six keywords of fish, habitat, information, *S. commersonnii*, Tanzania and Zanzibar reflecting the first thematic area for fisheries, aquaculture and ecosystem conservation, and

fifth thematic area for policies, institutional and governance from the Africa Blue Economy Strategy.

Cluster 5 (in blue) consists of the 10 keywords of Bons Sinais Estuary, estuary, fishery, Mozambique, Western Indian Ocean fish, habitat, information, *S commersonnii*, Tanzania and Zanzibar reflecting the first thematic area for fisheries, aquaculture and ecosystem



Figure 3. Authorship network visualization for publications on the Blue Economy concept in the western Indian Ocean region.

conservation, and the fourth thematic area environmental sustainability, climate change and coastal infrastructure. Moreover, the cluster indicates the fifth thematic area for policies, institutional and governance from Africa Blue Economy Strategy.

Blue Economy vs researchers and institutions

Five clusters of research authors were formed from the network analysis diagram with different colours (Fig. 3). Also in Figure 3, the link strength, which calculates the distance between nodes, was extracted by the full counting method. As the similarity of the items increases, the distances appear closer, but the minimum distances are maintained to prevent complete overlap (Van Eck and Waltman, 2010).

Cluster 1 (in red) consists of the seven authors J. Kamau, A. Kimeli, C. Magori, O. Ochola, B. Ohowa and M. Osore and Cluster 2 (in green) consists of the four authors N.S. Jiddawi, A.J. Mmochi, M.S. Mtolera and S.A. Yahya. Both these clusters focus mainly on the first thematic area for fisheries, aquaculture and ecosystem conservation.

Cluster 3 (in blue) consists of the four authors M.M. Igulu, A., Kamukuru, B.C. Sekadende and J.S. Sululu addressing the first thematic area for fisheries, aquaculture and ecosystem conservation in conjunction with the fifth thematic area for policies, institutional and governance from Africa Blue Economy Strategy.

Cluster 4 (in yellow) consists of the four key authors M.S. Kyewalyanga, C. Lugomela, N. Peter and M. Semba reflecting the first thematic area for fisheries, aquaculture and ecosystem conservation, and the fifth thematic area for policies, institutional and governance.

Cluster 5 (in blue) consists of the four arthors I. Halo, S.B. Mahongo, M. Manyilizu and P. Sagero reflecting the fourth thematic area environmental sustainability, climate change and coastal infrastructure, and fifth thematic area for policies, institutional and governance. S.B. Mahongo appeared the most in all clusters (11 documents and 35 total link strength).

In order to gain insights into the instruments and institutions supporting research in the WIO the authors'



Figure 4. Number of authors per institution per country for publications on the Blue Economy concept in the western Indian Ocean region.

affiliations and their respective countries were considered (Fig. 4). Kenya appears to have had six active research institutions from 2012 to 2021 with the Kenya Marine and Fisheries Research Institute (KMFIRi) having the highest number of authors, with about 13 active researchers. The other institutions were the Technical University of Mombasa (TUM, two authors), University of Eldoret (UoE, one author), Pwani University (PU, four authors), Kenya Meteorological Department (KMD, one author) and the University of Nairobi (UoN, two authors).

In Tanzania, six institutions appeared to have active authors with the Institute of Marine Science at University of Dar es Salaam leading (IMS-UDSM, five authors), followed by the Tanzania Fisheries Research Institute (TAFIRI, four authors). Other active authors came from the Institute of Fisheries Research in Zanzibar (IFR, one author), the University of Dodoma (UDOM, two authors), Nelson Mandela Africa-Institute of Science and Technology (NMA-IST, two authors), and the Aquatic Science and Fisheries Technology Department, University of Dar es Salaam (ASFTD-UDSM, one author). One, two, and three authors appear from the University of Toliara in Madagascar, the University of Mauritius (UoM) in Mauritius and the Eduardo Mondlane University (EMU) in Mozambique, respectively.

Each of four research institutions in South Africa had one author. These were the Oceanographic Research Institute (ORI), University of KwaZulu-Natal (UKZN), and South African Institute for Aquatic Biodiversity, and Cape Peninsular University of Technology (CPUT). Similarly, one author each appeared for UiT – the Arctic University of Norway, WWF Tanzania office, the Université Libre de Bruxelles, and the University of Mons from Belgium. However, among the ten states of the WIO, the five states of Somalia, Comoros, Madagascar, Seychelles, and Réunion (France) did not appear in the screened documents suggesting either low levels of publication in the WIOJMS or poor research capacity on issues regarding the WIO Blue Economy.

Blue Economy vs technology

Utilization of different technological research approaches by authors in respective countries is depicted



Figure 5. Number of authors per approach used for research and their country for publications on the Blue Economy concept in the western Indian Ocean region.

in Figure 5. The three approaches used in research are field/in-situ, model and satellite modes. The field work approach appeared to dominate in the WIO research and was used by 41 authors (79 % of all authors), and eight authors used satellite and three model approaches. With advances in computing, numerical modelling combines the theories, observations and satellite data into Blue Economy field helping to overcome difficulties associated with each approach when used separately. As a result, a better understanding of ocean dynamics and properties such as sea surface current, sea surface height and sea surface temperature may be achieved.

Of the 23 authors/researchers in Kenya, there were 19 that used the field approach compared to four authors who used satellite data, and none used the model approach. For authors from Mauritius, Mozambique, as well as those from Belgium and Norway most studies focused on in-situ/field approaches involving fisheries, aquaculture and ecosystem conservation. A small number of users of the model and satellite approach appeared in Tanzania (field-16, satellite-3, and model-1). The reasons for such small numbers could be a lack of computing knowledge and/or facilities in the institutions as well as human capacity for these approaches.

Conclusions

The Blue Economy concept has become a popular term used in discussions involving ocean and environmental issues in relation to economic development. The term posits the inherent conflicts of ocean activities for economic development and protection of the health of ocean ecosystems to support the activities in a sustainable manner. This study used a systematic review to analyze a decade of the presence of the Blue Economy concept in the WIO from the perspective of research and technology from 2012 to 2021. It focused on the research and technological perspectives of the Blue Economy concept in the WIO in relation to the five critical blue economy sectors which are considered as thematic areas in the Africa Blue Economy Strategy.

The results indicate that the term Blue Economy does not appear as a key term in most publications in the region, which implies that it is either not well understood or researched. Furthermore, most of the research utilized by authors from Kenyan Institutions use the field approach with no or poor support of technology like models, big data and satellite data. Predominant challenges for ocean modelers are a lack of human capacity, storage capacity, bandwidth and internet connectivity, availability of in-situ data for model evaluation and training/knowledge transfer.

As far as the five thematic areas of the Africa Blue Economy are concerned, it appeared that research has been conducted mainly in the first, fourth and fifth thematic areas of fisheries, aquaculture and ecosystem conservation, environmental sustainability, climate change and coastal infrastructure, and policies, institutional and governance, respectively. However, no key term appeared to be associated with the second and third thematic areas of shipping transportation and trade; and sustainable energy, extractive minerals, gas, and innovative industries, respectively.

Thus, multi-disciplinary and multi-institutional collaborations and management as well as identifying proper technology and its utilization will enhance research in support of Blue Economy development, particularly in all five thematic areas of the Africa Blue Economy Strategy. Ocean science accompanied by innovation and technology should be used in studies to enhance research capacity in the region by supporting multidisciplinary, interdisciplinary and transdisciplinary (MIT) research approaches.

References

- African Union (2012) Africa's Integrated Maritime Strategy (2050 AIM Strategy). AU, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. 32 pp [https://au.int/sites/default/files/newsevents/workingdocuments/33832-wd-african_union_3-1.pdf]
- Agnew DJ, Pearce J, Pramod G, Peatman T, Watson RA, Beddington JR, Pitcher TJ (2009) Estimating the worldwide extent of illegal fishing. PLoS ONE 4 (2 e4570): 1-3
- AUC-NPCA (2014) The Policy Framework and Reform Strategy for Fisheries and Aquaculture in Africa. AU-IBAR, Nairobi. 96 pp
- AU-IBAR (2019) Africa Blue Economy Strategy. Nairobi, Kenya. 26 pp
- Jiddawi NS, Öhman MC (2002) Marine fisheries in Tanzania. Ambio 31: 518-527
- Lee KH, Noh J, Khim JS (2020) The blue economy and the United Nations sustainable development goals: challenges and opportunities. Environmental International 137: 105528 [https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.105528]
- Lee KH, Noh J, Khim JS (2021) Blue economy and the total environment: Mapping the interface. Environmental

International 157: 106796 [https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envint.2021.106796]

- Manyilizu M, Dufois F, Penven P, Reason CJ (2014) Interannual variability of sea surface temperature and circulation in the tropical western Indian Ocean. African Journal of Marine Science 36 (2): 233-252 [doi:10.2989/1814232X.2014.928651]
- Manyilizu M, Penven P, Reason C (2016) Annual cycle of the upper-ocean dynamics in the tropical western Indian Ocean and influences on regional ocean properties. African Journal of Marine Science 38 (1): 81-99 [doi:10.2989/1814232X.2016.1158123]
- Newman ME, Girvan M (2004) Finding and evaluating community structure in networks. Physics Review E 69: 026113
- Paranyushkin D (2011) Identifying the pathways for meaning circulation using text network analysis. Nodus Labs, Berlin [http://noduslabs.com/research/ pathways-meaning-circulation-text-network-analysis]
- PEMSEA (2012) Toward an ocean-based Blue Economy: Moving ahead with the sustainable development strategy for the seas of east Asia. The Fourth Ministerial Forum on the Sustainable Development Strategy for the Sea of East Asia [http://pe msea.org/publications/agreements-and-declarations/changwon-declaration-to ward-ocean-based-blue-economy-moving]
- Sacko JLC (2020) Africa moves towards the blue economy through ecosystem-based assessment and management practices in African Large Marine Ecosystems, Environmental Development 36:100575 ISSN 2211-4645 [https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envdev.2020.100575. (https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S221146452030097X)]
- Scott J (2012) Social network analysis. SAGE Publications Limited.[doi:https://doi.org/10.4135/9781529716597]
- Tirumala RD, Tiwari P (2022) Innovative financing mechanism for blue economy projects Marine Policy139: 104194 ISSN 0308-597X [https://doi.org/10.1016/j. marpol.2020.104194] [https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0308597X20303262]
- Udomsap AD, Hallinger P (2020) A bibliometric review of research on sustainable construction, 1994-2018.

Journal of Cleaner Production 254 (120073): 1-9 [https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.120073]

- UNCTAD (2014) United Nations Conference on Trade and Developement. The ocean economy: Opportunities and challenges for small island developing states [http://unctad.org/en/publicationslibrary/ ditcted2014d5_en.pdf]
- United Nations (2014) Blue economy concept paper. [https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/concent/ documents/2978BEconcept.pdf]
- United Nations General Assembly (2015) Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development [https://sdgs.un.org/2030agenda accessed January 2022]
- Van Eck NJ, Waltman L (2010) Software survey: VOSviewer, a computer program for bibliometric mapping. Scientometrics 84: 523-538
- Voyer M, Quirk G, Mcllgorm A, Azmi K (2018) Shades of blue: what do competing interpretations of the Blue Economy mean for oceans governance? Journal of Environmental Policy and Planning 20 (5): 595-616 [https://doi.org/10.1080/1523908X.2018.1473153]
- Waltman L, van Eck NJ (2013) A smart local moving algorithm for large-scale modularity-based community detection. The European Physical Journal B 86: 471
- World Bank (2017) The potential of the Blue Economy: Increasing long-term benefits of the sustainable use of marine resources for small island developing states and coastal least developed countries. World Bank, Washington DC.
- World Bank (2020) Healthy oceans, healthy economies, healthy communities. Annual Report [https:// documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/564401 603456030829/pdf/PROBLUE-2020-Annual-Report.pdf.]
- WWF (2014) The principles of the blue economy [http:// www.blueeconomy.eu/page/the-principles-of-blueeconomy/]
- Yan E, Ding Y, Jacob EK (2012) Overlaying communities and topics: an analysis on publication networks. Scientometrics 90: 499-513

Original Article

Western Indian Ocean JOURNAL OF Marine Science

Open access

Citation:

Antelm P, Rweyemamu L.M.P., Kaale L.D. (2023) Suitability of a superheated steam dryer for drying sardines. Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science 22(2): 13-23 [doi: 10.4314/wiojms.v22i2.2]

Received:

August 27, 2022

Accepted: July 12, 2023

Published: October 19, 2023

Copyright:

Owned by the journal. The articles are open access articles distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY 4.0) licence.

* **Corresponding author:** elykaale@gmail.com

Suitability of a superheated steam dryer for drying sardines

Prissillah Antelm^{1,2}, Leonard M.P. Rweyemamu¹, Lillian D. Kaale^{1*}

¹ University of Dar es Salaam, Department of Food Science and Technology, PO Box 35134 Dar es Salaam, Tanzania ² Ministry of Livestock and Fisheries, PO Box 2847, Dodoma, Tanzania

Abstract

The suitability of a superheated steam dryer for drying sardines was investigated. Proximate composition (moisture, crude protein, crude fat, ash, and crude fibre; minerals-calcium, zinc, iron) for fresh, oven dried (OD) at 100 °C, oven dried (OD) at 120 °C and superheated steam dried (SSD) sardines at 120 °C was evaluated and the results reported on a dry matter basis. There were significant differences (p<0.05) in moisture, crude fat, and ash content among fresh and dried samples, but not for crude protein or crude fibre. The crude protein % content of fresh, OD at 100 °C, OD at 120 °C, and SSD, was 78.17, 78.40, 75.77, and 76.05 and crude fibre % was 0.59, 0.12, 0.02, and 0.13, respectively. The SSD sardines had the highest fat content (11.8 %) and the fresh sardines had the lowest (8.1 %). There was a significant difference in calcium content (p<0.05) but not for zinc and iron content. Overall, SSD retained the nutrients of sardines well.

Keywords: superheated steam dryer, sardine, proximate composition, micronutrients, oven drying

Introduction

Sardines are among a group of small pelagic fish namely including Herrings, Anchovies, and Sardines (HAS) (Kripa et al., 2019). In Tanzania sardines are harvested from marine waters of the Indian Ocean in the five regions of Tanga, Pwani, Dar es Salaam, Lindi, and Mtwara. However, Zanzibar, Pemba, and Mafia Island are the major producing areas (Sekadende et al., 2020). Marine sardines make up about 1/3 million tons of the annual catch, according to the official statistics (SWI-OFP, 2012). Small pelagic fish, particularly sardines, contain a significant amount of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) of the omega-3 series in the form of docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) responsible for the development and functioning of the brain and retina (Njinkoue et al., 2016). These PUFAs play a crucial role in the prevention of atherosclerosis, heart attack, depression, stroke, diabetes, obesity, premature aging, hypertension, and cancer in humans and improve visual power and memory (Stephen et al., 2010). In addition, PUFAs are essential for normal growth, development, and reproduction in

all vertebrates, including fish and humans, and must be supplied through diet. Small pelagic fish contain all the elements of a healthy and nutritionally optimal food source for humans and are an important contributor to the food and nutritional security of many poor, low-income households in developing countries (Isaacs, 2016). Moreover, fish protein is of high biological value due to the presence of essential amino acids in the right proportions (Hoffman and Falvo, 2004). Lysine, methionine, and cysteine are important essential amino acids that can significantly raise the value of cereal-based diets, which are poor in these essential amino acids (Kasozi *et al.*, 2014).

Fish is a highly demanded and nutritious food product as detailed in the previous section, yet perishability remains the biggest challenge for its preservation (Tavares *et al.*, 2021). Since fish are not normally eaten raw, processing and preservation measures are employed in preparing them for consumption (Okpanachi *et al.*, 2018). Sun drying, salting, and boiling followed by sun drying, smoking, and chilling are

methods used by processors to extend the shelf life of fish and fishery products. These traditional preservation techniques have some drawbacks like exposing the product to rain, foreign matter like dust, microorganisms like bacteria and fungi, birds, and rodents. In addition, existing conventional hot air drying is an energy-intensive technique that consumes around 15-25 % of national industrial energy in most developing countries; Tanzania being an example (Sehrawat et al., 2016). Using air as a drying medium leads to oxidation and combustion reactions which pollute the environment by releasing undesirable components, and its operation needs continuous improvements to reduce energy consumption and preserve quality (Sehrawat et al., 2016). It also often results in loss of nutrients, colour degradation and non-uniform product quality (Sehrawat and Nema, 2018). Recent studies have also shown that traditional processing methods can cause a loss of nutrient availability in processed fish (Ayinsa and Maalekuu, 2013; Sehrawat et al., 2016).

In Tanzania, particularly at Mafia Island, small pelagic fish processing is carried out by boiling in sea water mixed with salt using firewood as a source of energy before sun drying on racks or the ground (Fig. 1). This technology is not ideal because it has the potential to significantly lower the quality of the final product (dust, sand, flies). Additionally, the majority of small pelagic fish that are boiled fragment in the process of boiling. They also lose the silvery colour and once dried they are very difficult to chew due to shrinkage as a result of salting. During the rainy season, the process ceases as there is no alternative drying method, especially at Mafia Island.

Fortunately, there are some solutions available. Technologies such as heat pump drying, and superheated steam drying (SSD) have been proven to reduce nutrient loss and extend the shelf life of dried products. SSD is an affordable way of drying foods/fish using steam to dry the foods/fish. The benefits of SSD in food drying include minimizing energy consumption (Alfy *et al.*, 2016), reducing lipid oxidation, and preserving food nutrient substances, colour, and texture (Idrus and Yang, 2012).

The present study aimed to investigate the suitability of the application of a superheated steam dryer for drying sardines through the determination of proximate composition (moisture, protein, fat, ash, and crude fibre) and mineral content (calcium, iron, and zinc).

Materials and methods Study location

This study was carried out on Mafia Island (Fig. 2) at Kilindoni Village (landing site). The Island is one of the six districts of the Pwani region with a coverage area of 972 km² of which 407 km² is dry land while 565 km² is covered by water (Kweka, 2017).

Collection of raw material

Fresh sardines for this study were bought from the local fishermen in Mafia Island and hygienically



Figure 1. Traditional small pelagic processing technique practiced by indigenous people on Mafia Island. From left to right: boiling process; boiled sardines ready for drying; fresh sardines under shade.

packed in a cool box containing flaked ice and then transported to the Department of Food Science and Technology Laboratory, College of Agriculture and Food Technology, University of Dar es Salaam for analysis. On arrival at the laboratory, the sardines were divided into two portions with the first portion subjected to proximate analysis before drying. a drying chamber. The drying chamber is a stainless steel vessel with two partitions equipped with perforated stainless steel trays for holding food products during drying. It is $1.5 \text{ m} \times 1.5 \text{ m}$ with the capacity of holding 24 trays of $60 \times 30 \text{ cm}$. After preparing the dryer for operation, the boiler is started by heating the air exchange pipes and at the same time generating



Figure 2. Map of Tanzania showing the location of the sampling site on Mafia Island (Shape file source: National Bureau of Statistics –Tanzania).

The remaining portion was divided into three for Oven Drying at 100 °C, Oven Drying at 120 °C, and SSD at 120 °C.

Superheated steam drying

Figure 3 represents a schematic diagramme of the superheated steam dryer and associated units. The dryer consists of a boiler, an air exchange pipe, and

steam. The fresh sardines are spread on trays in the air chamber for drainage purposes for 30 min at 50 °C air temperature and a flow rate of 4 l/min. The drained sardines are shifted to the steam chamber only once the boiler pressure is about 7 bars. Water is boiled under atmospheric pressure conditions to a temperature of 100 °C, using liquefied petroleum gas as a source of energy. The generated steam is then further



Figure 3. A schematic diagramme of a superheated steam dryer and associated units.

heated at a pressure of 7 bars in the drying chamber. The sardines are first moistened by steam exposure owing to condensation, but when the temperature rises to 120 °C, the water in the sardines is evaporated. The water condenses on the drying chamber walls and is collected at the steam trap as condensate. The sardines are dried for one hour in the drying chamber before being shifted to the hot air chamber for surface water removal. In the chamber, the sardines are then moved to a conditioning room where they are kept for four hours before packaging for further analysis.

Oven drying

Sardine samples were dried in an oven at two different temperatures and times (100 °C for 90 min and 120 °C for 60 min). Once the sardines were dried, the packaging procedures were followed (Fig. 4a and b) and stored in the refrigerator at 4 °C for further analysis.

Proximate composition analysis

Proximate composition (moisture, protein, fat, ash, and crude fibre) was carried out on the samples of fresh, oven dried (OD) at 100 $^{\circ}$ C for 90 min, OD at 120 $^{\circ}$ C for 60 min, and SSD at 120 $^{\circ}$ C for 60 min.

Determination of moisture content

Approximately 2 g of each sample was weighed in preconditioned Petri plates that were pre-heated in an oven set at 105 °C for 2 h and cooled in a desiccator for 2 h. The samples were dried in a hot air oven

(Model Memmert 854) at 105 °C overnight until constant weight was attained. The moisture content was calculated as a percentage loss in weight using Eq. (1).

Moisture content (%) =
$$\frac{W_2 - W_3}{W_2 - W_1} \ge 100$$
 (1)

Where W_1 = weight of the weighing dish (g),

 $\rm W_{2}$ = weight of the moist dish and sample before drying (g), and

 W_3 = weight of the dish and sample after drying (g).

Determination of protein content

An aliquot of 2 g of each sample was placed into a labeled Kjeldahl tube followed by adding Kjeltec catalyst [3 selenium oxide (2 g) tablets] and 20 ml of concentrated sulfuric acid (98 %). The tubes and the contents were inserted in the digestion unit (Foss Tecator[™] Digester) and digested completely (until white fumes and blackish mass were absent) for 2 h at 400 °C. The digests were cooled to 29 ± 2 °C and then distilled for 5 min using an auto-distillation unit (Foss Kjeltec[™] 8200) that had been rinsed and calibrated using the following setup: 80 ml of dilution volume (deionized water); 90 ml of sodium hydroxide (alkali solution 40%); and 3 ml of mixed indicator (70 ml of 0.1 g methyl red and 100 ml of 0.1 g bromocresol green dissolved in 100 ml methanol). The distillate was collected in the flasks. In addition, it was titrated with 0.104 M hydrochloric acid solution. The protein

content in the sample was calculated and expressed on a dry basis, according to Eq. (2).

Crude protein (%) =
$$\frac{((T-B) \times M \times 14.007 \times 6.25 \times MCF)}{W} \times 100$$
 (2)

Where T = volume of the standard hydrochloric acid used in sample titrations (mL),

B = volume of the standard hydrochloric acid used in blank titrations (ml),

M = molarity of the acid used in the titrations (mol/L), W = mass of the sample used in grams (g),

MCF = the moisture correction factor [100/(100 - % moisture content)],

6.25 = factor used to convert percent N to percent crude protein, and

14.007 = molecular weight for N (g/mol).

Determination of crude fat

The fat content of samples was determined using the Soxhlet system (Foss SoxtecTM 2043, Hilleroed, Denmark). Aluminum cups were pre-heated in an oven set at 105 \pm 2 °C for 2 h, and thereafter cooled in a desiccator for 30 min. Each aluminum cup was filled with 30 ml of petroleum ether and placed under an adapter holding thimble loaded with 2 g of the sample. Each thimble was submerged in boiled petroleum ether for 20 min to extract fat. Fat remaining in the samples was rinsed out by reflux using boiling petroleum ether for 45 min. Excess petroleum ether was recovered by evaporation from each cup into the condenser unit of the Soxhlet system for 10 min. The fat extract was dried in a hot air oven set at 105 °C for 30 min. The fat content was expressed on a dry matter basis, as shown in Eq. (3).

Fat content (%) =
$$\frac{W_3 - W_1}{W_2} \ge 100$$
 (3)

Where W_1 = weight of the aluminum cup (g), W_2 = weight of the sample (g), and W_3 = weight of the aluminum cup plus dried fat (g)

Determination of ash content

About 2 grams of each sample was weighed into preconditioned porcelain crucibles that were pre-heated in an oven set at 105 ± 2 °C for 2 h and cooled in a desiccator for 2 h. The samples were placed in a temperature-controlled muffle furnace (Nabertherm GmbH, Lilienthal, Germany) and incinerated at 550 °C for 5 h. The crucibles were transferred to a desiccator, cooled to 29 \pm 2 °C, and reweighed. The ash content of the samples was calculated on a dry matter basis using equation (4).

Ash content (%) =
$$\frac{W_3 - W_1}{W_2 - W_1} \ge 100$$
 (4)

Where W_1 = weight of the crucible (g),

 W_2 = weight of the crucible and sample before incineration (g), and

 W_3 = weight of the crucible and sample after incineration (g).

Determination of crude fibre

Fibre content was determined following Foss Fibertec system instructions. Fibre crucibles were first preheated in an oven set at 105 °C for 2 h and then filled with 2 g of sample and weighed. The fibre crucibles containing the samples were then fixed underneath glassier columns (Foss Fibertec[™] 1020). Then, 100 ml of hot $H_{9}SO_{4}$ (1.25 %) was added to the glassier columns to hydrolyze organic substances (e.g., protein, carbohydrate) with occasional auto-heating for 30 min. Resultant residues were washed with hot deionized water followed by adding hot NaOH (1.25 %) to affect the saponification of fat in the sample over 30 min. The sample residues were further washed with hot water and then dried for 2 h in a hot air oven at 130 °C. The crucibles containing the dried sample residues were ignited in a muffle furnace at 550 °C for 5 h and weighed again after cooling following incineration. The crude fibre content of samples (dry matter basis) was then calculated using Eq. (5).

Crude fibre content (%) =
$$\frac{W_3 - W_2}{W_1} \ge 100$$
 (5)

Where W_1 = weight of the sample cup (g),

 W_2 = weight of the sample after drying (g), and

 W_3 = weight of the sample after incineration (g).

Determination of calcium, zinc, and iron

Half a gram (0.5 g) of each sample was digested with 10 ml nitric acid and 5 ml hydrogen peroxide at 200 °C for 90 min for complete digestion. After cooling to room temperature, the digest was filtered and made up to 100 ml with distilled water and analyzed for Ca, Zn, and Fe using an Inductively Coupled Plasma Optical Emission Spectrometer (ICP-OES) (iCAP 6300 England). The concentration of each mineral was expressed in parts per million (ppm).

Statistical analysis

Minitab Statistical software version 17 was used for analysis in which all data were reported as means + standard deviation of duplicate determinations. Oneway ANOVA was used to compare means of collected data and the significant difference between means was determined by Turkeys test. Differences were considered to be significant when p<0.05.

Results and discussion

Proximate composition

The proximate composition of the raw and dried sardines with different methods is presented in Table 1. Fresh fish is highly perishable and also cannot be consumed without cooking. Therefore, subjecting foods, especially meat and fish, to cooking makes them edible and enhances their digestibility. Fish is thus a product that needs proper handling and processing to preserve nutrients and its functional components that promote good health (Sulieman and Mustafa, 2012). However, the nutritional composition of fish is affected by processing temperature and time (Abraha et al., 2018). Drying is a common practice for meat, fish, and other animal protein, as it preserves the quality of the product for an extended time, with minimum deterioration and insignificant changes in the product (Aberoumand and Karimi reza abad, 2015).

Moisture content

It is well understood that moisture content occupies the largest part of the fish body. In this study, moisture content of fresh samples was 72.61%, compared to 17.22%, 9.82%, and 9.45% for the SSD at 120 °C for 60 minutes, OD at 100 °C for 90 minutes and OD at 120 °C for 60 minutes, respectively. There was a significant difference (p<0.05) in the moisture content of the fresh and SSD sardines (p<0.05), however, there was no significant difference (p>0.05) between the ovendried samples. The moisture content of the fresh sample is similar to that reported by Feng et al. (2012) who found that most fish contain 60 % to 80 % moisture content. According to Sheeba et al. (2021), two species of sardines (S. fimbriata and S. longiceps) had a moisture content of 69.8 and 78.2 %, respectively. It was also previously reported by Bagthasingh et al. (2016) that the value of the moisture content of sardine (Sardinella gibbosa) ranged from 70.79-78.16 %. In the present study, the highest moisture content was recorded in the fresh sardine sample (72.61%) and the lowest in the oven-dried sardine samples. The lowest moisture content in OD sardine samples is due to the high processing temperature applied which facilitated heat transfer. It is well understood that the drying process results in a significant decrease in moisture content while increasing other nutrients (protein, ash, lipids) (García-Arias et al., 2003), as observed in this study. Among the dried sardine samples, SSD sardines had the highest moisture content (17.22%) because superheated steam retains more moisture than other processing methods. Similarly, Yu et al. (2017) reported the lowest moisture loss (46.84%) in superheated steam oven-cooked fillet when compared to convection oven cooking (50.13%).

Protein content

The protein content for the fresh and dried sardine samples is presented on a % dry matter basis (Table 2). Protein forms the largest quantity of dry matter in fish (Bagthasingh et al., 2016). The protein content of the studied sardine samples ranged from 75.77 to 78.40 %, and there was no significant difference between them. The protein content of the fresh sardine sample was 78.17 %. The present study is in agreement to Owaga et al. (2010) who reported high protein content in the fresh fish sample (74.4 % dry weight basis) and the lowest in the retail market (62.5 % dry weight basis). According to Wisuthiphaet et al. (2015), the protein content of the fresh sample was 72.1 %. Daramola et al. (2007) also reported the protein content in five fish species ranging from 54.71 to 72.78 %. The highest value of protein was observed in OD at 100 °C, 78.40 %, followed by SSD, 76.05 %, and then OD at 120 °C, 75.77 %. It was reported by Immaculate et al. (2012) and Aberoumand (2020) that the increase of protein was due to the dehydration of water molecules present between the proteins causing aggregation of protein and therefore resulting

 Table 1. Proximate composition (% dry matter basis) of both fresh and dried sardine samples.

Sample	Moisture	Protein	Fat	Ash	Fibre
FRESH	72.61±0.030ª	78.17 ± 1.100^{a}	$8.10{\pm}0.019^{\rm d}$	$11.99 \pm 0.062^{\rm b}$	$0.59 {\pm} 0.828^{a}$
OD 100 °C	$9.82{\pm}0.816^{\circ}$	78.40 ± 0.027^{a}	$10.63 \pm 0.022^{\circ}$	$10.24 \pm 0.017^{\circ}$	0.12 ± 0.011^{a}
OD 120 °C	$9.45 \pm 0.381^{\circ}$	75.77±1.064ª	$11.38 \pm 0.001^{\rm b}$	$12.48{\pm}0.041^{\rm ab}$	0.015 ± 0.021^{a}
SSD 120 °C	$17.22 \pm 0.072^{\rm b}$	76.05 ± 1.994^{a}	11.81±0.001ª	13.60 ± 0.406^{a}	0.13 ± 0.177^{a}

Results expressed as mean (n=3) \pm standard error of the mean; samples with different superscript letters across the column indicates statistical difference according to Turkey's Honest Significance difference test (p<0.05).

Sample	Са	Zn	Fe
FRESH	$24.94 \pm 0.947^{ m b}$	$0.24{\pm}0.025^{a}$	0.11 ± 0.025^{a}
OD 100 °C	30.35 ± 0.269^{a}	$0.42{\pm}0.024^{a}$	$0.00{\pm}0.000^{\rm b}$
OD 120 °C	$13.67 \pm 0.147^{\circ}$	0.29 ± 0.019^{a}	$0.00{\pm}0.000^{\rm b}$
SSD 120 °C	$25.24 \pm 0.177^{ m b}$	0.36 ± 0.042^{a}	$0.02 \pm 0.000^{ m b}$

Table 2. Mineral content (% dry weight basis) of fresh and dried sardine samples.

Results expressed as mean $(n=3) \pm$ standard error of the mean; samples with different superscript letters across the column indicates statistical difference according to Turkey's Honest Significance difference test (p<0.05).

in the increase in protein content of dried fish. The lowest protein content in OD at 120 °C might be due to denaturation as a result of the high processing temperature. However, there was no significant differences (p < 0.05) between the three drying methods. The study of Steiner-Asiedu et al. (1991) reported the protein content of flat sardine (g/100 g dry matter basis) in fresh, cooked, fried, and smoked samples as 84.1, 82.0, 56.7, and 84.7, respectively. Flowra et al. (2012) reported the protein content of sun-dried fishes ranging from 60 to 80 %. Sablani et al. (2001) reported the highest protein content of 71 % dry matter basis in freezer-dried sardines and the lowest was 50-65 % dry matter basis in traditionally dried sardines. Sultana et al. (2011) reported the protein content of the dried SIS fish ranged from 52.66 to 72.45 %. According to Ayinsa and Maalekuu (2013), different fish processing presents different effects on the nutritional quality of the final product. According to Sultana et al. (2011), good quality dried fish can provide 52-73 % of human protein requirements, suggesting that eating 100 g of dried fish in a day provides the required protein for the body.

Fat content

The fat content of the fresh and dried sardine samples varied significantly (p<0.05) with the highest value found in SSD (11.81 %) and the lowest in the fresh sample (8.10 %). It has been reported that fat content is inversely proportional to moisture content (Palani kumar *et al.*, 2014) and this was similarly observed in this study. This could be the reason for low-fat content (8.10 %) in the fresh sample compared to the dried samples.

According to Sablani *et al.* (2001), sardines processed in the freeze dryer had a 10 % crude fat content. In the present study, the values of crude fat in the sardines are lower than those reported by Owaga *et al.* (2010) in the fresh sample (14.8 %) and the market sample (13.9 %). According to Shija *et al.* (2019), different cooking processes could lead to biochemical changes which include oxidation during heating. Moreover, the fat content may be reduced with the evaporation of moisture and increase during heat treatment (Immaculate *et al.*, 2012). It has been previously reported that cooking releases bound lipids as free lipids making them easier to extract (García-Arias *et al.*, 2003; Yu *et al.*, 2017). However, this is dependent on the method of cooking used. One advantage of using superheated steam for food drying is that the procedure has little impact on the fat content of sardines. The crude fat content of the sardine samples was 11.81 %, 11.38 % and 10.63 % for SSD at 120 °C, OD at 120 °C and OD at 100 °C, respectively.

Superheated steam drying normally operates under anoxic conditions which means oxidation and combustion reactions are prevented. Sutikno et al. (2019) reported that the superheated steam system was better than traditional cooking methods in reducing lipid oxidation and preserving food nutrient substances, colour, and texture. In contrast, fish processed in the oven presented low-fat content (32.99 %) compared to frying (37.33 %) (García-Arias et al., 2003). According to the level of fat content fish can be grouped into four: lean fish (<2 %); low fat (2-4 %); medium fat (4-8 %); and high fat (>8 %) (Ackman, 1990). In the present study, sardines are grouped as medium-fat fish with 8.10 % fat content (fresh sardines). Bagthasingh et al. (2016) reported that the fat content of sardine (Sardinella gibbosa) varied from 1.25 % to 6.77 %. Sheeba et al. (2021) reported the fat content of Sardinella fimbriata and Sardinella longiceps as 2.7 % and 22.9 %. The variation in lipids has been explained by Bagthasingh et al. (2016) who reported that variation is due to season, temperature, feed intake, age, sex, and size.

Ash content

There was a significant difference (p<0.05) between the ash values. The ash content of the fresh, OD at 100 °C, OD at 120 °C, and SSD at 120 °C were 11.99 %, 12.48 %, 10.24 %, and 13.60 %, respectively. The study by Sablani *et al.* (2001) reported an ash content of 15 % in freeze-dried sardines. It is well known that ash content increases as the moisture content decreases. This was true for all samples except the SSD sardine sample which despite the highest moisture content (17.22 %), presented the highest ash content of 13.60 %. This study is in contrast with Yu et al. (2017) who reported an ash content of 1.22% in superheated steam oven cooked fillet which was significantly lower (p<0.05) than that found in convection oven cooked fillet (1.43 %). However, all the fresh and dried sardine samples in this study presented high ash content. According to Steiner-Asiedu et al. (1991), the higher ash content (13.1 %) in the fresh sardine samples is due to the presence of bones. The total ash content in the fresh sardine (10.3 % dry weight basis) was significantly lower (p<0.05) than the values in the sun-dried market samples (13.5 % dry weight basis) (Owaga et al., 2010). In addition, marine fish show higher values of ash content due to the different content of seawater (García-Arias et al., 2003) which includes mineral salts and other contaminants. According to Islam et al. (2013), the ash content of the dried fish ranged from 29.34-34.49 % on a dry matter basis and associated this with sand and dirt contamination. The ash content of the five dried fish species reported by Flowra et al. (2012) ranged between 11.21 and 28.15 %.

Crude fibre

The crude fibre content of the fresh, OD at 100 °C, OD at 120 °C, and SSD at 120 °C sardine samples were 0.59 %, 0.12 %, 0.02 %, and 0.13 %, respectively. There was no significant difference (p>0.05) among them. According to the literature, the amount of crude fibre in fish is very low or sometimes absent (Effiong and Fakunle, 2011; Olopade, 2015). The fresh sample had the highest crude fibre content (0.59 %) as compared to the processed samples, which is consistent with the findings of Okpanachi *et al.* (2018). This is attributed to the effect of different cooking methods that affected the concentration of proximate composition (Abraha *et al.*, 2018).

Mineral elements

Minerals represent 0.2–0.3 % of the total intake of all nutrients in the human diet and are so important that without them, the remaining 99.7 % of food intake would be difficult to utilize (Yetunde, 2016). Minerals in sardines are stored mainly in the skeleton (Bouderoua *et al.*, 2011), therefore, when eaten whole they are good sources of these minerals. The results of calcium, zinc, and iron for the present study are shown in Table 2.

Calcium content

The present study noted a significant difference (p<0.05) in calcium content between fresh and dried sardine samples. The highest value was observed in OD at 100 °C (30.35 ppm) and the lowest in OD at 120 °C (13.67 ppm). The lowest levels of calcium in OD at 120 °C might be due to leaching as explained by Kirk (1984) and also destruction by high processing temperatures. The study by Shija *et al.* (2019) reported that processing methods have little or no effect and sometimes may increase the mineral content. Small pelagic fish are a rich source of high bioavailable calcium compared to larger fish (Reksten *et al.*, 2020).

Zinc content

There was no significant difference (p>0.05) in zinc content between the fresh and dried samples. However, there was an increasing trend due to processing (Table 2). The amount of zinc was highest in OD at 100 °C (0.42 ppm), then in SSD (0.36 ppm), and lowest in OD at 120 °C (0.29 ppm). Zinc plays an important role in the promotion of normal growth and development and is an element in the enzymes that work with red blood cells, which move carbon dioxide gas from tissues to the lungs (Ekweagwu *et al.*, 2008). In malnourished children zinc deficiency contributes to growth failure and susceptibility to infections since it is associated with complications of childbirth (Ekweagwu *et al.*, 2008).

Iron content

There was a significant variation (p<0.05) in iron content among the fresh and dried samples. However, sardines treated in the oven and SSD did not show any significant difference (p>0.05) in iron content. The concentration of iron in the present study was higher in the fresh sample (0.11 ppm) compared to SSD (0.02 ppm). In OD the iron was not detected in samples treated under either of the two temperatures. This might be due to the leaching of the element during processing. Iron is an important component for the synthesis of hemoglobin in red blood cells (RBCs) which helps to transport oxygen to all parts of the body. The deficiency of iron can cause anemia, impaired brain function, and in infants, it causes poor learning ability and improper behavior (Mishra, 2020).

Conclusions

The suitability of a superheated steam dryer for drying sardines was studied by investigating the proximate composition and mineral contents of the dried

sardines. The study observed that using a superheated steam in drying fish resulted in better preservation of nutrients, especially protein and lipids, with lipids being highly susceptible to oxidation due to their long-chain carbon bonds. In addition, protein constituted a large portion of the fish studied. Although all methods were good in the preservation of nutrients in terms of protein, fat, and crude fibre, SSD is highly recommended because apart from reducing lipid oxidation, it maintains the silvery colour, aroma, and texture of the sardines. In addition, little or no breakage of SSD sardines was observed. This study recommends more testing to be carried out on the SSD technique for its efficiency in other food drying applications. Moreover, more research is needed on the use of other environmentally friendly and cost-effective energy sources apart from liquefied petroleum gas (LPG). Consuming sardines regularly for all age groups will reduce the complications of protein-calorie malnutrition which is a problem in Tanzania and in developing countries at large.

Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful to the Ministry of Livestock and Fisheries for its financial support and the Government Chemist Laboratory Authority (GCLA) for allowing the authors to access their laboratory for analyzing samples.

References

- Aberoumand A, Karimi reza abad M (2015) Influences of drying methods processing on nutritional properties of three fish species, Govazym stranded tail, Hamoor and Zeminkan. International Food Research Journal 22 (6): 2309-2312
- Aberoumand A (2020) Effects of traditional fish processing methods on the proximate composition and pH of fish black pomfret (*Parastromateus niger*). Journal of Food Sciences 14: 271-276
- Abraha B, Admassu H, Mahmud A, Tsighe N, Shui X, Fang Y (2018) Effect of processing methods on nutritional and physico-chemical composition of fish: a review. MOJ Food Processing and Technology 6 (4): 376-382
- Ackman RG (1990) Seafood lipids and fatty acids. Food Reviews International 6 (4): 617-646
- Alfy A, Kiran B, Jeevitha G, Hebbar H (2016) Recent developments in superheated steam processing of foods—a review. Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition 56 (13): 2191-2208
- Ayinsa HK, Maalekuu BK (2013) Effect of traditional fish processing methods on the proximate composition

- Bagthasingh C, Aran S, Vetri V, Innocen A, Kannaiyan S (2016) Seasonal variation in the proximate composition of sardine (*Sardinella gibbosa*) from Thoothukudi coast. Indian Journal of Geo-Marine Sciences (IJMS) 45 (6): 800-806
- Bouderoua K, Mourot J, Benmehdi-Tabet-Aoull F, Selselet-Attou G (2011) The effects of season and site of catch on morphometric characteristics, mineral content, and fatty acids of sardines (*Sardina pilchardus*) caught on the Algerian coast. Journal of Aquatic Food Product Technology 20 (4): 412-420
- Daramola J, Fasakin EA, Adeparusi EO (2007) Changes in physicochemical and sensory characteristics of smoke-dried fish species stored at ambient temperature. African Journal of Food, Agriculture, Nutrition and Development 7 (6): 1-16
- Effiong BN, Fakunle JO (2011) Proximate and mineral composition of some commercially important fishes in Lake Kainji, Nigeria. Journal of Basic and Applied Scientific Research 1 (12): 2497-2500
- Ekweagwu E, Agwu A, Madukwe E (2008) The role of micronutrients in child health: a review of the literature. African Journal of Biotechnology 7 (21): 3804-3810
- Feng Y, Ma L, Du Y, Fan S, Dai R (2012) Chemical composition analysis of three commercially important fish species (sardine, anchovy and mackerel). Advanced Materials Research (554-556): 900-904
- Flowra F, Nahar D, Tumpa A, Islam T (2012) Biochemical analysis of five dried fish species of Bangladesh. University Journal of Zoology, Rajshahi University 31: 9-11
- García-Arias M, Álvarez Pontes E, García-Linares M, García-Fernández M, Sánchez-Muniz F (2003) Cooking-freezing-reheating (CFR) of sardine (Sardina pilchardus) fillets. Effect of different cooking and reheating procedures on the proximate and fatty acid compositions. Food Chemistry 83 (3): 349-356
- Hoffman JR, Falvo MJ (2004) Protein Which is best? Journal of Sports Science and Medicine 3 (3): 118-130
- Idrus NFM, Yang TA (2012) Comparison between roasting by superheated steam and by convection on changes in colour, texture and microstructure of peanut (*Arachis hypogaea*). Food Science and Technology Research 18 (4): 515-524
- Immaculate J, Sinduja P, Jamila P (2012) Biochemical and microbial qualities of *Sardinella fimbriata* sun dried in different methods. International Food Research Journal 19 (4): 1699-1703

- Isaacs M (2016) The humble sardine (small pelagics): Fish as food or fodder. Agriculture and Food Security 5 (27): 1-14
- Islam T, Ahmed S, Sultana A, Tumpa A, Flowra F (2013) Nutritional and food quality assessment of dried fishes in Singra Upazila under Natore District of Bangladesh. Trends in Fisheries Research 2 (1): 14-17
- Kasozi N, Degu G, Asizua D, Mukalazi J, Kalany E (2014) Proximate composition and mineral contents of Pebbly fish, *Alestes baremoze* (Joannis, 1835) fillets in relation to fish size. Uganda Journal of Agricultural Sciences 15 (1): 41-50
- Kirk JR (1984) Biological availability of nutrients in processed foods. Journal of Chemical Education 61 (4): 364-367
- Kripa V, Mohamed K, Padua S, Jeyabaskaran R, Prema D (2019) Similarities between Indian Oil Sardine Sardinella longiceps Valenciennes, 1847 and global sardine fisheries and its management. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of India 61 (1): 5-18
- Kweka L (2017) Motivational strategies and staff retention in Mafia District Council, Tanzania. Masters Thesis Dissertation, Mzumbe University
- Mishra SP (2020) Significance of fish nutrients for human health. International Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Research 5 (3): 47-49
- Njinkoue JM, Gouado I, Tchoumbougnang F, Ngueguim JHY, Ndinteh DT, Fomogne-Fodjo CY, Schweigert FJ (2016) Proximate composition, mineral content and fatty acid profile of two marine fishes from Cameroonian coast: *Pseudotolithus typus* (Bleeker, 1863) and *Pseudotolithus elongatus* (Bowdich, 1825). Nutrition and Food Science Journal 4: 27-31
- Okpanachi M, Yaro CA, Bello OZ (2018) Assessment of the effect of processing methods on the proximate composition of *Trachurus trachurus* (Mackerel) sold in Anyigba market, Kogi State. American Journal of Food Science and Technology 6 (1): 26-32
- Olopade O (2015) Effect of poor handling on the nutritional composition of some imported frozen fishes in Nigeria. Food Science and Technology 72 (1): 20-26
- Owaga E, Onyango C, Njoroge C (2010) Influence of selected washing treatments and drying temperatures on proximate composition of dagaa (*Rastrineobola argentea*), a small pelagic fish species. African Journal of Food, Agriculture, Nutrition and Development 10 (7): 2834-2845
- Palani kumar M, Ruba AA, Jeya SR, Shanmugam SA (2014) Proximate and major mineral composition of 23 medium sized marine fin fishes landed in the

Thoothukudi Coast of India. Journal of Nutrition and Food Sciences 4 (1): 1-7

- Reksten A, Somasundaram T, Kjellevold M, Nordhagen A, Bøkevoll A, Pincus L, Rizwan A, Mamun A, Thilsted S, Htut T, Aakre I (2020) Nutrient composition of 19 fish species from Sri Lanka and potential contribution to food and nutrition security. Journal of Food Composition and Analysis 91: 1-13
- Sablani S, Myhara R, Al-Attabi Z, Al-Mugheiry M (2001) Water sorption isotherms of freeze dried fish sardines. Drying Technology 19 (3-4): 673-680
- Sehrawat R, Nema P, Kaur B (2016) Effect of superheated steam drying on properties of foodstuffs and kinetic modeling. Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies 34: 285-301
- Sehrawat R, Nema PK (2018) Low pressure superheated steam drying of onion slices: kinetics and quality comparison with vacuum and hot air drying in an advanced drying unit. Journal of Food Science and Technology 55 (10): 4311-4320
- Sekadende B, Scott L, Anderson J, Aswani S, Francis J, Jacobs Z, Jebri F, Jiddawi N, Kamukuru AT, Kelly S, Kizenga K, Kuguru B, Kyewalyanga M, Noyon M, Nyandwi N, Painter SC, Palmer M, Raitsos DE, Roberts M, Sailley SF, Samoilys M, Sauer WHH, Shayo S, Shaghude Y, Sarah FW Taylor SFW, Wihsgott J, Popova E (2020) The small pelagic fishery of the Pemba Channel, Tanzania: what we know and what we need to know for management under climate change. Ocean Coastal Management 197 (May): 1-18
- Sheeba W, Immaculate J, Jamila P (2021) Comparative studies on the nutrition of two species of sardine , *Sardinella longiceps* and *Sardinella fimbriata* of South East Coast of India. Food Science and Nutrition Technology 6 (4): 1-12
- Shija SMY, Shilla DA, Mihale MJ (2019) Variation of proximate contents in selected marine fish from Tanzanian Coast due to seasonality and processing methods. Huria Journal 26 (1): 30-49
- Steiner-Asiedu M, Julshamn K, Lie Ø (1991) Effect of local processing methods (cooking, frying and smoking) on three fish species from Ghana: Part I. Proximate composition, fatty acids, minerals, trace elements and vitamins. Food Chemistry 40 (3): 309-321
- Stephen NM, Shakila JR, Jeyasekaran G, Sukumar D (2010) Effect of different types of heat processing on chemical changes in tuna. Journal of Food Science and Technology 47 (2): 174-181
- Sulieman A, Mustafa W (2012) Quality characteristics of dried fish obtained from Eldeim Area, Central Sudan. International Journal of Food Science and Nutrition Engineering 2 (1): 1-6

- Sultana S, Parween S, Hossain MA (2011) Biochemical analysis of some dried Sis fishes of the River Padma in Rajshahi. Journal of Life and Earth Science 6: 39-43
- Sutikno LA, Bashir KMI, Kim H, Park Y, Won NE, An JH, Jeon JH, Yoon SJ, Park SM, Sohn JH, Kim JS, Choi JS (2019) Improvement in physicochemical, microbial, and sensory properties of common squid (*Todarodes pacificus* Steenstrup) by superheated steam roasting in combination with smoking treatment. Journal of Food Quality: 1-15
- SWIOFP (2012). Mainstreaming biodiversity in fisheries management: a retrospective analysis of existing data on vulnerable organisms in the South West Indian Ocean. A specialist report. A SWIOFP Retrospective Analysis, Durban, South Africa. 206 pp

- Tavares J, Martins A, Fidalgo LG, Lima V, Amaral RA, Pinto CA, Silva AM, Saraiva JA (2021) Fresh fish degradation and advances in preservation using physical emerging technologies. Foods 10 (780): 1-20
- Wisuthiphaet N, Kongruang S, Chamcheun C (2015) Production of fish protein hydrolysates by acid and enzymatic hydrolysis. Journal of Medical and Bioengineering 4 (6): 466-470
- Yetunde K (2016) Biochemical composition of *Micromesistus poutassou* from agbalata market, Badagry Lagos West, Nigeria. Food and Applied Bioscience 4 (1): 12-24
- Yu L, Zzaman, W, Akanda J, Yang T, Easa A (2017) Influence of superheated steam cooking on proximate, fatty acid profile, and amino acid composition of catfish (*Clarias batrachus*) fillets. Turkish Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 17: 935-943

Original Article

Western Indian Ocean JOURNAL OF Marine Science

Open access

Citation:

Mirera DO, Salim A, Kendi K (2023) Hydrodynamics of nearshore coastal waters: Implications for marine cage farming in Kenya. Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science 22(2): 25-41 [doi: 10.4314/wiojms.v22i2.3]

Received: October 10, 2022

Accepted: July 12, 2023

Published: October 26, 2023

Copyright:

Owned by the journal. The articles are open access articles distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY 4.0) licence.

* Corresponding author: dimirera@yahoo.com

David O. Mirera^{1*}, Athman Salim¹, Josyline Kendi¹

¹ Kenya Marine and Fisheries Research Institute (KMFRI), PO Box 81651-80100, Mombasa, Kenya

Abstract

Hydrodynamic characteristics are important considerations in the design of cages used for fish farming in nearshore marine environments. The hydrodynamics of sites in mangrove creeks and comparatively open water channels in Kilifi and Kwale Counties in Kenya were sampled across tidal cycles and seasons using an Acoustic Wave and Current Profiler (AWAC). Water temperature ranged between 25.9 °C and 33.0 °C, and was lower in deeper areas with larger tidal heights than in shallower areas with smaller tidal heights. The water column height ranged between 9.68 - 14.69 m at Kijiweni, 1.16 - 6.7 m at Kibokoni and Tsunza, and 0.72 - 2.57 m at Dabaso. Maximum current speeds were 0.83 - 0.87 m/s at Kijiweni, 1.1 m/s at Kibokoni, 0.89 m/s Tsunza, and 0.34 m/s at Dabaso. Wave height reached 0.35 and 0.36 m at Kijiweni, 2.7 m at Kibokoni, 1.3 m at Tsunza, and 1.6 m at Dabaso. The considerable difference in hydrodynamic characteristics between the sampling sites indicate that cages for marine fish farming should be designed specifically for local conditions in mangrove creeks and Cages for fish farming therefore require specific design and structural features depending on the local hydrodynamic conditions.

Keywords: hydrodynamics, marine, cage, culture, Kenya

Introduction

Capture fisheries on the east African coast provide support to a large number of communities. They are mostly artisanal, underdeveloped, over exploited and associated with coral reef, seagrass and mangrove ecosystems that are faced with challenges of degradation and climate change effects among other stressors (McManus et al., 1997; Jiddawi and Öhman, 2002; Kaunda-Arara et al., 2003; Worm et al., 2006; McClanahan et al., 2008; Mirera et al., 2013). Indeed, primary producers working in the agriculture, forestry and fisheries sectors are more vulnerable to climate change since they are dependent on climate-sensitive natural resources; a situation which therefore impacts food security and livelihoods (IPCC, 2007; Cooper et al., 2008; Stokes and Howden, 2010).

Global fish consumption has increased significantly since 1960 (9.0 kg per capita per year) to current (20.5 kg

per capita per year). Per capita fish consumption in Africa is nearly half the global average (9.9 kg per capita) and accounts for 30 - 50 % of all the animal protein in many coastal countries (UN Nutrition, 2021). In the early 1980s per capita fish consumption in Kenya was estimated at 4.3 kg whereas demand for fish was estimated at 9.5 kg/person/year which implied a deficit in fish production that needed aquaculture intervention (Balarin, 1985). Currently, per capita fish consumption is estimated at 8 kg/person in Tanzania and 5.5 kg/ person in Kenya thus creating a fish deficit of 230,000 MT in Tanzania and 150,000 MT in Kenya (Pauly et al., 2003; FAO, 2018). Globally it has been observed that low fish supply could lead to malnutrition, under nutrition, and micronutrient deficiencies, which will consequently lead to poor health (Golden et al., 2016). It is therefore evident that addressing food and especially protein insecurity in east Africa requires a sustainable and multi-faceted approach rather than

dependency on freshwater systems where most of the aquaculture is currently practiced, wild fish capture, fish imports and terrestrial agriculture that depends on rain and other water sources that are impacted by climate change (Mmochi, 2015). Despite aquaculture being one of the frontiers for food production in the world (UN Nutrition, 2021), it is faced with several limitations with regard to sustainable development that need to be addressed (Troell *et al.*, 2009).

Consequently, there is a need to develop strategies to adapt and mitigate climate change impacts and reduce social vulnerability from fish deficits to be able to attain the United Nations Sustainable Development Goal (SDG 14). Mariculture development is one of the strategies proposed to reduce pressure on near-shore fisheries in coastal east Africa (Troell et al., 2011). Mariculture in Kenya was conceptualized in 1976 through farming of prawns in intertidal earthen ponds at Ngomeni after failure of soil suitability tests at Dabaso in addition to seasonal fluctuations in temperature and salinity that impacted growth and survival (FAO, 1977). To date mariculture production has remained low in the country even though more species have been recruited into culture (Mirera, 2011, 2019; Mirera et al., 2020). Also, progress has been made in development of hatcheries to supply fingerlings to farmers (e.g. National Mariculture Resource and Training Centre (NAMARET, Shimoni). However, there is a need to focus on suitability of sites assessments for cage farming.

The development of marine cage farming will complement previously used intertidal earthen ponds in mangrove systems mainly used to farm milkfish, mullets, marine tilapia, mud crab and prawns extensively at small scale (Mirera, 2011, 2019; Mmochi, 2015). To embrace marine cage farming, a holistic knowledge of the ocean systems (near shore and offshore) is required to help tap into the Blue Economy potential and contribute to the sustainable development agenda (Österblom and Folke, 2013). Therefore, there is need for data on the physical and chemical dynamics of the ocean waves and currents in coastal creeks, channels, estuarine river systems, near shore and deep water systems to inform cage farming and ocean governance (Campbell et al., 2016; Halpern et al., 2019). Hydrodynamic characteristics like multidirectional, nonlinear combination of both waves and currents will inform cage engineering designs (mooring systems, cage shape, floater system, tension response, net blockage) through development of numerical models to cost effectively

withstand extreme conditions and provide a suitable fish growing environment (Aarnses, 1990; Gignoux and Messier, 1999; Colbourne and Allen, 2001; Faltinsen and Shen, 2018). It is recognised that industrial marine cage fish farming is young globally but has significantly advanced in many regions of the world other than east Africa where it produces 6.6 million tons of fish per year (FAO, 2020). Indeed, cage technology genesis is traced back to the Antlantic salmon farms in Norway and Scotland in 1960s and 1970s respectively and has benefited from innovations over the years to achieve the currently engineered structures available in the market (Fredheim and Langan, 2009; Tilseth *et al.*, 1991; Bao-Tong, 1994; Chen, 2007).

Using previously designed cage structures and learning from other regions like Norway, and understanding the prevailing physical and chemical dynamics of coastal sites in east Africa will inform mitigation measures through cage design, deployment, management, culture system and species to be farmed (Neori et al., 2004; Troell et al., 2009; O'Donncha et al., 2013). Studies undertaken in other regions indicate that water exchange rate can reduce to approximately 59 % due to increased bottom friction from suspended aquaculture in marine bivalves indicating that drag net effect influence water exchange rate and renewal of nutrient and food supply (Grant and Bacher, 2001; Shi et al., 2011; Cranford et al., 2014). Similarly, feed spills, cage waste diffusion and disposition is affected by direction and velocity of water current therefore influencing distribution of particulate organic wastes that may affect the health of benthic organisms and habitats (Holmer and Kristensen, 1994; Findlay et al., 1995; Wu, 1995; Petrell and Alie, 1996; Karakassis et al., 2000; Abreu et al., 2009; Faltinsen and Shen, 2018). A good current flow will ensure sufficient water exchange (good oxygen supply and well-being of fish) in a cage system.

Provision of hydrodynamic data will ensure that cage systems are installed properly to mitigate challenges associated to placement of net cage systems in areas that experience seasonal monsoon seasons and unpredictable wave behaviour or local tidal and strong ocean currents (Kawakami, 1964; Milne, 1972). The stability of marine cage culture systems will cushion farmers from major economic losses due to damages and collapses of floating fish farms that lead to escape of fish, breaking of mooring lines, anchor pull out or sliding, leading to cage movement to undesired locations with possible collisions with other maritime users, contacts between chains or ropes with the fish net leading to net tears (Faltinsen and Shen, 2018). Therefore, the current study sort to document the hydrodynamic characteristics of different near shore marine waters in coastal Kenya with the aim of delineating salient features (like depth, current strength, direction, wave height, tidal height and temperature) to inform site selection, design and deployment for marine culture cages. Kibokoni Umoja to Tsunza Pennisula was 109 km; and from Tsunza to Kijiweni mariculture cages, Shimoni was 92 km. Kijiweni 1 and 2 were separated by a distance of less than 50 meters. The sites were categorized into three, based on the habitat and perceived hydrodynamic characteristics: (1) mangrove channels; (2) relatively sheltered near shore; and (3) sheltered creek/bays. Detailed characteristics of each of the sites is provided in Table 1.



Figure 1. Map of the Kenyan coast showing the potential floating cage sites.

Methodology

Study sites

The study assessed the suitability of near shore marine waters for cage culture in Kenya. A total of five sites from the two counties of Kwale and Kilifi were involved in the study (Fig. 1). The distance between the study sites varied. From Dabaso at Mida Creek to Kibokoni Umoja group at Kilifi Creek was 54 km; from

Experimental design

Acoustic Wave and Current Profiler (AWAC)

The study used an Acoustic Wave and Current profiler (AWAC), model WAV 7499 developed by NORTEK to obtain hydrodynamics characteristics at the potential cage sites. AWAC has the capability to measure tidal variation (m), waves (m), temperature (°C), current speed (m/s) and direction (degrees). Quality control

Study sites/ Characteristics	Shimoni	Mwache creek	Mida creek	Kilifi creek
Location	Kijiweni	Tsunza	Dabaso	Kibokoni
County	Kwale	Kwale	Kilifi	Kilifi
Description	 Relatively open near shore waters Thin mangroves dominated by Sonneratia alba and Avicennia marina Substrate is mud sand Bathymetry has gentle slope near shore but drastically steep ocean wards 	 Sheltered mangrove channel Dense mangrove species dominated by Rhizophora mucronata and Ceriops targal Mud substrate Bathymetry is gentle sloping 	 Sheltered mangrove creek Dense mangrove species dominated by Rhizophora mucronata and Avicennia marina Mud substrate Bathymetry is gentle sloping with pockets of channels 	 Sheltered mangrove channel Dense mangrove species dominated by Rhizophora mucronata and Ceriops targal Mud substrate Bathymetry has gentle slope near shore but drastically steep ocean wards
Fishing activities	- Artisanal fishing of different marine species mainly rabbitfish	- Artisanal fishing dominated by prawns	- Artisanal fishing dominated by snappers	- Artisanal fishing dominated by prawns and mud crabs
Mariculture activities	- Seaweed farming - Interest in cage farming	- Pond milkfish farming - Interest in cage farming	-Mud crab farming -Interest in cage farming	- Prawn farming, marine tilapia - Interest in fish cages

Table 1. Characterization of the different sites assessed for cage suitability using hydrodynamic parameters along the coast of Kenya.

on data was conducted by the use of storm-64 software while data retrieval used AWAC AST software. The AWAC system can resolve waves from 1 to 100 seconds and measure current speed and direction in 1 m thick layers from the bottom to the surface. The AWAC equipment was deployed at the maximum recorded depth of the different study sites to collect data over a period of 4 - 19 days to capture spring and neap tide variation. Seasonal variability (NEM and SEM) was captured at one site that was relatively exposed (Kijiweni).

Equipment was prepared for use by assembling the frames using bolts and nuts and bolting the battery that runs the equipment onto the frame. It is then connected to a laptop using a serial port connector cable and configured using AWAC AST software to collect data. The AWAC equipment is carried to the site by boat and lowered to the ocean floor with the help of divers where it would remain for the whole experimental period (4-19 days). Weights were added to enhance sinking capacity and the equipment was anchored at the bottom with more weights to minimize the tilt effect (tilt angle to be less than 30 degrees at all times). A buoy was attached to the AWAC with rope for easy visibility by any other ocean users and for easy identification during retrieval.

Sampling design

The Kenyan coast is characterised by neap and spring tides which influence movement of water to the shore.

Also, the coast experiences a tropical climate influenced by monsoon winds with two distinct seasons (NEM and SEM). The NEM is characterized by hot and calm weather and the SEM by strong winds, cool temperatures and rough seas (Linden and Lundin, 1996). Sampling was designed to capture data for the different seasons and tidal cycles to inform cage culture interventions (Table 2). To provide a broader view of the effect of tide and season on hydrodynamic characteristics, sampling was carried out for shorter periods of four days (covering only one neap of spring tide) and long periods of 19 days (covering full neap and spring tide cycles). At one site sampling was repeated after a year to assess if there were variations between years. The AWAC captured the same data for all sites even though sampling days were different at sites. It was anticipated that such robust sampling could provide data that could inform future site assessments for cage farming.

Stakeholder involvement was conducted through focus group discussions with the ocean users at each site, especially fishermen, to identify the most viable areas. This involved identification of sheltered areas, areas not close to known fishing areas and navigation routes, and areas that remained relatively deep at low tides (Beveridge, 2004). Random sampling was undertaken using a handheld eco sounder to establish depth gradients (Turner, 2000). Before deployment, fishers were engaged to monitor the equipment as a mitigation against vandalism.
Table	e 2. Acoustic	wave and curr	rent profiler d	leployn	nent period	(days) and	l season at the	differ	ent study	sites on t	he coast o	f Keny	a
-------	----------------------	---------------	-----------------	---------	-------------	------------	-----------------	--------	-----------	------------	------------	--------	---

Sampling sites	AWAC deployment period (days)	AWAC deployment Month	AWAC deployment season
Shimoni, Kijiweni 1	14	March	Northeast Monsoon
Shimoni, Kijiweni 2	19	July	Southeast Monsoon
Kilifi creek, Kibokoni	14	February	Northeast Monsoon
Mwache creek, Tsunza	4	September	Northeast Monsoon
Mida creek, Dabaso	4	September	Northeast Monsoon

Data analysis

The AWAC data was analyzed and visualized using the programming and numeric computing platform MATLAB and presented graphically.

Decomposition of tidal currents

Tidal current velocities measured by the AWAC profiler were decomposed in order to determine the horizontal velocity components within the main channels. Main direction of flow was determined by plotting current velocities against respective directions. This was also used to determine the dominant current velocities during the period of measurements. The along channel velocity component (u) was determined from the current velocity record as

$$u = U\cos\left(\pi \frac{\alpha}{180}\right) \tag{1}$$

The cross-channel velocity component (v) was determined by using the equation

$$v = U \sin\left(\pi \frac{\alpha}{180}\right) \tag{2}$$

Where U is the current speed record and α is the direction angle measured in degrees.

Harmonic analysis

Harmonic analysis was carried out to establish the influence of the external factors on water velocity. The analysis is a mathematical method of extracting sinusoidal components of specific frequencies from, e.g. a water level record. In this case, it was based on the "method of least squares". Instead of fitting a straight line to the data by varying its slope and intercept, a set of cosine (or sine) curves with given frequencies ω were fitted by varying amplitudes and phases, minimizing the sum of deviations from the original curve.

Given a time series Z(t) of data points, the tidal part can be expressed as a combination of sine and cosine functions (*cf.* Dronkers, 1964) as:

$$Z(t) = \sum_{k} a_k \sin(\omega_k t) + \sum_{k} b_k \cos(\omega_k t)$$
(3)

The value of ak and bk can be calculated for the given frequencies, ωk by minimizing the sum of squares of the differences between the assumed function and the given time series Zn.

Least square fit requires that the following function is

$$f(a_k, b_k) = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \left(z_n - \sum_k a_k \sin(\omega_k t_n) + \sum_k b_k \cos(\omega_k t_n) \right)^2 \quad (4)$$

This requirement is satisfied by

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial a_i} = 0 \qquad i = 1, \dots, k \tag{5}$$

and

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial b_i} = 0 \qquad i = 1, \dots, k \tag{6}$$

Where

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial a_i} = -2\sum_{n=1}^N \cos(\omega_i t_n) \left(z_n - \sum_k a_k \sin(\omega_k t_n) - \sum_k b_k \cos(\omega_k t_n) \right) = 0 \quad (7)$$

and

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial b_i} = -2\sum_{n=1}^N \sin(\omega_i t_n) \left(z_n - \sum_k a_k \sin(\omega_k t_n) - \sum_k b_k \cos(\omega_k t_n) \right) = 0 \quad (8)$$

The above equations can be rewritten as

$$\sum_{k} a_{k} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \sin(\omega_{k} t_{n}) \cos(\omega_{k} t_{n}) + \sum_{k} b_{k} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \sin(\omega_{i} t_{n}) \sin(\omega_{k} t_{n}) = \sum_{n=1}^{N} Z_{n} \sin(\omega_{i} t_{n})$$
(9)

$$\sum_{k} a_{k} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \cos(\omega_{k} t_{n}) \cos(\omega_{k} t_{n}) + \sum_{k} b_{k} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \cos(\omega_{n} t_{n}) \sin(\omega_{k} t_{n}) = \sum_{n=1}^{N} Z_{n} \cos(\omega_{n} t_{n})$$
(10)

This can be simplified by introducing the notation

$$C_{in} = \cos(\omega_i t_n), \ S_{kn} = \sin(\omega_k t_n)$$
(11)

$$\sum_{k} a_{k} S_{kn} C_{kn} + \sum_{k} b_{k} S_{in} S_{kn} = \sum_{n} Z_{n} S_{in}$$
(12)

$$\sum_{k} a_{k} C_{kn} C_{kn} + \sum_{k} b_{k} C_{in} S_{kn} = \sum_{n} Z_{n} S_{in}$$
(13)

Results

Temperature and tidal variation Relatively sheltered near shore waters

(Shimoni – Kijiweni)

The depth of water at low tide was higher in Kijiweni 1 (12 meters) compared to Kijiweni 2 (8 meters) (Table 3). Higher variation in daily temperature was observed in Kijiweni 1 compared to Kijiweni 2 (Fig. 2 A, B). A consistent incremental trend was observed in temperature in Kijiweni 1 sampling site with a minimum of 25.9 °C, maximum of 27.6 °C and an average of 26.64 ± 0.37 °C. Kijiweni 2 recorded a minimum temperature of 28.1 °C, maximum 28.93 °C and an average of 28.42 ± 0.14 °C (Table 3). There was a difference in the behaviour of daily water column heights observed in the different sampling sites with clear distinctions between neap and spring tides (Fig, 2 C, D). The highest water column height in Kijiweni 2 was 13.568 m and the lowest 9.684 m, 14.691 m and 10.894 m respectively for Kijiweni 1 (Fig. 2 C, D).

Mangrove creek channels (Kibokoni and Tsunza)

Temperature variations at Kibokoni mangrove channel showed a distinct trend that resonated well with neap and spring tides with a maximum of 33.0 °C, minimum of 29.69 °C and an average of 30.98 ± 0.69 °C, while the highest water column height was 6.7 m and lowest 3.1 m (Fig. 3 Kibokoni A, B). At Tsunza, the sampling period was four days and temperature variations were minimal and lacked a trend with a maximum of 29.4 °C, minimum of 27.8 °C and an average of 28.64 \pm 0.12 °C (Fig. 3 Tsunza A). Similarly, the highest water column height at Tsunza was 4.46 m and lowest 1.16 m but there was no tidal trend (Fig. 3 Tsunza B).

Mangrove creek bay (Dabaso)

Over the four days sampling period, temperature fluctuated between a maximum of 30.2 °C, minimum of 27.5 °C and an average of 29.54 ± 0.48 °C. The highest recorded water column height was 2.57 m and the lowest 0.72 m (Fig. 4). No specific trend was observed in the variation of the two parameters.

Tidal current speed dynamics

Relatively sheltered near shore waters (Shimoni – Kijiweni)

Water currents in the area can be classified as unidirectional caused by tides and wind. At Kijiweni 2 the current had a maximum speed of 0.8690 m/s and spread towards northeast (NE) or seawards and northwest (NW) or landwards (Fig. 5A-Direction) while in Kijiweni 1 maximum speed was 0.83 m/s and spread towards the west (W) or landwards (Fig. 5B- Direction). Current speed across the channel (V) was relatively lower than along the channel (U) (Fig. 5A -U&V, B- U&V). Flood (incoming) current dominated the site that led to an inverse correlation of the V-Velocity vs U-Velocity (Fig. 5 A - V vs U, B - V vs U). There were observed variations in wave heights over the two sampling points with highest wave height of 0.36 m in Kijiweni 2 (Fig. 6 A-W) and 0.35 m in Kijiweni 1 (Fig. 6 B-W).

Table 3. Hydrodynamic characteristics obtained in the four assessed sites along the coast of Kenya.

	Sampl	ing sites				
Parameter	Details	Kijiweni 1	Kijiweni 2	Kibokoni	Tsunza	Dabaso
Current (m/s)	Direction	W - Landwards	NE-seawards NW-landwards	SE-seawards	NE- seawards	NW – landwards E - landwards
	Max V (across channel)	0.64	0.65	0.75	0.49	0.24
	Max U (along channel)	0.83	0.869	1.113	0.89	0.344
	Bottom water	0.541	0.41	1.195	0.89	0.344
	Intermediate	0.584	0.45	-	-	-
	Surface water	0.869	0.815	1.113	0.89	0.344
Wave height (m)	Mean	0.35	0.36	2.7	1.3	1.61
Depth (m)	At low waters	12	8	6.7	4.1	2.0
Tidal height (m)		4.0	3.89	3.6	3.42	1.87
Temperature (°C)	Max	27.6	28.93	33.0	29.4	30.2
	Min	25.9	28.1	29.69	27.8	27.5



Figure 2. Water temperature (A and B) and water column height (C and D) variation in a relatively sheltered nearshore system at Kijiweni - south coast of Kenya monitored for two different points (Kijiweni 2-AD, Kijiweni 1-BC) for a 19 days sampling period.

Mangrove creek channels (Kibokoni and Tsunza)

The maximum current speed at Kibokoni was 1.113 m/s flowing towards the southeast or seawards (Fig. 7 A, C, E) and Tsunza 0.89 m/s flowing towards the east northeast or seawards (Fig. 7 B, D, F); an indication that ebb or receding currents dominate at the two sites. The relationship between V-Velocity vs U-Velocity at Kibokoni indicates a negative (inverse) relationship (Fig. 7 G) while that of Tsunza indicates a positive (direct) relationship (Fig. 7 H). The maximum wave height recorded at Kibokoni was 2.7 m (Fig. 8 K-W) while at Tsunza it was 1.3 m (Fig. 8 T-W).

Mangrove creek bay (Dabaso)

Water movement along the mangrove creek bay was relatively slow with a maximum current speed of 0.344 m/s and spread towards the northwest or landward (Fig. 9 A, B) while the maximum current speed across the bay was 0.24 m/s spreading towards the east or landward (Fig. 9 A, C). There was an inverse relationship when comparing V-Velocity vs U-Velocity. The maximum wave height (Hs) recorded at Dabaso over the four-day sampling period was 1.61 m (Fig. 9 D).

Relationship of depth and current

There was an observed trend of current and depth that was unique to the different sites studied. Mangrove sheltered sites like Kibokoni exhibited higher water current in the bottom waters and lower current in the surface waters. There were also observed spikes in wave height in sheltered mangrove creeks compared to open sites. In relatively open sites at Kijiweni the water current was higher in surface waters and decreased with water depth (Table 3).

Discussion

Three categories of cage site selection criteria need to be addressed for effective cage farming: physicochemical (temperature, salinity, oxygen etc) suitable for the species under culture; oceanographic factors (waves, currents, weather, shelter, depth, substrate, winds etc); and profitability factors (legal aspects, access, land-based facilities, security, economic and social considerations). Therefore, cage design and deployment are site specific and guided by the knowledge of the site oceanographic conditions (Siddiqui and Nagarajan, 2016). A floating cage system has four main components which have distinct functions and



Figure 3. Temperature (A) and water column height trends (B) in two mangrove channels (Kibokoni and Tsunza) sampled at different time periods (15 and 4 days respectively).

roles: the flotilla/floating collar provides buoyancy, provides shape of the cage net and may be used as a working platform (Liu *et al.*, 2019); the cage net holds the fish that are farmed in the cage system and the netting dimensions determines the volume available for fish culture while the water exchange inside a cage is inversely proportional to the volume of the net and is influenced by the speed of the current (Piccolotti and Lovatelli, 2013); the anchors will provide the sinking effect to help bring the shape of the cage and hold it in place; while the mooring provides the connection between the sinkers and the flotilla to keep the cage in place. These aspects require understanding of the hydrodynamic characteristics that will inform the wave force acting on the cage to guide cage engineering (Kumar and Karnatak, 2014). Based on the resistance effect of cages, circular cages are more preferred since they can withstand dynamic stress and thus are



Figure 4. Changes in temperature (A) and water column height (B) over the four days experimental period at Dabaso mangrove creek bay.igure 5. Changes in U and V speed, direction and correlation between U and V velocities in a relatively sheltered nearshore system at Kijiweni - south coast of Kenya monitored at two different sampling points (Kijiweni 1 – B, Kijiweni 2 - A) over a 19 days sampling period.



Figure 5. Changes in U and V speed, direction and correlation between U and V velocities in a relatively sheltered nearshore system at Kijiweni - south coast of Kenya monitored at two different sampling points (Kijiweni 1 – B, Kijiweni 2 - A) over a 19 days sampling period.



Figure 6. Variations in wave height at Kijiweni – south coast of Kenya at two different sampling points (Kijiweni 2 – A, Kijiweni 1 – B) monitored over a period of 19 days.

more suitable in less sheltered sites while square or rectangular cages will have large forces in the corners that can eventually lead to breakage and thus only suitable to sheltered sites. However, rectangular or square cages are preferable since they are easier to construct, have a higher water exchange rate within the net and can be constructed in large sizes (Piccolotti and Lovatelli, 2013).

In most coastal regions tidal currents are the predominant source of surface water currents where wave height is referred to as tidal range. This are influenced by the attractive forces, exerted by the moon and sun thus producing tidal waves during spring and neap tides with extreme long wavelengths with oscillation period of 12 h 25 min (crest and trough) being termed as high and low tides. The tidal created waves present minor problems for cage fish farms though they can create very strong tidal currents. In practice, ebb and flood tidal currents in the range 0.1-0.6 ms⁻¹ and mean tidal currents of 0.03-0.2 ms⁻¹ have been found to be satisfactory for good water exchange; sites where currents exceed 1ms-1 are not generally recommended (Braaten and Saetre 1973; Chen 1979; Chua and Teng 1980; Kerr et al. 1980; PPD 1986; Ikenoue and Kafuku, 1988; Rudi and Dragsund 1993; Turner, 2000). In the current study ebb and flood tidal currents in the range of 0.24 - 1.113 m/s were found at all the sites assessed. There were no sites with water currents lower than 0.1 m/s; a condition that would prevent good water exchange for oxygen supply and poor transport of faeces and excess feed, leading to a build up at the bottom of the cages creating anaerobic conditions and hydrogen sulphide in the sediments that is toxic to fish (Beveridge, 1996; Huguenin, 1997).

Areas characterized with U velocities of 1.0 - 1.5 m/s and more than 1.5 m/s are described as highly and extremely exposed respectively (Faltinsen and Shen,

2018). In one of the study sites, the along the channel current/velocity (U) recorded was higher (1.113 m/s) which could be associated with the steep topography observed in the creek (Turner, 2000). The current was above 1m/s which is problematic because of the likelihood of very large forces on the cage structure and mooring system that may lead to breakage or shifting of cages or cage deformations; this is relevant for cage design and instalments at Kibokoni mangrove channel, Kilifi Creek (Lader and Enerhaug, 2005; Huang et al., 2008; Lader et al., 2008; Holmer, 2010; Moe et al., 2010). Aarsnes et al. (1990) observed that up to 80 % of the expected volume available to hold fish in gravity cages may be lost in currents of 1 m/s. Current speeds of 0.13-0.35 m/s were observed to reduce the cage volume by 20-40 % by causing the cage bottom to be pushed upwards. Further, currents influence fish behaviour, affecting social hierarchies, growth and growth disparities among stock (Phillips et al., 1985; Leon, 1986; Jobling, et al. 1993; Jobling, 1995) and, reportedly, flesh quality. Also, excessive currents are associated with skeletal deformities in cage-reared carp.

The present study provides information on currents that, if well understood, will improve the marine cage resistance to dynamic stress caused by swells and currents in addition to informing suitable cage dimensions for each site. Sheltered sites with weaker currents as in the current study will require smaller cage sizes compared to exposed sites. Further, cage design will also be informed by the cost implication of making cages since the cost per cubic meter of cage volume reduces as the size increases. According to Kumar and Karnatak (2014), the cost of making a 100 m³ cage is less compared to making two cages of each 50 m³. Larger cages will save cost of material used to make cages and cost of management and maintaining one unit of cage compared to separate small cages even



Figure 7. Changes in U and V velocity, direction and relationship between U and V velocities in the mangrove channels of Kibokoni (Kilifi creek – A, C, E, G) and Tsunza (Mwache creek- B, D, F, H) in Kenya monitored at different time periods.



Figure 8. Variations in significant wave height at Kibokoni (K-W) and Tsunza (T-W) monitored over 14 days and 4 days respectively.

though the losses could be huge in the event of torn nets or replacements (Piccolotti and Lovatelli, 2013). Also, in smaller cages the stocking density may be increased (200 kg/m³) compared to bigger cages (25 kg/m³), but smaller cages could lead to bigger losses of feed which is pushed quickly out of the cage by currents before consumption by fish. For these reasons currents are important in cage site selection and design (Piccolotti and Lovatelli, 2013).

Wind is the main ingredient in the formation of waves in the open ocean which are the greatest determinant of site selection in cage farming. When winds blow across water, a drag is applied on the surface and pushes the water up, creating a wave. The height will increase as long as the wind is strong enough to add energy to the wave. Once a wave is generated, it will travel in the same direction until it meets land or is dampened by an opposing force such as winds blowing against it in the opposite direction, or by friction (Bascom, 1964). The height of wind-created waves depends on the wind velocity, the duration of the wind, the fetch length (distance where wave development can take place) and the presence of other waves when the wind begins to blow. The current study recorded wave heights of between 0.35 and 2.7 m in the four sites assessed which are within the mean wave height recommendations of other studies (Beveridge, 1996; Huguenin, 1997; Aguilar-Manjarrez et al, 2013). The site with the highest wave height is a mangrove creek which by its nature is well sheltered though the steep bathymetry of the creek might be associated with the attained wave height. According to Faltinsen and Shen (2018), wave heights of more than 2.0-3.0 m and more than 3.0 m are found in areas described as highly and extremely exposed, respectively. Significant wave heights of 2 m are most suitable for cage farm sites since cages can tolerate such heights. However, it is

advisable to construct cages that can tolerate significant wave heights of 4 - 5 m. Some ocean cages may be constructed to tolerate significant wave heights of 7 - 8 m but in such cases there is need for special considerations of how such cages can be operated before selecting such sites. Such extreme wave heights were not recorded in the current study. Cage farms set in areas with high wave heights are difficult and expensive to operate since operational access is reduced and thus not an option for small scale fish farmers since they can only be operated with large and expensive boats. Therefore, knowledge of the wave climate of an area helps in choosing the correct cage technology and mooring system that will ensure integrity of the cage (Cairns and Linfoot, 1990; Pérez *et al.*, 2003).

Tidal heights significantly influence movement of cages and the recommended heights are between 2-3 m (Francesco Cardia et al, 2015). Tidal ranges of 1.67 m have been observed to influence movement of 22 m diameter circular cages by 10.1 and 7.7 m east and north thus increasing the effective area under the cage available for fish waste deposition by 72 % (Corner et al., 2006). The current study established a tidal height range of between 1.87 and 4.0 m in all assessed sites. This is suitable for cage drainage although it may lead to significant cage movements that require adjustments to the mooring system to avoid cage breakage. To mitigate against breakage and compensate for movement, rectangular cages are normally oriented with the larger dimension placed in the streamwise direction. However, with this configuration, circulation of flows around and through the entire farm becomes complex since cages downstream may experience reduced water exchange compared to the upstream cages leading to more wastes, decrease in quality of water and dissolved oxygen (Kleberta et al., 2013).



Figure 9. Changes in U and V velocity (A), direction (B) and correlation between U and V velocities (C) and significant wave height (D) at Dabaso mangrove creek bay monitored over a period of four days.

According to Li (1994), a cage should be held within the plankton- rich surface (< 2 m) waters. Very shallow cages (< 1.5 m) have been shown to affect body shape and retard growth in carp and tilapia farms (Maruyama and Ishida, 1976, 1977) although some other fish like flatfish (turbot and halibut) may prefer shallow cage depths of 0.9 - 1.6 m (Kerr *et al.*, 1980; Martinez Cordero *et al.*, 1994). In the current study varied water depth was found at low tides (ebb water) for different sites ranging from 2.0 - 12 m depending on the characteristics of the site. Taking cognizance of the fact that a cage needs to operate between 0.9 - 2 m from the water surface based on culture species, the sites assessed are suitable for cage farming though species selection needs to be undertaken based on the specific requirements. Equally, the depth of a cage site is a determinant of the mooring system to be used. Usually water depths with a distance of 2 - 5 m from the bottom of the cage to the sea bottom is recommended if the current conditions are suitable (Beveridge, 1996; Huguenin, 1997). Depths above 100 m will greatly increase the costs of the mooring system since long mooring lines will be needed.

Cages should be sited in sufficient depth to maximize the exchange of water yet keep the cage bottoms well clear of the substrate. Indeed, water is drawn into the cage not only through the sides but also through the bottom and therefore, as the cage bottom approaches the substrate, water flow is impeded thus the requirement to hold fish at least 4 - 5 m above the sediments (Chacon Torres *et al.*, 1988).

The current study established an increment of water current with depth in sheltered mangrove channels that were associated to tidal currents, while in relatively open sites surface waters had stronger currents than bottom waters. The study provides new information for consideration when developing cages in mangrove channels that are assumed to be sheltered and thus less influenced by currents. Establishment of the bottom topography/bathymetry is also important as it gives information of sloping contours that will inform placement of anchors and distance of cage placement from the bottom (Turner, 2000). Depth estimations need to be well compensated with tidal fluctuations which may range from 0.5 m to over 10 m depending on the part of the world and calmness of the weather (Muir Wood and Fleming, 1981).

Conclusion and recommendations

The hydrodynamic characteristics of the different sites studied on the north and south coast of Kenya indicate that Kenyan waters are suitable for cage culture. Based on the findings, different cage designs need to be employed in each site to meet the varied dynamics in currents, waves, tidal heights, depth, flow and temperatures. Being a new potential area for cage culture in the region, more studies are required to characterize the entire nearshore coastal area to inform development of the industry in addition to provision of data for suitable species for culture and contribute to marine spatial planning to minimise user conflicts.

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to Western Indian Ocean Marine Science Association (WIOMSA) for funding this study through a Marine Science for Management (MASMA) grant under the BLUEGRASI project. We are also thankful to Kenya Marine and Fisheries Research Institute (KMFRI) and the different technical teams who participated in data collection during this study.

References

Aarnses J, Rudi H, Loland, G (1990) Current forces on cage, net deflection. Engineering for offshore fish farming. Thomas Telford, New York. pp 137-152

- Abreu MH, Varela DA, Henriquez L, Villarroel A, Yarish C, Sousa-Pinto I, Buschmann AH (2009) Traditional vs. integrated multi-trophic aquaculture of *Gracilaria chilensis*. Aquaculture 293: 211-220
- Aguilar-Manjarrez J, Lovatelli A, Soto D (2013) Expanding mariculture farther offshore: technical, environmental, spatial and governance challenges. FAO book series [DO - 10.13140/RG.2.1.2989.1927]
- Balarin JD (1985) National reviews for aquaculture development in Africa. 7. Kenya. FAO Fisheries Circular (770.7). 96 pp
- Bao-Tong H (1994) Cage culture development and its role in aquaculture in China. Aquaculture Research 25: 305-310
- Bascom W (1964) Waves and beaches. Anchor Books, New York. 267 pp
- Beveridge M (1996) Cage aquaculture. Fishing News Books. Blackwell Scientific. 346 pp
- Beveridge CM (2004) Cage aquaculture, third edition. Blackwell Publishing. Library of Congress. 380 pp [ISBN 1-4051-0842-8]
- Braaten BR, Saetre R (1973) Rearing of Salmonids in Norwegian coastal waters Environment and types of installations. Translation Series of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada 2759. Fisheries Research Board of Canada, Ottawa. 319 pp
- Cairns J, Linfoot BT (1990) Some considerations in the structural engineering of sea-cages for aquaculture. Engineering for offshore fish farming. Thomas Telford. pp 63-77
- Campbell BM, Vermeulen SJ, Aggarwal PK, Corner-Dolloff C, Girvetz E, Loboguerrero AM, Ramirez-Villegas J, Rosenstock T, Sebastian L, Thornton P, Wollenberg E (2016) Reducing risks to food security from climate change. Global Food Security (2016) [http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2016.06.002i]
- Chacon Torres A, Ross LG, Beveridge MCM (1988) The effects of fish behaviour on dye dispersion and water exchange in small net cages. Aquaculture 73: 283-293
- Chen F-Y (1979) Progress and problems of net cage culture of grouper (*Epinephelus tauvina*) in Singapore. Proceedings of the Annual Meeting of the World Mariculture Society 10: 260-71
- Chen J, Guang C, Xu H (2007) A review of cage and pen aquaculture: China. FAO Fish Technical Paper 498. 53 pp
- Chua T-E, Teng SK (1980) Economic production of estuary grouper *Epinephelus salmoides* Maxwell, reared in floating cages. Aquaculture 20: 187-228

- Colbourne JHDB, Allen (2001) Observations on motions and loads in aquaculture cages from full scale and model scale measurements. Aquaculture Engineering 24 (2): 129-148
- Cooper PJM, Dimes J, Rao KPC, Shapiro B, Shiferaw B, Twomlow S (2008) Coping better with current climatic variability in the rain-fed farming systems of sub-Saharan Africa: An essential first step in adapting to future climate change? Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 126: 24-35 doi:10.1016/j. agee.2008.01.007
- Corner RA, Brooker AJ, Telfer TC, Ross LG (2006) A fully integrated GIS-based model of particulate waste distribution from marine fish-cage sites. Aquaculture 258: 299-311
- Cranford PJ, Duarte P, Robinson S, Fernández-Reiriz MJ, Labarta U (2014) Suspended particulate matter depletion and flow modification inside mussel (*Mytilus galloprovincialis*) culture rafts in the Ría de Betanzos, Spain. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 452: 70-81
- Dronkers JJ (1964) Tidal computations in rivers and coastal waters. North Holland publishing company. 518 pp [ISBN-13: 978-0720416121]
- Faltinsen OM, Shen Y(2018) Wave and current effects on floating fish farms. Journal of Marine Science and Application 17 (3): 284-296 [https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11804-018-0033-5]
- FAO (1977) Establishment of a pilot project for coastal aquaculture in Kenya. Report of a mission to plan a pilot farm. Feb – March 1977. FAO, Rome. ADCP/ MR/77/2. 11 pp
- FAO (2018) The FAO blue growth initiative: Strategy for the development of fisheries and aquaculture in Eastern Africa. Menezes A, Bartley D, Metzner R, Ansah Y. FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Circular No. 1161, Rome, Italy. 65 pp
- FAO (2020) The state of world fisheries and aquaculture. Sustainability in action. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. 224 pp
- Fredheim A, Langan R (2009) Advances in technology for offshore and open ocean finfish aquaculture. In: Burnell G, Allan G (eds) New technologies in aquaculture. Sawston: Woodhead Publishing Series in Food Science, Technology and Nutrition (2009): 914-944
- Findlay RH, Watling L, Mayer LM (1995) Environmental impact of salmon net-pen culture on marine benthic communities in Maine—a case study. Estuaries 18: 145-179
- Francesco Cardia AL (2015) Aquaculture operations in floating HDPE cages. Rome. 176 pp

- Gignoux H, Messier RH (1999) Computational modelling for finfish aquaculture net pens. Ocean Engineering International 3 (1): 12-22
- Golden CD, Allison EH, Cheung WWL, Dey MM, Halpern BS, McCauley DJ, Smith M, Vaitla B, Zeller D, Myers SS (2016) Nutrition: Fall in fish catch threatens human health. Nature 534: 317-320 [https://doi. org/10.1038/534317a]
- Grant J, Bacher CA (2001) A numerical model of flow modification induced by suspended aquaculture in a Chinese Bay. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science 58: 1003-1011
- Halpern BS, Frazier M, Afflerbach J, Lowndes JS, Micheli F, O'Hara C, Scarborough C, Selkoe KA (2019) Recent pace of change in human impact on the world's ocean. Science Report 9: 11609 [https://doi. org/10.1038/s41598-019-47201-9]
- Holmer M, Kristensen E (1994) Organic matter mineralisation in an organic-rich sediment: Experimental stimulation of sulphate reduction by fish food pellets. Microbiology Ecology. 14: 33-44
- Holmer M (2010) Environmental issues of fish farming in offshore waters: perspectives, concerns and research needs. Aquaculture Environment Interaction: 57-70
- Huang C-C, Tang H-J, Liu J-Y (2008) Effects of waves and currents on gravity-type cages in the open sea. Aquacultural Engineering 38: 105-116
- Huguenin JE (1997) The design, operations and economics of cage culture systems. Aquacultural Engineering 16: 167-203
- Ikenoue H, Kafuku T (1988) Modern methods of aquaculture in Japan, 2nd edition. Elsevier, Amsterdam. 274 pp
- IPCC (2007) Quatrième rapport d'évaluation, bilan 2007 des changements climatiques – disponible enligne [http://www.ipcc.ch/pdf/assessment-report/ar4/syr/ ar4_syr.pdf]
- Jiddawi NS, Ohman MC (2002) Marine fisheries in Tanzania. AMBIO 31: 518-527
- Jobling M, Baardvik BM, Christiansen JS, Jørgensen EH (1993) The effects of prolonged exercise training on growth performance and production parameters in fish. Aquaculture International 1: 95-111
- Jobling M (1995) Simple indices for the assessment of the influences of social environment on growth performance, exemplified by studies on Arctic charr. Aquaculture International 3: 60-5
- Karakassis I, Tsapakis M, Hatziyanni E, Papadopoulou KN (2000) Impact of cage farming of fish on the seabed of three Mediterranean coastal areas. ICES Journal of Marine Science 57: 1462-1471

- Kaunda-Arara B, Rose GA, Muchiri S, Kaka R (2003) Longterm trends in coral reef fish yields and exploitation rates of commercial species from coastal Kenya.
 Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science 2: 105-116
- Kawakami T (1964) The theory of designing and testing fishing nets in model. In: Kristjansson H (ed) Modern fishing gear of the world, Vol. 2. Fishing News Books, Oxford. pp 471-482
- Kerr NM, Gillespie MJ, Hull ST, Kingwell S (1980) The design construction and location of marine floating cages. In: Proceedings of the Institute of Fisheries Management Cage Fish Rearing Symposium, 26-27 March 1980. University of Reading. Janssen Services, London. pp 23-49
- Klebert P, Lader P, Gansel L, Oppedal F (2013) Hydrodynamic interactions on net panel and aquaculture fish cages: A review. Ocean Engineering 58: 260-274
- Kumar V, Karnatak G (2014) Engineering consideration for cage aquaculture. IOSR Journal of Engineering (IOSRJEN) 4 (6): 1-18 [www.iosrjen.org\]
- Lader PF, Enerhaug B (2005) Experimental investigation of forces and geometry of a net cage in uniform flow. IEEE Journal of Ocean Engineering 30: 79-84
- Lader P, Dempster T, Fredheim A, Jensen Ø (2008) Current induced net deformations in full-scale cages for Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Aquaculture Engineering 38: 52-65
- Leon KA (1986) Effect of exercise on feed consumption, growth, food conversion and stamina of brood trout. The Progressive Fish-Culturist 48: 43-46
- Li SF (1994) Fish culture in cages and pens. In: Li S, Mathias J (eds) Freshwater fish culture in China: Principles and practice. Elsevier, Amsterdam. pp 305-46
- Linden O, Lundin CG (eds) (1996) Proceedings of national workshop on Integrated Coastal Zone Management in Tanzania. May 8-12. The World Bank Land,
- Water and Natural Habitats Division, Environmental Department. 166 pp
- Liu H-Y, Huang X-H, Wang S-M, Hu Y, Yuan T-P, Guo G-X (2019) Evaluation of the structural strength and failure for floating collar of a single-point mooring fish cage based on finite element method. Aquacultural Engineering 85: 32-48
- Martinez Cordero FJ, Beveridge MCM, Muir JF, Mitchell D, Gillespie M (1994) A note on the behaviour of adult Atlantic halibut, *Hippoglossus hippoglossus* (L.), in cages. Aquaculture and Fisheries Management 25: 475-81
- Maruyama T, Ishida R (1976) Effect of water depth in net cages on the growth and body shape of *Tilapia*

mossambica. Bulletin of the Freshwater Fisheries Research Laboratory of Tokyo 26: 11-19

- Maruyama T, Ishida R (1977) Effects of water depth on the growth and body shape of common carp raised in net cages. Bulletin of the Freshwater Fisheries Research Laboratory of Tokyo 27: 95-102
- McClanahan TR, Hicks C, Darling E (2008) Malthusian overfishing and efforts to overcome it on Kenyan coral reefs. Ecological Applications 18 (6): 1516-1529
- McManus JW, Reyes RB JR, Nanola CL JR (1997) Effects of some destructive fishing methods on coral cover and potential rates of recovery. Environmental Management 21 (1): 69-78
- Milne PH (1972) Fish and shellfish farming in coastal waters. Fishing News (Books), London. 208 pp
- Mirera HOD (2011) Experimental polyculture of milkfish (*Chanos chanos*) and Mullet (*Mugil cephalus*) using earthen ponds in Kenya. Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science 10 (1): 59-71
- Mirera OD, Ochiewo J, Munyi F, Muriuki T (2013) Heredity or traditional knowledge: Fishing tactics and dynamics of artisanal mangrove crab (*Scylla serrata*) fishery. Ocean and Coastal Management 84: 119-129
- Mirera OD (2019) Small scale milkfish (*Chanos chanos*) farming in Kenya: An overview of the trend and dynamics of production. Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science 18 (2): 11-24
- Mirera OD, Kimathi A, Ngarari MM, Magondu EW, Wainaina M, Ototo A (2020) Societal and environmental impacts of seaweed farming in relation to rural development: The case of Kibuyuni village, south coast, Kenya. Ocean and Coastal Management 194: 105253
- Mmochi AJ (2015) Community based milkfishfFarming in Tanzania. Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science 15: 99-103
- Moe H, Fredheim A, Hopperstad OS (2010) Structural analysis of aquaculture net cages in current. Journal of Fluids and Structures 26: 503-516
- Muir Wood AM, Fleming CA (1981) Coastal hydraulics, 2nd edition. Macmillan, London. 280 pp
- Neori A, Chopin T, Troell M, Buschmann AH, Kraemer GP, Halling C, Shpigel M, Yarish C (2004) Integrated aquaculture: rationale, evolution, and state of the art emphasizing on seaweed bio filtration in modern mariculture. Aquaculture 231: 361-391 [https://doi. org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2003.11.015]
- O'Donncha F, Hartnett M, Nash S (2013) Physical and numerical investigation of the hydrodynamic implications of aquaculture farms. Aquaculture Engineering 52: 14-26

- Österblom H, Folke C (2013) Emergence of global adaptive governance for stewardship of regional marine resources. Ecology and Society 18 (2): 4 [http://dx. doi.org/10.5751/es-05373-180204]
- Pauly D, Alder J, Bennett E, Christensen V, Tyedmers P, Watson R (2003) The future for fisheries. Science 302 [www.sciencemag.org]
- Pérez OM, Telfer TC, Ross LG (2003) On the calculation of wave climate for offshore cage culture site selection: a case study in Tenerife (Canary Islands). Aquacultural Engineering 29: 1-21
- Petrell RJ, Alie SY (1996) Integrated cultivation of salmonids and seaweeds in open systems. Hydrobiologia 326-7: 67-73
- Phillips MJ, Beveridge MCM, Ross LG (1985) The environmental impact of salmonid cage culture on inland fisheries: present status and future trends. Journal of Fish Biology 27 (Suppl. A): 123-137
- Piccolotti F, Lovatelli A (2013) Construction and installation of hexagonal wooden cages for fish farming: A technical manual. FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Technical Paper 576. 90 pp
- PPD (1986) Manual on floating netcage fish farming in Singapore's coastal waters. Fisheries Handbook, Primary Production Department, Singapore. 17 pp
- Rudi H, Dragsund E (1993) Localization strategies. In: Reinertsen H, Dahle LA, Jørgensen L, Tvinnereim K (eds) Fish farming technology. AABalkema, Rotterdam. pp 169-176
- Shi J, Wei H, Zhao L, Yuan Y, Fang J, Zhang J (2011) A physical-biological coupled aquaculture model for a suspended aquaculture area of China. Aquaculture 318: 412-424
- Siddiqui MA, Nagarajan V (2016) Dynamics of a single point mooring marine aquaculture cage as a simple

vibrating system. International Journal of Maritime Technology (IJMT) 5: 13-25

- Stokes CJ, Howden M (2010) Adapting agriculture to climate change: Preparing Australian agriculture, forestry and fisheries for the future. CSIRO Publishing, Collingwood. 280 pp
- Tilseth S, Hansen T, Møller D (1991) Historical development of salmon culture. Aquaculture 98: 1-9
- Troell M, Joyce A, Chopin T, Neori A, Buschmann AH, Fang JG (2009) Ecological engineering in aquaculture—potential for integrated multi-trophic aquaculture (IMTA) in marine offshore systems. Aquaculture 297: 1-9
- Troell M, Hecht T, Beveridge M, Stead S, Bryceson I, Kautsky N, Mmochi A, Ollevier F (eds) (2011) Mariculture in the WIO region – challenges and prospects. WIOMSA Book Series No. 11. viii+59 pp
- Turner R (2000) Offshore mariculture: site evaluation. In: Muir JF, Basurco B (eds) Mediterranean offshore mariculture. Options Méditerranéennes, Series B, No. 30. CIHEAM, Zaragoza. pp 141-57
- UN Nutrition (2021) The role of aquatic foods in sustainable healthy diets. United Nations. 57 pp [https://www. unnutrition.org/wp-content/uploads/FINAL-UN-Nutrition-Aquatic-foods-Paper_EN_.pdf]
- Worm B, Barbier EB, Beaumont N, Duffy JE, Folke C, Halpern BS, Jackson JBC, Lotze HK, Micheli F, Palumbi SR, Sala E, Selkoe KA, Stachowicz JJ, Watson R (2006) Impacts of biodiversity loss on ocean ecosystem services. Science 314: 789-790
- Wu RSS (1995) The environmental impact of marine fish culture; towards a sustainable future. Marine Pollution Bulletin 31: 159-166

Original Article

Western Indian Ocean JOURNAL OF Marine Science

Open access

Citation:

Ravaoarinorotsihoarana LA, Maltby J, Glass L, Oates J, Rakotomahazo C, Randrianandrasaziky DA, Ranivoarivelo LN, Lavitra T (2023) Lessons for ensuring continued community participation in a mangrove blue carbon conservation and restoration project in Madagascar. Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science 22(2): 43-60 [doi: 10.4314/wiojms.v22i2.4]

Received: February 27, 2023

Accepted: August 1, 2023

Published: November 6, 2023

Copyright:

Owned by the journal. The articles are open access articles distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY 4.0) licence.

* Corresponding author: lalao@blueventures.org

Lessons for ensuring continued community participation in a mangrove blue carbon conservation and restoration project in Madagascar

Lalao A. Ravaoarinorotsihoarana^{1, 2*}, Jenny Maltby¹, Leah Glass¹, Jenny Oates, Cicelin Rakotomahazo^{1,2}, Dolce A. Randrianandrasaziky¹, Lantoasinoro N. Ranivoarivelo², Thierry Lavitra²

¹ Blue Ventures Conservation, Villa Huguette, Lot II U 86, Cité Planton, Ampahibe, Antananarivo 101, Madagascar ² Institut Halieutique et des Sciences Marines (IH.SM), Université de Toliara, 48B042 Rue Dr RABESANDRATANA HD, BP 141, Toliara 601, Madagascar

Abstract

Successful conservation projects that restrict or change access to common pool resources require meaningful community participation not only through consultation but also by empowering communities to take a leading role from the early stages of its design. In this study, community participation was assessed in the Tahiry Honko community-led mangrove blue carbon project in southwest Madagascar using the Spectrum of Public Participation tool developed by the International Association for Public Participation. Trends of community participation at village meetings were assessed using the meeting records from 2014 to 2019. Performance in the project activities was assessed based on the indicators of success. It was learned that: (*i*) careful scheduling of meetings is crucial to avoid community fatigue; (*ii*) anonymous democratic votes are an effective, inclusive approach to address domination in a group activity and obtain informed consent; (*iii*) creating a comfortable space for women is vital to promote their participation in decision-making; (*iv*) voluntary approach with meal compensation is effective to engage all community groups in mangrove replanting; (*v*) dissemination of patrol results is helpful in developing an adaptive strategy in the absence of effective enforcement of rules.

Keywords: community participation, Tahiry Honko, mangroves, Bay of Assassins, Madagascar

Introduction

Mangroves are among the most productive ecosystems in the world and have important economic benefits (Salem and Mercer, 2012; Rizal, 2018). They support fisheries, and provide raw material for construction, opportunities for tourism and recreation, coastal protection, erosion control, nutrient cycling and water purification (Barbier *et al.*, 2011; Barbier, 2015; ITTO, 2013). Despite the important role played by mangroves, they are threatened by alarming rates of deforestation; the area of mangroves decreased globally by 104 million ha between 1990 and 2020, with an average annual loss of 21,200 ha between 2010 and 2020 (FAO, 2020). The declining condition of mangroves has placed their ecosystem services at increasing risk and threatens the well-being of individuals and local communities (MEA, 2005) Additionally, if mangroves are degraded, the carbon stored in the soil is released, resulting in CO_2 emissions that contribute to climate change (Hamilton and Friess, 2018; Pendleton *et al.*, 2012). The conservation and restoration of mangroves has been recognised as an

important component to not only mitigate climate change (Ellison *et al.*, 2020; Taillardat *et al.*, 2018) but also to maintain the considerable ecosystem goods and services that they provide (Macreadie *et al.*, 2017; Hutchison *et al.*, 2014). Payments for Ecosystem Services (PES) schemes have been promoted as an innovative approach to provide financial incentives for protecting and restoring threatened marine ecosystems (Murray *et al.*, 2011). While the large majority of carbon-based PES projects concern terrestrial forests (Warren-Rhodes *et al.*, 2011), this approach has also been used to finance the protection and restoration of blue carbon ecosystems, such as mangroves (Alongi, 2011; Plan Vivo, 2020; Vanderklift *et al.*, 2022).

Tahiry Honko, which means 'preserving mangroves' in the local dialect, is a Plan Vivo registered community-led mangrove carbon project located in the Bay of Assassins (BoA), southwest Madagascar (Blue Ventures, 2019), established in partnership with the marine conservation organisation Blue Ventures (BV). The aim of this project is to promote a sustainable, long-term PES scheme through the sale of Plan Vivo Certificates or PVC, to reduce deforestation and degradation, and to restore mangroves in the BoA. A PVC represents the long-term sequestration or mitigation of one ton of CO2e by a Plan Vivo-certified project. Tahiry Honko generates more than 1000 PVCs per year through the conservation and restoration of over 1,200 ha of mangrove surrounding the BoA during the 20-year project period. Since this is designed as a community-led project and restricts access to the mangrove resources in the bay, participation of the community at various stages in developing the project is crucial and viewed as a basis for project success (Thwala, 2010). According to Sherry R Arnstein (Arnstein, 1969), there is a critical difference between going through the empty ritual of participation and having the real power needed to affect the outcome of the process. In the context of project development, participation refers to an active process whereby beneficiaries influence the direction and execution of development projects rather than merely receiving a share of project benefits (Paul, 1987). Participation is based on the key human rights principles of individual autonomy and self-determination as part of basic human dignity (FAO, 2016; UN, 2013). The right to participate has also been included in several conventions regarding specific topical areas, most notably health and the environment. Agenda 21 of the Rio Declaration and Forest Principles recognises: indigenous rights to land, intellectual and cultural property, and the right to maintain their

customary and administrative practices; the need for greater participation in decision-making; and the value of their involvement in forest management and conservation (WHO, 2002). Article 2 of the Declaration on the Rights of Persons Belonging to National or Ethnic, Religious and Linguistic Minorities affirms that persons belonging to minorities have the right to participate effectively in cultural, religious, social, economic and public life (United Nations, 1992). Aspiration 6 of Agenda 2063-African Union calls for the active involvement of all citizens in decision making in social and environmental development (African Union Commission, 2015). The United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (UNDRIP) declares indigenous people's particular rights to free, prior, and informed consent (FPIC) in matters which affect their lives and livelihood (United Nation, 2007). In Plan Vivo Projects, FPIC principles apply to Indigenous Peoples and local communities with statutory or customary rights to land or resources in the project area (Plan Vivo, 2021). FPIC is not just a result of a process to obtain consent to a particular project; it is also a process in itself, and one by which Indigenous Peoples are able to conduct their own independent and collective discussions and decision-making (FAO, 2016)

While Rakotomahazo (2019) argues that participatory approaches were particularly well-suited to the planning and development of Tahiry Honko, the trend and level of community participation, including women, merits further examination to extract lessons for ensuring continued community participation. Women are often marginalised from participation in community decision-making (FAO, 2016), and their participation is crucial to ensure greater success and sustainability of projects because they are important mangrove resource-users, so restriction of access to mangrove impacts their livelihoods. Tahiry Honko is a performance-based PES initiative and the monetary rewards to communities are conditional on performance and indicators of success (Blue Ventures, 2019). Therefore, it is essential to examine the factors shaping community performance in project activities to understand how community participation influences performance (Wunder, 2005). Thus, this study aimed to assess community participation within the 10 partner villages in the BoA in planning and developing Tahiry Honko. During the six-year period from 2014 to 2019, from the first introduction of the concept of a carbon project to the villages to the validation of the project by Plan Vivo, lessons learned were extracted

for continued community participation. Lessons were extracted by i) assessing the trend of attendance and rate of participation of community members within the 10 villages in village meetings and decision-making processes, and ii) evaluating the participation and performance of the communities in the project activities, especially in mangrove replanting, forest patrolling and Dina (local regulations designed and instituted by the community association to govern the mangrove uses in the project area) enforcement, all of which impact the expected climate benefits of 2014), and active surveillance is considered among the strongest deterrents to illegal activity (Gonedelé Bi *et al.*, 2019). The performance of the community in enforcing Dina was also assessed, as law enforcement is considered a central tenet of successful conservation (Ratcliffe, 2004; Tranquilli *et al.*, 2014).

Materials and methods

Study site

The study site is located in the BoA, or Helodrano Fagnemotse in Malagasy, situated in the Befandefa



Figure 1. Map of the Bay of Assassins in relation to the Velondriake LMMA, Madagascar.

Tahiry Honko and are related to the PES rewards (Blue Ventures, 2019). For this study, it was important to understand the participation of community members in mangrove replanting which is among the main project activities, as this is viewed as a key to success in ecosystem restoration (Stone *et al.*, 2008; UNEP, 2020). The assessment included forest patrols because the presence of rangers on the ground is viewed as the best way to control illegal forest activities (Covey and McGraw, 2014; Ratcliffe, 2004; Tranquilli *et al.*,

municipality and Morombe district, southwest region of Madagascar (Fig. 1). The bay lies in the southern portion of the Velondriake Locally Managed Marine Area (LMMA), which is classified as a Category V protected area under the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN). The LMMA is co-managed by the Velondriake Association (VA) and BV. The BoA encompasses 10 villages, members of which are partners in Tahiry Honko. The population of the area is estimated at 3,992 residents, of which 20 % (806 residents) are adults aged 25–49 years (Blue Ventures, 2015). Around 33 % of the adult population is illiterate and 87 % have completed only primary education (one to six years of education) (Blue Ventures, 2015). The population within the bay is composed of three main ethnic groups: the Vezo, Mikea and Masikoro. It is primarily populated by Vezo traditional fishers who depend on the harvest of marine resources for subsistence and income (Barnes-Mauthe *et al.*, 2013). Historically, the Mikea and Masikoro were more dependent on the dry forests, but due to changing rainfall patterns, resulting in drought and crop failure, many people have migrated to the coast (Stiles, 1998).

The mangrove forest in the BoA covers an area of 1,300 ha (Jones *et al.*, 2016), and has seven of the eight mangrove species found in Madagascar. Between 2002 and 2014, 3.18 % of mangroves in the BoA were lost, which equates to an annual net loss of 0.27 % (Benson *et al.*, 2017). Mangroves in the bay are harvested to provide fuelwood for domestic cooking, building material for housing and construction of lime kilns (Scales *et al.*, 2017).

In response to mangrove loss, communities in the BoA proposed education, awareness raising and law enforcement. They also established three types of management zone within their mangroves: strict conservation, reforestation and sustainable use. Within these management zones, resource use is regulated by Dina (Rakotomahazo et al., 2019). As an example, in the conservation zone, no mangrove harvesting is allowed, while annual quotas were determined by analysis of the forest inventory within the sustainable use areas. In the sustainable use zones, harvesting of timber for lime production is not allowed. In this context, Tahiry Honko was implemented with the aim to incentivise the local communities to participate in and support the activities in preserving and restoring their mangrove forests also to contribute to raising awareness of the importance of mangrove ecosystems. Details of the approach and process are provided in Table 1.

Project interventions and activities

As detailed at length in the Project Design Document (Blue Ventures, 2019), the intervention undertaken in the project area included prevention of ecosystem conversion, ecosystem restoration, and improved land use (forest) management. The three main activities included mangrove replanting, forest patrols and surveillance, and Dina enforcement.

Mangrove reforestation

Degraded areas were delineated by the local community during the participatory mangrove zoning based on their local knowledge (Table 1). The indicators used by communities to identify degraded areas for reforestation were largely based on their perceptions of the clear-cutting area or high density of cut stumps (e.g., more than 50 % of the trees are cut), although this was not formally agreed upon during the mapping exercises, so there is likely some variation between communities in their definition of "degraded". Degraded areas of mangroves were replanted with species of mangrove previously present, mainly Ceriops tagal, Rhizophora mucronata, and Bruguieria gymnorrizha, targets for lime production (Scales et al., 2017). The direct planting of mangrove propagules by hand was the approach applied to replace the harvested trees and restore the degraded area of the BoA (UNEP, 2020). The mature propagules were manually collected from the mother trees, usually a day before planting. The source of the propagules used was strictly local. The planting arrangements were random layouts, ranging from 0.5 m to 1.5 m apart and the three species were planted together. The mangrove replanting activity began in 2015, with community members from the 10 villages (adults, youth, and school children of all genders) taking part on a voluntary basis, but a meal, locally called rima, was offered to all participants after the re-planting session. For the 10 villages, the set objective for the mangrove replanting was 10 ha per year from 2016 (Blue Ventures, 2019). Mangrove planting was scheduled by the community and was usually carried out when the propagules were abundant and mature. Further, big mangrove plantation events were organised during the celebration of International Women's Day (the 8th of March) and Mangrove Day (the 26th July) to raise awareness of the importance of mangrove restoration (Ravaoarinorostihoarana et al., 2023).

Forest patrols and surveillance

Patrolling of the mangrove conservation zone, where harvesting of both dead and live trees is prohibited by Dina, began in 2018 with three surveillance and evaluation committee members (Comité de Suivi et Évaluation, CSE) and one CSE supervisor. Nine additional CSE members were recruited in 2019 upon the request of the communities. The CSEs were recruited through job advertisements open to all residents in the project area, and the use of a competitive process rather than an appointment-based process previously used by the community. In total, 12 CSE members
 Table 1. Purpose and approach of the village meetings from 2014 to 2019 at the 10 villages.

Year	Purpose of the village meeting	Approach adopted
	Introducing the concept of the Plan Vivo project.	Oral presentation at each of the 10 villages using Microsoft PowerPoint slides, followed by a question and answer session.
	Democratic vote about whether <i>Tahiry Honko</i> should go ahead or not.	 Anonymous and individual democratic vote for adults at the village level, using color-coded ballots (held a month following the introduction of the concept) green for "Yes: I want the project", red for "No: I do not want the project" white for "I have no idea"
2014	Discussing the mangrove management plan.	Open discussion to introduce and consult the community on the mangrove management plan.
	Discussing participatory mangrove zoning.	Workshops at the village level to discuss the delineation of preferred different mangrove zones on a printed map (detailed at length in Rakotomahazo <i>et al.</i> , (2019).
	Discussing participatory mangrove zoning.	Workshop to validate the participatory zoning map gathering two or three community representatives from each of the 10 villages to address the overlap of mangrove use issue between villages.
	Developing <i>Dina</i> for mangrove use and management.	 Two rounds of village workshops in each of the 10 villages: 1. Sharing of ideas and gathering propositions of Dina for mangrove management at the village level via a working group per gender. 2. Refining the content of Dina in each of the 10 villages.
2015	Public consultation about <i>Dina</i> for mangrove management.	Workshop gathering local and regional authorities, NGOs, partners and community representatives from each of the 10 villages to discuss <i>Dina</i> for mangrove management.
	Disseminating Dina.	Outreach tours at the <i>Fokontany</i> (village council) level and in each of the 10 villages and outside of the project area.
	Discussing the mangrove management plan.	Village meeting to present and discuss the sustainable harvesting quota for mangrove wood per year/village and the <i>Dina</i> for each mangrove zone.
2016	Discussing the mangrove management plan.	Public consultation through workshops gathering local and regional authorities, NGOs, partners and community representatives from each of the 10 villages with the aim to pre-validate the mangrove management plan.
	Raising awareness about <i>Dina</i> and national law regulating the mangroves.	Village outreach tours with the regional forestry authority (<i>chef cantonment</i>) to inform communities of the national law regulating mangroves in Madagascar.
	Discussing the mangrove management plan.	Village outreach tours to validate the mangrove management plan and the annual quota per household per village per year, which is the harvest allowance calculated based on the capacity of regeneration of the mangrove forest and the community need.
	Discussing the mangrove management plan.	Dissemination of the validated mangrove management plan across the 10 villages.
2017	Discussing the sharing of project benefits.	 Three rounds of village meetings to discuss and validate the benefits sharing scheme: 1. Discussion about the use and repartition of the carbon revenue. 2. Discussion about the village priority on the infrastructure project (wells, clinics and school building) and estimation of the budget for the project. 3. Final approval of benefit sharing and priorities per village (wells, clinics, school building).
	Discussing the grievance mechanism.	Workshop about the grievance mechanism with civil society organisations (CSO) gathering two community representatives from each of the 10 villages in one village.
	Discussing performance indicators for the project rewards.	Village meeting to discuss performance indicators and the conditions attached to the rewards (performance in activities).
	Discussing the grievance mechanism.	Village outreach tours to discuss and present the outcome from the workshop and about grievance mechanisms and validate the procedures
2018	External validation of the <i>Tahiry Honko</i> project.	Village outreach tours to inform and update the community on the external validation through an oral presentation.
	Raising awareness about the <i>Dina</i> and national laws.	Village outreach tours with the regional forestry authority and VA executive committee about <i>Dina</i> and national laws.
	Raising awareness about the launch of the <i>Tahiry Honko</i> project.	Village outreach tour across 10 villages to inform and raise awareness about the official launch and celebration of the project.
2019	Disseminating the achievements of the project.	Dissemination of updates about the project's achievements through video.
	Discussing carbon revenue.	Village meeting to discuss with the parents of school children about the school subsidiary arrangement of the carbon revenue.

were responsible for the surveillance of the strict protection zone for any infractions, recording the number of cut mangrove stumps they observe on a field sheet. The set objective for the forest patrols was 16 patrols per month (Blue Ventures, 2019) but upon recruitment of additional surveillance and evaluation committee members (Comité de Suivi et Évaluation, CSE), the target was changed to one patrol per CSE member per month for the 12 CSE.

Dina enforcement

The Dina Enforcement Committee (Komity Mpampihatra Dina, KMD) was formally created in 2012 and subsequently restructured in 2016. The KMD is responsible for enforcing or resolving Dina infractions within the LMMA, including illegal mangrove logging once they receive a complaint or report, but is not responsible for surveillance or patrols. There are 30 KMD members, who were democratically elected in 2021 in the Velondriake LMMA; 14 of them were residents of the BoA. The set objective was to enforce and charge over 80 % of the infraction against Dina (Blue Ventures, 2019).

Data collection

Assessing community attendance at village meetings and workshops

From 2014 to 2019, from the first introduction of the project to the official launch of the project, BV supported the organisation of 20 meetings at each of the 10 villages (i.e., 200 village meetings; Table 1). Additionally, four workshops were carried out, gathering representatives of the community from each of the 10 villages to discuss the overlapping of mangrove zones across villages, validation of the mangrove zon-ing, public consultation about the Dina and a grievance mechanism (a procedure and transparent system for addressing grievances related to the project (UN-REDD, 2013).

Using an attendance sheet, the name and gender (Men/ Women) of the adult community members (above 18 years old) who attended the village meetings, as well as the date, the name of the village and the purpose of the meetings was recorded by the BV staff leading and facilitating the meetings. Then, the hard copy of the attendance sheet was scanned for records and evidence. All data were entered into a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet and the total number of attendees across the 10 villages over each year was calculated. To avoid an over-count, as there are multiple village meetings in one year, the average of the total number of attendees within the 10 villages per year was used. The general trend of community attendance per year and per the purpose of the meetings over six years (2014 to 2019) was assessed by calculating the total number of participants across the 10 villages. The rate of attendance at the meetings was assessed by calculating the ratio of the total attendees per year (total average of the ten villages) and the total number of adult residents within the 10 villages. The relation between the trend of participation and per number of meetings carried out per year and per purpose of the meeting were also assessed. Women's participation in the meetings was assessed by calculating the ratio of women and men attending meetings.

Assessing community participation in mangrove replanting

At each routine mangrove replanting session, the name, gender, and groups participants belonged to (e.g., women's association, school children, and those from conservation clubs) was recorded on a printed field data collection sheet, as well as the number and species of mangrove planted. The coordinates (latitude and longitude) of the boundary of the replanted area were recorded into a GPS Garmin device. Data was entered into a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet. The same data were collected at major mangrove replanting events, for example, during the celebration of International Women's Day, World Environment Day and World Mangrove Day. These events gathered many invitees, including officials, partners and community representatives from outside of the 10 villages Using the mangrove replanting database, the trend of the number of community members participating in mangrove replanting per year for seven years (2015-2021) was assessed by calculating the average of total participants within the 10 villages per year. If the village undertook more than one session in a year, the number of participants was averaged to avoid double counting of the same person participating in multiple sessions. Then, the ratio of adult women to men and adults to youth was calculated, and the rate of participation in mangrove replanting assessed by calculating the ratio of adult participants to total adults in the project area.

Assessing performance of the community in the project activities

Performance here is defined as the ability of the community to achieve the set objectives in the project activities. When the communities within the 10 villages fail to meet the set objective, the climate benefits expected from the project activities are not reached.

• Mangrove replanting

Community performance was assessed based on the set objective to replant 10 ha per year, as defined as follows: (i) high, if replanted 10 ha or more; (ii) medium, if replanted between 8-10 ha; and (iii) low, if replanted below 8 ha. Data in the Blue Ventures mangrove replanting database (detailed in section 2.2.1) were analysed using Microsoft Excel, and the total area (ha) replanted per year over seven years (2015 to 2021) was calculated. Accomplishment per group, namely adults, youth and invitees for the special events, was measured. The rate of participation and the total area (ha) replanted per year was calculated by dividing the total participants by the total adult residents in the project area to understand if the rate of participation was impacting performance of mangrove replanting.

• Mangrove forest patrols and infraction surveillance A Microsoft Excel spreadsheet was used to record the number of patrols that occurred every month and served as a database for the forest patrollers. The total number of patrols conducted over four years, from 2018 to 2021, was calculated for the 12 CSE. The performance of the community in the patrol activities was categorised as: (i) high, if the number of patrols was 144 and above per year (over 12 patrols/year/CSE); (ii) medium, if the number of patrols was between 84 and 144 per year (7 to 12 patrols/year/CSE); and (iii) low, if the number of patrols was below 84 per year (below 7 patrols/year/CSE).

• Dina enforcement

The number of complaints received was recorded in a spreadsheet along with details about the enforcement of Dina charges made by the KMD, date, village, nature, action taken, resolution, and fine amount. Infractions/complaint data were filtered and the percentage of complaints received by Dina enforced and charged was assessed using a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet. The performance of the community in Dina enforcement was categorised as: (i) high if over 80 % of Dina infractions are enforced and charged; (ii) medium if 50-80 % of Dina infractions are enforced and charged; and (iii) low if below 50 % of Dina infractions are enforced and charged.

Level of community participation

The level of participation of the community in implementing the project and the decision-making processes at various stages of the project development and activities was assessed using the Spectrum of Public Participation developed by the International Association for Public Participation (IAP2). The spectrum describes five levels of participation: inform, consult, involve, collaborate and empower (Fig. 2). The relevant level of community participation was selected based on the various village meeting approaches adopted and the expected outcomes from the village meetings and workshops outlined in Table 2, referring to guidelines developed by the United States Environmental Protection Agency in Figure 3 below (US-EPA, 2017).

	INCREASING IMPACT ON	THE DECISION			
	INFORM	CONSULT	INVOLVE	COLLABORATE	EMPOWER
PARTICIPATION GOAL	To provide the public with clear and relevant information to assist them in understanding the project and the intended outcomes. Pitch information to a wide audience and potential stakeholders.	To obtain public feedback on analysis, approaches, and/or decisions.	To work directly with the community throughout the process to ensure their opinions, concerns, and aspirations are consistently heard and considered.	To partner with the community in each aspect of decision including the development of alternatives and the identification of the preferred solution.	To place final decision making in the hands of the community.
PROMISE TO THE COMMUNITY	We will keep information accessible, clear, and updated.	We will keep you informed, listen to and acknowledge concerns and aspirations, and provide feedback on how community input influenced decisions.	We will work to ensure that your concerns and aspirations are directly reflected in the alternatives developed and provide feedback on how public input influenced the decisions.	We will look to you for advice and innovation in formulating solutions and incorporate your advices and recommendations into the decisions to the maximum extent possible.	We will implement what you decide.

Figure 2. Spectrum of Public Participation used to assess the level of community participation adapted from IAP2 (©International Association for Public Participation www.iap2.org)

Table 2. Number of village meetings from 2014 to 2019 in each of the 10 villages (200 total).

Year	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	TOTAL
Number of meetings	4	2	2	5	4	3	20

Extracting lessons learned

Lessons learned were extracted through the analysis of the records of attendance sheets at village meetings, participation and performance in the project activities, as well as through informal conversations with the community members within the project area about topics unrelated to this study. The lessons learned that are shared in this paper were not derived through a formal process but rather based on an understanding of the best practices to ensure continued community participation in Tahiry Honko.

Results

Trend of attendance rate of community at village meetings

A total of 20 village meetings were held from 2014 to 2019 across all of the 10 villages (Table 2). The maximum number of meetings per year was five, which was achieved in 2017.

The results show that the rate of participation every year from 2015 to 2019 was higher than that recorded



Figure 3. Flowchart used to support the assessment of the level of participation. (*adapted from*: EPA Public Participation Guide, 2017)

in the first year (2014). However, despite an increase in community attendance rate at the village meetings for the first three years (2014 to 2016), a decrease in attendance rate was recorded in 2017 when large numbers of meetings (five) were held in each of the 10 villages (Table 2, Fig. 4).

The attendance rate at village meetings ranged from 29 % in 2014 to 43 % in 2016, with 234 and 350 adults attending respectively out of a total of 806 adult residents in the BoA. The overall attendance rate across all 20 meetings held across each of the 10 villages was 37 %, of which 50 % of attendees were women (Table 3). The lowest rate of attendance was recorded at the participatory mangrove zoning meeting (18 %) whereas the highest rate was at the meeting to discuss the performance indicators (50 %).

Results from the 200 village meetings from 2014 to 2019 showed that in the BoA, women and men were proportionally represented. The attendance rate of women was very high, representing 76 % of total attendance at the consultation with parents about the school subsidies and 59 % for the anonymous democratic vote to decide whether the project should go ahead or not.

Community participation in mangrove replanting

The overall participation rate of community members in mangrove replanting from 2015 to 2021 was 35 % of the total adult population of the BoA (281 adults out of 806 adults). There was a considerable increase in the participation rate during the first



Figure 4. Rate of participation at village meetings across 10 villages between 2014 and 2019.

Table 3. Purpose of the village meetings and the total number and percentage of attendees by total population and the percentage of women attending meeting in the 10 villages.

Purpose of the village meeting	Total number and % of total adult population (men and women) attending meeting	Attendance rate of women (% of total attending meeting)
Introduction of the Plan Vivo carbon project	226 (28%)	49%
Anonymous democratic vote on the project	307 (38%)	59%
Information on the mangrove management plan	258 (32%)	40%
Participatory mangrove zoning	143 (18%)	27%
Round 1: Developing Dina for mangroves	354 (44%)	48%
Round 2: Developing Dina for mangroves	295 (37%)	53%
Developing the mangrove management plan	306 (38%)	58%
Outreach with the forestry regional authorities	393 (49%)	40%
Validation of mangrove zoning	256 (32%)	55%
Dissemination of the validated mangrove management plan	236 (29%)	50%
Round 1: Benefit sharing and priority infrastructure projects	359 (45%)	47%
Round 2: Benefit sharing and budgeting	306 (38%)	42%
Round 3: Validation of benefit sharing	284 (35%)	49%
Discussion of grievance mechanism	287 (36%)	49%
Discussion about performance indicator thresholds	400 (50%)	53%
Outreach with the regional forestry department	314 (39%)	38%
Information and update on the external validation	382 (47%)	57%
Update about project achievements	304 (38%)	50%
Update on the official launch celebration of Tahiry Honko	339 (42%)	58%
Consultation of the parents on the school subsidiaries	270 (33%)	76%
Average	301 (37%)	50%

four years, from 13 % in 2015 to 56 % in 2018. The rate of participation fell in 2019 but the highest rate was recorded the following year, which was 58 % in 2020 (Fig. 5). Every year, the participation of women in mangrove replanting activities was higher compared to men (Fig. 6). However, there was an increase in the participation of men from 2015 to 2018 with the highest participation recorded in 2020 (186 men). The number of youths (i.e., school children and those from conservation clubs) participating in mangrove replanting was lower compared with adults for the first six years of the project, from 2015 to 2020 but



Figure 5. Participation rate of adults in mangrove replanting from 2015 to 2021.

there was a considerable increase in youth participation in 2021 which was higher than adult participation (Fig. 7).

Community performance in the project activities Mangrove replanting

From 2015 to 2021, the total degraded mangrove area replanted in the BoA was 84.2 ha. As shown in Figure 8, the smallest area replanted was recorded in 2015, the first year of the mangrove replanting, and the highest area replanted was in 2021. The adults of the 10 villages successfully replanted 59.1 ha of degraded area,



Figure 6. Rate of participation of men and women in mangrove replanting from 2015 to 2021.



18 16 Total area replanted (ha) 14 12 10 8 6 4 2 0 2015 2016 2017 2019 2020 2021 2018 Year

Figure 7. Participation of adults and youth in mangrove replanting from 2015 to 2021.

which represented 70 % of the total area replanted, during the routine mangrove replanting session. The total area replanted by special invitees (i.e. other people invited from different villages that are not part of the Tahiry Honko project) during the sessions organised at international events was 16 ha, which represented 20 % of the total replanted area. The youth contribution represented 27 % of the total area planted in 2021, which was 5 ha out of the 19 ha. The performance of the communities in mangrove replanting was low in the first year (2015), less than eight ha, and was medium in 2020 which was below 10 ha (Table 4). In contrast, performance was high from 2016 to 2019, and in 2021 when the annual goal (10 ha) in mangrove replanting was reached.

Table 4. Performance of the community in mangrove replanting.

Year	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
Area replanted (ha)	7.2	13.7	10	10.7	14	9.8	19
Performance	Low	High	High	High	High	Medium	Higł

Table 5. Performance of forest patrols carried out by the 12 CSE.

Year	2018	2019	2020	2021
Number of patrols	227	60	139	132
Number of CSE	3	12	12	12
Performance	High	Low	Medium	Medium

Table 6. Performance in Dina enforcement.

Year	2021
(%) of <i>Dina</i> infraction enforced	100%
(%) of <i>Dina</i> infraction charged	100%
Performance	High

Figure 8. Degraded mangrove area replanted in the Bay of Assassins from 2015 to 2021.

Mangrove forests patrols

20

The performance in mangrove forest patrols was high in 2018, when the goal to carry out 16 patrols/month was reached. However, the performance was low the following year, 2019 and medium in the last two years, 2020 and 2021, when the annual goal to carry out 144 patrols and above per year (12 patrol/year/CSE) was not reached (Table 5).

Dina enforcement

The KMD received one report of infractions of illegal logging of mangroves in 2021. The KMD successfully enforced the Dina and the person that carried out the infraction paid the fine. The performance of the community in Dina enforcement was therefore high (over 80 % of Dina infractions are enforced and charged) (Table 6),

Level of participation in project development and project activities

The level of community participation ranged across each of the five stages of the Spectrum of Public Participation framework (inform, consult, involve, collaborate and empower). There were different levels of decision making at different stages of Tahiry Honko, including individual decision making by anonymous democratic vote, joint decision-making by all of the community by vote by raising hands, and decisions made by the VA, serving as the central governance body for project management and accountable for some of the final decisions (Table 7).

Discussion

Trend and rate of attendance at village meetings

Even though participation of community members is a key human right recognised by law (United Nations, 2007), and effective, meaningful and informed participation in project development is crucial to ensure greater success and sustainability (FAO, 2016; UN-REDD, 2013), there are no commonly agreed indicators measuring successful participation (Vedeld, 2001). It can be argued that there has been continued community participation in the development of the Tahiry Honko project. The decrease recorded in 2017 could be because of the amount of time that elapsed between the introduction of the carbon project concept in 2014 and the first income from the carbon project. Numerous village meetings held in this year may have resulted in a decrease in motivation to attend village meetings. This is in line with results of a participation analysis in PES projects in Uganda, which revealed that anticipated carbon payments seemed to influence community participation (Aganyira et al., 2020). Therefore, careful planning of village meetings is crucial to avoid community fatigue and ensure continued participation. Planning and schedules of the village meetings should be communicated to the head of the village (for example, via letter or phone call) at least a week before the village meeting, so community members are informed well in advance and are prepared. Consolidating the number of village meetings was among the recommendations gathered from the communities in the BoA when starting a new project in another place. Some meetings, training events, and workshops should be combined to reduce and streamline the total number required. From experiences during the development of Tahiry Honko, it can be recommended that the period of time taken for community consultations should be shortened for other projects in the future, thereby avoiding meeting fatigue. The records of the number and gender of attendees, and the purpose for each village meeting, were useful documents not only to assess trends

Table 7. Level of participation of the community in implementing the project, and the different stages of the Spectrum of Public Participation framework.

Key project milestone	Stage of the Public Participation framework
Introduction of the Tahiry Honko carbon project Example: Sharing information about Tahiry Honko and the national law regulating mangroves in Madagascar with the community within and outside of the project area, and the VA. Awareness raising was carried out during village outreach tours, meetings and exchange visits.	Inform
Decision whether the project should go ahead Example: Inputs, opinions and feedback from the communities and the VA were gathered during the introduction of the project at meetings and outreach tours. Village meetings were held to obtain community input on the suitable approach to increase participation in mangrove replanting, giving community members and VA the power to make an informed decision. Informed decision/consent from individual/ community/VA obtained. Individual democratic votes and joint votes were used to decide whether the project should go ahead or not.	Consult
Mangrove zoning Example: Bringing together a diverse group of community members (loggers, fishers and farmers) to work on mangrove zoning and seek consensus through village workshops and small group sessions.	Involve
Developing Dina for mangrove management Example: Bringing together a diverse group of community members (loggers, fishers and farmers) to develop Dina for mangrove management, and seek consensus.	Collaborate
Benefit sharing Example: Engaging the community and the VA to make decisions on the project activity by informing, consulting, involving and therefore empowering them to collaborate to make an informed decision on the benefits of the project and how they should be shared.	Empower

of attendance but also important written evidence of community participation in meetings and decision-making processes.

Women's attendance in village meetings and their participation in project activities

Despite the traditional attitudes and stereotypes around women in Madagascar which could be harmful to a successful conservation initiative, such as the belief that women are incapable of participating with men in decision-making regarding natural resource management (Rojas, 2001), the records from this study showed that women and men were proportionally represented in village meetings. The participation rate of women was also higher (59 %), compared with men during the anonymous democratic vote in 2014 to decide whether the project should go ahead. This is in line with the results of a gender analysis in the same region where many women were present in meetings organised by NGOs and people from outside the communities (Ramananjohany and Razafiarimanana, 2021). It can be deduced that the approach used in designing and developing Tahiry Honko, including dividing men and women into separate groups when developing Dina governing mangrove use, and anonymous voting to decide on the project, enhanced women's participation and confidence. This approach enabled women to voice their opinions and to overcome any lack of confidence to speak in front of men. Creating a comfortable space and enabling conditions for women in group discussions with men at village meetings is vital to promote women's attendance and participation in village meetings and in the decision-making process. However, in the meetings to discuss participatory mangrove zoning, women's participation was lower than at other meetings (27 %, Table 3). This could be explained by the low number of overall attendees (% of total adult population), or the fact that this meeting took place at the start of the project, or this particular meeting wasn't as well announced. Women's participation was much higher in subsequent meetings, including the meeting to validate mangrove zoning. In Gardner (2020), social marketing initiatives promoting the participation of women in the Velondriake LMMA resulted in an increase of women representation on the Velondriake Board.

Even though women and men were proportionally represented in village meetings and number of women participating in mangrove replanting was higher than men, their involvement in mangrove forest patrols and Dina enforcement remained significantly low. Although the job advertisements to recruit the community patrollers (CSE) were open to all community members living in the BoA, irrespective of gender, to promote gender-equal opportunities (Seager, 2021), only one woman applied and was selected. This situation is in line with the global situation which estimates that only 3-11 % of the ranger workforce is women (Belecky et al., 2019). Almost universally, culturally entrenched gender norms, presumptions, and traditional attitudes, which are often internalised, hold women back from participating in activities that are defined as being physically arduous (Seager, 2021). Although the sole CSE woman found that patrolling is not an easy job, she was excited and motivated. In the interview conducted with her outside of this study, she is quoted as saying that 'my favorite memory in the mangrove is the first time I went on patrol. It was not easy, but it was motivating and exciting. I feel sad that there are still people who cut down the mangroves, so I am happy to be working to protect them' (Blue Ventures, 2020).

Furthermore, while social marketing initiatives carried out in Velondriake LMMA have succeeded in increasing women's participation in the management of resources in the past (Andriamalala et al., 2013; Gardner, 2020), there is still low women representation in the KMD. There are only two women in the 30-member KMD. In this study it is presumed that the prevalence of the stereotypical behaviors and socio-cultural attitudes of patriarchy in the BoA hampered women representation in KMD, given that traditionally elderly men hold power to enforce customary laws. The average age of the 30-member KMD, which was 46 years old, seemed to confirm the patriarchy barriers. Nevertheless, even though the participation of women is low, it can be argued that this does not negatively impact the performance in forest patrols and Dina enforcement (see section 4.3 and 4.4).

Participation and performance of the community in mangrove replanting

While involvement of the local community is viewed as crucial for successful mangrove restoration (Stone *et al.*, 2008; UNEP, 2020), the rate of participation required for a successful project has not previously been documented. Even though the results of this study show that the rate of participation of adults in mangrove replanting was 35 %, which was lower than the rate of participation in the village meetings (37 %), this trend did not negatively impact the performance in this activity. The annual set goal to replant 10 ha of mangrove degraded area was met except in 2015 and 2020, when financial compensation of the participants was not given. Mangrove replanting in 2015 was low because there was no annual objective fixed with the communities until 2016. The peak achievement in mangrove replanting recorded in 2021 (19 ha) can be explained by the youth involvement which contributed up to 27 % of the total area replanted (5 ha). Even though the accomplishment of adults in 2021, without accounting for the achievement of special invitees and youth, surpassed the annual objectives (10.9 ha versus 10 ha), it could be suggested that involving youth is a better approach to raise their awareness in mangrove restoration as future mangrove users, given that the lifetime of the project is 20 years (Blue Ventures, 2019). The involvement of youth in the project activities was also one of the recommendations gathered from the community when scaling up new carbon projects.

The participation of men in mangrove replanting was lower compared with the women every year. This is similar to a study undertaken in the west coast of Karnataka, India, which showed that 70 % of fisherwomen were willing to volunteer some amount of time to mangrove reforestation and only 21 % of the fishermen were willing to replant mangroves, even when paid to do so (Stone et al., 2008). While fisherwomen were willing to participate in mangrove replanting to increase the availability of natural resources that will provide opportunities of alternative income to the community, such as mangrove honey production (Stone et al., 2008), it was hypothesised that social norms in the BoA often suggest that mangrove replanting is a woman's duty, causing the low participation of men. However, the consultations carried out within the villages allowed for understanding of the reasons for low participation of men, and to gather propositions from the community in order to increase men's participation. Given that men might not be able to go fishing and women cannot prepare food for their family during a replanting day, they may not voluntarily participate in the mangrove replanting without a reward. Following discussions with the community, rima (community meals) were offered to all participants after the mangrove replanting sessions, as proposed by the community. As a result, there was an increase in male participation from 21 % in 2015 to 41 % in 2019 when adopting this approach, though this decreased in 2021 due to the higher rate in youth participating in mangrove replanting. Meals given to the participants after the mangrove replanting session seemed to increase

the motivation of the local communities, as they had not yet received any benefits from the sale of carbon credits. Therefore, it can be concluded that a voluntary approach to mangrove replanting that includes meal compensation proved to be an effective and sustainable way to engage all community groups and reach the set goals of the project.

However, even though community participation was viewed as a key to reach the mangrove replanting set goals, Ravaoarinotsihoanara (2023) revealed a negative correlation between the number of participants and the survival rate of planted mangrove. This author also recommended that the maximum number of participants in mangrove replanting should be 38 people per hectare.

Performance of the community in mangrove forest patrols and infraction surveillance

Even though the annual goal to carry out 16 patrols per month was reached in 2018, the patrols did not cover all of the strict protection zones due to the small number of CSE (only three people). Although from 2019, the target was changed to 144 patrols per year (12 patrols/CSE/year for the 12 CSE) when nine additional CSE were recruited and assigned to work within their respective villages, high performance in forest patrols was not reached on this change. The adaptation impacted the patrols in 2020 when five of the CSE missed the monthly patrol activity. The COVID-19 restrictions also resulted in a slight decrease of the number of patrols in 2021 when patrols did not occur during lockdown. Even though a peak of number of patrols was recorded in 2020 (139 patrols), there was some illegal cutting of mangrove wood recorded by the CSE in this year. This is in line with overall trends in many regions in Madagascar since COVID-19, where many cases of illegal harvesting and transport of timber were reported from different regions (Malavika, 2020).

Despite the fact that high performance in forest patrols was not reached upon the change of approach from 2019, the CSE confirmed that from their direct observation in the forests during the patrolling activity that there was a reduction of illegal harvesting of mangrove wood in 2021. As reported by studies in different countries, having rangers on the ground is one of the strongest deterrents to illegal activity (Gonedelé Bi *et al.*, 2019; Covey and McGraw, 2014; Tranquilli *et al.*, 2014), and the authors of this paper believe that the recruitment of additional CSE resulted in a positive impact on overall reduction of illegal mangrove wood harvesting in the BoA. This is also a well-suited approach that minimizes the cost of the forest patrol activity, as accommodation and transport of the CSE did not have to be covered due to the addition of new CSE working in their respective villages, and also allowed for a shorter travel time for each patroller.

While a study carried out in India revealed that only 3 % of fishermen and none of the fisherwomen interviewed were willing to work for enforcing mangrove protection, even when paid to do so (Stone et al., 2008), it is assumed that not everyone in the communities would be motivated to undertake forest patrolling without compensation, whether in the form of money or meals. While motivation is one of the forces that led to performance, as when individuals are motivated, they are productive and focus their efforts on the achievement of set goals (Chaudhary and Sharma, 2012; Sharma and Sharma, 2017; Bao and Nizam, 2015), it is believed that the approach adopted in this study to recruit CSE (through job advertisements and the competitive process) could have been a deterrent to non-motivated people.

Performance of the community in Dina enforcement

While the CSE recorded a number of cut mangrove stumps in the strict mangrove protection zone where the Dina prohibits the harvest of mangrove trees, there was only one infraction of illegal mangrove harvesting reported and enforced by the KMD. Even though law enforcement is viewed as crucial for successful conservation (Ratcliffe, 2004; Tranquilli et al., 2014), it is a major challenge for protected areas worldwide, particularly in developing countries (Nolte, 2016). Despite the implementation of social marketing programmes designed to promote enforcement by villagers and local leaders (Andriamalala et al., 2013), Dina application is a major challenge in the Velondriake LMMA (Gardner, 2020) because of the Fihavanana, a local concept meaning "kinship and friendship" (Andriamalala and Gardner, 2010), where community members may be reluctant to apply rules against members of their own community and do not want to report infractions committed by their friends and family. Despite the possibility that not all infractions may have been reported and recorded, the number of cut mangrove stumps counted by the CSE during the monthly forest patrols helped to assess compliance with Dina. It was found that dissemination of information from the forest patrols is helpful to adapt the management strategy in the absence of strong Dina enforcement when the number of cut mangrove stumps is shown to be increasing. When aware of the increase of illegal cutting, mitigation strategies proposed by the community included recruitment of additional CSE members to ensure that monthly patrols covered all of the strict protection zones. Additionally, some community members in each village decided to voluntarily carry out forest patrols in their respective strict protection zones in addition to the monthly patrols undertaken by the CSE. This shows that community members started to take the initiative once they were aware that illegal mangrove harvesting was taking place as they believed that the frequency of patrols was not adequate to dissuade infractions.

Level of community participation in planning and decision making in the project

While community participation has been approached differently by different project practitioners (Paul, 1987), based on the description of the IAP2 and the approach used, communities were informed, consulted, involved, and empowered, and they collaborated throughout the process in developing and making decisions for the project, although the level of participation varied at different stages. Despite the usefulness of the description of the five levels, it was found that the approach adopted from the 'inform' to 'empower' level, such as careful planning of the village meeting to avoid community fatigue and creating a safe and comfortable space for women in decision making process, is vitally important in ensuring continued community participation regardless of the level. Even though the 'inform' level is considered as a weak form of participation, comprising one-way communication where communities are passive information receivers (Arnstein, 1969; Hardy, 2015), the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (UNDRIP) declares indigenous people's particular rights to free, prior, and informed consent (FPIC) in matters which affect their lives and livelihood (United Nation, 2007) and the United Nations Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues (UNPFII) requires that information should be provided on an ongoing and continuous basis throughout the FPIC process (UNPFII, 2005). Given that mangrove forests are traditionally communal resources (GOM, 1997), open to villages outside of the project area, it was found that the 'inform' level is important not only to provide information to the community,

enabling them to make informed decisions about the project, but also to inform the neighboring communities, especially about Dina regulating mangrove use. However, while handbooks and toolkits outlining the planning process and facilitation techniques are available (De Leiuen and Arthure, 2016; US-EPA, 2017), it was found that the complexity of the concept of carbon sequestration itself required a well-designed approach and well suited communication materials adapted to the local context. The consultations carried out with the community allowed us to gather community opinion on the suitable communication materials to share information about the project. Oral presentations in the local dialect with visual support, such as Microsoft PowerPoint presentations and videos, were highly recommended by the community. As the same information needed to be shared across the 10 villages, a pre-recorded video presentation was used when disseminating the results of accomplishments of mangrove replanting and the number of illegal harvesting incidents recorded by the CSE. The pre-recorded video was an effective outreach tool to ensure that the target audience had the same level of information and this also enabled the audience to stay focused.

As described in detail in Rakotomahazo (2019), Tahiry Honko was developed through participatory methods with the aim of promoting engagement of all community members living within the project area, regardless of gender. However, Mosse (2001) argues that participatory approaches are subject to domination by certain groups, due to being plenary and public events. Consequently, marginalised groups, such as women, may struggle to participate and make personal decisions on matters that affect their lives. As carbon projects may impact access to resources for forest-dependent community members, obtaining FPIC of all community members is required and critical for the success of the project (FAO, 2016; UN-REDD, 2013). Adjusting situations and conditions by creating safe and comfortable spaces is crucial to make marginalised groups feel more confident about participating in decision-making (Mubita et al., 2017). It is believed that anonymous democratic voting, a method by which the electorate directly makes their own personal decisions, constitutes an inclusive process that is well suited to the local context in ensuring community consent on project implementation. This is an effective inclusive approach to allow the full range of community members to provide their consent and can also address the issues around often

marginalised members of a community (e.g., women) to also be engaged in the decision-making process.

Conclusions

Tahiry Honko is an ongoing initiative that is yet to be systematically evaluated. However, at this stage, it is suggested that the possibility of earning carbon revenue created an incentive and promoted continued community participation in mangrove conservation and restoration in the BoA. Despite some challenges encountered in implementing Tahiry Honko, including the length of time between the introduction of the concept of the carbon project to the community and first income generated from carbon revenue, and the numerous village meetings required, continued community participation was recorded. Participation of the communities in village meetings involving decision making, and in project activities, contributed to the success of the project. To maintain and improve community participation, some meetings and workshops could be consolidated to reduce and streamline the total number required, and to reduce meeting fatigue. While participation has its own strengths and weaknesses, it is important to adopt a well suited approach to the local context in ensuring continued community participation from the 'inform' to 'empower' level. While anticipated carbon payments appear to influence community participation, the lessons learned in this study on best practices for ensuring continued community participation would be applicable to any community-led project that does not offer monetary incentives from the carbon revenue. However, this study is limited to the assessment of the level of community participation and rate of community attendance in village meetings and in mangrove replanting. Further research is needed to investigate the critical factors that influence the involvement and motivation of participants according to their gender, in particular in speaking and decision-making, and participation in activities.

Acknowledgements:

We would like to express gratitude to our colleagues at Blue Ventures; Aina Celestin and Patty Ramiandrisoa for assisting in collecting attendance sheets in village meetings and in mangrove replanting sessions gathering data on the mangrove forests patrols, and Charlie Gough, Jen Hacking and Nick Piludu for reviewing the manuscript. We wish to express sincere gratitude to the UK Government's International Climate Finance and Darwin Initiative, the Global Environment Facility and the MacArthur Foundation for financial support.

References

- African Union Commission (2015) Agenda 2063 [https:// au.int/en/agenda2063/aspirations]
- Aganyira K, Kabumbuli R, Muwanika VB, Tabuti JRS, Sheil D (2020) Determinants of participation in state and private PES projects in Uganda. Scientific African 8 [https://doiorg/101016/jsciaf2020e00370]
- Alongi DM (2011) Carbon payments for mangrove conservation: Ecosystem constraints and uncertainties of sequestration potential. Environmental Science and Policy 14 (4): 462–470 [https://doiorg/101016/ jenvsci201102004]
- Andriamalala G, Gardner CJ (2010) L'utilisation du dina comme outil de gouvernance des ressources naturelles: leçons tirées de Velondriake, sud-ouest de Madagascar [www.tropicalconservationscienceorg]
- Andriamalala G, Peabody S, Gardner CJ (2013) Using social marketing to foster sustainable behaviour in traditional fishing communities of southwest Madagascar [https://www.conservationevidence.com/individual-study/5192]
- Arnstein SR (1969) A ladder of citizen participation. Journal of the American Planning Association 35 (4): 216– 224 [https://doiorg/101080/01944366908977225]
- Bao C, Nizam I (2015) The impact of motivation on employee performance in the electronics industry in china International. Journal of Accounting and Business Management 3 (2): 29–45 [https:// doiorg/1024924/ijabm/201511/v3iss2/2945]
- Barbier EB, Hacker SD, Kennedy C, Koch EW, Stier AC, Silliman BR (2011) The value of estuarine and coastal ecosystem services. Ecological Monographs 81 (2): 169–193 [https://doiorg/101890/10-15101]
- Barbier EB (2015) Valuing the storm protection service of estuarine and coastal ecosystems Ecosystem Services 11: 32–38 [https://doiorg/101016/jecoser201406010]
- Barnes-Mauthe M, Oleson KLL, Zafindrasilivonona B (2013) The total economic value of small-scale fisheries with a characterization of post-landing trends: An application in Madagascar with global relevance. Fisheries Research 147: 175–185 [https:// doiorg/101016/jfishres201305011]
- Belecky M, Singh R, Moreto W (2019) Life on the frontline 2019: A global survey of the working conditions of Rangers. WWF International. 132 pp [https://files. worldwildlife.org/wwfcmsprod/files/Publication/ file/k36blpy2c_wwf_rangers_survey_report_2019. pdf]
- Benson L, Glass L, Jones TG, Ravaoarinorotsihoarana L, Rakotomahazo C (2017). Mangrove carbon stocks and ecosystem cover dynamics in southwest Madagascar

and the implications for local management. Forests 8 (6): 190 [https://doiorg/103390/f8060190]

- Blue Ventures (2015) Integrated Social Survey internal database (unpublished)
- Blue Ventures (2019) Tahiry Honko Project Design Document. 62 pp [https://www.planvivo.org/tahiry-honko-documents]
- Blue Ventures (2020) The voice of the mangroves [https:// blogblueventuresorg/en/voices-of-the-mangroves]
- Chaudhary N, Sharma B (2012) Impact of employee motivation on performance (productivity) in private organization. International Journal of Business Trends and Technology 2 (4): 29-35 [https://www.academia.edu/4990542/Impact_of_Employee_Motivation_on_Performance_Productivity_In_Private_ Organization]
- Covey R, McGraw WS (2014) Monkeys in a West African bushmeat market: implications for cercopithecid conservation in eastern Liberia. Tropical Conservation Science 7 (1): 115-125 [www.tropicalconservationscience.org]
- De Leiuen C, Arthure S (2016) Collaboration on whose terms? Using the IAP2 Community Engagement Model for Archaeology in Kapunda, South Australia. Journal of Community Archaeology and Heritage 3 (2): 81–98 [https://doiorg/101080/2051819620161154735]
- Ellison AM, Felson AJ, Friess DA (2020) Mangrove rehabilitation and restoration as experimental adaptive management. Frontiers in Marine Science 7: 327 [https://doiorg/103389/fmars202000327]
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (2016) Free prior and informed consent: An indigenous peoples' right and a good practice for the local community Manual for project practitioners. 52 pp [https:// www.fao.org/3/i6190e/i6190e.pdf]
- Food and Agriculture Organization (2020) Global Forest Resources Assessment 2020. FAO. 186 pp [https:// doiorg/104060/ca8753en]
- Gardner CJ, Cripps G, Day LP, Dewar K, Gough C, Peabody S, Tahindraza G, Harris A (2020) A decade and a half of learning from Madagascar's first locally managed marine area Conservation. Science and Practice 2 (12): 1-14 [https://doiorg/101111/csp2298]
- Gonedelé Bi S, Bitty EA, Yao AK, McGraw WS (2019) Foot patrols enhance conservation efforts in threatened forest reserves of coastal Côte d'Ivoire. Tropical Conservation Science 12: 1–10 [https:// doiorg/101177/1940082919872637]
- (GOM) Gouvernement for Madagascar (1997) Loi No 97-017 of 8 August 1997 portant révision de la législation forestière [https://www.ilo.org/dyn/natlex/natlex4.detail?p_isn=47582&p_lang=en]

- Hamilton SE, Friess DA (2018) Global carbon stocks and potential emissions due to mangrove deforestation from 2000 to 2012. Nature Climate Change 8 (3): 240–244 [https://doiorg/101038/s41558-018-0090-4]
- Hardy M (2015) Reflections on the IAP2 Spectrum [Blog post] [https://maxhardy.com.au/reflections-on-theiap2-spectrum/]
- Rojas M, Dain MJ, Campbell C (2001). Community conservation and protected area management with a gender perspective: A synthesis. A Woman in Development Technical Assistance Project (WIDTECH). Information Bulletin, August. 9 pp [https://pdf.usaid. gov/pdf_docs/Pnacm571.pdf]
- Hutchison J, Spalding MD, Zu Ermgassen PSE (2014) The role of mangroves in fisheries enhancement. Marine and coastal biogeography View project, Native Oyster Restoration Alliance (NORA) View project. 54 pp [www.nature.org]
- (ITTO) International Tropical Timber Organization (2013) Annual Report 2012. 53 pp [http://www.itto.int/ files/user/pdf/Annual%20Report/ITTO_ANNUAL_ REPORT_2012_ENGLISH_2013.09.05_FINAL_ WEB.pdf]
- Jones TG, Glass L, Gandhi S, Ravaoarinorotsihoarana L, Carro A, Benson L, Ratsimba HR, Giri C, Randriamanatena D, Cripps G (2016) Madagascar's mangroves: Quantifying nation-wide and ecosystem specific dynamics, and detailed contemporary mapping of distinct ecosystems. Remote Sensing 8 (2): 106 [https://doiorg/103390/rs8020106]
- Macreadie PI, Nielsen DA, Kelleway JJ, Atwood TB, Seymour JR, Petrou K, Connolly RM, Thomson ACG, Trevathan-Tackett SM, Ralph PJ (2017). Can we manage coastal ecosystems to sequester more blue carbon? Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 15 (4): 206–213 [https://doiorg/101002/fee1484]
- Malavika Vyawahare (2020) COVID-19 will hurt Madagascar's conservation funding. Mongabay News & Inspiration from Nature's frontline Conservation in Madagascar [https://news.mongabay.com/2020/04/ covid-19-will-hurt-madagascars-conservation-funding-qa-with-minister-vahinala-raharinirina/]
- (MEA) Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (2005) Ecosystems and human well-being: wetlands and water. Synthesis. 80 pp [https://wedocs.unep.org/ 20.500.11822/8735]
- Mosse D (2001) "People's knowledge', participation and patronage: operations and representations in rural development' In: Cook B, Kothari U (eds) Participation: the new tyranny? Zed Press, London. pp 16-35
- Mubita A, Libati M, Mulonda M (2017) The importance and limitations of participation in development projects

and programmes. European Scientific Journal 13 (5): 238 [https://doiorg/1019044/esj2017v13n5p238]

- Murray BC, Pendleton L, Jenkins WA, Sifleet S (2011) Green payments for blue carbon economic incentives for protecting threatened coastal habitats. Nicholas Institute for Environmental Policy Solutions Report NI R 11-04. 42 pp [https://nicholasinstitute.duke.edu/sites/default/files/publications/ blue-carbon-report-paper.pdf]
- Nolte C (2016) Identifying challenges to enforcement in protected areas: Empirical insights from 15 Colombian parks. Oryx 50 (2): 317–322 [https:// doiorg/101017/S0030605314000891]
- Paul S (1987) Community participation in development Projects. World Bank Discussion Paper, ISBN 0-8213-0886-6. 37 pp [https://documentsl.worldbank.org/curated/en/850911468766244486/pdf/ multi-page.pdf]
- Pendleton L, Donato DC, Murray BC, Crooks S, Jenkins WA, Sifleet S, Craft C, Fourqurean JW, Kauffman JB, Marbà N Megonigal P, Pidgeon E, Herr D, Gordon D, Baldera A (2012) Estimating lobal "Blue Carbon" emissions from conversion and degradation of vegetated coastal ecosystems. PLoS ONE 7 (9): e43542 [https://doiorg/101371/journalpone0043542]
- Plan Vivo (2020) Mikoko Pamoja Project Design Document. 59 pp [https://www.planvivo.org/mikoko-pamoja-documents]
- Plan Vivo Standard (2021) [https://www.planvivo.org/ pvcs]
- Rakotomahazo C, Ravaoarinorotsihoarana LA, Randrianandrasaziky D, Glass L, Gough C, Todinanahary GG, Gardner CJ (2019) Participatory planning of a community-based payments for ecosystem services initiative in Madagascar's mangroves. Ocean and Coastal Management 175: 43–52 [https://doiorg/101016/jocecoaman201903014]
- Ratcliffe JH (2004) The Hotspot Matrix: Af framework for the spatio-temporal targeting of crime reduction. Police Practice and Research: An International Journal 5 (1): 5-23 [http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1561426042 000191305]
- Ramananjohany JV, Razafiarimanana H (2021) Gender analysis report. MAHARO Project, Catholic Relief Services. 62 pp [https://www.crs.org/our-work-overseas/research-publications/maharo-gender-analysis-report]
- Ravaoarinorotsihoarana LA, Ratefinjanahary I, Aina C, Rakotomahazo C, Glass L, Ranivoarivelo L, Lavitra T (2023) Combining traditional ecological knowledge and scientific observations to support mangrove restoration in Madagascar. Forests 14 (7): 1368 [https://doi.org/10.3390/f14071368]

- Rizal A (2018) Economic value estimation of mangrove ecosystems in Indonesia. Biodiversity International Journal 2 (1): 98-100 [https://doi.org/10.15406/ bij.2018.02.00051]
- Salem ME, Mercer DE (2012) The economic value of mangroves: A meta-analysis. Sustainability 4 (3): 359–383 [https://doi.org/10.3390/su4030359]
- Scales IR, Friess DA, Glass L, Ravaoarinorotsihoarana L (2018) Rural livelihoods and mangrove degradation in south-west Madagascar: Lime production as an emerging threat. Oryx 52 (4): 641–645 [https:// doiorg/101017/S0030605316001630]
- Seager J, Bowser G, Dutta A (2021) Where are the women? Towards gender equality in the ranger workforce. Park Stewardship Forum 37 (1): 206-218 [https:// escholarship.org/uc/item/6k01x8g6]
- Sharma N, Sharma A (2017) Relationship between employee motivation and performance of the employees working in retail sector in Jaipur [file:///C:/Users/Getty/ Downloads/JMEITFEB0402002%20(1).pdf]
- Stiles D (1998) The Mikea hunter-gatherers of Southwest Madagascar: Ecology and socioeconomics. African Study Monographs 19 (3): 127-148 [https://doi. org/10.14989/68175]
- Stone K, Bhat M, Bhatta R, Mathews A (2008) Factors influencing community participation in mangroves restoration: A contingent valuation analysis. Ocean and Coastal Management 51 (6): 476–484 [https:// doiorg/101016/jocecoaman200802001]
- Taillardat P, Friess DA, Lupascu M (2018) Mangrove blue carbon strategies for climate change mitigation are most effective at the national scale. Biology Letters 14 (10) [https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2018.0251]
- Thwala WD (2010) Community participation is a necessity for project success: A case study of rural water supply project in Jeppes Reefs, South Africa. African Journal of Agricultural Research 5 (10): 970–979 [https://doiorg/105897/AJAR09700]
- Tranquilli S, Abedi-Lartey M, Abernethy K, Amsini F, Asamoah A, Balangtaa C, Blake S, Bouanga E, Breuer T, Brncic TM, Campbell G, Chancellor R, Chapman CA, Davenport TRB, Dunn A, Dupain J, Ekobo A, Eno-Nku M, Etoga G (2014) Protected areas in tropical Africa: Assessing threats and conservation activities. PLoS ONE 9 (12): e114154. [https://doiorg/101371/journalpone0114154]
- UNEP-Nairobi Convention/USAID/WIOMSA (2020) Guidelines on mangrove ecosystem restoration for the Western Indian Ocean Region. UNEP, Nairobi. 71 pp

- United Nations (1992) Declaration on the rights of persons religious and linguistic minorities. General Assembly Resolution 47/135 [https://www.ohchr.org/ en/instruments-mechanisms/instruments/declaration-rights-persons-belonging-national-or-ethnic]
- (UNPFII) United Nations Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues (2005) Report of the international workshop on methodologies regarding free prior and informed consent. Document E/C.19/2005/3, endorsed by the UNPFII at its Fourth Session, May 16-17, 2005. 39 pp [https://humanrights.gov.au/sites/ default/files/content/social_justice/international_ docs/pdf/unpfii_report_4th_session.pdf]
- United Nations (2007) Declaration on the rights of indigenous peoples. Resolution adopted by the General Assembly, (A/RES/61/295). 29 pp [https://www. un.org/development/desa/indigenouspeoples/declaration-on-the-rights-of-indigenous-peoples.html]
- United Nations (2013) Guidelines on free, prior and informed consent. Collaborative initiative on reducing emissions from deforestation and forest degradation. 60 pp [https://www.uncclearn.org/wp-content/uploads/library/un-redd05.pdf]
- (US-EPA) United States Environmental Protection Agency (2017) Public participation guide: Selecting the right level of public participation [https://wwwepagov/international-cooperation/public-participation-guide-selecting-right-level-public-participation]
- Vanderklift M, Steven A, Benzaken D, ThieleT, Cunliffe C, Ravaoarinorotsihoarana LA, Schmid A, Wharton J (2022) Blue forest finance: financing the protection and restoration of blue forests and meadows. CSIRO, Australia. 52 pp [https://research.csiro.au/iora-bluecarbon-hub/wp-content/uploads/sites/321/2022/11/ Blue-forest-finance-guide-FINAL.pdf]
- Vedeld Trond (2001) Participation in project preparation: lessons from World Bank-assisted project in India. World Bank Discussion Paper (423). Washington, DC [http://hdl.handle.net/10986/13945]
- Warren-Rhodes K, Schwarz AM, Boyle LN, Albert J, Agalo SS, Warren R, Bana A, Paul C, Kodosiku R, Bosma W, Yee D, Rönnbäck P, Crona B, Duke N (2011). Mangrove ecosystem services and the potential for carbon revenue programmes in Solomon Islands. Environmental Conservation 38 (4): 485–496 [https:// doiorg/101017/S0376892911000373]
- (WHO) World Health Organization (2002) Community participation in local health and sustainable development. 93 pp [https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/107341]
- Wunder S (2005) Payments for environmental services: Some nuts and bolts. CIFOR Occasional Paper (42). 32 pp [http://www.ciforcgiarorg]

Original Article

Feeding habits and diet composition of *Octopus cyanea* (Gray, 1849) in Zanzibar waters, Tanzania

Western Indian OceanJ O U R N A LO FMarine Science

Open access

Citation:

Hamad AI, Muhando CA (2023) Feeding habits and diet composition of Octopus cyanea (Gray, 1849) in Zanzibar waters, Tanzania. Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science 22(2): 61-73 [doi: 10.4314/wiojms.v22i2.5

Received:

January 7, 2023

Accepted: August 1, 2023

Published: November 9, 2023

Copyright:

Owned by the journal. The articles are open access articles distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY 4.0) licence.

* Corresponding author: aminisma@yahoo.com Amini I. Hamad^{1, 2}*⁽⁰⁾, Christopher A. Muhando¹⁽⁰⁾

¹ Institute of Marine Sciences, University of Dar es Salaam, PO Box 668, Zanzibar, Tanzania ² Department of Biology, College of Natural and Mathematical Sciences, The University of Dodoma, PO Box 338, Dodoma, Tanzania

Abstract

The octopus fishery in Zanzibar is an essential activity of coastal communities. To assist with developing fisheries management plans, baseline information on the feeding of *Octopus cyanea* (Gray, 1849) was collected in relation to sex and maturity stages. The feeding habits and diet composition of 543 *O. cyanea* were studied over a period of 12 months at Paje, Kizimkazi, Chwaka Bay and Nungwi. Samples at each site were collected on two days per month during spring tide. Digestive tract contents revealed that *O. cyanea* preyed on 36 species of crustaceans, molluscs and fishes, with crabs a major prey item. The number of prey species in a single stomach ranged from one to six. *O. cyanea* in Zanzibar is therefore a generalist predator with a mixed diet. The octopus gonadosomatic index (GSI) indicated a peak breeding season in June to October, which correlated with low prey consumption. Mature octopuses ingested a small amount of food from mainly small sessile prey. Females consumed less food than males of similar maturity stages, suggesting that they ate less or had higher digestion rates. The information is useful for developing fisheries management plans for the octopus fishery in Zanzibar.

Keywords: Octopus cyanea, sex, maturity stage, frequency of occurrence, Zanzibar waters

Introduction

The big blue octopus, *Octopus cyanea* (Gray, 1849), is a shallow-water species that spends its life in intertidal and sub-tidal reefs for refuging, hunting, and reproduction (Norman *et al.*, 2001). It is found in different parts of the world, from East Africa (Guard and Mgaya, 2002) through Madagascar (Benbow *et al.*, 2014), French Polynesia (Scheel *et al.*, 2017), India (Nair *et al.*, 2018), Australia, and Hawaii (Herwig *et al.*, 2012). This octopus is one of the most harvested species in tropical and sub-tropical regions for commercial, subsistence, and recreation purposes (Guard and Mgaya, 2002; Herwig *et al.*, 2012). It dominates the octopus catch, accounting for about 99 % of all catches in Tanzania and Zanzibar (Guard and Mgaya, 2002; Rocliffe and Harris, 2016).

Octopuses need sustainable fisheries and appropriate management measures to flourish and increase their

population size (Pita *et al.*, 2021). Such management undertakings have been introduced in Zanzibar based on size limits and seasonal closures (Rocliffe and Harris, 2016). However, these management measures have currently failed to satisfy the community's expectations (personal observation). It is expected that the underperformance of these management approaches is probably due to a lack of linkage between scientific information and community knowledge. Thus, there is a need to study the trophic ecology of *O. cyanea* to provide baseline information that can aid in the formulation of a management plan for the area.

The management effort needs robust information to make informed decisions about the future preservation of particular species (Herwig *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, this knowledge of the trophic ecology of *O. cyanea* would be used as a reference point by the managers and practitioners in the formulation of the management strategies. Moreover, the information from this study would also provide insight for the growth assessment of this species in captivity (Rosas-Luis *et al.*, 2019). Despite the presence of some studies on growth, fisheries, and reproductive biology (Guard and Mgaya, 2002), catch status (Rocliffe and Harris, 2016), growth, exploitation rate, and recruitment pattern (Silas *et al.*, 2021), and the environmental influence on abundance and distribution (Chande *et al.*, 2021), the trophic ecology of *O. cyanea* has not yet been studied in Zanzibar.

Materials and methods

Description of study area

This study was conducted in Unguja, one of the two sister islands that form Zanzibar (Fig. 1). Octopus samples were collected at Kizimkazi and Paje (in the southern parts), Nungwi (in the northern part), and Chwaka Bay (in the central part). All samples were collected from the artisanal fishermen, who used both on-foot and diving collection methods.

Biological sampling

The samples of *O. cyanea* were collected monthly for a period of 12 consecutive months. For each month, two



Figure 1. The Map of Unguja Island (Tanzania) showing the four sampled sites.

O. cyanea is a generalist predator feeding on fish, molluscs, annelids, and arthropods (Armendáriz Villegas *et al.*, 2014). Like most octopus species, its feeding preference reflects the prey composition in a given environment (Scheel *et al.*, 2017). Since Zanzibar is home to a variety of marine species, *O. cyanea* is expected to exhibit a feeding pattern that reflects the prey population and composition in the environment (Scheel *et al.*, 2017). The goal of this study was to examine the feeding habit and diet composition of *O. cyanea* using stomach content analysis in relation to sex and gonadal maturity stages in Zanzibar. days of the spring tide were spent collecting samples at each site. Once landed, all samples were taken to a laboratory where the dorsal mantle length (DML) and the total body weight (TW) were measured and the sex determined. The DML was measured using a measuring tape to the nearest 0.5 cm, while the TW was measured using an electronic digital balance to the nearest 0.5 g. Sex was determined by observing the presence of spermatophoric grooves (a whitish-gray line on the ventral surface) on the third right arm of males and their absence in females (Herwig *et al.*, 2012). Once measured, octopuses were dissected, their gonads and stomachs extracted, and preserved in a 10 % freshwater formalin solution.

Diet analysis and prey identification

The stomachs were weighed after extraction, and the prey items were identified and counted. To make them clear, all contents were flushed with fresh water and put on a tray ready for sorting. The prey items extracted from each octopus were recorded monthly. The empty stomachs were also recorded. All data pertaining to feeding was recorded by sex and maturity stage. The stomach fullness was determined and grouped into five levels (empty, $\frac{1}{2}$, $\frac{3}{2}$ and bloated) based on the distension and amount of prey in the stomachs. The bloated level denoted a swollen stomach, which was completely filled with food, while the empty level denoted a stomach devoid of food. The following indices were calculated:

- Fullness weight index (FWI) was calculated as the ratio of the digestive tract content to the total weight of organisms less the empty digestive tract weight (Villegas *et al.*, 2014).
- The digestive tract weight index (DTWI) was calculated as the ratio of digestive tract weight to total weight (Quetglas *et al.*, 2005).
- Gonadosomatic index (GSI) was calculated as: GSI = Wo/(Wt – Wo) *100 Where 'Wo' is the weight of ovary and 'Wt' is the total wet weight (Guard and Mgaya, 2002).

The importance of each prey category was determined using the frequency of occurrence (FO) method. FO was calculated as the percentage ratio between the number of stomachs containing a given prey item with respect to the total number of stomachs containing food (Cortez *et al.*, 1995). The digestive tract weight index (DTWI) and the fullness weight index (FWI) were used to determine the amount of food consumed. To determine the prey species in the diet, the number of prey species was counted and recorded by the sexes and maturity stages. In order to relate feeding with maturity, GSI was used to define the peak and least breeding of *O. cyanea* in the area.

The prey items were identified to the lowest possible taxonomic group using a specialized identification key. Crustaceans were identified by the colour of their carapaces and shells and the shape and colour of their chelae (Quetglas *et al.*, 2005). Fish were identified using remaining parts of their bodies, while octopus were identified by physical observation when not

under intensive digestion or by the presence of beaks in the octopus body. The foods in an advanced state of digestion were recognized as 'unidentified' but were not included in the calculation of the index. A dissecting microscope was used to examine small prey items from the octopus stomachs. All the data were grouped by sex and maturity stage.

Determination of maturity stages

The gonadal development of male octopuses was classified into three (3) maturity stages: stage I (immature), stage II (maturing) and stage III (mature), while females were classified into five maturity stages: stage 1 (immature), stage II (maturing), stage III (mature), stage IV (spawning), and stage V (spent). This classification was used as per Guard and Mgaya (2002) with a minimal modification. In males at stage III, spermatids and spermatozoa are abundant and there are no empty spaces between cells and in females at stage IV is seen when there is a significant increase in oocyte size, deeper infoldings of the follicular epithelium, as well as increased yolk production. At stage V, female oocytes have been discharged. All individual octopuses staged as stage III, IV and V were classified as mature and those with maturity stages I and II were classified as immature.

Data analysis

To analyze feeding habits and diet composition, all 543 samples of *O. cyanea* were used. The identified prey items were grouped according to taxonomic affinities, resulting in three putative groups: molluscs (bivalves, gastropods, and cephalopods), crustaceans, and fish. The comparison of the sizes of male and female octopuses was determined by means of a t-test. An analysis of the influence of maturity stages on the diet between groups was made by means of a t-test. The comparisons of fullness levels among maturity stages, sexes, and sites were made by means of a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). The level of statistical significance used was p < 0.05.

Results

Five hundred and forty-three (543) *O. cyanea* individuals were collected, with 294 (54.1 %) females and 249 (45.9 %) males. Females measured from 5 to 29 cm DML and weighed between 73 and 6300 g TW, while males measured from 4 to 24 cm DML and weighed between 64 and 3630 g TW. Based on monthly data, larger octopuses (13–15 cm DML) peaked from June to July and from October to November (Fig. 2). In the sample, the smallest individual observed to mature



Figure 2. Monthly population size (based on DML) of O. cyanea in Zanzibar.

measured 7 cm DML for males and 8 cm DML for females. These smallest mature individuals were caught in October. There was no significant difference in DML between male and female individuals (t = 0.87, df = 22, p = 0.197).

Prey consumption and breeding season

The prey consumption by *O. cyanea* peaked in February (110 prey items) and May (100 prey items), while the lowest prey consumption occurred in June (37 prey items) and October (33 prey items). A sharp decline in the prey consumption occurred from May to June (Fig. 3). In comparison to average size based on DML (Fig. 2), large octopuses were caught in June and October, where a small amount of prey was consumed (Fig. 3). Based on the GSI, the breeding season peaked in June and October (Fig. 4). The least breeding season was found to be from January to March, and December for females. In males, lowest breeding was observed in May (Fig. 4).

Dietary analysis

The fullness level varied significantly between the maturity stages in females (F = 4.18, df = 3, p = 0.02) but not in males (F = 1.01, df = 3, p = 0.42). All five levels of fullness (empty, $\frac{1}{4}$, $\frac{3}{4}$ and bloated) appeared in males only at stages I and II. At stage III, no male octopus appeared with a bloated level of fullness (Fig. 4 B). In females at stages I, II, and III, all five levels of fullness appeared. But females at stages IV and V did not appear with bloated levels of fullness (Fig. 4 A). However, the number of empty stomachs increased with maturity stages and was higher in females than males.

Digestive tract weight index (DTWI) and fullness weight index (FWI)

The DTWI showed a decreasing mode with maturation stages in both sexes. The value of DTWI increased slightly from stage I but reached very minimal levels at stages III in males and stages V in females (Fig. 6).



Figure 3. The monthly percentage occurrence of prey items consumed by *O. cyanea* in Zanzibar coastal waters.


Figure 4. Monthly Gonadosomatic index (GSI) of male and female O. cyanea from Zanzibar.

There was no significant difference in DTWI between the sexes (t = 0.20, df = 3, p = 0.46). Between the maturity stages, significant differences were detected between stages I and III in males (p = 0.04), stages I and IV (p = 0.01), and stages II and V (p = 0.01).

The value of the fullness weight index (FWI) decreased along with maturity stages. The rate of decrement was higher in males than females. The FWI decreased from stage II to stage III in males and from stage III to stage V in females (Fig. 7). No significant difference in FWI between the sexes was detected (t = 1.94, df = 3, p = 0.45).

A total of 36 prey species were identified from three major taxonomic groups: crustaceans (83.4 %), molluscs (9.3 %), and fish (7.3 %) (Table 1).

Crabs were the preferred prey items in the diet, contributing over 63 % of all prey items. Sessile (mussels and barnacles) and slow-moving (sea snails) prey items appeared as the lowest prey groups and were only consumed at the final maturity stages (Fig. 8). Unidentified prey materials were higher, accounting for 55 % (58 % for females, 42 % for males) of all food contents. Most of the unidentified materials were a mixture of crabs, fish scales, fish eggs, and other soft-bodied prey, indicating that the octopus has high prey diversity. Cannibalism accounted for 5.32 % of all prey items and was detected in all maturity stages except at stage I in both sexes.

Diet composition

The findings from this study showed that the O. cyanea included up to six different prey types in its diet.



Figure 5. The stomach fullness levels of female (A) and male (B) O. cyanea with maturity stage.

Female

Male

Stage V



FVI

3.0

2.5

2.0

1.5

1.0

0.5

Figure 6. Digestive tract weight index (DTWI) by sex and maturity stage.

However, most of the individuals included between two and three prey species in varying quantities (Fig. 8). Mature individuals (stage III for males, stages IV and V for females) consumed a single or few sessile or slow-moving prey species in variable amounts. Single prey consumption was also observed in all maturity stages, especially when the octopus consumed large prey types or a group of prey of a single species.

Frequency of occurrence (FO)

The frequency of occurrence (FO) was presented at the family level. Portunidae (31.88 %) and Grapsidae (15.96 %) were the two most popular prey families appearing in the diet of *O. cyanea*. The most preferred prey family was Portunidae (31.88 %), followed by the family Grapsidae (15.96 %) which are a family of crabs. The least consumed prey were from families Iblidae, Muraenidae, Odontodactylidae, Oziidae, Phasianellidae, and Strombidae, each contributing only 0.25 % of the total diet of *O. cyanea*. All families are summarized in Table 2.

Discussion

The commercial value and ongoing efforts to manage octopus fisheries has increased the need to investigate various aspects of their lives. This study examines the feeding behaviours of *O. cyanea* at various stages of maturity. This information will contribute to a better understanding of the feeding ecology, nutritional profile, and energy balance of this species in relationship to their stages of maturity. Figure 7. Fullness weight index by sex and maturity stage.

The maturity of octopuses varies with size, and the smallest mature male and female octopuses found in this study were 360 g (7 cm DML) and 610 g (8 cm DML), respectively. Guard and Mgaya (2002) reported the smallest mature male and female in mainland Tanzania, weighing 320 g and 600 g, respectively. However, the smallest mature male and female O. cyanea reported in other geographical areas are 350 g and 520 g in Australia (Herwig et al., 2012) and 400 g and 450 g in Madagascar (Raberinary and Benbow, 2012). The largest individual of 6300 g differs from the 11700 g octopus caught in mainland Tanzania (Guard and Mgaya, 2002), the 6400 g in Madagascar (Raberinary and Benbow, 2012), the 6500 g in Hawaii, and the 1900 g in Australia (Herwig et al., 2012). These variations might be due to effects of geographic location, environmental plasticity, dietary availability, and the management status of the area (Guard and Mgaya, 2002; Semmens et al., 2004). The monthly size variations of O. cyanea (Fig. 3) could be due to the timing of reproductive onset in the cohorts.

O. cyanea in Zanzibar spawns throughout the year, with June and October being the peak breeding seasons (Fig. 4). June and October are also the months during which the octopus population is characterized by larger individuals compared to other months (Fig. 2). Simply put, June and October are the periods when large individuals experience peak breeding season in Zanzibar. Similar breeding seasons have been reported by Guard and Mgaya (2002) in mainland

 Table 1. Frequency of occurrence (%) of the major taxonomic prey groups in the diet of O. cyanea.

Prey group	%
Crustaceans	83.4
Molluscs	9.3
Fish	7.3





Figure 8. The occurrence of prey items consumed at various maturity stages of female (A) and male (B) *O. cyanea* in Zanzibar.



Figure 9. Percentage number of prey species found in individual stomachs during laboratory analysis for both females (A) and males (B). The prey included in the diet ranges from one species to six species in the stomach.

Frequency of occurrence, FO (%)							
Family	Stage I	Stage II	Stage III	Stage IV	Stage V	Total	
Portunidae	12.4	11.39	6.84	1.01	0.25	31.89	
Grapsidae	7.09	5.57	2.02	0.6	0.6	15.88	
Octopodidae	0	3.52	1.02	0.5	0.25	5.29	
Penaeidae	2.79	0.51	0.76	1.23	0	5.29	
Alphaeidae	1.52	1.78	1.04	0.25	0.25	4.84	
Cancridae	1.77	1.52	1.26	0.25	0	4.8	
Congridae	2.28	1.27	0.72	0.51	0	4.78	
Sergestidae	1.27	0.75	0.25	1.27	0	3.54	
Raninidae	1.52	1.26	0.25	0.25	0	3.28	
Plagusiidae	2.28	0.25	0.51	0	0	3.04	
Diogenidae	0.25	1.26	0.76	0.25	0.25	2.77	
Gecarcinidae	0.76	0.76	0	0	0	1.52	
Macrophthalmidae	0.25	1.26	0	0	0	1.51	
Mitridae	0.25	0.52	0.25	0.25	0.25	1.52	
Xanthidae	0.76	0	0.76	0	0	1.52	
Littorinidae	0.25	0	0	1	0.25	1.5	
Sesarmidae	0.2	1.26	0	0	0	1.46	
Anguillidae	0.76	0.51	0	0	0	1.27	
Trapeziidae	0.52	0	0	0.25	0	0.77	
Calcinidae	0	0.51	0	0.25	0	0.76	
Porcellanidae	0	0.51	0	0	0	0.51	
Mytilidae	0.26	0	0	0	0.25	0.51	
Iblidae	0	0	0	0	0.25	0.25	
Muraenidae	0	0	0.25	0	0.25	0.5	
Odontodactylidae	0	0.25	0	0	0	0.25	
Oziidae	0	0	0	0	0.25	0.25	
Phasianellidae	0	0	0.25	0	0	0.25	
Strombidae	0	0.25	0	0	0	0.25	
TOTAL	37.18	34.91	16.94	7.87	3.1	100	

Table 2. Frequency of occurrence (FO) of prey families in *O. cyanea* diet by maturity stages. At stages I, II, and III, the value is the average of the male and female individuals.

Tanzania at Mafia, where the peak breeding season of *O. cyanea* is June. The peak breeding season for this species has also been documented in October– November in Rodrigues (Sauer *et al.*, 2011) and April– June in Madagascar (Raberinary and Benbow, 2012). Other species like *O. vulgaris* in Kenya exhibit their peak breeding season in June and August (Kivengea *et al.*, 2015). Thus, geographical differences and the type of species influence peak spawning time.

By linking the monthly octopus population size (Fig. 2), monthly feeding schemes (Fig. 3), and monthly spawning pattern (Fig. 4), it is revealed that the large and mature individuals are associated with low prey consumption. In other words, the large and mature animals that dominate the population in June and October consume a very minimal amount of prey. Meanwhile, in February and May, the months of small-sized octopuses, the *O. cyanea* experiences its lowest GSI, indicating that the population of octopuses is dominated by immature individuals that

consume more prey items. This supports the notion that small, non-spawning octopuses consume more prey to invest more energy required for the spawning process in the following months (Archer *et al.*, 2022). A similar situation has been reported for immature *O. mimus* in China that experiences high feeding intensity in April and June (Bo *et al.*, 2020). This is probably because each octopus species experiences different feeding patterns depending on the period of availability and prey abundance in a particular geographical location. In Zanzibar, prey abundance is higher in February and May.

The food content in the octopus stomach is affected by their maturity stages. The studies conducted by Cortez *et al.* (1995) and Armendáriz Villegas *et al.* (2014) revealed that the average number of empty stomachs increases as animals mature, which suggests a subsequent decrease in food intake with maturity. The current results show that empty stomachs in females ranged between 11 and 18 % for immature individuals and 22 and 92 % for mature individuals (Fig. 5A). In males, empty stomachs ranged between 10 and 16 % for immature specimens, while mature specimens had about 53 % empty stomachs (Fig. 5 B). These results provide an indication that octopuses modify their feeding with their stage of maturity. Such changes in food intake have been observed in various species in both captivity and the wild (Ernesto *et al.*, 2010). For example, Quetglas *et al.* (2005) observed a high incidence of empty stomachs in ripe *O. salutii*, while Bo *et al.* (2020) noticed the presence of more than half of adult *O. minor* females with empty stomachs.

The feeding modification with maturity stages aims to accommodate the physiological requirements of octopuses (Bo et al., 2020). For example, during the spawning stage, octopuses stop feeding while focusing exclusively on laying and caring for eggs (Anderson et al., 2002). During this period of no or less feeding, octopuses rely on energy in the form of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) from body reserves (Domínguez-Estrada et al., 2022). Because an excessive amount of ATP is required throughout the brooding period, their muscles deteriorate and animals become physically less active, hence unable to hunt (Meza-Buendía et al., 2021). However, the observed empty stomachs during immature and mature stages are because the octopuses maximize digestion rate to provide energy required for growth and other metabolic activities (Archer et al., 2022). The reason why immature octopuses eat more food (87 % for females, 85 % for males) than mature ones is the need to accelerate their body growth and stimulate gonadal development (Villanueva et al., 2004; André et al., 2009). The observation of more bloated stomachs at immature stages indicates a high food intake. The low values of DTWI (Fig. 6) and FWI (Fig. 7) emphasize that mature individuals consume less food than immature ones.

In general, this study found more food in male *O. cyanea* than females throughout the maturity stages (Fig. 5). This could be explained by two scenarios: first, the male *O. cyanea* maximizes their food and energy investment for searching mates, attraction of females, courtship, fighting, and sperm competition so as to achieve early reproductive success (Bonduriansky *et al.*, 2008; Archer *et al.*, 2022; Omedes *et al.*, 2022). Second, female *O. cyanea* grow to a larger body size (Fig. 2) than males, so they need an extended time to allocate resources needed to produce offspring, and in doing so, they double their physiological processes faster than males (Archer *et al.*, 2022). Due to this,

their food is digested more quickly than that of males (Omedes *et al.*, 2022), and they invest it in the development of the vitellus (Bo *et al.*, 2020). This may explain why more unidentified food remains was found in females than in males in this study, showing that their rapid digestion rates have an immediate impact on the prey they eat.

Octopuses are well-known generalist and opportunistic predators of a variety of prey species (TAFIRI unpublished data), having very high metabolic rates compared to many other benthic predators (Song et al., 2019). Their high metabolic processes enable them to consume more prey per unit of time in an efficient manner (Onthank and Cowles, 2011). This generalist predation assures them of their ability to search, capture, and handle a diverse range of prey types to meet their energy and nutrient demands (Scheel et al., 2017; Portela et al., 2014). The diet of O. cyanea in this study was composed of 36 prey species (Table 2). This finding was unsurprising because such generalist feeding has been documented in O. cyanea in French Polynesia (Scheel et al., 2017). Other octopus species, such as O. bimaculatus (Armendáriz Villegas et al., 2014), O. vulgaris (Smith, 2003), O. insularis (Rosas-Luis et al., 2019), O. mimus (Cortez et al., 1995), and O. minor (Bo et al., 2020), have been described as generalist predators. O. cyanea can include up to six different prey species in the stomach at a time, but the inclusion of 2-3 prey species in the diet is common (Fig. 9).

Crustaceans were the most abundant prey consumed by O. cyanea (83.4 %), followed by molluscs (9.3 %) and fish (7.3 %) (Table 1). The importance of crustaceans in the octopus diet has been reported by Smith (2003), Rosas-Luis et al. (2019), and Bo et al. (2020) in the wild, but also proved by Prato et al. (2010), Martnez et al. (2014), Caamal-Monsreal et al. (2016), Maselli et al. (2020), and Urrutia-Olvera et al. (2021) in captivity. Crab was the most preferred prey in O. cyanea (63.75 %), followed by shrimp (13.75 %). Fish and octopus contributed (7.25 %) and (5.25 %) to the diet, respectively. Charybdis sp. and Grapsis spp. dominated the diet, suggesting their suitability to satisfy the energy demand of O. cyanea. Charybdis sp., Grapsus sp., and O. cyanea are coral-associated species (Urrutia-Olvera et al., 2021), so the likelihood of an octopus encountering these prey species is higher during foraging time.

Crabs and shrimp were consumed at all maturity stages of the octopus, representing their important role in the energy needs of the octopus (Martínez *et al.*, 2014; Caamal-Monsreal et al., 2016; Urrutia-Olvera et al., 2021). Most sedentary and slow-moving prey species, such as sea snails, mussels, and barnacles, are consumed by mature (mainly spawning) individuals (Fig. 8). Because of the time and energy investment in egg brooding, it becomes difficult for the spawning individuals to obtain crabs; instead, they adopt an energy-saving technique by relying on these sessile animals found within their habitats or dens (Leite et al., 2009; Maldonado et al., 2019). This was evidenced in the present study, where the intake of primary prey (Charybdis sp. and Grapsus sp.) was almost nill (Table 2). Cannibalism is common in octopuses, and it was found in all maturity stages except in stage I individuals (Table 2), demonstrating that the larger individuals consume the smaller ones. In general, data from this study can be included in the management plan for this species, especially when deciding the periods for implementation of management measures.

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to the World Bank for financial support through the SWIOFish project and to WIOMSA for financial support through the MARG I grant. We sincerely thank the Institute of Marine Sciences of the University of Dar es Salaam and the University of Dodoma for logistical and academic support.

References

- Anderson RC, Wood JB, Byrne RA (2002) Octopus senescence: The beginning of the end. Journal of Applied Animal Welfare Science 5 (4): 275–283 [https://doi. org/10.1207/S15327604JAWS0504_02]
- André J, Pecl GT, Grist EPM, Semmens JM, Haddon M, Leporati SC (2009) Modelling size-at-age in wild immature female octopus: A bioenergetics approach. Marine Ecology Progress Series 384: 159– 174 [https://doi.org/10.3354/meps08035]
- Archer CR, Paniw M, Vega-Trejo R, Sepil I (2022) A sex skew in life-history research: the problem of missing males. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 289: 20221117 [https://doi.org/10.1098/ rspb.2022.1117]
- Armendáriz Villegas EJ, Ceballos-Vázquez BP, Markaida U, Abitia-Cárdenas A, Medina-López MA, Arellano-Martínez M (2014) Diet of Octopus bimaculatus Verril, 1883 (Cephalopoda: Octopodidae) in Bahía de Los Ángeles, Gulf of California. Journal of Shellfish Research, 33 (1): 305–314 [https://doi. org/10.2983/035.033.0129]
- Benbow S, Humber F, Oliver TA, Oleson KLL, Raberinary D, Nadon M, Ratsimbazafy H, Harris A (2014)

Lessons learnt from experimental temporary octopus fishing closures in south-west Madagascar: Benefits of concurrent closures. African Journal of Marine Science 36 (1): 31–37 [https://doi.org/10.298 9/1814232X.2014.893256]

- Bo QK, Zheng XD, Chen ZW (2020) Feeding intensity and molecular prey identification of the common longarmed octopus, *Octopus minor* (Mollusca: Octopodidae) in the wild. PLoS ONE 15(1): 1–13 [https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0220482]
- Bonduriansky R, Maklakov A, Zajitschek F, Brooks R (2008) Sexual selection, sexual conflict and the evolution of ageing and life span. Functional Ecology 22 (3): 443–453 [https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2008.01417.x]
- Caamal-Monsreal C, Uriarte I, Farias A, Díaz F, Sánchez A, Re D, Rosas C (2016) Effects of temperature on embryo development and metabolism of *O. maya*. Aquaculture 451 (June): 156–162 [https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2015.09.011]
- Chande MA, Mgaya YD, Benno LB, Limbu SM (2021) The influence of environmental variables on the abundance and temporal distribution of *Octopus cyanea* around Mafia Island, Tanzania. Fisheries Research, 241 (April): 105991 [https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fishres.2021.105991]
- Cortez T, Castro BG, Guerra A (1995) Feeding dynamics of *Octopus mimus* (Mollusca: Cephalopoda) in northern Chile waters. Marine Biology 123 (3): 497–503 [https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00349228]
- Domínguez-Estrada A, Galindo-Sánchez CE, Ventura-López, Rosas C, Juarez EO (2022) Response of optic gland pathways to thermal stress in reproductive phase of female Octopus maya. Journal of Molluscan Studies 88: eyac018 [https://doi.org/doi. org/10.1093/mollus/eyac018]
- Ernesto LU, Eduardo RJ, Mónica EGR (2010) Diet and feeding habits of *Octopus hubbsorum* berry, 1953, in the central Mexican Pacific. Veliger 51 (1–2): 26–42
- Guard M, Mgaya YD (2002) The artisanal fishery for Octopus cyanea Gray in Tanzania. Ambio 31 (7–8): 528–536 [https://doi.org/10.1579/0044-7447-31.7.528]
- Herwig JN, Depczynski M, Roberts JD, Semmens JM, Gagliano M, Heyward AJ (2012) Using age-based life history data to investigate the life cycle and vulnerability of *Octopus cyanea*. PLoS ONE 7 (8): 1–6 [https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0043679]
- Kivengea G, Ntiba M, Sigana D, Muthumbi A (2015) Reproductive biology of common octopus *Octopus vulgaris* (Cuvier, 1797), on the Kenyan South coast. Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science 13 (1): 47–56

- Leite TS, Haimovici M, Mather J (2009) Octopus insularis (Octopodidae), evidences of a specialized predator and a time-minimizing hunter. Marine Biology 156 (11): 2355–2367 [https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-009-1264-4]
- Maldonado E, Rangel-Huerta E, González-Gómez R, Fajardo-Alvarado G, Morillo-Velarde PS (2019) Octopus insularis as a new marine model for evolutionary developmental biology. Biology Open 8 (11): 1-11 [https://doi.org/10.1242/bio.046086]
- Martínez R, Gallardo P, Pascual C, Navarro J, Sánchez A, Caamal-Monsreal C, Rosas C (2014) Growth, survival and physiological condition of *Octopus maya* when fed a successful formulated diet. Aquaculture 426–427: 310–317 [doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2014.02.005]
- Maselli V, Buglione M, Aria M, Polese G, Cosmo AD (2020) Sensorial hierarchy in Octopus vulgaris's food choice: Chemical vs. visual. MDPI, Animals 10,457: 1–17 [https://doi.org/doi:10.3390/ani10030457]
- Meza-Buendía AK, Trejo-Escamilla I, Piu M, Caamal-Monsreal C, Rodríguez-Fuentes G, Diaz F, Re D, Galindo-Sánchez CE, Rosas C (2021) Why high temperatures limit reproduction in cephalopods? The case of *Octopus maya*. Aquaculture Research 52 (11): 5111–5123 [https://doi.org/10.1111/are.15387]
- Nair A, Dutta S, Apte D, Kulkarni B (2018) Assessing abundance and catch selectivity of Octopus cyanea by the artisanal fishery in Lakshadweep islands, India. Aquatic Living Resources 31: 1-10 [https://doi. org/10.1051/alr/2017050]
- Norman MD, Finn J, Tregenza T (2001) Dynamic mimicry in an Indo-Malayan octopus. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 268 (1478): 1755–1758 [https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2001.1708]
- Omedes S, Andrade M, Escolar O, Villanueva R, Freitas R, Solé M (2022) B-esterases characterization in the digestive tract of the common octopus and the European cuttlefish and their in vitro responses to contaminants of environmental concern. Environmental Research 210: 1- 11 [https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envres.2022.112961]
- Onthank KL, Cowles DL (2011) Prey selection in *Octopus rubescens*: Possible roles of energy budgeting and prey nutritional composition. Marine Biology 158 (12): 2795–2804 [https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-011-1778-4]
- Pita C, Roumbedakis K, Fonseca T, Matos FL, Pereira J, Villasante S, Pita P, Bellido JM, Gonzalez AF, García-Tasende M, Lefkaditou E, Adamidou A, Cuccu D, Belcari P, Moreno A, Pierce GJ (2021) Fisheries for common octopus in Europe: socioeconomic importance and management. Fisheries Research 235: 1 - 11 [https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fishres.2020.105820]

- Portela E, Simöes N, Rosas C MM (2014) Can preference for crabs in juvenile Octopus maya be modified through early experience with alternative prey? Behaviour 151 (11): 1597–1616
- Prato E, Portacci G, Biandolino F (2010) Effect of diet on growth performance, feed efficiency and nutritional composition of *Octopus vulgaris*. Aquaculture 309 (1–4): 203–211 [https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2010.09.036]
- Quetglas A, González M, Franco I (2005) Biology of the upper-slope cephalopod *Octopus salutii* from the western Mediterranean Sea. Marine Biology 146 (6): 1131–1138 [https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-004-1522-4]
- Raberinary D, Benbow S (2012) The reproductive cycle of Octopus cyanea in southwest Madagascar and implications for fisheries management. Fisheries Research 125–126: 190–197 [https://doi.org/10.1016/j. fishres.2012.02.025]
- Rocliffe S, Harris A (2016) The status of octopus fisheries in the Western Indian Ocean. Blue Ventures Report 44 (0). 40 pp
- Rosas-Luis R, Jiménez Badillo M, de L, Montoliu-Elena L, Morillo-Velarde PS (2019) Food and feeding habits of *Octopus insularis* in the Veracruz Reef System National Park and confirmation of its presence in the southwest Gulf of Mexico. Marine Ecology 40 (1): 1–9 [https://doi.org/10.1111/maec.12535]
- Sauer WHH, Potts W, Raberinary D, Anderson J, Perrine MJS (2011) Assessment of current data for the octopus resource in Rodrigues, western Indian Ocean. African Journal of Marine Science 33 (1): 181–187 [https://doi.org/10.2989/1814232X.2011.572386]
- Scheel D, Leite T, Mather J, Langford K (2017) Diversity in the diet of the predator *Octopus cyanea* in the coral reef system of Moorea, French Polynesia. Journal of Natural History 51 (43–44): 2615–2633 [https://doi. org/10.1080/00222933.2016.1244298]
- Semmens JM, Pecl, GT, Villanueva R, Jouffre D, Sobrino I, Wood JB, Rigby PR (2004) Understanding octopus growth: Patterns, variability and physiology. Marine and Freshwater Research 55 (4): 367–377 [https://doi. org/10.1071/MF03155]
- Silas MO, Kishe MA, Mshana JG, Semba ML, Mgeleka SS, Kuboja BN, Ngatunga BP, Chande MA, Matiku P (2021) Growth, mortality, exploitation rate and recruitment pattern of *Octopus cyanea* (Mollusca: Cephalopoda) in the WIO region: A case study from the Mafia Archipelago, Tanzania. Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science 20 (1): 71–79 [https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.4314/wiojms. v20i1.7]

- Smith CD (2003) Diet of *Octopus vulgaris* in False Bay, South Africa. Marine Biology 143 (6): 1127–1133 [https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-003-1144-2]
- Song M, Wang J, Zheng X (2019) Prey preference of the common long-armed octopus Octopus minor (Cephalopoda: Octopodidae) on three different species of bivalves. Journal of Oceanology and Limnology 37 (5): 1595–1603 [https://doi.org/10.1007/s00343-019-8217-7]
- Urrutia-Olvera A, Jordán-Garza AG, Villegas-Sánchez CA, Arizmendi-Rodríguez DI, Rosas-Luis R (2021)

Prey contribution to the diet of *Octopus insularis* (Leite and Haimovici, 2008) using stable isotopes and stomach content analysis in the Western Gulf of Mexico. Aquatic Ecology 55 (3): 765–777 [https://doi. org/10.1007/s10452-021-09859-0]

Villanueva R, Riba J, Ruíz-Capillas C, González AV, Baeta M (2004) Amino acid composition of early stages of cephalopods and effect of amino acid dietary treatments on *Octopus vulgaris* paralarvae. Aquaculture 242 (1–4): 455–478 [https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2004.04.006]

Suplementary material

Table S.1. The prey species consumed by O. cyanea in Zanzibar.

Prey species				
Acetes erythraeus	Marsupenaeus sp.	Portunus sp.		
Alpheus lottini	Mitra sp.	Ranina ranina		
Anguilla sp.	Neopelithes sp.	Sarmatium sp.		
Calcinus sp.	Ibla cumingi	Penaeus sp.		
Cancer sp.	Ilyograpsus paludicola	Phasianella variegata		
Cardisoma carnifex	Liomera rugata	Plagusia chabrus		
Charybdis sp.	Littoraria sp.	Septifer bilocularis		
Clibanarius sp.	<i>Lydia</i> sp.	Siderea picta		
Conger sp.	Macrophthalmus sp.	Strombus sp.		
Dardanus sp.	Octopus sp.	Synalpheus sp.		
Geograpsus sp.	Odontodactylus scyllarus	<i>Trapezia</i> sp.		
Grapsus sp.	Pagurus sp.	Xantho sp.		

Original Article

Salinity tolerance of Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus) to seawater and growth responses to different feeds and culture systems

David O. Mirera^{1*}^(a), Douglas Okemwa¹

Western Indian OceanJ O U R N A LO FMarine Science

Open access

Citation:

Mirera DO, Okemwa D (2023) Salinity tolerance of Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) to seawater and growth responses to different feeds and culture systems. Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science 22(2): 75-85 [doi: 10.4314/wiojms.v22i2.6]

Received: November 17, 2022

November 17, 2022

Accepted: August 24, 2023

Published: November 28, 2023

Copyright:

Owned by the journal. The articles are open access articles distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY 4.0) licence.

* **Corresponding author:** dimirera@yahoo.com ¹ Kenya Marine and Fisheries Research Institute, PO Box 81651-80100, Mombasa

Abstract

The inability to acclimatise, feed and grow Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus) in full seawater salinity has been a major obstacle to farming in marine waters. We investigated the salinity tolerance of O. niloticus and growth responses to different feeds and culture systems. Fish were first acclimatised to different salinities in laboratory aquaria, and the survival and growth performance in sea water were then assessed in aquaria, cages and ponds. Acclimatization to seawater salinity (5 - 30) took place at a rate of 5 every 9 days. Fish were stocked at densities of 5 fish/20 L in aquaria, 5 fish/m³ in cages and 3 fish/m² in ponds. Replicates of 5, 3 and 3 were performed in aquaria, cages and ponds, respectively. Fish were fed on commercial (1 and 2) and locally formulated (30 % crude protein) diets. Mortality rates were higher in aquaria, when fish were introduced to salinities between 5 and 30 over 24 hours. Gradual salinity adjustments attained a stable survival rate of 78 % at salinities above 30. Aquarium experiments indicated significant negative correlation between salinity and survival (p < 0.001, r = 0.387) and daily growth rates varied with diet (0.01 - 0.05 g/day). Acclimatized fish showed minimal mortality in ponds and cages. Daily growth rates varied with diet and culture system; 0.54 - 2.48 g/day in cages and 1.1 -2.5 g/day in ponds. Fish fed on commercial feed 2 showed significant growth rates for all culture methods (p < 0.05). O. niloticus could be fully acclimatised to seawater and attained promising growth rates when subjected to different commercial diets indicating potential of farming the species in marine waters.

Keywords: Oreochromis niloticus, salinity, survival, growth, feed

Introduction

Tilapia are tropical freshwater fish native to Africa but introduced to different global destinations for commercial production (Pillay & Kutty, 2005; Lutz *et al.*, 2010; Ninh *et al.*, 2014; Ridha, 2014). Currently, tilapia are farmed in 124 countries and ranked the fifth highly farmed species, with an annual production of 6.1 million tonnes (FAO, 2021). Farming of tilapia has been successful because of its fast growth, higher reproduction, feeding on low trophic levels, euryhaline characteristics and tolerance to adverse environmental conditions (Suresh & Lin, 1992; Morgan *et al.*, 1997; Ridha, 2004; Liti *et al.*, 2005). Furthermore, tilapia breeding innovations have been undertaken to increase economic production. These innovations include production of genetically improved male tilapia (GMT) and genetically improved farmed tilapia (GIFT), as well as attempts to farm tilapia in brackish and marine waters though still not fully developed in sub Saharan Africa (El-Sayed, 2006; Cnaani *et al.*, 2011; Ninh *et al.*, 2014 FAO, 2020).

Marine water aquaculture in sub Saharan Africa has been impacted by a lack of hatchery infrastructure which is the backbone of seed production, resulting in low fish production and increased poverty levels (Ridha, 2004; World Bank, 2016). Many authors reported that hatchery and breeding technologies for tilapia are simple and well developed globally for adoption and use in seawater (Jalabert & Zohar, 1982; Little *et al.*, 1993; Brummett, 1995; Ridha and Cruz, 1998; Bhujel, 2000). Farming of Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) in marine waters will maximise the use of currently underutilised ocean space for increased fish production and ensure food sufficiency to the more than 690 million people going without food daily (Editorials Nature, 2020).

Most tilapia utilised for commercial production are derived from O. niloticus or its hybrids and have been observed to exhibit limited salinity tolerance. The only strain that has been observed to withstand high salinities is Mozambique tilapia although its growth rates are economically not viable and its size at maturity is small (Lothian, 1960; Mateo et al., 2004, Kamal & Mair, 2005). According to Watanabe et al. (1985b), McGeachin et al. (1987) and Perschbacher & McGeachin (1988), O. niloticus mortalities progressively increase with increasing salinities. Other studies have established that a progressive increase in daily salinities (6 g/l) tends to minimise mortalities of O. niloticus (Mateo et al., 2004). Further studies by Lemarie et al. (2004) established that daily salinity increases of 2-8 g/l increased survival of O. niloticus while that above 8 g/l decreased survival significantly.

Over the years, farming of *O. niloticus* in brackish water systems has attained some level of success globally, while hybrids are being trialled in full seawater salinity with limited success (Stickney, 1986; Suresh & Lin, 1992; Lutz *et al.*, 2010; Ridha, 2014). The current study builds on the successes made in farming *O. niloticus* in seawater to establish a full seawater tolerant strain for marine aquaculture. A series of experiments were conducted with two objectives (1) To establish an optimal salinity acclimatization strategy based on progressive incremental salinity to support the

farming of *O. niloticus* in full seawater; (2) To assess the growth response of *O. niloticus* to different diets during the acclimatization process in aquaria, net cages and intertidal earthen ponds. We discuss the results of the experiments undertaken at the laboratory (aquaria) and at the field (net cages and intertidal earthen ponds). The study provides information that will contribute towards farming *O. niloticus* in full seawater thus contributing to utilization of the ocean potential.

Materials and methods Experimental fish and diet

The experimental fish were hatched from the broodstock collected from the National Aquaculture Research Development and Training Centre (NARDTC) in central Kenya where selective breeding is undertaken to attain fast growing freshwater O. niloticus. The fish were hatched in borehole water of salinity 0.63 from a coastal hatchery, and acclimatised to salinities of 30 ± 5 in laboratory aquaria. The acclimatised fish were later used in laboratory aquaria, cages and pond growth experiments. Three diets comprising of commercial feed 1, 2 and a locally formulated diet both with 30% crude protein content were used in the experiments (Table 1). According to Simon et al. (2019), commercial feed 2 had a marine bacteria biomass unlike commercial feed 1. Locally formulated feed was formulated with local ingredients like coconut husks, fishmeal (Rastreneobola agentii "Omena"/"daggaa"), maize bran and cassava flour.

Experimental design

Salinity tolerance and growth of *O. niloticus* in seawater was assessed in laboratory aquaria, cages and intertidal earthen ponds. Treatments were based on three feed diets; commercial feed 1, 2 and locally formulated feed. The level of replication varied between the different culture systems (5 for aquaria, 3 for cages and 3 for intertidal earthen ponds). Aquaria experiments were conducted in the laboratory at the Kenya Marine and Fisheries Research Institute (KMFRI) Mombasa

Table 1. Proximate composition of the three feed diets used in the O. niloticus experimental trials

Durani un ata ang ang ang ata ang			
Proximate composition —	Commercial feed 1	Commercial feed 2	Local formulated feed
Crude protein (%)	30	30	30
Fat (%)	7	7	4
Fibre (%)	9	9	3
Ash (%)	12	12	4
Moisture (%)	11	11	14
Marine bacterial biomass	Absent	Present	Absent

while cage and pond experiments at Kibokoni, Umoja self-help group mariculture farm, Kilifi creek, Kilifi County. All the fish used in field experiments (cages and ponds) were first taken through the laboratory aquaria and acclimatised to salinities of more than 30.

Experiment 1: Laboratory aquaria

Experiments were performed in 20 L glass aquaria with gentle aeration. The experimental fish varied in weight between 1.2 and 2. 0 g. They were first acclimatized for two days at 0.63 salinity, room temperature (25 - 26 °C) and fed to satiation twice a day at mid-morning and mid-afternoon. Fish were randomly stocked at 5 fish/L before subjection to different salinity levels (5, 10, 15, 20, 25 and 30) with a replication of five for each salinity level. Baseline salinity was established by subjecting all the fish directly to different salinity levels for a period of 24 hours and survival elimination was done. Subsequent experiments monitored survival and feeding at different salinity levels/gradients over a period of 216 hours at each level. During acclimatization period, slow and consistent adjustments of salinity (10 - 30%) was employed as detailed by Perschbacher (1992) and Yao et al. (2008). Attainment of full seawater stability was alluded to when (1) there was a reduction in mortality, (2) fish were observed to feed normally and attained weight as a sign of growth. Fully modified laboratory experimental fish were retained for an extra 336 hours at full seawater salinity (30 ± 5) before use in laboratory aquaria growth experiments and transportation for use in field (cage and pond) experiments. To assess the growth of fully acclimatised seawater O. niloticus in the laboratory, fish of weight 2.2 g - 4.7 g were used. Experiments were set and monitored over a period of 7 days at stoking densities of 5 fish/20 L at a replication of 5 for the different feed diets. The growth of fish was monitored by measuring individual weight using a digital balance of precision 0.01 g at the start and at the end of the experiment. Mortality was monitored frequently and dead fish were removed and record documented. The behaviour and response of fish to feed were observed and recorded for different salinity levels.

Experiment 2: Field cages

Cage trials were used to assess the stability of laboratory seawater acclimatized *O. niloticus*. The cages were installed in intertidal earthen ponds (120 m²) constructed in mangrove open flats at Kibokoni Umoja fish farm, Kilifi creek. The size of experimental cages was 1 m width, x 1 m length x 2 m height. The fish with an average weight of 3.5-14.0 g were cultured at a stocking density of 3 fish/m² for a period of 32 days. The experimental fish were fed twice a day (mid-morning and mid- afternoon) at 5% of their body weight. The weight of fish was measured using a digital balance (precision of 0.01) and length using a measuring board to assess growth bi-weekly. Survival was estimated by checking the nets daily for dead fish, recording the number and removing them. The final number was calculated by subtracting the number of dead fish from the initial number stocked. Survival percentage was calculated as;

% Survival = (No. of fish at termination of experiment/ Initial No. stocked)*100.

Experiment 3: Intertidal earthen ponds

Experimental ponds were constructed along the open mangrove intertidal flats and measured 10 m x 12 m (120 m²). The intertidal earthen ponds are designed to allow free flushing at spring high tides to self-regulate water volume, salinity and quality (Mirera, 2011). Full seawater laboratory aquaria acclimatised fish with an average weight of 1.8 - 2.6 g were stocked at densities of 3 fish/m² for a period of 123 culture days. The fish were fed twice a day (mid-morning and mid-afternoon) at 5% of their body weight. The growth performance of fish was monitored by measuring weight and total length using a digital balance and measuring board respectively once a month. At the end of the experiment, all fish were retrieved from pond through seining and finally draining all the water from the ponds. Fish recovery estimates were made by counting all the retrieved after emptying the pond. Survival was calculated as;

% Survival = (No. of fish retrieved/ No. of fish stocked)*100

Water quality monitoring

Experimental aquaria water management involved siphoning 80% of the dirt water and replacing with clean filtered water of same salinity level. Water quality parameters like salinity, temperature, pH and dissolved oxygen in laboratory aquaria were monitored daily, while in cages and intertidal ponds quality parameters were monitored bi-weekly using water quality meter.

Data analysis

The proportion of time taken for fish to survive at each salinity gradient without any modification was



Figure 1. Survival (± Stdev) of O. niloticus fry to different salinity gradients over a period of 24 hours in the laboratory

estimated and averages were calculated. Fish growth rate in laboratory, cages and ponds was estimated using the formula;

Growth rate = (FW - IW)/T

Where FW= average final fish weight (g), IW = average initial fish weight (g), T= duration of the experiment (days).

The growth performance data of fish in the laboratory, cage and pond experiments were analysed using one-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA). Pearson correlation analysis was done to assess the influence of salinity on survival. Statistics were performed using graph pad prism vs 9.0.

Results

Salinity tolerance

A total of 5,330 *O. niloticus* juveniles were used for the salinity tolerance experiments. The direct transfer of fish juvenile to different salinities over a period of 24 hours indicate a progressive decline in survival to 100% mortality in 18 hours for salinity levels above 20 (Figure 1). Laboratory aquaria experimental units experienced salinity fluctuations ranging between 0.16 and 0.24 per day (Table 2). Overall, during the 216 hours laboratory aquaria experimental cycle, fish survival decreased with increasing salinity levels (Figure 2a). Gradual incremental salinity modifications in the laboratory aquaria experiments attained stable fish survival rates of 78% for salinity levels above 30 (Figure 2b). Correlation analysis established a significant negative correlation between salinity and survival (p < 0.001, r = 0.387).

Growth performance

Experiment 1: Laboratory

Daily growth rates of 0.01 - 0.05 g/day were attained in laboratory aquaria experiments. Growth rates varied between and within the three feed treatments (Figure 3). A slower daily growth rate (0.01 g/day) was recorded for the locally formulated feed (Table 3). Fish fed on the locally formulated feed grew 33.3%

 Table 2. Average daily salinity (± Stdev) dynamics in the experimental units at different salinity gradients during the O. niloticus laboratory modification

Salinity gradient	Salinity fluctuation (Mean ± STDEV)
5	0.20 ± 0.086
10	0.23 ± 0.092
15	0.16 ± 0.081
20	0.20 ± 0.026
25	0.24 ± 0.035
30	0.18 ± 0.044



Figure 2. The relationship between survival and salinity levels for *O. niloticus* for the different experimental replicates (A) and average recorded survival at different salinity levels (B) in the laboratory modification experiments.

slower than the mean growth rate for the three feed diets. In treatments where commercial feed 2 was used fish grew 66.7 % more than the mean growth rate of the three feed diets. There was a significant difference in fish growth when all the diets were compared (p < 0.05) and commercial feed 2 had the highest growth rate.

Experiment 2: Cage experiments

The weight of fish in all feed experiments increased gradually during the experimental period. On average, the daily fish growth rate of 0.5 g/day, 0.6 g/day and 2.5 g/day was attained for locally formulated feed, commercial feed 1 and 2, respectively (Table 3; Figure 4).

A fish survival of more than 90% was attained in all three feed treatments. Statistical analysis (one-way ANOVA) showed a significant difference (p < 0.05) in weight increment for the different feed diets. Commercial feed 2 had a significantly higher weight increment compared to the other two diets.

Experiment 3: Intertidal earthen ponds

There was a steady increase in weight of fish for all the feed treatments throughout the experimental period. Daily growth rates varied between treatments; 1.1 g/ day for locally formulated feed, 1.5 g/day for commercial feed 1 and 2.5 g/day for commercial feed 2 (Table 3). Over the 123 days experimental period, fish



Figure 3. Growth (\pm Stdev) of full seawater salinity transformed *O. niloticus* subjected to different feeds under laboratory conditions over seven-day culture period

attained an average weight of 250 g for commercial feed 2, 200 g for commercial feed 1 and 150 g for the locally formulated feed (Figure 5). Fish survival in the different diet treatments ranged between 60% and 80% with no statistically significant difference. There was an observed decline in fingerling reproduction with only a few produced in the ponds. Fish colour was more clear and morphological features were well identified. The study established that the fish mucus layer was available and consistent in all treatments.

Water quality

In the laboratory growth experiments, water quality was maintained at a salinity of 30.0 ± 5.1 , pH of 7.8 \pm 0.2 and temperature of 26.4 ± 0.5 °C. Water quality in cage experimental facilities was documented as DO 4.85 \pm 0.25, pH 7.71 \pm 0.32, salinity 31.65 \pm 5.52 and temperature 29.68 \pm 2.85 °C. The salinity of water in

experimental ponds varied between 30 and 34 (average of 32.99), pH between 7.5 and 8.6 (average of 7.9) and dissolved oxygen 2.3 - 8.7 mg/l depending on time of day and an average of 7.26 mg/l in mid-morning (Table 4).

Discussion

Effect of salinity on survival of O. niloticus

The pursuit to farm *O. niloticus* in seawater is due to its prolific reproduction, faster growth, market acceptability and simple established breeding technologies. Therefore, seawater tilapia aquaculture will maximise utilization of the ocean space to enhance food security and nutrition for the population. Studies on the salinity tolerance of tilapia have focused on single populations, comparison between varieties and genetic influences (Villegas, 1990; Kamal & Mair, 2005; Lutz *et al.*, 2010). We assessed the tolerance of *O. niloticus* to different salinity levels/gradients over

Table 3. Growth response (± Stdev) of O. niloticus to different feeds in aquaria, cages and intertidal earthen ponds

Experiment	Local formulated feed	Commercial feed 1	Commercial feed 2
Laboratory aquaria			
Stocking density (fish/L)	5	5	5
Average weight at stocking (g)	2.2 ± 0.4	4.2 ± 1.2	4.7 ± 0.1
Growth rate (g/day)	0.01 ± 0.03	0.03 ± 0.2	0.05 ± 0.1
Cages			
Stocking density (fish/m ²)	5	5	5
Average weight at stocking (g)	5.5 ± 1.4	3.5 ± 1.1	14.0 ± 4.9
Growth rate (g/day)	0.5 ± 0.0	0.6 ± 0.1	2.5 ± 0.0
Intertidal earthen ponds			
Stocking density (fish/m ²)	3	3	3
Average weight at stocking (g)	2.3 ± 0.6	2.6 ± 1.3	1.8 ± 0.0
Growth rate (g/day)	1.1 ± 0.0	1.5 ± 0.6	2.5 ± 0.6



Figure 4. Growth (± Stdev) response of *O. niloticus* to different feeds in fish cages held in intertidal earthen ponds over the culture period (different super scripts indicate significant different)

time. Taking cognizance of gaps from previous studies, we employed a three prolonged approach (1) Establishment of a salinity level at which higher survival could be attained over a short time period as a modification baseline, (2) Establishment of a constant gradual salinity gradient increment and time lapse to full seawater salinity tolerance, (3) Assessing the performance of transformed tilapia in laboratory and field conditions.

In this study, laboratory experiments involved the use of juvenile/fry *O. niloticus* for the salinity trials based on previously documented studies where earlier exposure of eggs and fry to high salinity conditions helped to attain higher tolerance to salinity (Al Asgah, 1984; Watanabe *et al.*, 1985b). According to Watanabe *et al.* (1985a), *O. niloticus* fry (60 days after hatching) could withstand salinity of up to 25 when transferred directly from freshwater. Also, the method of such transformation/acclimatization has been underscored as one of the factors influencing salinity tolerance of tilapia (Suresh & Lin, 1992). We found that all fish transferred directly from a salinity of 0.63 to 30 and 25 died within 18 hours of the experiment due to inability to withstand drastic salinity change. Al-Amoudi (1987), argued that direct transfer of *Oreochromis* species to different salinity levels led to low survival compared to gradual increment of salinity thus supporting the findings of this study. Studies by Villegas (1990) and Fineman-Kalio (1988) found that



Figure 5. Growth (± Stdev) response of *O. niloticus* to different feeds in intertidal earthen ponds over the culture period (different super scripts indicate significant different)

Parameter and unit	Ponds	Cages
Dissolved oxygen (mg/l)	7.26 ± 0.21	4.85 ± 0.25
pH	7.90 ± 0.90	7.71 ± 0.32
Salinity	32.99 ± 2.99	31.65 ± 5.52
Total dissolved solids (mg/l)	30.33 ± 1.15	27.07 ± 0.44
Temperature (°C)	25.12 ± 0.49	29.68 ± 2.85

Table 4. Average (Mean ± STDEV) water quality parameters in the O. niloticus experimental intertidal ponds and net cages

O. niloticus survived direct salinity transfers to 15 - 17.7 by 87%, above 15 led to more than 50% mortality, and to 20 and 32 salinity resulted in complete mortality. Even for the higher salinity tolerant tilapia species like blue tilapia, direct transfer to seawater could result in almost complete mortality compared to gradual transfer (Villegas, 1990; Phillippart & Ruwet, 1982; Lotan, 1960). We attained an O. niloticus salinity tolerance of 78% at 30 salinity in a progressive 9-day salinity increment which is comparatively higher than previous studies (Kirk, 1972; Watanabe et al., 1985a). Fineman- Kalio (1988) observed that O. niloticus could gradually acclimatize to salinities of 20 - 50 with an average survival of 93.8%. Similarly, we established that there was higher salinity fluctuations in the intertidal earthen ponds ranging between 30 and 40 based on tidal changes and seasonality and the transformed O. niloticus was resilient to the higher levels.

Higher O. niloticus survival attained at full seawater salinity could be associated with the prolonged transformation/acclimatization period in the laboratory running for days before scaling up to higher salinity levels and progressively advancing to full seawater salinity. According to Al-AMoudi (1987), O. niloticus require a longer acclimatization period (8 days) compared to other species like O. mossambicus which required less periods (4 days). The current study findings correlated positively to the fact that gradual acclimatization is sufficient to transform salt tolerant tilapia successfully (Villegas, 1990; Phillippart & Ruwet, 1982; Lotan, 1960). Some studies have used a shorter acclimatization period for O. niloticus (5 salinity per 45 hrs) and experienced mortalities of all fish before reaching 28 salinity (Villegas, 1990; Lotan, 1960). However, other studies have used prolonged acclimatization periods running to even weeks and obtained minimal survival above 28 salinity (Al Asgah, 1984). Gradual salinity acclimatization is preferred because it takes advantage of the previous level adaptation to facilitate the subsequent adaptation in the next level with less energy cost.

Increased survival at higher salinities can be associated with natural selection due to long-term population adaptation to saline waters (Watanabe *et al.*, 1989). Furthermore, genetic selection was observed to improve the salinity tolerance of *O. niloticus* to survival rate of 75.3 – 91.9% when cultured (1-2 fish/m²) in earthen ponds with salinities of 15 – 20 (Ninh *et al.*, 2014). We did not use genetic selection in the current study but it's an indication of a potential research gap required to enhance the performance of full seawater acclimatised *O. niloticus*.

Growth performance of *O. niloticus* in different culture systems

Throughout the experimental period, dissolved oxygen, temperatures, pH and other physicochemical parameters in the pond, cage and laboratory conditions were within levels suitable for the growth of tilapia. Growth rates were assessed at a salinity range of 30- 34. In laboratory aquaria experiments, commercial feed 2 had a higher growth than the other two diet formulations. Fish fed on the locally formulated diet grew 4.8 times lower than commercial feed 2 in cages and 2.3 times lower than commercial feed 2 in earthen ponds. Growth variations in cage and pond results for the same feed treatment could be associated with restricted movement in cages that does not allow access to planktonic and benthic feed communities that were available in intertidal earthen ponds (Yi et al., 1996; 2002).

The growth results obtained in the current study for *O. niloticus* are not comparable to any in literature due to the previous inability to acclimatize and stabilize the species to full seawater salinity (Watanabe *et al.*, 1985a; Woessner *et al.*, 1991). However, the current growth results are comparable to those of hybrid tilapia grown in freshwater and full seawater with growth rates of 1.4 g/day and 0.73 g/day respectively. The hybrid were cultured in a circulatory system for 180 days at stocking densities of 150 fish/m³ and fed on sea bream feed pellets (Ridha, 2014). We also got results

that resonate well with findings of Thai red tilapia grown in cages placed in earthen ponds and Florida tilapia grown in marine cages with growth rates of 1.17 g/day and 1.82 g/day respectively (Clark *et al.*, 1990; Yi *et al.*, 2002). Also, Basiao *et al.* (2005) observed that *O. niloticus* hybrids mixed with *O. mossambicus* attained a higher daily growth rate (1.58 g/day) compared to other hybrids (1.2 g/day) due to tolerance to saline environments (Liao & Chang, 1983).

A consistent trend of fish growth rate was observed for commercial feed 2, commercial feed 1 and locally formulated feed in all culture systems. This implies that feed formulations will to a larger extent influence the growth rate of fish irrespective of the farming system. The current results support the findings by Simon et al. (2019) where Gift tilapia fed on commercial feed 2 increased weight with the inclusion of the marine microbial biomass. In the study, a 10% inclusion of the microbial biomass led to 19.5% weight gain in fish compared to 5% weight gain when fish meal was used in the feed. Unlike in other previous studies where hybrids have attained smaller terminal size or slow growth rate (Lutz, 2001), performance of gift tilapia (Simon et al. 2019) supports the significance of feed formulisations in enhancing production of O. niloticus in full seawater salinity. Therefore, the need for research to establish a suitable feed formulation for full seawater O. niloticus.

Conclusions

The findings elucidate the viability of optimal salinity acclimatization of *O. niloticus* to full seawater using gradual salinity increment. The seawater salinity transformed tilapia was able to withstand environmental variabilities in intertidal earthen ponds and attain competitive growth rates thus providing hope for aquaculture investors along the coastal areas. Full seawater transformed *O. niloticus* responded well to different feed formulations. However, varied growth rates were attained for different feed formulations weighing unto the need for quality affordable feeds for the farmers.

This study is the first to demonstrate survival and growth of *O. niloticus* in full seawater and forms a baseline for research on the species to enhance food and nutritional security in Sub-Saharan Africa. Research is needed to assess breeding and reproduction potential of *O. niloticus* in seawater, diseases resistance, and selective breeding to inform farming of the species. Also, there is need for research to assess the ecological impact of *O. niloticus* in the ocean to guide management of coastal farms.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to the Indian Ocean Rim Organization (IORA) through which the funding was sourced and the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade in Australia (DFAT) for providing the funding. Appreciation is to Prof. Nigel Preston and Prof. Greg Coman (Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organization- CSIRO) for providing inputs to the research design. Further, appreciation is to Kenya Marine and Fisheries Research Institute (KMFRI) for providing research infrastructure where the research was undertaken. Also, recognition is provided to Umoja selfhelp mariculture farm, Kibokoni village, Kilifi County, Kenya where field experiments were conducted.

References

- Al-AMoudi MM (1987) Acclimation of commercially cultured Oreochromis species to seawater – an experimental study. Aquaculture, 65: 333-342.
- Al-Asgah NA (1984) The effect of salinity on eggs and larvae of *Oreochromis niloticus* (Linnaeus). Arab Gulf Journal of Scientific Research 2:673-681.
- Avella M, Berhaut J, Bornancin M (1993) Salinity tolerance of two tropical fishes, *Oreochromis aureus* and *O. niloticus* .L. Biochemical and morphological changes in the gill epithelium. Journal of Fish Biology 42, 243-254.
- Basiao ZU, Eguia RV, Doyle RW (2005) Growth response of Nile tilapia fry to salinity stress in the presence of an 'internal reference' fish. Aquaculture Research, 36: 712-720
- Brummett RE (1995) Environmental regulation of sexual maturation and reproduction in tilapia. Reviews in Fisheries Science 3: 231-248
- Bhujel RC (2000) A review of strategies for the management of Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) broodfish in seed production systems, especially hapa-based systems. Aquaculture, 181: 37-59
- Clark AE, Watanabe WO, Olla BL, Wicklund RI (1990) Growth, feed conversion and protein utilization of Florida red tilapia fed isocaloric diets with different protein levels in seawater pools. Aquaculture 88: 75-85.
- Cnaani A, Velan A, Hulata G (2011) Improving salinity tolerance in tilapias: a review. Proceedings, Ninth International Symposium on Tilapia in Aquaculture. (ed. by L. Liping & K. Fitzsimmons). pp. 193–201. Shanghai Ocean University, Shanghai, China.

- Editorials Nature (2020) To end hunger, science must change its focus. 336/Nature/Vol 586/ 15 October 2020
- El-Sayed A-FM (2006) Tilapia culture in salt water: Environmental Requirements, Nutritional Implications and Economic Potentials. En: Editors: L. Elizabeth Cruz Suarez, E. C., Marie, D. R., Mireya Tapia Salazar, Martha G. Nierto Lopez, David A. Villarreal Cavazos, Ana C. Puello Cruz Y Armando Garcia Ortega. Anances en Nutricion Acuicola VIII. VIII symposium International de Nutricion Acuicola 15 17 Novembre. Universidad Autonoma de Buevo Leon, Monterrey, Nuevo Leon, Mexico. ISBN 970-694-333-5.
- FAO (2021) Top 10 species groups in global aquaculture 2019. WAPI FACTSHEET. CB5186EN/1/06.21
- FAO (2020) The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2020. Sustainability in action. Rome. https:// doi.org/10.4060/ca9229en
- Fineman- Kalio AS (1988) Preliminary observations on the effect of the effect of salinity on reproduction and growth of freshwater Nile tilapia (*O. niloticus*) cultured in brackish water ponds. Aquaculture and fisheries management. 19: 313-320.
- Jalabert B, Zohar Y (1982) Reproductive physiology in cichlid fshes, with particular references to Tilapia and Sar- otherodon. In: The Biology and Culture of Tilapia, ICLARM Conference 7 (ed. by R.S.V. Pullin & R.H. Lowe-McConnell), pp.129-140. Department of Fisheries, Bangkok, Thailand, and International Center for Living Aquatic Resources Management, Manila, Philippines.
- Kamal AHMM, Mair GC (2005) Salinity tolerance in superior genotypes of tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus, Oreochromis mossambicus and their hybrids. Aquaculture, 247: 189-201.
- Kirk RG (1972) A review of recent developments in Tilapia culture, with special reference to fish farming in the heated effluents of power stations. Aquaculture 1:45-60.
- Liao I.-C, Chang S.-L (1983) "Studies on the feasibility of red tilapia culture in saline water". In: L. Fishelson and Z. Yaron (Compilers), Proceeding of the International Symposium on Tilapia in Aquaculture. Tel Aviv University, Tel Aviv, Israel, pp. 524-533.
- Lemarie G, Baroiller JF, Clota F, Lazard J, Dosdat A (2004) A simple test to estimate the salinity resistance of fish with specific application to *O. niloticus* and *S. melanotheron.* Aquaculture 240,575-587.
- Liti DM, Fulanda B, Munguti JM, Straif M, Waidbacher H, Winkler G (2005) Effects of open-pond density and caged biomass of Nile Tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus* L.) on growth, feed utilization, economic returns

and water quality in fertilized ponds. Aquaculture research, 36: 1535-1543.

- Little DC, Macintosh DJ, Edwards P (1993) Improving spawning synchrony in the Nile tilapia, *Oreochromis niloticus*. Aquaculture and Fisheries Management 24: 399-405
- Lotan R (1960) Adaptability of *Tilapia aurea* to various saline conditions. Bamidgeh 12:96-100.
- Lothian R (1960) Adaptability of Tilapia nilotica to various saline conditions. Bamidgeh 12, 96-100.
- Lutz CG, Armas-Rosales AM, Saxton AM (2010) Genetic effects influencing salinity tolerance in six varieties of tilapia (*Oreochromis*) and their reciprocal crosses. Aquaculture Research, 41: 770-780
- Lutz CG (2001) Practical Genetics for Aquaculture. Fishing News Books, Blackwell Sciences, Oxford, United Kingdom.
- Mateo D, Aguilar R, Campos W, Katalbas M, Severa F, Sanares R, Edra R, Chevassus B, Lazard J, Morrisens P, Baroiller JF, Rognon X (2004) Salinity tolerance of *Oreochromis niloticus* and *O. mossambicus* F1 hybrids and their successive backcrosses. In: Proceeding of the Sixth International Symposium on Tilapia Aquaculture (ed. by R. Bolivar, G. Mair & K. Fitzsimmons), pp. 426-438. Bureau of Fisheries and Aquatic Resources, Manila, Philippines.
- McGeachin RB, Wicklund RI, Olla BL, Winton JR (1987) Growth of *Tilapia aurea* in seawater cages. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society 18, 31-34.
- Mirera HOD (2011) Experimental polyculture of milkfish (Chanos chanos) and Mullet (Mugil cephalus) using earthen ponds in Kenya. WIO Journal of marine science. 10(1): 59-71
- Morgan JD, Sakamoto T, Grau EG, Iwama GK (1997) Physiological and respiratory responses of the Mozambique tilapia (*O. mossambicus*) to salinity acclimation. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology. 117A: 391-398.
- Ninh NH, Thoa NP, Knibbb W, Nguyen NH (2014) Selection for enhanced growth performance of Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) in brackish water (15-20 ppt) in Vietnam. Aquaculture 428-429: 1-6
- Perschbacher PW, McGeachin RB (1988) Salinity tolerances of red hybrid tilapia fry, juveniles and adults. In: The Second International Symposium on Tilapia Aquaculture, ICLARM Conference Proceedings 15, 623pp, (ed. by R.S.V. Pullin, T. Bhukaswan, K. Tonguthai & J. L. Maclean), pp. 415-419. International Center for Living Aquatic Resources Management, Manila, Philippines.

- Perschbacher PW (1992) A review of seawater acclimation procedures for commercially important euryhaline tilapias. Asian Fisheries Science. 5:241-248.
- Pillay TVR, Kutty MN (2005) Aquaculture: principle and practices. Second Edition, Blackwell Publishing Ltd. UK
- Phillippart J-Cl, Ruwet J-Cl (1982) Ecology and distribution of tilapias. in R. Pullin and R. Lowe-McConnell, eds. The biology and culture of tilapias. International Center for Living Aquatic Resource Management, Manila, Philippines. pages 15-59.
- Ridha MT (2014) Preliminary observations on growth and survival of Oreochromis spilurus x GIFT Oreochromis niloticus F1 reciprocal hybrids in fresh and seawater. Aquaculture Research, 45: 528-536
- Ridha MT (2004) Observations on the reproductive performance of three mouth-brooding tilapia species in low salinity underground water. Aquaculture research, 35: 1031-1038
- Ridha MT, Cruz EM (1998) Observations on the seed production of the tilapia *Oreochromis spilurus* (Gunther) under different spawning conditions and with different sex ratios. Asian Fisheries Science, 10: 199-208.
- Simon CJ, Blyth D, Ahmad Fatan N, Suri S (2019) Microbial biomass (Novacq[™]) stimulates feeding and improves the growth performance on extruded low to zero-fishmeal diets in tilapia (GIFT strain). Aquaculture. Volume 501: 319-324. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.11.052
- Stickney RR (1986) Tilapia tolerance of saline waters: a review. Progress in Fish Culture. 48, 161-167.
- Suresh AV, Lin CK (1992) Tilapia cultures in saline waters; a review. Aquaculture 106; 201-226.
- Villegas CT (1990) Evaluation of salinity tolerance of *Oreochromis mossambicus*, *O. niloticus*, and their F1 hybrids. Aquaculture 85: 281-282.

- Watanabe WO, Kuo CM, Huang MC (1985a) The ontogeny of salinity tolerance in the tilapias Oreochromis aureus, O. niloticus, and an O. mossambicus x O. niloticus hybrid, spawned and reared in freshwater. Aquaculture 47:353-367.
- Watanabe WO, Kuo CM, Huang MC (1985b) Salinity torelance of Nile tilapia fry (O. niloticus) spawned and hatched at various salinities. Aquaculture 48:159-176.
- Watanabe WO, French KE, Ernst DH, Olla BL, Wicklund RI (1989) Salinity during early development influences growth and survival of Florida red tilapia in brackish and seawater. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society 20: 134-142.
- Woessner J, Fortes RD, Corre VJr (1991) Pond Dynamics /Aquaculture Collaborative Research Data Reports, Volume 4, Number 1: Philippines Cycle I of The Global Experiment. Pond Dynamics/Aquaculture Collaborative Research Support Program, Oregon State University, Corvallis, OR.
- World Bank (2016) World development indicators (WDI). Washington, D.C: World Bank.
- Yao K, Ouattara M, Ahoussi AFA (2008) Survie du Tilapia du Nil (*Oreochromis niloticus*) en eaux salées durant un transfert direct et progressif [Survival of the Nile Tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus) in salt water during a direct and progressive transfer]. Livestock Research Rural Development. 20: Article #72. (http://www. lrrd.org/lrrd20/5/yao20072.htm; in French with English abstract).
- Yi Y, Lin CK, Diana JS (1996) Influence of Nile tilapia (*Ore-ochromis niloticus*) stocking density in cages on their growth and yield in cages and in ponds containing the cages. Aquaculture 146: 205-215.
- Yi Y, Lin CK, Diana JS (2002) "Supplemental feeding for semi-intensive culture of red tilapia in brackish water ponds". In: K. McElwee, K. Lewis, M. Nidiffer, and P. Buitrago (Eds.), Nineteenth Annual Technical Report. Pond Dynamics/Aquaculture CRSP, Oregon State University, Corvallis, Oregon, pp. 97-101.

Original Article

Diet and trophic interactions between catadromous eels and sympatric fish in Kenyan east flowing river systems

Japhet K. Tembo^{1*}, Charles M. Kihia¹, Nzula K. Kitaka¹, Gordon O'Brien², Céline Hanzen³, Emmanuel Mbaru⁴, Kariuki C. Wanjiru¹

Western Indian Ocean JOURNAL OF Marine Science

Open access

Citation:

Tembo JK, Kihia CM, Kitaka NK,

GO'Brien G, Hanzen C, Mbaru E, Wanjiru CK (2023) Diet and trophic interactions between catadromous eels and sympatric fish in Kenyan east flowing river systems. Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science 22(2): 87-106 [doi: 10.4314/wiojms.v22i2.7]

Received: May 14, 2023

Accepted: September 21, 2023

Published: November 28, 2023

Copyright:

Owned by the journal. The articles are open access articles distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY 4.0) licence.

* Corresponding author: japhetembo@gmail.com ¹ Department of Biological Sciences, Egerton University, PO Box 536-20115, Egerton, Nakuru, Kenya

- ² School of Biology and Environmental Sciences, University of Mpumalanga, South Africa
- ³ School of Life Sciences, University of KwaZulu Natal, South Africa
- ⁴ Kenya Marine and Fisheries Research Institute, Kenya

Abstract

Biotic interactions such as competition and predation are important ecological drivers of population structure. Interactions among higher trophic level fish can contribute to further population declines in species, such as eels, made vulnerable by overexploitation or environmental change. Furthermore, trophic interactions may further predispose eel populations to collapse, but this is poorly understood, particularly along the Western Indian Ocean (WIO) rivers. This study evaluated stomach contents of fish captured with glass and commercial fyke nets in the Athi and Ramisi Rivers, which discharge into the WIO. Stomach contents were examined using dissecting microscope to establish diet composition. Eels primarily consumed assorted fish (43 %), and crustaceans (36 %); such as penaeid shrimp (14%) and prawns (13%) and crab (9%), thus belonged to a higher trophic level (TL) of 3.47 than native (2.98) or introduced (2.8) sympatric fish species. Diet breadth of eels was significantly lower (0.20) than for sympatric fish species (0.27), attributed to higher diet specialization. The TL of carnivorous fish (3.19) and their diet compared well with those of eels, even though diet preference differed significantly among fish types. Consequently, eels ranked as vulnerable by the IUCN are further threatened by previously undescribed competition from carnivorous fish.

Keywords: biotic interactions, niche breadth, diet overlap, feeding guilds, trophic levels

Introduction

Globally, freshwater fish with a life-history involving long-distance inter-ecosystem migration, are driven by a quest for quality breeding and feeding grounds (McIntyre *et al.*, 2016). In tropical systems, these strategies are particularly exemplified by diadromous eels, migrating between freshwater and saline oceanic habitats (Lin *et al.*, 2018). However, global declines in wild eel populations have been observed in both temperate and subtropical regions, and are largely blamed on anthropogenic stressors, such as climate induced changes in oceanic circulation, habitat degradation, overexploitation (Jellyman *et al.*, 2000; Revenga, 2003; Strayer and

http://dx.doi.org/10.4314/wiojms.v22i2.7

Dudgeon, 2010), in addition to biotic stressors, notably associated with the introduction of alien and exotic fish species (Jacoby *et al.*, 2015). Nonetheless, other biotic interactions, for instance between eels and predatory introduced and indigenous fish, are also of particular concern, not only due to dietary overlap, but also predation on vulnerable stages and species. Biotic interactions such as intra- and inter-specific competition, predation, mutualism, facilitation, and commensalism, are among the powerful ecological drivers, influencing species occurrence, community structure and functioning in terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems (Ben-Natan *et al.*, 2004; Tadesse, 2018). Despite the western Indian Ocean (WIO) being regarded as an eel biodiversity hotspot by hosting 25 % (4/16) of global panmictic eel biodiversity (Schabetsberger *et al.*, 2016), inter- and intra-specific biotic interactions and associated pressures remain poorly documented. Furthermore, recent upgrading of three (*Anguilla mossambica, A. bengalensis,* and *A. bicolor*) of the four WIO eel taxa to near threatened (Hanzen *et al.,* 2019), is largely attributed to prevailing anthropogenic stressors such as river modification, pollution (Jellyman, 2021), but also exotic introduction which needs evaluation.

Sympatric fish interacting through predation and competition have been shown to impact piscivorous freshwater fishes in the tropical (Hickley et al., 2008; Okwiri et al., 2019), as well as temperate habitats (Jonsson and Jonsson, 2004), but are even more critical to trans-habitat migratory species, such as Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) (Jonsson and Jonsson, 2004). Both predation and competition results in loss of fitness among interacting species, acting through direct mortality and/or reduction in performance (Tadesse, 2018). James et al. (2003) attributed declines in native Australian riverine fish including predatory and migratory eels, to increased competition for food and space with the introduced predatory trout and carp species. In view of the documented introduction of similar species into African rivers, similar interactions are suspected with regards to WIO eels, but this has rarely been explored.

In most temperate and subtropical locales, eels are monospecific, and consequently intraspecific competition among eel species has only been demonstrated with the introduction of *Anguilla japonica* into European rivers which was partially blamed for declines in native *A. anguilla* (Hulme *et al.*, 2010). In the WIO, although differences in habitat use among eel species is reported, with *A. bengalensis* and *A. bicolor* occurring exclusively at upstream and downstream reaches, respectively, and *A. marmorata* and *A. mossambica* being less selective (Van Someren and Whitehead, 1959; Okeyo, 1998), whether such patterns are linked to biotic interactions, requires validation.

In Kenya, the larger east flowing rivers, such as the Athi and Tana, apart from experiencing greater anthropogenic stressors, such as damming, pollution and overexploitation, have in the past seen multiple introductions of exotic fish such as trout, carps, local tilapiines and catfish (Okeyo, 1998; Seegers *et al.*, 2003; Wanja, 2013). Subsequently, this has led to possible competition with indigenous species which has not been well documented. In contrast, the smaller east flowing rivers such as Ramisi and others, not only experience lower hydrological modification and pollution, but also have fewer documented fish introductions. It is thus unclear whether the documented eel declines in the WIO region are associated with trophic interactions resulting from diet overlaps of species co-existence within these systems. Hence the current study was designed to further understand the potential causes for the decline in eel populations in the WIO region.

Materials and methods Study Rivers

The study focused on two Kenyan east flowing rivers; Athi-Galana-Sabaki and Ramisi, both draining into the Indian Ocean (Fig. 1). Both river catchments receive bimodal seasonal rainfall, during the long (March–May) and short (October–December) rains. The average temperature in both catchments is about 26 °C, with an annual precipitation of 400 mm at the downstream coastal locations and 800 mm annually at upstream highland locations. In this paper, the name Athi will be used interchangeably to designate the Athi-Galana-Sabaki River.

The Athi-Galana-Sabaki River

The Athi-Galana-Sabaki River is the second largest eastward flowing river in Kenya. The river headwaters are on the southern slopes of the Aberdare range, the Ngong hills and the eastern flank of Mount Kilimanjaro, draining the Kapiti plains and parts of the Yatta plateau, with a catchment of over 70,000 km² (Okeyo, 1998). The major tributaries of the Athi River include the Nairobi, Kiboko, and Tsavo Rivers. The Tsavo River that is fed by the Mzima Springs, is the only permanent inflow in the middle reaches of the drainage. The river in the upstream reaches including the headwaters and associated tributaries, is commonly referred to as Athi River.

The midstream reaches of the river occur below Lugard's Falls (after the Tsavo River confluence), where the river name changes to the Galana River. In the downstream reaches, the river is commonly called the Sabaki, which flows into the Indian Ocean 11.3 km north of Malindi town. Two sampling locations were selected for sampling: one each in the upstream (Kiaoni) and downstream (Sabaki Bridge) reaches of the Athi-Galan-Sabaki River. The upstream location was located 200 kms from the estuary, while the downstream location was 3.3 kms inland from the ocean. Previous studies such as those of Okeyo (1998), Kimakwa (2004) and Wanja (2013) have reported on fish diversity especially for sympatric species. These are fish populations that exist in the same geographic area, frequently encountering one another, and supposedly coexist with eels. In this context, sympatric fish were composed of both indigenous and introduced fish species. Seeger *et al.* (2003) have reported the presence of exotic fish species along the Athi River.

2020). The Ramisi catchment also transverses the 600 ha Buda evergreen tropical dry savannah forest, which is a remnant of the once more extensive East African coastal forest (Wekesa *et al.*, 2019). The catchment harbours a relatively low human population density of 105 persons. km⁻², dominated by smallholder subsistence farmers (KCIDP, 2018). Similarly, two sampling locations were selected in the Ramisi River; in the upstream (Eshu) and downstream (Taliani) reaches. The upstream location was 35 km from



Figure 1. A map of Kenya highlighting the two east flowing rivers and a detailed sketch of the upstream and downstream sampling locations on the Athi-Galana-Sabaki (Kiaoni and Sabaki) and Ramisi (Eshu and Taliani) Rivers, Kenya.

The Ramisi River

The Ramisi River is located within Kwale County on the southern coast of Kenya (Fig. 1). The river rises from the Shimba hills, and flows over 60 km to discharge into the Indian Ocean through the Kiwamba mangrove forest at Shimoni, with a catchment of 1800 km^2 (Kiteresi *et al.*, 2012. The Ramisi catchment receives average annual rainfall of about 1200 mm and has an average temperature of around 26 °C (KCIPD, 2018). The main vegetation in the area is drought resistant savannah woodlands and coastal dryland forests, noted for endemic flora and fauna (KWTA, the estuary, whereas the downstream location was 4 km upstream of the ocean. Unlike at Athi River, information on fish species diversity and the presence of exotic species is scant.

Fish sampling

Fish sampling was undertaken monthly at the upstream and downstream locations of both the Athi and Ramisi Rivers. At both locations along the rivers, fish were sampled from freshwater and estuarine habitat types such as riffles, vegetation and pools. Fish were captured using double and glass eel fyke

nets deployed fortnightly in the different habitats types overnight from April 2021 to March 2022. At each sampling location, six different sampling sites were randomly selected and the fyke nets deployed in each. Landed fish and eels were temporarily incapacitated using clove oil diluted with river water to ease handling. Landed fish were identified in the field using Wanja (2013) and Okeyo and Ojwang (2015), pictures taken, counted and a representative sample (~30 %) separated for dissection and subsequent gut content analysis. Reference specimens of each species encountered were preserved in 5 % formalin for species confirmation, and the remaining live fish released into the river, whenever appropriate. Reference specimens of fish collected are lodged at the Department of Biological Sciences laboratory at Egerton University. Fish species identification and information on distribution were obtained from Eccles (1992), Skelton (1993), and FishBase (Froese and Pauly, 2019).

Selected fish were first dissected in the field prior to gut content removal. Each gut removed was preserved in 5 % formalin for subsequent laboratory gut content evaluation.

Fish gut content evaluation

Prior to removal of gut contents in the laboratory, the relative fullness for each stomach was assessed and fullness index scores allocated using the modified point method as in Hyslop (1980): empty stomach (0), quarter (5), half (10), three quarter (15) and completely full (20) stomachs. Stomach contents were then emptied into a petri dish, washed with distilled water and constituent food items separated and identified under a dissecting microscope to the lowest taxonomic level possible. Guides for invertebrate (Gerber and Gabriel, 2002) and vertebrates (Keppeler *et al*, 2020) were used for taxonomic identification of dietary items.

Food importance index

The contribution of each identified food item to the gut content was estimated and recorded. The data was subsequently used to compute the Hyslop (1980) food importance index (FI) scores using the following equation:

$$\% FI = \frac{\text{Total points for each food item}}{\text{Total number of points for all food types}}$$
(1)

Dietary composition and FI were compared between locations using analysis of similarity (ANOSIM).

 Table 1. Diet importance in stomach of fish from the Athi and Ramisi Rivers, Kenya.

Food items	Occurrence (n)	Food index Scores (FI) (%)	Athi (%)	Ramisi (%)
Annelid worm	1	0.2	0.2	0.0
Polychaeta worms	2	0.3	0.4	0.0
Beetle	21	2.4	3.5	1.6
Bivalve	1	0.2	0.0	0.8
Caddisflies	37	5.6	6.8	0.0
Chironomidae	5	0.8	0.9	0.0
Damselfly	3	0.5	0.6	0.0
Mayflies	11	1.7	2.0	0.0
Pond snails	4	0.6	0.7	0.0
Stoneflies	1	0.2	0.2	0.0
Unidentified Insect	26	3.3	4.2	2.5
Animal detritus (AOM)	60	9.0	10.5	2.5
Plant organic matter (POM)	66	9.9	11.8	1.6
Unidentified detritus (DOM)	32	4.8	3.5	10.7
Vegetation	62	9.3	9.8	7.4
Plant seeds	1	0.2	0.0	0.8
Crab	43	6.5	6.1	8.0
Penaeid Shrimps	128	19.0	22.3	6.0
Prawns	36	5.4	0.2	28.7
Fish	122	18.4	16.0	30.0
Birds	2	0.3	0.4	0

AOM-animal organic matter detritus, POM-plant detritus origin, and DOM-unidentified dead organic matter detritus

Diet breadth

Data on frequency of occurrence (F) and relative abundance (Pi) of each food item were used to compute the Levin (1968) standardized diet breadth index (B) for both eel and sympatric fish species as follows:

$$B (breadth) = 1/\sum (P_{ij})^2$$
(2)

Where B is Levin's standardized niche breadth, p_i is the proportion/ relative abundance of each food item i in the gut content of fish species j.

The B values obtained were compared between rivers, reaches and fish types (eels and sympatric resident and introduced fish) using one way-ANOVA.

Diet overlap

Dietary item frequency of occurrence data (F) were also used in computing the Pianka dietary overlap index (O) for each fish type using the following equation as in Pianka (1981):

$$\operatorname{Dij} = \sum (P_{ij} P_{ik}) / \sqrt{\sum (P_{ij})^2} \sum (P_{ik})^2$$
(3)

Where O_{ij} is Pianka's niche overlap between fish species j and species k, P_{ij} is the proportion of the food type i in the gut of fish type j, while P_{ik} is the proportion of food type i in the gut of fish type k.

Pianka's index values commonly range from 0 (total diet separation) to 1 (total overlap). Data on diet overlaps were subsequently applied to pairwise One-way Analysis of Similarity (ANOSIM) correlation to detect diet overlaps among fish types, rivers and locations.

Fish trophic levels (TL)

Each food item encountered in the gut was allocated a food trophic level (TL/Tis). The food trophic levels for each dietary items were obtained from Kihia et al. (2015), and Keppeler et al. (2020) among others. Food trophic level values obtained ranged from 0-1.2 for vegetation, seeds and plant detritus; 1.2-1.5 was allocated for herbivorous fauna such as snails (1.3), coleopteran, dipteran, trichopteran and ephemeropterans (1.5). Animal detritus was allocated a level of 1.5, while unidentified detritus (DOM) (1.2) and plant detritus (POM) (1.4). Filter feeding annelids and bivalves were allocated an intermediate value of (1.5); documented carnivorous invertebrates such as prawns and penaeid shrimps (2.1), crab (2.2), while carnivorous vertebrates such as birds and finfish (3.0).

Data on the relative contribution of each food item (FI) calculated and respective food item trophic level (Tis) were subsequently used to compute fish trophic levels (TL) as in Choi *et al.* (2008) and Kihia *et al.* (2015) using the following equation:

$$TL_f = 1.0 + \left(\sum_{i}^{s} FI_{is} \times T_{is}\right) \tag{4}$$

Where TL_f is trophic level of fish species f, FI_{is} is relative importance of diet item i to s, T_{is} is trophic level of diet item i to s.

The trophic levels obtained were then used to categorize the sympatric fish species into three feeding guilds: Carnivorous (>2.8); omnivorous (2.5-2.8); and herbivorous (<2.5). Subsequently, the trophic levels of eels, native and introduced fish were compared among rivers reaches using the Mann-Whitney test.

Results

Diet composition and preference among eels and sympatric fish

Stomachs contents of 350 (283, 67) sympatric fish and 75 (31, 44) eels from the Athi and Ramisi Rivers, respectively were examined. Thirty-eight fish specimens (5, 33) including eels and sympatric fish, respectively had empty stomachs and were excluded from subsequent diet evaluations. At the Athi River, 30 (13, 17 eels) and 254 (83, 171) sympatric fish were evaluated at the upstream and downstream locations. At Ramisi, 40 (36, 4 for upstream and downstream, respectively) eels and 63 (38, 25 for upstream and downstream, respectively) sympatric fish were evaluated.

A total of 21 food types were identified among which penaeid shrimps (19 %) and fish (18%) were most common (Table 1). Vegetation, caddisflies, crabs, detritus, prawns, beetles, unidentified insect and mayflies, were consumed by between 2 and 10 % of fish, while birds, annelid worms, bivalves, seeds, flies and stoneflies were the least consumed (Table 1).

The diet contribution between the rivers differed significantly (One-way analysis of similarity (ANO-SIM), Global R=0.46, p<0.05), as well as by location (R=0.403, p<0.05) (Appendix 1). Fish in the Athi River consumed 19 food items, dominated mainly by penaeid shrimps (22 %), fish (16 %) and vegetation (10 %). Caddisflies (7 %) and crabs (6 %) were of intermediate importance (Table 1). Fish in the Ramisi River consumed 12 food items dominated by fish (30 %), prawns

Focal river	Athi-Galana-Sabaki Food index (FI)									
Reaches Food items	U	Upstream/Kiaoni (%)					Downstream/Sabaki (%)			
	Eels	Native	Exotic	All	Eels	Native	Exotic	All		
Annelid worms			0.63	0.5	-	-	_	-		
Polychaetae				-	2.5	-	0.61	0.6		
Beetles		-	10.75	9.0	-	0.72	0.61	0.6		
Pond snails	7.14	3.57	0.63	2.0	-	-	0.61	0.3		
Caddisflies		10.71	21.52	19.0	-	-	-	-		
Damselflies		-	-	-	-	0.72	1.22	0.9		
Mayflies		14.29	4.4	5.5	-	-	0.61	0.3		
Stoneflies				-	-	-	0.61	0.3		
Chironomidae			3.16	3.2	-	-	-	-		

7.5

13.30

18.35

2.53

14.0

0.63

2.53

6.0

13.5

18.5

3.5

13.0

1.0

8.0

0.5

2.5

7.5

2.5

7.5

20

35

22.5

_

2.88

10.1

8.0

5.76

5.76

10.80

37.0

18.71

3.66

7.93

9.76

1.83

9.76

6.10

34.0

22.0

0.61

3.2

8.75

7.87

3.4

8.0

9.6

35

21.0

0.3

Table 2. Dietary resource and their importance in the upstream and downstream reaches of Athi River among eels and sympatric native and exotic fish.

AOM-animal organic matter detritus, POM-plant detritus origin, and DOM-unidentified dead organic matter detritus

21.43

28.57

10.71

10.71

(29 %) and unidentified detritus (11 %), while crabs (8 %), vegetation (7.4 %) and penaeid shrimps (6 %) were of intermediately importance (Table 1). Fish in the Athi consumed a higher variety of invertebrate (12) than at the Ramisi River (5) (Table 1).

7.14

78.57

7.14

Fish at the upstream location (Kiaoni) in the Athi River consumed 14 dietary items dominated by detritus (36 %), mainly composed of plant organic matter (18.5 %), and followed by caddisflies (19 %) and vegetation (13 %), while beetle (7.5 %) fish (8 %) and mayflies (5 %) were of intermediate importance. In contrast, fish at the downstream location of the Athi River also consumed 14 items but were dominated by penaeid shrimps (35 %) and fish (21 %), while crabs (10 %) and vegetation (8 %) were of intermediate importance (Table 2). Although fish at both locations in the Athi consumed a similar number of items (14), beetles, caddisflies, chironomids and prawn were only encountered upstream while penaeid, crab, damselfly and stoneflies were encountered at the downstream location. Exotic fish at both reaches consumed the highest number of food items (13); at the upstream location (Kiaoni) dominated by caddisflies (22 %), and (15) at the downstream location (Sabaki) dominated by penaeid shrimps (33 %) and fish (22 %).

At the upstream location of the Ramisi River, fish consumed 10 items dominated by prawns (37 %) and fish (35 %) while crabs (7 %), dead organic matter (DOM) and vegetation (6 %) were of intermediate importance. In contrast, at the downstream location, fish consumed 7 items dominated by DOM and penaeid shrimps (27 %), and fish and crabs (12 %). Prawns, bivalves and seeds were only consumed at the upstream location in the Ramisi, while penaeid shrimps were only encountered at the downstream location (Table 3). Similarly, exotic fish consumed the highest number of food items at both upstream (8) dominated by prawns (27 %) followed by fish (23 %) and downstream (6) largely composed of penaeid shrimps (33 %) and plant detritus (POM) (22 %) (Table 3).

Fish (29 %) and prawns (28 %) were the most important for dissimilarity between both locations in the Ramisi contributing to 57 % of the dissimilarity. On the other hand, penaeid shrimps contributed to the dissimilarity at both locations in the Athi (upstream and downstream) as well as between downstream locations of the Athi and Ramisi (Appendix 2). Prawns (18.62 %) and fish (17.48 %) contributed to the dissimilarities between the upstream locations of the Athi and Ramisi Rivers respectively (Appendix 2).

Unidentified Insects

AOM

POM

DOM

Crabs

Prawns

Fish

Bird

Vegetation

Penaeid Shrimps

Focal river	Ramisi Food index (FI)							
Reaches		Upstream/Eshu (%)			Downstream/Taliani (%)			%)
Food items	Eels	Native	Exotic	All	Eels	Native	Exotic	All
Beetles	-	-	4.55	1.0	-	-	11.11	4.0
Bivalves	2.13	-	-	1.1	-	-	-	-
Unidentified insects	4.26	-	4.45	3.1	-	-	-	-
AOM	-	7.41	4.55	3.13	-	-	-	-
POM	-	-	-	-	-	-	22.22	7.69
DOM	-	3.70	22.73	6.3	33.33	45.46	-	27.0
Vegetation	6.40	7.41	4.55	6.3	17.00	9.10	11.11	12.0
Plant seeds	2.13	-	-	1.1	-	-	-	-
Crabs	4.25	11.0	9.1	7.3	-	18.18	11.11	12.0
Penaeid Shrimps	-	-	-	-	17.00	27.27	33.33	27.0
Prawns	30.0	55.56	27.3	36.5	-	-	-	-
Fish	51.1	14.82	23.0	35	33.33	-	11.11	12.0

Table 3. Dietary resource and their importance in the upstream and downstream reaches of Ramisi River among eels and sympatric native/residents and exotic/introduced fish.

AOM-animal organic matter detritus, POM-plant detritus origin, and DOM-unidentified dead organic matter detritus

The anguillids encountered consumed 13 out of the 21 food items identified dominated by fish (43 %), and crustaceans (37 %) composed of penaeid shrimps (14 %) and prawns (13 %), while crabs (10 %) were of intermediate value. Pond snails, birds, bivalves, polychaete worms, and seeds were the least consumed (Fig. 2). Among the eels, *A. bengalensis* was purely carnivorous, feeding on fish (55 %), prawn (23 %), crab (5 %), and even birds (2 %). *A. mossambica* was mainly carnivores on fish (32 %), penaeid shrimp (21 %), and crabs (16 %), but also consumed detritus (11 %), particularly in the Athi River. Both *A. bicolor* and *A. marmorata* were omnivorous consuming fish, prawns, penaeid shrimps, insects, vegetation and detritus.

The sympatric fish consumed 19 dietary items dominated by penaeid shrimps (20 %), fish (14 %). Vegetation (10 %) was of intermediate importance while caddisflies (7 %) and crab (6 %) were less often consumed (Fig. 2). Both eels and sympatric fish shared crabs, fish, penaeid shrimps, prawns and vegetation.

Diet preferences of the fish types evaluated differed significantly (ANOSIM; p<0.05) among the sampling locations. Sympatric fish at the upstream location of the Athi River primarily consumed plant detritus (POM) and caddisflies (20 %) followed by vegetation (14 %). At the downstream location, penaeid shrimps (35 %) and fish (21 %) were the most important, with (animal



Figure 2. Diet preferences between sympatric species and eels in the two east flowing rivers, Kenya.

detritus) AOM and (plant detritus) POM (9 %) followed by crab and vegetation (8.0 %) being intermediately consumed. On the other hand, eels at the upstream location primarily consumed fish (79 %) but also birds (7.2 %). In contract, penaeid shrimps (35 %), followed by fish (23 %) and crabs (20 %) were more consumed at the downstream location, comparable to those of sympatric fish (Fig. 3). Unlike at the upstream location, fish at the downstream location of the Athi consumed birds (0.33 %), especially exotic fish species. At the upstream location of the Ramisi River, sympatric fish mainly consumed prawns (43 %), fish (18 %), plant detritus (12 %) and crabs (10 %), while at the downstream location, sympatric species largely consumed detritus (35 %), penaeid shrimps (30 %), detritus (DOM) (25 %) and crabs (15 %). Fish and beetles (5 %) were least consumed (Fig. 3). Eels at the upstream location of the Ramisi consumed fish (51 %) and prawns (30 %) while at the downstream location detritus (DOM), fish, penaeid shrimps and vegetation were comparably consumed (Fig. 3).

At the upstream locations of both rivers, eels mainly consumed fish, while at downstream locations penaeid shrimps, fish and crabs were commonly encountered. Prawns were only consumed at the upstream location of Ramisi while penaeid shrimps were consumed at downstream locations.

Introduced sympatric predatory carnivorous fish especially *Bagrus docmak* primarily consumed 15 items dominated by penaeid shrimps (37 %), fish (24 %) and vegetation (10 %), while animal detritus (AOM) (8 %) and crabs (7 %) were intermediately consumed. Resident predatory carnivorous fish which were composed of *Glossogobius giuris, Eleotris fusca, Oligolepis acutipennis* and *Pisodonophis cancrivorus* consumed nine (9) food items dominated by penaeid shrimps (35 %), fish (19 %) and crabs (14 %), while prawn (11 %) and animal detritus (AOM) (10 %) were intermediately consumed (Appendix 3). Among the resident predatory carnivorous fish, *Oligolepis acutipennis* (70 %), followed by *Glossogobius giuris* (47 %) and *Pisodonophis cancrivorus* (39 %),



Figure 3. Diet preferences between sympatric fish and eels fish from the Athi and Ramisi Rivers.

Fish types	Eel	Carnivorous	Herbivorous	Omnivorous	Native	Introduced
Eel	1					
Carnivorous	0.083*	1				
Herbivorous	0.0001	0.008	1			
Omnivorous	0.007	0.19*	0.082*	1		
Native	0.008	0.11	0.044	0.034	1	
Introduced	0.011*	0.11	0.092	0.098	0.77	1

Table 4. Summary statistics of One-way ANOSIM pairwise correlation between fish type and food item preferences (P values in bold with an asterisk are significant at p<0.05).

consumed penaeid shrimps, while *Eleotris fusca* (56 %) consumed prawns. 50 % of *Otolithes ruber* followed by *O. acutipennis* (30 %) and *G. giuris* (29 %) consumed fish.

Introduced omnivorous fish (*Clarias gariepinus*) consumed 15 items but mostly preferred caddisflies (17 %), animal detritus (AOM) and vegetation (15 %) while fish (9 %), were of intermediate value. In contrast, resident omnivorous fish consumed seven (7) items dominated by penaeid shrimps (33 %) and fish (27 %) (Appendix 3). On the other hand, introduced sympatric herbivorous fish such as *O. niloticus* consumed 10 items, with preference for plant detritus (43 %) and caddisflies (15 %) while unidentified detritus (DOM) (11 %) and beetles (8%) were of moderate importance (Appendix 3).

Subsequently, Analysis of variance revealed a significant difference between the diets of fish types (eels and sympatric fish) (Global R=0.09, p<0.05). Although, similarity in diet preference between sympatric carnivorous guild and eels was observed (p=0.08) (Table 4), especially for resident predatory carnivorous (ANOSIM; p=0.1) (Appendix 4). This was attributed to their consumption on fish and penaeid shrimps.

Sympatric fish species trophic interactions, diet overlaps and feeding guilds in the Athi and Ramisi Rivers

Sympatric fish in the Ramisi River belonged to significantly (t=6, df=682, p<0.05) higher trophic levels (3.11±0.1) than those of the Athi River (2.94±0.03). The fish species examined for gut content in the Ramisi were composed of five species, dominated by *Eleotris fusca* and *Clarias gariepinus* while in the Athi there were 13 species dominated by *Bagrus docmak* and *Clarias gariepinus*. Among the fish examined, there were a total of 10 sympatric native fish species dominated by *Pisodonophis cancrivorus*, followed by *Otolithes ruber*, *Glossogobius giuris* and *Eleotris fusca*. On the other hand, introduced fish were dominated by *Bagrus docmak*, *Clarias gariepinus* and *O. niloticus*, encountered from the two rivers (Table 5). The highest TL was recorded on *Oligolepis acutipennis* (3.66±0.18).

In the Athi River, among the 10 native fish species, 5 species (Glossogobius giuris, Oligolepis acutipennis, Otolithes ruber, Terapon jarbua, and Pisodonophis cancrivorus) had the highest TL of above 3.0, while Mugil cephalus and Macolor niger had TLs of less than 2.4. Among the three introduced species in Athi River, two (Bagrus docmak, and Clarias gariepinus) had the highest TL, while O. niloticus had the lowest (>2.4). In the Ramisi River, two out of three of the native species, Eleotris fusca and Pisodonophis cancrivorus had the highest TL with Ambassis gymnocephalua, having the lowest (Table 5).

Mean diet breadth of sympatric fish examined was (1.49±0.08) for both the Athi and Ramisi Rivers, but there were significant differences among rivers (t=3.4, df=85, p=0.01) and residency (t=6, df=292, p<0.05). The diet breadth of sympatric fish from Athi River was higher (1.65 ± 0.05) than Ramisi (1.32 ± 0.1) (Table 5). Among all sympatric fish species examined, the widest diet breadth was recorded in introduced omnivorous Clarias gariepinus in both rivers (Table 5). Among the native fish from the Athi River, the widest diet breadth was recorded for the carnivorous Arius africanus and herbivorous Labeobarbus oxyrhynchus and O. spilurus spilurus, with the lowest recorded on herbivorous Labeo cylindricus and Mugil cephalus. Among the introduced sympatric species in the Athi, the widest diet breadth found in the omnivorous Clarias gariepinus and the carnivorous Bagrus docmak (Table 5).

At the Ramisi, among the native fish examined, predatory carnivorous *Eleotris fusca* (2.80 ± 0.14) and *Pisodonophis cancrivorus* (2.25 ± 0.47) had the widest diet breadth while carnivorous *A. gymnocephalua* (1.00 ± 0.67) had the narrowest. Among the introduced species in the Ramisi, omnivorous *Clarias gariepinus* (4.37 ± 0.20) had a wider breadth than *O. niloticus* (2.20 ± 0.25), which was higher compared to all the species.

Rivers	Species	Ecological status	Feeding guilds	N	Trophic level (TL)	Diet breadth (B)
	Arius africanus	Native	Carnivores	5	2.95±0.22*	3.34±0.3
	Glossogobius giuris	Native	Carnivores	23	3.30±0.10*	2.47 ± 0.14
	Oligolepis acutipennis	Native	Carnivores	8	3.66±0.18*	1.697 ± 0.22
	Otolithes ruber	Native	Carnivores	3	3.46±0.27*	1.92 ± 0.39
	Pisodonophis cancrivorus	Native	Carnivores	24	3.13±0.10	2.53 ± 0.14
	Terapon jarbua	Native	Omnivores	4	3.06 ± 0.24	2.56 ± 0.34
4.1.1	Labeo cylindricus	Native	Herbivores	1	2.4 ± 0.47	1.00±0.67
Athi	Labeobarbus oxyrhynchus	Native	Herbivores	7	2.49 ± 0.18	4.90 ± 0.25
	Mugil cephalus	Native	Herbivores	3	2.27 ± 0.27	1.00 ± 0.39
	Oreochromis spilurus niger	Native	Herbivores	11	2.49 ± 0.14	3.03 ± 0.20
	Oreochromis spilurus spilurus	Native	Herbivores	13	2.44 ± 0.13	2.98 ± 0.19
	Bagrus docmak	Introduced	Carnivores	77	3.12±0.06*	$3.65 {\pm} 0.08$
	Clarias gariepinus	Introduced	Omnivores	39	2.60 ± 0.08	6.65±0.11*
	Oreochromis niloticus	Introduced	Herbivores	35	2.44 ± 0.08	2.48 ± 0.12
	Ambassis gymnocephalua	Native	Carnivores	5	2.3±0.15	1.00±0.67
	Eleotris fusca	Native	Carnivores	22	3.24 ± 0.1	2.80 ± 0.14
Ramisi	Pisodonophis cancrivorus	Native	Carnivores	7	3.1 ± 0.2	2.25 ± 0.47
	Clarias gariepinus	Introduced	Omnivores	11	3.36±0.15*	4.37± 0.20*
	O. niloticus	Introduced	Herbivores	7	2.29 ± 0.9	2.20 ± 0.25

Table 5. Trophic levels (TL) and diet breadth of sympatric fish species from the Athi and Ramisi Rivers. The values in bold with an asterisk represent higher species TL and diet breadth (B).

Diet and niche breadth (B) and trophic levels

between eel species, feeding guilds and residency Eels belonged to significantly (F=113, p<0.05) higher trophic levels (TL) (3.47±0.69), especially for A. bengalensis (3.61±0.07) at all sites, followed by A. bicolar (3.20 ± 0.15) , compared to (2.90 ± 0.03) for either native (2.98±0.6) or introduced (2.8±0.04) sympatric fish. The trophic level of A. bicolor (3.67± 0.34) increased in the Ramisi compared to the Athi (3.09±0.16). Anguilla marmorata had the lowest TL (2.45±0.49) at all sites (Table 6). The sympatric native fish (3.00 ± 0.02) had a higher trophic level compared to introduced fish (2.88±0.02) but did not differ significantly (Mann-Whitney U=24987, p>0.05). The TL recorded for the Athi River was higher for native (3.0 ± 0.02) than introduced fish (2.86 ± 0.02) though significantly (F=146, p<0.05) lower compared to Ramisi River for either introduced fish (3.01±0.06) or native (2.99±0.05). Sympatric carnivorous fishes recorded a higher trophic level (3.19 ± 0.04) in the Athi, but in the Ramisi the TL was comparable with omnivorous species, especially for introduced fish (Table 6).

The lower TL recorded for sympatric fishes, subsequently corresponded to a wider diet breadth compared to eels. The narrow diet breadth for eels was accounted for by their active diet selection. The sympatric herbivorous species had the least TL (2.40 ± 0.05), at all sites especially in the Ramisi. Native sympatric

species in the Athi had a higher TL (3.0 ± 0.02) while introduced species (3.01 ± 0.05) recorded the highest in the Ramisi (Table 6); although significantly lower (F=4.0, p=0.03) than eels at all sites. Sympatric species diet breadth (B) (0.27 ± 0.05) was always significantly higher (t=3.15, df=132, p<0.05) compared to eels (0.20 ± 0.1) in both rivers. Native sympatric fish had lower diet breadth (0.43 ± 0.04) than introduced fish (0.57 ± 0.06) , attributed to dietary specialization. Similarly, at both locations native species $(0.23\pm0.15,$ 0.20 ± 0.30 for Athi and Ramisi respectively) had lower diet breadth than corresponding introduced fishes $(0.32\pm0.13, 0.26\pm0.43)$ for Athi and Ramisi, respectively).

Omnivorous fish recorded a higher diet breadth (0.43 ± 0.3) followed by carnivorous species (0.30 ± 0.4) which corresponded to an intermediate diet breadth at all sites. The least diet breadth was encountered among herbivores (0.27 ± 0.3) at all sites largely due to their specialized feeding habit on dead organic matter (DOM). Among the rivers, omnivorous fish at both Athi (0.53 ± 0.1) and Ramisi (0.33 ± 0.2) corresponded to the widest breadth; significantly higher (p<0.05) compared to eels, except for introduced fishes in the Ramisi River (Table 6). Introduced sympatric species always recorded the widest diet breadth in the Athi (0.40 ± 0.2) and Ramisi (0.39 ± 0.4) compared to resident sympatric species and eels, which did not differ

Rivers	Fish categories	Fish type	N	Trophic level (TL)	Diet breadth (B)
	Eels	A. bengalensis	15	3.79±0.13*	0.10±0.18
		A. bicolor	9	3.09 ± 0.16	0.16 ± 0.23
		A. mossambica	7	3.34 ± 0.19	0.27±0.26*
	Sympatric	Carnivores	243	3.19±0.04*	0.22 ± 0.06
Athi		Omnivores	115	2.65 ± 0.07	0.53±0.10*
		Herbivores	106	2.44 ± 0.06	0.22 ± 0.08
		Introduced	322	2.86 ± 0.02	0.32±0.13
		Native	167	3.0 ± 0.02	0.23±0.15
		Eel	31	3.42 ± 0.04	0.31±0.5
Ramisi	Eels	A. bengalensis	34	3.53± 0.08*	0.17±0.12
		A. bicolor	2	3.67± 0.34*	0.11±0.49
		A. marmorata	1	2.45 ± 0.47	0.19±0.69*
		A. mossambica	3	2.8±0.27	0.12±0.40
	Sympatric	Carnivores	29	3.21± 0.10*	0.23±0.14
		Omnivores	23	3.28±0.14*	0.33± 0.20*
		Herbivores	14	2.26 ± 0.14	0.11±0.21
		Introduced	31	3.01±0.06	0.26 ± 0.43
		Native	38	$2.99 {\pm} 0.05$	0.20 ± 0.30
		Eel	40	3.36 ± 0.04	0.31±0.3

Table 6. Levin's diet breadth indices and trophic levels among sympatric species feeding guilds and eels from the Athi and Ramisi Rivers. The values in bold with an asterisk represent higher TL and diet breadth (B) for eel species and sympatric feeding guilds.

significantly (F=0.1, p=0.91). Among the eels, highest breadth was encountered in *A. mossambica* (0.27 \pm 0.3) from the Athi and *A. marmorata* (0.19 \pm 0.69) from the Ramisi, demonstrating unselective feeding habits.

Diet overlap between eels and sympatric fish

Among the sympatric fish evaluated in the Athi, the greatest overlap was observed between omnivores and herbivores (0.50 ± 0.1), but also in predatory carnivores (0.24 ± 0.1). In the Ramisi, the greatest overlap was between carnivores and omnivores (0.35 ± 0.2) (Table 7).

Among the eel species evaluated in the Athi, the greatest overlap was between *A. bengalensis* and *A. mossambica* (0.65 ± 0.1), especially in fish diet items. The least overlap was encountered between *A. bicolor* and *A. mossambica* (0.29 ± 0.1). Highest diet overlap was observed between A. bengalensis and A. bicolar (0.92 ± 0.6) in the Ramisi, while the lowest was observed between A. marmorata and A. mossambica (0.08 ± 0.1) (Table 8).

The greatest dietary overlap for resource portioning were observed between sympatric carnivorous species and *A. bicolar* (0.81±0.01) in the Athi, followed by *A. bengalensis* (0.48±0.1), and lower in *A. mossambica* (0.18±0.1), respectively (Table 9). The sympatric carnivorous fishes responsible for the overlaps included *G. giuris, Arius africanus* and *Oligolepis acutipennis*, particularly in the along the estuarine areas. *Anguilla mossambica* had a higher overlap (0.29±0.2) with sympatric omnivorous species (Table 9) contributed by *Clarias gariepinus. Anguilla bicolor* (0.07±0.1) recorded the least diet overlap with sympatric herbivorous species. On the other hand, in the Ramisi River, diets of *A. bicolar*

Table 7. Dietary overlap among sympatric feeding guilds from Athi and Ramisi Rivers. The values in bold with an asterisk represent higher diet overlaps between feeding guilds.

Rivers	Feeding guilds	Carnivores	Omnivores	Herbivores
Athi	Carnivores	-		
	Omnivores	0.24±0.1*	-	
	Herbivore	0.17±0.6	0.50±0.1*	-
Ramisi	Carnivores	-		
	Omnivores	0.35±0.2*	-	
	Herbivores	0.08±0.1	0.26 ± 0.2	-

Rivers	Eel species	A. bengalensis	A. bicolor	A. marmorata	A. mossambica
Athi	A. bengalensis	_			
	A. bicolor	0.43 ± 0.4	-		
	A. marmorata	-	-	-	
	A. mossambica	0.65±0.1*	0.29 ± 0.1	-	-
Ramisi	A. bengalensis	-			
	A. bicolor	0.92±0.6*	-		
	A. marmorata	0.20 ± 0.01	0.20 ± 0.01	-	
	A. mossambica	0.41±0.2	0.45 ± 0.16	0.08±0.1	-

Table 8. Pianka symmetrical niche overlaps among eel taxa from Athi and Ramisi Rivers. The values in bold with an asterisk represent higher overlaps between eel species.

(0.74±0.11) overlapped with those of omnivorous fish such as *C. gariepinus*, while *A. bengalensis* (0.52±0.1) overlapped with those of carnivorous fish (Table 9) such as *Ambassis gymnocephalua* and *Eleotris fusca*. The diet of *A. mossambica* occasionally overlapped with those of herbivorous (0.89±0.3) and omnivorous species (0.46±0.4). Consequently, the Athi River recorded the highest overlap (0.33±0.18) as compared to the Ramisi River (0.31±0.15), demonstrating greater relative amounts of inter and intraspecific competition on consumer-resource interaction between eels and sympatric fishes. No significant differences were however (p>0.05) observed on both niche and dietary overlap among the fish taxa and rivers evaluated.

Discussion

Diet composition and preference among eels and sympatric fish

The majority of the fish species encountered throughout the two rivers largely selected foods high in protein, such as penaeid shrimps and fish (Table 1). This demonstrates a prevalence of high trophic level fishes in the rivers, especially in the Ramisi. In particular, for the Athi River, the upstream locations showed more varied diet compositions, indicating unselective feeding patterns among upstream river fishes (Gerking, 2014). These fishes primarily consumed a wide range of prey items, especially for sympatric fish species. The upstream location in the Athi River harbored unique food item strictly associated with freshwater taxa, and of lower trophic level such as vegetation, detritus and macroinvertebrates as previously described by Kihia *et al.* (2015) and Keppeler *et al.* (2020), associated with urban polluted rivers (Kobingi *et al.*, 2009). Additionally, the majority of the fishes encountered belonged to lower trophic levels, including tilapiines and *Clarias sp*, which are primarily herbivores and omnivorous respectively. These results are in line with those of Tófoli *et al.* (2013) who noted *Clarias sp*. predominantly consumed chironomidae and trichopteran (Table 5), recognized as being extremely resistant to extreme pollution conditions (Walsh *et al.*, 2005).

On the other hand, the downstream estuarine locations revealed a lower diet composition attributed to higher diet specialization, with food items available only in brackish waters, such as shrimp and crabs, predominating (Itakura *et al.*, 2015). These findings are consistent with those of Maitra *et al.* (2018), who reported higher specialization among estuary fishes, accredited to greater food availability in brackish environments than freshwater (Kaifu *et al.*, 2013). The downstream location of the Athi River was mainly dominated by high protein rich diets as compared to the upstream location, which was linked to the presence of higher

Table 9. Overlap between sympatric species and eels from the Athi and Ramisi Rivers. The values in bold with an asterisk represent higher diet overlaps between eel species and sympatric feeding guilds.

Rivers	Guilds	A. bengalensis	A. bicolor	A. marmorata	A. mossambica
Athi	Carnivores	0.48±0.1*	0.81±0.01*	-	0.18±0.1
	Omnivores	0.10±0.13	0.33 ± 0.06	-	$0.29 \pm 0.2*$
	Herbivores	0.04 ± 0.3	0.07 ± 0.07	-	0.17±0.2
Ramisi	Carnivores	0.52±0.1*	0.22 ± 0.01	0.08 ± 0.01	0.29±0.1
	Omnivores	0.45 ± 0.1	0.74±0.11*	0.13 ± 0.01	0.46 ± 0.4
	Herbivores	0.01±0.4	0.005±0.1	0.03±0.01	0.89±0.3*

trophic level fish (Pasquaud *et al.*, 2010) with inclusion of marine fish species (Kimakwa, 2004).

Eels demonstrated a preference for higher protein rich diets over sympatric fish among the fish taxa evaluated at the Athi River upstream location, attributed to their higher trophic level (Jellyman and Sykes, 2003; Schulze et al., 2004). However, at the downstream location, both eels and sympatric fish had comparable diets, indicating a larger interspecific interaction along the food web (Manko, 2016). Similarly, in the Ramisi River, eel fish species preferred high-protein diets such as fish and crustaceans (Itakura et al., 2015). Previously, Sinha and Jones (1967) reported similar results, however sympatric fish were reported for the first time in this study, revealing incidences of interand intra-specific interactions among species (Zacharia, 2017). According to Simpfendorfer et al. (2011) and Manly et al. (2002), such information is critical in efforts to preserve endangered species and manage exploited populations, especially for eels, which have been reported to continuously decline (Hanzen et al., 2019; Jellyman, 2021).

The current study further found out that eels belonged to higher trophic levels as a result of exclusively consuming fish and crustaceans, in addition to bivalves (Itakura *et al.*, 2015). Furthermore, sympatric carnivorous fishes had a substantial feeding relationship with eels, indicating probable diet similarities and overlaps (Guzzo *et al.*, 2015). Omnivorous fish also consumed a diet similar to those of eels. Similar findings have been observed in salmon and trout feeding on eel-preferred diets (Sinha and Jones, 1967; Moorhouse-Gann *et al.*, 2020).

Furthermore, some of the eel species encountered, demonstrated unselective feeding behavior, feeding even on detritus and vegetation. As such, displaying an ontogenic feeding patterns (Sagar et al., 2005), hence sometimes described as important opportunistic predators and scavengers preying on a wide variety of food items (Jellyman, 1989; Jellyman, 2021; Itakura et al., 2020). This partly suggests that eels serve as indicator species for freshwater biodiversity conservation linked to their feeding habits (Itakura et al., 2020). The results of this study also revealed that, in addition to preying on sympatric fishes, eels prayed on birds, particularly at the upstream location in the Athi River (Fig. 3). Other studies have reported eels to be an important diet in a number of predators including birds, affecting eel populations

(Leukona, 2002). Furthermore, predatory exotic fish also included birds in their diets, Sabaki, classified as an Important Bird Areas (IBA) (Okuku *et al.*, 2022). Other studies, such as those of Ovegård *et al.* (2017) reported cormorant birds (*Phalacrocorax spp.*) predating on Percidae and Cyprinidae fish populations. Predation, along with other biotic interactions is thus demonstrated as a key component of ecological food webs (Hart and Pitcher, 2012), regulating community populations (Abrahams *et al.*, 2007).

Sympatric fish species feeding guilds, trophic levels (TL) and diet breadth

The highest trophic level of sympatric fish species recorded for the Ramisi River (Table 5) is related to the prevalence of high trophic guilds encountered among sampling locations (Froese and Pauly, 2019), mainly contributed by resident sympatric fishes. The higher trophic-level fish included omnivorous *C.* gariepinus, while predatory carnivorous *E. fusca*, *P. cancrivorus*, and *A. gymnocephalua* were among the higher trophic level fish (Froese and Pauly, 2019). Unlike at Athi River, omnivorous *C. gariepinus* had the highest trophic level in Ramisi River, owing to its active diet selection, proliferated by a wider diet breadth. As such, the Ramisi River is associated with intrinsic ecosystem values earning a higher conservation credibility (Duffy, 2002; Barbier *et al.*, 2009).

The lower trophic level recorded for Athi River was primarily due to the presence of lower trophic level fish species, despite the fact that the estuarine location contributed more to the trophic level due to high trophic level diets (Maitra *et al.*, 2018; Keppeler *et al.*, 2020). The findings of this study are consistent with those of Romanuk *et al.* (2006), who demonstrated that the structures of a food web are known to shift between river systems from mountains to lowland areas.

Diet and niche breadth (B) trophic interactions

Due to their specialized feeding habit on high trophic level diets (Drouineau *et al.*, 2018) eels belonged to significantly higher trophic levels than sympatric fish. This subsequently corresponds to a narrower diet breadth (Belpaire *et al.*, 2011). As a result, *A. bengalensis* had the highest trophic level, placed higher on the food web pyramid, while *A. marmorata* had the lowest TL and a wider breadth (Table 6), and linked to unselective feeding habits. The unselective feeding habits of *A. marmorata*, supposedly give credence to its least concern classification by IUCN. Sympatric fishes, on the other hand, had a broader diet breadth, indicating

the presence of numerous nutritional dietary options and unselective feeding habits. Predominantly, this feeding behavior was most noticeable in exotic fishes. Although, sympatric fish had the lowest trophic level, carnivorous fish had the highest trophic level, indicating quantified trophic overlaps with eels (Hecnar and M'Closkey, 1997; González-Bergonzoni et al., 2020) compounded with lower diet breadth, indicating diet specialization. Omnivorous fish, on the other hand, recorded a wider diet breadth due to the consumption of a wide range of dietary items from the environment (Sánchez-Hernández et al., 2011; Gerking, 2014). As a result, because they compete on identical diets, both feeding guilds may be harmful to eels, displaying overlapped niche breadth. Similar findings have been reported in European catfish (Silurus glanis) which potentially compete with freshwater eels due to niche breadth and overlaps (Bevacqua et al., 2011).

Niche and diet overlap

In the Athi river, carnivorous and omnivorous dish diets overlapped with those of eels, particularly A. bicolar and A. bengalensis, which were more prominent on carnivorous guilds. On the other hand, omnivorous guilds partially overlapped with A. mossambica diets, indicating a possibility of unselective feeding behavior and ontogenic shifts in diet. Furthermore, the observed food resource partitioning between carnivorous A. bicolar and A. bengalensis render them vulnerable to competition pressure (Bevacqua et al., 2011). In addition, the diet overlaps observed between the eel species such A. bengalensis and A. mossambica (Table 8), demonstrates their coexistence throughout their range, as a result of their needs to meet energy and nutritional requirements (Sih et al., 1998). Subsequently, this may result in interspecific competition as described by Arai, (2016). These findings agree with those of Laffaille et al. (2004), who resported minimal intraspecies competition for food among different eel growth stages.

Conversely, at Ramisi River, omnivorous species diets largely overlapped with those of *A. bicolar*, whereas carnivorous fish diets overlapped with those of *A. bengalensis* (Table 9), demonstrating that omnivorous fishes share their diets habitually with eels. However, *A. mossambica* diets primarily overlapped with those of herbivorous followed by omnivorous species, indicating that eels can also be regarded as generalists (Jellyman, 2021). *Anguilla bengalensis* exhibited the largest food resource portioning with *A. bicolar* among the eel diets evaluated. Following that, Athi River displayed larger relative amounts of inter and intraspecific competition for consumer-resource interaction between eels and sympatric fish species than the Ramisi River, ascribed to higher diet overlaps.

Conclusions

Competition and predation are important ecological drivers that allow species to coexist in biotic communities where resources are limited in quantity and/ or quality. The findings of this study revealed that species interactions were influenced by competition, and it is apparent that the diets of A. bengalensis and A. bicolar not only overlapped but also shared food items with sympatric carnivorous and omnivorous guilds. Furthermore, due to the greater overlap, eel taxa found in the Athi are more susceptible to competition with prominent interacting sympatric fishes. As such, there is more inter- and intraspecific competition between eels and sympatric fish species, as well as similar ecological specialization. This implies that these species are possibly vulnerable to previously undescribed competition from carnivorous fish. Therefore, diet overlap information is important for inferring trophic interactions and to enable a better understanding of ecological aspects determining fish community structure.

Acknowledgments

This paper forms part of MSc thesis research work sponsored under the WIOMSA Eel project, slippery resource in peril: Ecology of Western Indian Ocean Anguillid eel and their contribution to sustainable fisheries and livelihoods along the East Coast of Africa awarded to Gordon O'Brien (GO), Charles Kihia (CK), Céline Hanzen (CH) and Emmanuel Mbaru (AM). We acknowledge additional funding from the Rotary club of Vienna (RCV) through the limnology and wetland management (LWM) programme at Egerton University under the leadership of Prof Nzula Kitaka. We are grateful to Egerton University through the Department of Biological Sciences and LWM programme for providing support for laboratory working space and use of equipment. We also want to acknowledge Miss Lena Gitonga and Miss Zipporah (MSc students) for their help during field work. Thank you to Mr. Mungai, Miss Priscilla and Mr. Eric from Egerton University, LWM office for their help. We would like to express our gratitude to all the community fishers from Kiaoni (Mr. Bonface Mwidini Kavisi, Mr. Peter Kilonzi, Mr. Patrick Makau and Miss Angelina Kasyoka), Sabaki bridge (Mr. Jira Munyika Mbovu and Mr. Roman Kazungu Mwashenga) and those from Ramisi river;
Mr. Suleiman Mtawazo and Mr. Ali Mufunga from Eshu and Charo Katana from Taliani for their assistance during the field work.

References

- Abrahams MV, Mangel M, Hedges K (2007) Predator-prey interaction and changing environment: who benefits? Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 362 (1487): 2095-2104 [doi. org/10.1098/rstb.2007.2102]
- Arai T, Abdul Kadir SR (2017) Diversity, distribution and different habitat use among the tropical freshwater eels of genus Anguilla. Scientific Reports 7 (1): 1-12 [doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-07837-x]
- Barbier E B, Baumgärtner S, Chopra K, Costello C, Duraiappah A, Hassan R, Perrings C (2009) The valuation of ecosystem services. Biodiversity, ecosystem functioning, and human wellbeing: An ecological and economic perspective: 248-262
- Belpaire C, Pujolar JM, Geeraerts C, Maes GE (2016) Contaminants in eels and their role in the collapse of the eel stocks. Biology and Ecology of Anguillid eels. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL. pp 225-250 [doi. org/10.1201/b19925]
- Ben-Natan G, Abramsky Z, Kotler BP, Brown, JS (2004) Seeds redistribution in sand dunes: a basis for coexistence of two rodent species. Oikos 105 (2): 325-335 [https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0030-1299.2004.12948.x.]
- Bevacqua D, Melia P, De Leo GA, Gatto M (2011) Intra-specific scaling of natural mortality in fish: the paradigmatic case of the European eel. Oecologia 165 (2): 333-339 [https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-010-1727-9.]
- Choi YM, Yoo J Choi JH, Choi KH, Kim JK, Kim YS, Kim JB (2008) Ecosystem structure and trophic level to the oceanographic conditions around the waters of Jeju Island. Journal of Environmental Biology 29 (4): 419-425
- Drouineau H, Durif C, Castonguay M, Mateo M, Rochard E, Verreault G, Lambert P (2018) Freshwater eels: A symbol of the effects of global change. Fish and Fisheries 19 (5): 903-930 [doi.org/10.1111/faf.12300]
- Duffy J E (2002) Biodiversity and ecosystem function: the consumer connection. Oikos 99 (2): 201-219 [doi. org/10.1034/j.1600-0706.2002.990201.x]
- Eccles DH (1992) FAO species identification sheets for fishery purposes. Field guide to the freshwater fishes of Tanzania. United Nations Development Programme, Project URT/87/016. FAO, Rome, Italy. 145 pp
- Froese R, Pauly D (eds) (2019) FishBase. World Wide Web Electronic Publication. [www.fishbase.org]

- Gerber A, Gabriel MJM (2002) Aquatic invertebrates of South African rivers. Department of Water Affairs and Forestry 33 (1): 157-171
- Gerking S D (2014) Feeding ecology of fish. Elsevier. pp 10-15
- González-Bergonzoni I, Silva I, Teixeira de Mello F, D'Anatro A, Boccardi L, Stebniki S, Naya D E (2020) Evaluating the role of predatory fish controlling the invasion of the Asian golden mussel *Limnoperna fortunei* in a subtropical river. Journal of Applied Ecology 57 (4): 717-728 [doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13573]
- Gordon DM (2014) The ecology of collective behavior. PLoS Biology 12 (3): e1001805 [doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1001805]
- Guzzo MM, Haffner GD, Legler ND, Rush SA, Fisk AT (2013) Fifty years later: trophic ecology and niche overlap of a native and non-indigenous fish species in the western basin of Lake Erie. *Biological Invasions* 15 (8): 1695-1711 [doi.org/10.1007/s10530-012-0401-z]
- Hanzen C, Weyl OL, Lucas M, Brink K, Downs C, O'Brien G (2019) Distribution, ecology and status of anguillid eels in East Africa and the Western Indian Ocean.
 Eels Biology, Monitoring, Management, Culture and Exploitation: Proceedings of the First International Eel Science Symposium. 5m Books Ltd. pp 33-58
- Hart P, Pitcher TJ (eds) (2012) The impact of species changes in African lakes 18. Springer Science and Business Media. pp 40-55
- Hecnar SJ, M'Closkey RT (1997) The effects of predatory fish on amphibian species richness and distribution. *Biological Conservation* 79 (2-3): 123-131 [doi. org/10.1016/S0006-3207(96)00113-9]
- Hickley P, Muchiri M, Britton R, Boar R (2008) Economic gain versus ecological damage from the introduction of non-native freshwater fish: case studies from Kenya. Journal of the Open Fish Science 1 (1): 36-46 [http://dx.doi.org/10.2174/1874401X00801010036]
- Hulme PE, Vilà M, Nentwig W, Pyšek P (2010) Are the aliens taking over? Invasive species and their increasing impact on biodiversity. Science 324 (5923): 40-41
- Hyslop EJ (1980) Stomach content analysis- a review of methods and their application 17 (4): 411-429 [doi. org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1980.tb02775.x]
- Itakura H, Kaino T, Miyake Y, Kitagawa T, Kimura S (2015) Feeding, condition, and abundance of Japanese eels from natural and revetment habitats in the Tone River, Japan. Environmental Biology of Fishes 98 (8): 1871-1888 [doi.org/10.1007/s10641-015-0404-6]
- Jacoby DMP, Casselman JM, Crook V, DeLucia M-B, Ahn H, Kaifu K, Kurwie T, Sasal P, Silfvergrip AMC, Smith KG, Uchida K, Walker AM, Gollock MJ (2015)

Synergistic patterns of threat and the challenges facing global anguillid eel conservation. Global Ecology and Conservation 4: 321-333

- James KR, Cant B, Ryan T (2003) Responses of freshwater biota to rising salinity levels and implications for saline water management: a review. Australian Journal of Botany 51 (6): 703-713 [https://doi.org/10.1071/ BT02110.]
- Jellyman DJ (1989) Diet of two species of freshwater eel (*Anguilla spp.*) in Lake Pounui, New Zealand. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 23 (1): 1-10 [doi.org/10.1080/00288330.1989.9516334]
- Jellyman DJ (2021) An enigma: how can freshwater eels (Anguilla spp.) be such a successful genus yet be universally threatened? Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries 32 (2): 701-718 [doi.org/10.1007/s11160-021-09658-8]
- Jellyman DJ, Glova GJ, Bonnett ML, McKerchar AI, Allen KR (2000) The Horokiwi Stream 50 years on: a study of the loss of a productive trout fishery. NIWA Tech Rep 83: 1-50
- Jellyman DJ, Sykes JR (2003) Diel and seasonal movements ofradio-tagged freshwatereels, *Anguillaspp.*, in two New Zealand streams. Environmental Biology of Fishes 66 (2): 143-154 [doi.org/10.1023/A:1023691604088]
- Jonsson B, Jonsson N (2004) Factors affecting marine production of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 61 (12): 2369-2383
- Kaifu K Miller MJ, Yada T, Aoyama J, Washitani I, Tsukamoto K (2013) Growth differences of Japanese eels *Anguilla japonica* between fresh and brackish water habitats in relation to annual food consumption in the Kojima Bay-Asahi River system, Japan. Ecology of Freshwater Fish 22 (1): 127-136 [doi.org/10.1111/ eff.12010]
- KCIDP (2018) Kwale County integrated development plan, 2018-2022. June, 2018. 246 pp
- Keppeler FW, Montaña CG, Winemiller KO (2020) The relationship between trophic level and body size in fishes depends on functional traits. Ecological Monographs 90 (4): e01415 [doi.org/10.1002/ecm.1415]
- Kihia CM, Hendrick Y, Muthumbi A, Okondo J, Nthiga A, Njuguna VM (2015) Diet and trophic status of fish landed by tropical artisanal bait fishers, Mida Creek Kenya. International Journal of Marine Science 5 (42): 1-9 [doi.org/10.5376/ijms.2015.05.0042]
- Kimakwa EW (2004) A study of fish community structure and distribution in the River Sabaki estuary, Kenya. Doctoral dissertation, Department of Zoology, University of Nairobi. [http://erepository.uonbi. ac.ke:8080/xmlui/handle/123456789/23137]

- Kiteresi LI, Okuku EO, Mwangi SN, Ohowa B, Wanjeri VO, Okumu S, Mkono M (2012) The influence of land based activities on the phytoplankton communities of Shimoni-Vanga system, Kenya. International Journal of Environmental Research 6 (1): 151-162
- Kobingi N, Raburu PO, Masese FO, Gichuki J (2009) Assessment of pollution impacts on the ecological integrity of the Kisian and Kisat rivers in Lake Victoria drainage basin, Kenya. African Journal of Environmental Science and Technology 3 (4): 97-107
- KWTA (2020) Kenya Water Towers status report; Shimba hills. Nairobi. 82 pp
- Laffaille P, Baisez A, Rigaud C, Feunteun E (2004) Habitat preferences of different European eel size classes in a reclaimed marsh: a contribution to species and ecosystem conservation. Wetlands 24 (3): 642-651 [doi.org/10.1672/0277-5212(2004)024[0642:H-PODEE]2.0.CO;2]
- Lin HY, Brown CJ, Dwyer RG, Harding DJ, Roberts DT, Fuller RA, Possingham HP (2018) Impacts of fishing, river flow and connectivity loss on the conservation of a migratory fish population. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 28 (1): 45-54 [https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.2831.]
- Maitra S, Harikrishnan M, Shibu AV, Sureshkumar S, Ranjeet K, Nandan SB (2018) Studies on temporal variations of exploited fishery resources and their trophic levels in a tropical estuary. Regional Studies in Marine Science 22 (19): 61-69 [doi.org/10.1016/j. rsma.2018.06.004]
- Manko P (2016) Stomach content analysis in freshwater fish feeding ecology. University of Prešov 116 (5): 1-25
- Manly BFL, McDonald L, Thomas D, McDonald TL, Erickson WP (2002) Resource selection by animals: statistical design and analysis for field studies. Kluwer Academic Publishers. pp 5-25
- McIntyre PB, Reidy Liermann C, Childress E, Hamann EJ, Hogan JD, Januchowski-Hartley SR, Pracheil BM (2016) Conservation of migratory fishes in freshwater ecosystems. Conservation of Freshwater Fishes. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. pp 324-360
- Moorhouse-Gann RJ, Kean EF, Parry G, Valladares S, Chadwick EA (2020) Dietary complexity and hidden costs of prey switching in a generalist top predator. Ecology and Evolution 10 (13): 6395-6408 [doi. org/10.1002/ece3.6375]
- Okeyo DO (1998) Updating names, distribution and ecology of riverine fish of Kenya in the Athi-Galana-Sabaki River drainage system. Naga, the ICLARM Quarterly 21 (1): 44-53 [http://hdl.handle.net/1834/26009]

- Okeyo DO, Ojwang W (2015) A photographic guide to freshwater fishes of Kenya. SeriouslyFish.com LINK (355): 1-355 [http://hdl.handle.net/123456789/291]
- Okuku EO, Owato G, Kiteresi LI, Otieno K, Kombo M, Wanjeri V, Mwalugha C (2022) Are tropical estuaries a source of or a sink for marine litter? Evidence from Sabaki Estuary, Kenya. Marine Pollution Bulletin 176 (15): 113397 [doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2022.113397]
- Okwiri B, Donde OO, Kibet CJ (2019) Status and impacts of non-native freshwater fish on fisheries biodiversity and biogeography in Kenya: A management perspective. Lakes & Reservoirs: Research & Management 24 (4): 332-343 [https://doi.org/10.1111/ lre.12291]
- Ovegård MK, Öhman K, Mikkelsen JS, Jepsen N (2017) Cormorant predation overlaps with fish communities and commercial-fishery interest in a Swedish lake. Marine and Freshwater Research 68 (9): 1677-1685 [doi.org/10.1071/MF16227]
- Pasquaud S, Pillet M, David V, Sautour B, Elie P (2010) Determination of fish trophic levels in an estuarine system. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 86 (2): 237-246 [doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2009.11.019]
- Pianka ER (1981) Competition and niche theory. Theoretical ecology second edition: Principles and Applications: 167-196
- Revenga C (2003) Status and trends of biodiversity of inland water ecosystems. Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity, Montreal, Technical Series (11): 1-126
- Romanuk TN, Jackson LJ, Post JR, McCauley E, Martinez ND (2006) The structure of food webs along river networks. Ecography 29 (1): 3-10 [https://doi. org/10.1111/j.2005.0906-7590.04181.x]
- Sagar PM, Graynoth E, Glova GJ (2005) Prey selection and dietary overlap of shortfinned (*Anguilla australis*) and longfinned (*A. dieffenbachii*) eels during summer in the Horokiwi Stream, New Zealand. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 39 (4): 931-939 [doi.org/10.1080/00288330.2005.9517363]
- Sánchez-Hernández J, Vieira-Lanero R, Servia MJ, Cobo F (2011) Feeding habits of four sympatric fish species in the Iberian Peninsula: keys to understanding coexistence using prey traits. Hydrobiologia 667 (1): 119-132 [doi.org/10.1007/s10750-011-0643-2]
- Schabetsberger R, Miller MJ, Olmo GD, Kaiser R, Økland F, Watanabe S, Tsukamoto K (2016) Hydrographic features of anguillid spawning areas: potential signposts for migrating eels. Marine Ecology Progress Series 554 (2016): 141-155 [https://doi.org/10.3354/ meps11824]

- Schulze T, Kahl U, Radke RJ, Benndorf J (2004) Consumption, abundance and habitat use of *Anguilla anguilla* in a mesotrophic reservoir. Journal of Fish Biology 65 (6): 1543-1562 [doi.org/10.1111/j.0022-1112.2004. 00565.x]
- Seegers L, De Vos L, Okeyo DO (2003) Annotated checklist of the freshwater fishes of Kenya (excluding the lacustrine haplochromines from Lake Victoria). Journal of East African Natural History 92 (1): 11-47 [https:// doi.org/10.2982/0012-8317(2003)92[11:ACOT-FF]2.0.CO;2.]
- Sih A, Englund G, Wooster D (1998) Emergent impacts of multiple predators on prey. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 13 (9): 350-355 [doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5347(98)01437-2]
- Simpfendorfer CA, Heupel MR, White WT, Dulvy NK (2011) The importance of research and public opinion to conservation management of sharks and rays: a synthesis. Marine and Freshwater Research 62 (6): 518-527 [doi.org/10.1071/MF11086]
- Sinha VRP, Jones JW (1967) On the food of the freshwater eels and their feeding relationship with the salmonids. Journal of Zoology 153 (1): 119-137 [doi. org/10.1111/j.1469-7998.1967.tb05034.x]
- Skelton P (1993) A Complete guide to the freshwater fishes of Southern Africa. Southern Book Publishers, Halfway House. 388 pp
- Strayer DL, Dudgeon D (2010) Freshwater biodiversity conservation: recent progress and future challenges. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 29 (1): 344-358 [https://doi.org/10.1899/08-171.1]
- Tadesse SA (2018) The effects of competition (intraspecific and inter-specific) and predation on the distribution and abundance of guppy fish (*Poecilia reticulata*). International Journal of Avian & Wildlife Biology 3 (5): 358-365
- Tófoli RM, Alves GHZ, Higuti J, Cunico AM, Hahn N (2013) Diet and feeding selectivity of a benthivorous fish in streams: responses to the effects of urbanization. Journal of Fish Biology 83 (1): 39-51 [doi. org/10.1111/jfb.12145]
- Van Someren VD, Whitehead PJ (1959) The culture of *Tilapia nigra* (Günther) in ponds I. Growth after maturity in male *T. nigra*. The East African Agricultural Journal 25 (1): 42-46
- Walsh CJ, Roy AH, Feminella JW, Cottingham PD, Groffman PM, Morgan RP (2005) The urban stream syndrome: current knowledge and the search for a cure. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 24 (3): 706-723

- Wanja DN (2013) Guide to common freshwater fishes of Kenya. Moran Publishers, English Press Ltd. pp 1-25
- Wekesa C, Kirui BK, Maranga EK, Muturi GM (2019) Variations in forest structure, tree species diversity and above-ground biomass in edges to interior cores of

fragmented forest patches of Taita Hills, Kenya. Forest Ecology and Management 440: 48-60

Zacharia PU (2017) Trophic levels and methods for stomach content analysis of fishes. ICAR- Central Marine Fisheries Research Institute: 278-288

Supplementary material

Table S.I. One-way ANOSIM pairwise correlation on diet composition among sampling locations on the Athi and Ramisi Rivers. Significant differences are indicated in bold.

Sampling locations	Eshu	Kiaoni	Sabaki	Taliani	Athi	Ramisi
Eshu	1					
Kiaoni	0.003	1				
Sabaki	0.0007	0.002	1			
Taliani	0.004	0.006	0.003	1		
Athi	0.001	0.026	0.70	0.001	1	
Ramisi	0.92	0.004	0.006	0.005	0.006	1

Tabel S.2. One-way SIMPER analysis of diet contribution and composition among the sampled locations in the Athi-Galana-Sabaki and Ramisi Rivers, Kenya. Significant contributions to dissimilarities are in bold.

Reaches Upstream Downstream Upstream			ream vs	Downst	ream	Focal rivers				
Sampling locations	Kiaoni w	vs Eshu	Saba Tali	iki vs iani	Kiao Sat	ni vs baki	Eshu ve	a Taliani	Athi Vs	Ramisi
Taxon	Av. dissim	Contrib. %	Av. dissim	Contrib. %	Av. dissim	Contrib. %	Av. dissim	Contrib. %	Av. dissim	Contrib. %
Penaeid Shrimp	0.00	0.00	34.13	38.58	26.79	33.78	5.90	6.43	19.24	24.44
POM	10.34	12.57	7.77	8.79	10.18	12.83	2.55	2.72	8.58	10.89
AOM	7.95	9.66	6.11	6.92	5.24	6.60	4.64	4.95	6.34	8.049
DOM	7.25	8.82	9.07	10.26	5.24	6.60	10.22	10.89	7.66	9.73
Fish	14.40	17.48	12.62	14.26	9.60	12.1	27.46	29.27	10.14	12.88
Prawns	15.34	18.62	0.00	0.00	0.04	0.05	26.11	27.83	7.81	10.00
Crabs	2.61	3.17	9.84	11.12	6.65	8.3	4.52	4.82	4.42	5.61
Vegetations	7.2	7 8.83	4.18	4.72	3.12	3.94	4.29	4.60	5.00	6.32
Unidentified insects	2.59	3.15	3.28	3.71	2.75	3.47	4.96	5.29	2.86	3.65
Damselflies	0.00	0.00	0.41	0.48	0.35	0.47	0.00	0.00	0.23	0.30
Mayflies	1.35	1.64	0.23	0.28	1.01	1.27	0.00	0.00	0.88	1.13
Polychaete worms	0.00		0.18	0.21	0.12	0.16	0.00	0.00	0.10	0.13
Pond snails	0.53	0.65	0.13	0.15	0.33	0.42	0.00	0.00	0.28	0.36
Beetles	3.15	3.83	0.40	0.45	2.10	2.64	0.34	0.36	1.3	1.68
Stoneflies	0.00	0.00	0.07	0.08	0.06	0.08	0.00	0.00	0.04	0.06
Bird	0.84	1.01	0.04	0.05	0.52	0.65	0.00	0.00	0.35	0.46
Annelid worms	0.08	0.10	0.00	0	0.05	0.07	0.00	0.00	0.03	0.04
Bivalves	0.47	0.60	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.65	0.70	0.26	0.34
Caddisflies	6.60	8.01	0.00	0.00	4.51	6.60	0.00	0.00	2.67	3.40
Chironomidae	1.11	1.34	0.00	0.00	0.68	0.85	0.00	0.00	0.37	0.48
							0.00			
Plant seeds	0.45	0.54	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	2.17	2.37	0.14	0.18

Food items	Eel	Introduced carnivorous	Introduced herbivorous	Introduced Omnivorous	Native carnivorous	Native herbivorous	Native omnivorous
Annelid worm	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.8	0.0	0.0	0.0
Polychaeta worms	0.9	0.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Beetle	0.0	0.7	8.3	9.8	0.0	0.0	6.7
Bivalve	0.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Caddisflies	0.0	0.0	15.3	17.3	0.0	5.9	0.0
Chironomidae	0.0	0.0	2.8	2.3	0.0	0.0	0.0
Damselfly	0.0	1.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	6.7
Mayflies	0.0	0.7	0.0	5.3	0.0	7.8	0.0
Pond snails	0.9	0.7	0.0	0.8	0.0	2.0	0.0
Stoneflies	0.0	0.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Unidentified Insect	2.8	4.1	5.6	6.8	0.0	3.9	6.7
AOM	2.8	8.1	4.2	15.0	10.1	13.7	6.7
POM	0.0	3.4	43.1	8.3	2.2	31.4	0.0
DOM	2.8	2.0	11.1	0.8	0.7	27.5	13.3
Vegetation	7.5	10.1	6.9	15.0	7.9	5.9	0.0
Plant seeds	0.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Crab	9.3	6.8	0.0	2.3	14.4	0.0	0.0
Penaeid Shrimps	14.0	36.5	1.4	3.0	34.5	2.0	33.3
Prawns	13.1	0.0	1.4	4.5	10.8	0.0	0.0
Fish	43.0	23.6	0.0	9.3	18.7	0.0	26.7
Birds	0.9	0.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0

Table S.3. Diet composition and preferences among eels and feeding guild residency in the Athi-Galana-Sabaki and Ramisi Rivers.

Tabel S.4. One-way ANOSIM pairwise correlation between eel and different sympatric feeding guilds belonging to different ecological status and food item preferences (P values in bold are significant at p<0.05).

Residency guilds	Eel	Introduced carnivorous	Introduced Omnivorous	Introduced herbivorous	Native carnivorous	Native omnivorous	Native herbivorous
Eel	1						
Introduced carnivorous	0.003	1					
Introduced Omnivorous	0.016	0.193	1				
Introduced herbivorous	0.001	0.011	0.072	1			
Native carnivorous	0.095	0.025	0.070	0.007	1		
Native omnivorous	0.001	0.220	0.018	0.001	0.0003	1	
Native herbivorous	0.003	0.030	0.120	0.973	0.01	0.003	1

Original Article

Phthalates in marine sediment, water and the cockle *Anadara antiquata* on the coast of Tanzania

Sai Ngassa¹*⁶, Cyprian Mpinda¹⁶, Kessy Kilulya²⁶, Rose Masalu¹⁶

¹ Department of Molecular Biology and Biotechnology, College of Natural and Applied Sciences, University of Dar es Salaam, PO Box 35179, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania ² Chemistry Department, College of Natural and Applied Sciences, University of Dar es Salaam, PO Box 35061, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania.

Abstract

Phthalates are a group of chemicals used as plasticisers, and are easily released into the environment, where they degrade over time. We investigated the concentrations of phthalates in sediments, seawater, and the cockle Anadara antiquata from beaches at Dar es Salaam, Mtwara, Tanga and Zanzibar in Tanzania. A dispersive liquid-liquid microextraction method was used to extract analytes from samples, whereafter they were analysed with a gas chromatograph coupled to a mass spectrophotometer. Concentrations of diisobutyl phthalate (DiBP), dibutyl phthalate (DBP) and Bis(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP) were determined. DiBP concentrations were highest at Dar es Salaam (11.5 - 12.4 ng/mL in seawater; 11.5 - 13.6 ng/g dry weight in sediments), compared to the other three sites, where minimum and maximum concentrations in sediments were 3.5 ng/g dw (Mtwara) and 10.7 ng/g dw (Tanga). DBP concentrations were also highest at Dar es Salaam (12.4 - 20.6 ng/mL in seawater; 12.1 - 18.7 ng/g dw in sediments) compared to 2.7 (minimum, Mtwara) and 11.2 ng/g dw (maximum, Tanga). DEHP at Dar es Salaam ranged from un-detected to 12.6 ng/mL in seawater and to 12.6 ng/g dw in sediments. It was further revealed that A. antiquata from Kawe Beach (Dar es Salaam) had higher concentrations of DiBP, DBP, and DEHP compared to other sites. Monitoring of phthalate concentrations will indicate pollution hotspots and trends in the region.

Keywords: dibutyl phthalate, Bis (2-ethylhexyl) phthalate, diisobutyl phthalate, seawater, sediment, cockles, Tanzania

Western Indian Ocean JOURNAL OF Marine Science

Open access

Citation:

Ngassa S, Mpinda C, Kilulya K, Masalu R (2023) Phthalates in marine sediment, water and the cockle Anadara antiquata on the coast of Tanzania. Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science 22(2): 107-124 [doi: 10.4314/wiojms.v22i2.8]

Received:

August 15, 2023

Accepted: October 13, 2023

Published: December 8, 2023

Copyright:

Owned by the journal. The articles are open access articles distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY 4.0) licence.

* Corresponding author: saingassa@gmail.com

Introduction

Marine ecosystems in the Western Indian Ocean (WIO) region, similar to other coastal areas in the world, are vulnerable to synthetic organic pollutants from anthropogenic sources (Vered *et al.*, 2019). Among the most widely used synthesised chemicals, phthalates have many applications in industrial products, such as plastic-based packaging material, adhesives, printing inks, canned food containers, cosmetics, paints, medical products, ammunition, and pesticides (Paluselli *et al.*, 2018). They are used with polymer-making materials such as polyvinyl chloride, polyethene terephthalate, polyethene, and polyvinyl acetate, making up to 60 % of the weight of the product (Bi *et al.*, 2021). In 2019, it

was estimated that the global phthalate output ranged between 6 and 8 million metric tonnes per annual (Seyoum and Pradhan, 2019). China has been identified as the largest consumer, accounting for about 45 % of global phthalate output, whereas, Europe and the United State together have been estimated to consume 25 % (Holland, 2018; Zhang *et al.*, 2021). Due to the low production costs and lack of ideal alternatives, the demand for phthalates is constantly growing at an estimated rate of 1.3 % per year, which raises environmental concerns (De-la-Torre *et al.*, 2022).

Phthalates unavoidably contaminate numerous environmental systems as they are likely to escape from the plastic matrix by volatilization, leaching, or abrasion (Paluselli *et al.*, 2018). Phthalates can infiltrate marine systems through atmospheric deposition, direct discharge and river runoff (Arslan *et al.*, 2021; Cao *et al.*, 2022). Coastal sediment is a major pollutant sink, carrier, and potential secondary pollution source of phthalates since most, particularly those with a higher molecular weight, possess high octanol-water partition coefficients and are primarily carried and effects on marine organisms, impacting their development and the reproductive systems of amphibians, crabs, annelids, molluscs, fish, and insects (Godswill and Godspel, 2019). They have been linked to the development of genetic abnormalities in amphibians and crustaceans (Oehlmann *et al.*, 2009). They have been associated with a reduction in the diversity and abundance of marine organisms in highly contaminated areas, by halting reproduction (Chaudhry, 2018).



Figure 1. Map showing the locations of sampling sites. A: Tanga Sahare Fish Market Beach, B: Tanga Raskazone Beach, C: Tanga Mkongeni Beach D: Pangani Fish Market Beach, E: Pwani Mchangani, F: Zanzibar Ferry Beach G: Zanzibar Mazizini Fish Market, H: Zanzibar Bwawani Komba, I: Kunduchi Beach, J: Kawe Beach, Selander Bridge, L: Posta Ferry Beach, M: Mtwara Ferry Fish Market Beach, N: Mikindani, O: Ruvula, P: Msimbati.

sequestered in solid-phase matrices in aquatic environments (Paluselli *et al.*, 2018; Jebara *et al.*, 2021).

Phthalates have long been considered pervasive and entrenched organic pollutants of major environmental concern (Zhang *et al.*, 2018). These chemicals are well known for their adverse impact on organisms, including humans. Phthalates have endocrine-disrupting Studies have revealed that swimming, fishing, and consuming marine biota contaminated by phthalates pose a risk to humans (Savoca *et al.*, 2018; Cheng *et al.*, 2018; Heo *et al.*, 2019; Kim *et al.*, 2020). It has been reported that exposure to various types of phthalates can cause health issues, such as premature puberty and short anogenital distance, endocrine disruption, altered semen quality and quantity, endometriosis, hyperactivity, mental impairment in children, metabolic syndrome, allergies, and breast cancer (Savoca *et al.*, 2018; Cheng *et al.*, 2018; Heo *et al.*, 2019; Kim *et al.*, 2020).

The presence of phthalates in the marine environment has been reported in various studies (Paluselli *et al.*, 2018; Mi *et al.*, 2019; He *et al.*, 2020; Ai *et al.*, 2021; Jebara *et al.*, 2021). However, no study reported on the occurrence of phthalates in the marine environment along the Tanzanian coast. Furthermore, no study has been performed to assess the level of bioconcentration of plasticizers and their associated metabolites in biota along the Tanzanian coast. Effective environmental management and remediation need an understanding of the existing situation, pollutant sources, and ecological risk posed by phthalates along Tanzania's coast. The current study, therefore, investigated the levels of phthalates in beach sediment, seawater, and the cockle, *Anadara antiquata*.

Materials and methods

Study area and sample collection

The sampling locations were chosen to reflect a spectrum of anthropogenic activities, from marine protected areas and park reserves (Ruvula and Msimbati in Tanga) to heavily industrialized areas (Kunduchi Beach, Kawe Beach, Selander Bridge and Posta Ferry Beach in Dar es Salaam) (Table 1 and Fig. 1). Most of the sampling sites were characterized by fishing and/or recreational activities. Sampling was performed during the Northern Monsoon period, between November 2020 and February 2021. This period corresponds to summer in temperate regions of the southern hemisphere, and to the transition from the dry to wet season. At each site a hand-held metal shovel was used to collect triplicate sediment samples of about 500 g by scraping about 5 cm off the surface at three designated points spaced about 300 m apart. The sediment samples were placed into aluminium bags, which were sealed tightly and stored in a cooler box containing ice

Table 1. The locations and descriptions of anthropogenic activities at the sampling sites.

S/NO	Sampling site	Coastal Region	Location sample corrected	Main Anthropogenic Activities
1	Tanga Sahare Fish Market Beach (TSB)		(-5.087628, 39.130000)	The sandy beach is mostly used for recreational and fishing activities.
2	Pangani Fish Market Beach (PFM)	T	(-5.430754, 38.982405)	Recreational activities and fishing are predominant along the sandy beach.
3	Tanga Mkongeni Beach (TMB)	Tanga	(-5.061770, 39.115607)	Recreational activities and fishing are predominant along the sandy beach.
4	Tanga Raskazone Beach (TRB)		(-5.068851, 39.125562)	The sandy beach is mostly used for recreational activities.
5	Mtwara Ferry Fish Market Beach (MTF)		-10.262807, 40.187560	Sandy beach that is primarily dominated with ferry transportation landings and fish commerce.
6	Mikindani (MK)	D <i>(t</i>	-10.278588, 40.112321	A beach dominated mostly by ferry transportation, fishing, small-scale trade, and boat building.
7	Ruvula (RU)	Miwara	-10.301849, 40.396824	A sandy beach situated within a marine park reserve, with restricted fishing and recreational pursuits.
8	Msimbati (MS)		-10.304109, 40.411538	A sandy beach situated within a marine park reserve, with restricted fishing and recreational pursuits.
9	Zanzibar Ferry Beach (ZF)		-6.157824, 39.191915	Marine transportation and small businesses.
10	Zanzibar Mazizini Fish Market (ZMF)	Unguja	-6.199110, 39.182703	Dominated by fishing activities and small businesses.
11	Pwani Mchangani (PM)	(Zanzibar)	-5.922915, 39.378741	Recreational activities.
12	Zanzibar Bwawani Komba (ZBK)		-6.155921, 39.197996	Recreational activities.
13	Kunduchi Beach (KU)		-6.666713, 39.220493	Fishing, and small businesses.
14	Kawe Beach (K)	D 61	-6.733608, 39.239545	Recreational activities, fishing and small businesses.
15	Selander Bridge (S)	Dar es Salaam	-6.733785, 39.239609	Mouth of Msimbazi river receiving water from industries and domestic wastes.
16	Posta Ferry Beach (PF)		-6.820087, 39.297296	Transportation, fishing and small businesses.

bags. For seawater sampling, a boat was used to collect samples (1 L each) offshore using a Niskin bottle and transferred to amber bottles precleaned with absolute acetone and dichloromethane. The samples were collected from three sampling points situated about 100 m from the shore and about 300 m apart at each site. The cockle, A. antiquata, was purchased from fishermen at each site. Three different fishermen were randomly chosen at each site to obtain different A. antiquata. When only one or two fishermen were available at a site, the A. antiquata specimens were randomly separated by eye. A total of 48 seawater, 48 sediments, and 15 A. antiquata samples were collected. Physical parameters including temperature, pH, total dissolved solids (TDS) and electrical conductivity (EC) were measured using a low-range Combo® pH/EC/TDS meter (Model HI 98129, HANNA Instruments Inc., USA).

Sample preparation

In the laboratory, sediment samples were sieved to remove organic shells, plants, and any other non-sediment material. They were dried at room temperature (25 °C) overnight in a laminar flow cabinet (Model: EC6VF) using an airflow of 0.5 m/s to facilitate the drying process. The samples were subsequently crushed using a mortar and pestle to ensure homogeneity and reduce particle size. This step was crucial for increasing the surface area to volume ratio of the sediments to enhance the efficiency of the extracting solvent. After homogenization, 10 mL of analytical-grade ethanol (99.9 %) was added to 1 g of sediment and sonicated for 30 minutes at 30 \pm 3 °C. The mixture was centrifuged for 5 min at 1500 X g (Hettich Zetrifugen Model: Universal 320R, Andreas Hettich GmbH & Co. KG, 785332 Tuttlingen, Germany). The supernatant was transferred to screw-capped test tubes.

The tissue of *A. antiquata* was dissected from the shell and homogenised using a blender. After homogenization, 10 mL of analytical-grade ethanol (99.9) was added to 1 g of tissue sample, and the mixture was sonicated for 60 minutes at 30 ± 3 °C. The sample was then centrifuged (Hettich Zetrifugen Model: Universal 320R, Andreas Hettich GmbH & Co. KG, 785332 Tuttlingen, Germany) for 5 min at 1500 X g, and the supernatant transferred to screw-capped test tubes. Seawater was filtered using clean and sterilised cloth gauze.

Extraction of analytes

Phthalates were extracted using a dispersive liquid-liquid microextraction method, adapted from Liang *et al.* (2008). Twenty aliquots, each containing 5 mL of the sample solution, were added to separate conical-bottomed glass test tubes from each sample. A 1 mL glass syringe (Pressure-Lok, VICI Precision Sampling Inc., Baton Rouge, LA, USA) was used to inject 1 mL of acetonitrile (CAS No. 75-05-8, Sigma Aldrich Japan KK) into the sample solution as the dispersive solvent, followed by 100 μ L of carbon tetrachloride (CCl₄) (CAS No. 56-23-5, VWR International BVBA, Leuven, UK) as the extraction solvent. The mixture was vortexed using a Scientific Vortex-2 Genie (Model: G-560E, Scientific Industries, Inc., Bohemia, NY, 11716, USA) for 5 minutes and then centrifuged (see model above) for 5 minutes at 3000 X g to create a cloudy solution of very small droplets of CCL4. Due to its high density, sedimented CCl₄ was collected using a 100 μ L glass syringe into a single vial and allowed to dry overnight, before being dissolved in 1 mL dichloromethane (99.5%, AR/ ACS, CAS: 75-092 ADR/PG, LOBA Chemie., Jehangir Villa, 107 Wonderhouse, Mumbai, India).

Determination of phthalates

An analytical standard phthalate mixture of 1000 µg/mL was diluted by methanol (Brand: Supelco: CRM48805, Sigma-Aldrich Chemie GmbH) and used for the preparation of external calibration curves for quantification of analytes in the samples. The standard mixture contained Dimethyl phthalate, Diethyl phthalate, Diisobutyl phthalate, Dibutyl phthalate, Methyl glycol phthalate, Phthalic acid, di(2-methylpent-3-yl) ester, Dimethoxyethyl phthalate, Di-n-pentyl phthalate, di-n-Hexyl phthalate, Benzyl butyl phthalate, Bis (2-butoxy ethyl) phthalate, Diisooctyl phthalate, Dicyclohexyl phthalate, 1,2-Benzenedicarboxylic acid, diphenyl ester, Di-n-octyl phthalate, Phthalic acid, and Nonyl pentadecyl ester.

Determination of phthalates was performed using Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS) using a Shimadzu GC-MS-2010 instrument operated in Electron Ionization (EI) mode (MS) at 70 eV and Flame Ionization Detector (FID) for GC (Lo Brutto *et al.*, 2021). A Restek-5MS column (30 m x 0.25 mm x 0.25 µm) was used. The oven temperature programming was 90 °C to 280 °C, held at 90 °C for two minutes. The temperature was increased to 280 °C for 10 minutes (hold time), at a rate of 15 °C per minute. The injection temperature was 250 °C with splitless injection mode. The flow rate of carrier gas Helium was 1.21 mL min⁻¹. The ion source temperature and interface temperature in MS were 230 °C and 300 °C, respectively. The final instrumental runtime per sample was 26.48 minutes.

Phthalate bioaccumulation in Anadara antiquata

Bioconcentration of plasticizers in *A. antiquata* was calculated as:

$$BCF = \frac{C_B}{C_w}$$
 Equation (1)

Where BCF is the bioconcentration factor, C_B is the concentration in the organism, and Cw is the concentration in seawater.

Biota sediment accumulation factor was calculated as:

$$BSAF = {C_B}/{C_S}$$
 Equation (2)

Where BSAF is the bioconcentration factor in sediment, C_{B} is the concentration in the organism, and Cs is the concentration in sediment.

Quality control and assurance

All solvents were measured for phthalates before analysis. Plastic experimental tools were avoided whenever deemed necessary. Sampling and procedural blanks were used to check for background contamination of target contaminants. Trace levels of phthalates detected in procedural blanks were subtracted from the real samples. Percentage recovery was determined by spiking a known concentration of the analytical standard solution into sediment, seawater, and *A. antiquata* tissue. The spiked samples were subsequently subjected to liquid-liquid microextraction and the percentage recovery was determined using Equation 3. The limit of detection (LOD) and limit of quantification (LOQ) were determined by applying Equations 4 and 5, respectively (Table 2). Samples that fell below the detection limit were statistically treated as half of the detection limit. Triplicate samples were taken and treated as separate samples; the average concentration of the triplicate samples was determined, and the results are presented as the mean and standard deviation.

%Recovery =
$$\frac{C_0 - C_e}{C_s} x100$$
 Equation (3)

Where C_o is the observed Concentration, C_e is the endogenous concentration, Cs is the spiked concentration of the standard (Burns *et al.*, 2002).

LOD = mean of limit of blank + 3 SD Equation (4)

LOQ = Limit of blank (mean value) +10 SD Equation (5) Where, LOD is the limit of detection, LOQ is the limit of quantification, SD is the standard deviation of the low-concentration sample (Taleuzzaman 2018).

Statistical analysis

Statistical tests were performed using nonparametric or parametric tests, chosen based on the data distribution determined using the F-test. ANOVA was used for parametric data, while Mann-Whitney and Kruskal-Wallis tests were used for non-parametric data. In all cases, a p-value of < 0.05 was used to identify statistically significant differences between phthalate concentrations amongst groups. Pearson's correlation test was used to evaluate the correlation among and between phthalates and physico-chemical parameters (temperature, pH, EC, TDS). The Paleontological Statistics Software Package for Education and Data

Table 2. Analytical recovery, limit of detection (LOD), and limit of quantification (LOQ).

Analyte Name		%Recovery		LOD	LOQ
Analyte Name –	Sediment Seawat		A. antiquata	ng/mL	-
Dimethyl phthalate	92.81	97.23	86.68	0.03	0.11
Diethyl phthalate	87.02	96.06	81.42	0.04	0.13
Diisobutyl phthalate	100.75	91.32	78.44	0.05	0.13
Dibutyl phthalate	103.04	118.04	81.60	0.06	0.21
Methyl glycol phthalate	86.97	93.25	75.02	0.08	0.29
Phthalic acid, di(2-methylpent-3-yl) ester	94.01	94.76	80.76	0.07	0.23
Diethoxyethyl phthalate	86.78	90.50	83.50	0.04	0.15
Di-n-pentyl phthalate	86.92	89.02	76.02	0.07	0.24
di-n-Hexyl phthalate	87.07	90.25	90.25	0.06	0.20
Benzyl butyl phthalate	78.70	80.44	74.06	0.05	0.16
Bis(2-butoxyethyl) phthalate	86.24	91.22	81.00	0.05	0.18
Bis(2-ethyhexyl) phthalate	89.48	78.20	78.20	0.17	0.58
Dicyclohexyl phthalate	79.02	86.10	77.78	0.06	0.22
1,2-Benzenedicarboxylic acid, diphenyl ester	86.23	93.09	76.44	0.09	0.33
Di-n-octyl phthalate	87.61	89.73	79.06	0.08	0.27
Phthalic acid, nonyl pentadecyl ester	80.56	86.00	73.56	0.22	0.72

Analysis (PAST), version 4.09 (Hammer *et al.*, 2001), was used to conduct the statistical analyses. Graphs were generated using Microsoft[®] Excel Version 16.52.

Results

Quality control and assurance

The percentage recovery, LOD, and LOQ are provided in Table 2. Recovery ranged from 73.56 to 118.04 %, which is within the acceptable range of 70 to 120 % (Shabeer *et al.*, 2018). A test for instrument sensitivity under the set of machine measurement acquisition revealed that the LOD ranged from 0.03 to 0.22 ng/mL, while the LOQ was from 0.11 to 0.72 ng/mL.

Phthalates in Dar es Salaam samples

Figure 2 presents the presence of three phthalates (DBP, DiBP, and DEHP) in sediment, seawater, and *A. antiquata* samples from four sampling sites in Dar es

Salaam. The levels of DiBP varied from 11.53 ± 0.41 ng/mL to 13.35 ± 1.41 ng/g dw in seawater and sediment samples, respectively, meanwhile, the concentration in A. antiquata was 11.82 ± 4.21 ng/g fw. DBP levels ranged from 12.09 \pm 0.28 ng/g dw to 20.63 \pm 0.99 ng/g dw in sediments and seawater, respectively, whereas in A. antiquata samples it was $12.19 \pm 1.81 \text{ ng/g}$ fw. DEHP was detected at Kawe Beach and Selander Bridge, which levels ranged from 6.04 ± 2.52 ng/mL to 12.57±2.52 ng/mL in seawater and 7.57 ± 1.02 ng/g dw to 12.52 ng/g dw in sediments, and 5.87 ± 2.47 ng/g fw in A. antiquata. One-Way ANOVA revealed no significant differences in phthalate levels between seawater and sediment amongst the sampling locations (p > 0.05) (Table 3). However, the distribution of phthalates in sediment showed significant differences, with DBP having the highest mean concentration, followed by DiBP and DEHP (p > 0.05) (Table 3).



Figure 2. Concentrations of phthalates along the coast of Dar es Salaam. A: Diisobutyl phthalate (DiBP) B: Dibutyl phthalate (DBP), C: Bis(2-ethyhexyl) phthalate (DEHP), D: DiBP, DBP and DEHP concentration comparison. SW: Selander Bridge-Seawater, SS: Selander Bridge-Sediment sample, PFW: Posta Ferry Beach-Seawater, FS: Posta Ferry-Sediment sample, KW: Kawe Beach-Seawater, KS: Kawe Beach-Sediment, KUW: Kunduchi Beach-Seawater and KUS: Kunduchi Beach-Sediment. Error Bar= Standard deviation (SD, n=3). Part per billion (ppb)= ng/mL for seawater, ng/g dw (dry weight) for sediment), ng/g fw (fresh weight) for *A. antiquata*.

Table 3. Concentration of DiBP, DBP and DEHP along the coast of Tanzania.

Statistical comparison	Sample type	Sampling sites	Phthalates (Concentration Mean ± SD)		
Dar es Salaam (D)			D_DiBP	D_DBP	D_DEHP
		SW	12.00 ± 0.31	20.63 ± 0.99	12.57 ± 2.52
	~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~	FW	11.53 ± 0.41	12.41 ± 1.69	nd
(W_DiBP Vs W_DBP VsW_DEHP)**	Seawater (W) (ng/mL)	KW	12.4 ± 1.20	13.64 ± 2.78	6.04 ± 2.52
(S_DiBPVs S_DBPVs S_DEHP)*		KUW	11.70 ± 1.40	13.08 ± 1.49	nd
$(W_DBPV_s S_DBP)*$		SS	13.35 ± 1.41	18.65 ± 1.49	12.57 ± 2.35
(W_DEHP Vs S_DEHP)*	$(1, 1, \dots, (0), (1, 1))$	FS	11.67 ± 0.86	12.09 ± 0.28	nd
	Sediment (S) (ng/g dw)	KS	11.54 ± 0.94	15.83 ± 3.28	7.57 ± 1.02
		KUS	12.32 ± 0.86	12.82 ± 0.33	nd
	A. antiquata (A) (ng/g fw)	KA	11.82 ± 4.21	12.19 ± 1.81	5.87 ± 2.47
Mtwara (M)			M_DiBP	M_DBP	M_DEHP
		MTFW	14.35 ±1.12	11.15 ± 0.76	nd
(M DiBPVs M DBPVs M DEHP)*	MKW 6.17 ± 1.34 RUW 3.71 ± 0.58 MSW 5.54 ± 1.43 MTFS 10.42 ± 0.89 MKS 7.81 ± 1.43 RUS 6.30 ± 1.04	6.17 ± 1.34	7.07 ± 1.04	nd	
(W DiBP Vs W DBP Vs W DEHP)*	Seawater (W) (ng/mL)	RUW	3.71 ± 0.58	5.82 ± 1.02	nd
(S_DiBP Vs S_DBP Vs S_DEHP)*		MSW	5.54 ± 1.43	6.31 ± 1.61	nd
(W_DiBP Vs S_DiBP)*		MTFS	10.42 ± 0.89	9.71 ± 0.14	nd
(W_DBP Vs S_DBP)*	$C = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} $	$ \begin{array}{cccc} \text{MTFS} & 10.42 \pm 0.89 & 9.71 \pm 0.14 \\ \text{MKS} & 7.81 \pm 1.43 & 8.40 \pm 0.09 \\ \text{RUS} & 6.30 \pm 1.04 & 4.3 \pm 0.60 \\ \text{MSS} & 4.56 \pm 1.21 & 5.26 \pm 0.27 \end{array} $			nd
(W_DEHP Vs S_DEHP)*	Sediment (S) (ng/g dw)	RUS	6.30 ± 1.04	4.3 ± 0.60	nd
		MSS	4.56 ± 1.21	5.26 ± 0.37	nd
	1 antiquata (A) (pg/g fui)	MTFA	2.60 ± 1.12	4.43 ± 0.95	nd
	A. antiquata (A) (llg/g lw)	МКА	2.72 ± 0.66	3.53 ± 0.62	nd
Tanga (T)			T_DiBP	T_DBP	T_DEHP
		TSBW	8.23 ± 0.94	9.32 ± 1.16	nd
(T DiBPVsT DBPVsT DFHP)***	$\mathbf{S}_{\text{answertow}}(\mathbf{W})$ (\mathbf{n}_{m} (\mathbf{m}_{m})	PFMW	9.23 ± 0.94	4.86 ± 0.71	nd
(W DiBP Vs W DBP Vs W DEHP)*	Seawater (w) (lig/IIIL)	TRZBW	9.56 ± 1.65	5.36 ± 1.34	nd
(S_DiBP Vs S_DBP Vs S_DEHP)*		MBW	4.56 ± 1.71	5.96 ± 1.60	nd
(W_DiBP Vs S_DiBP)*		TSBS	10.16 ± 0.82	11.23 ± 0.93	3.14 ± 1.32
Γanga (T) T_DiBP Vs T_DBP Vs T_DEHP)*** W_DiBP Vs W_DBP Vs W_DEHP)* S_DiBP Vs S_DBP Vs S_DEHP)* W_DiBP Vs S_DIBP)* W_DBP Vs S_DEHP)* W_DEHP Vs S_DEHP)*	Sadimant (S) (ng/g du)	PFMS	10.72 ± 1.27	7.87 ± 1.37	4.61 ± 1.17
(W_DEHP Vs S_DEHP)*	Sediment (S) (ng/g dw)	TRZBS	7.91 ± 2.13	5.67 ± 0.98	$0.57\pm~0.64$
		MBS	5.12 ± 2.05	6.97 ± 2.13	nd
	A antiquata (A) (ng/g fw)	TSBA	2.61 ± 0.56	3.17 ± 0.97	1.37 ± 0.65
	A. unitquata (A) (lig/g IW)	PFMA	1.69 ± 0.65	1.48 ± 0.67	0.87 ± 0.56
Zanzibar(Z)			Z_DiBP	Z_DBP	Z_DEHP
		PMW	3.67 ± 0.93	5.23 ± 0.93	nd
(Z. DiBP+++ Vs Z. DBP++ Vs Z. DEHP+)***	Segwater (W) (ng/mI)	ZFAW	9.87 ± 2.02	6.78 ± 1.13	3.31 ± 1.24
((W_DiBP Vs W_DBP VsW_DEHP)*	Scawater (W) (lig/lill)	ZBKW	3.07 ± 0.32	6.67 ± 0.56	nd
(S_DiBP Vs S_DBP Vs S_DEHP)*		ZFMW	8.48 ± 0.27	5.56 ± 1.46	nd
(W_DiBPVs S_DiBP)*		PMS	4.81 ± 2.54	4.44 ± 2.54	nd
(W_DBP Vs S_DBP)*	Sediment (S) (ng/g dw)	ZFAS	12.87 ± 1.56	9.54 ± 2.45	4.67 ± 0.84
(W_DEHL VS 3_DEHL).	Scannent (0) (lig/g uw)	ZBKS	5.78 ± 1.04	5.32 ± 0.63	1.04 ± 0.21
		ZFMS	4.72 ± 0.21	5.72 ± 0.51	2.17 ± 0.32
	A. antiquata (A) (ng/g fw)	ZFMA	2.97 ± 0.93	3.31 ± 1.09	0.86 ± 0.27

 $(xxi)(D_DiBP vs. M_DiBP)^{***}, (xxii) (D_DiBP vs. T DiBP^{***}, (xxiii)(Da_DiBP vs. Z_DiBP)^{***}, (xxiv)(M_DiBP vs. T_DiBP)^{*}, (xxv) (M_DiBP vs. Z_DiBP)^{**}, (xxvi)(D_DBP vs. Z_DiBP)^{**}, (xxvi)(D_DBP vs. Z_DBP)^{***}, (xxxi)(D_DBP vs. Z_DBP)^{***}, (xxxi)(M_DBP vs. Z_DBP)^{***}, (xxx)(M_DBP vs. Z_DBP)^{**}, (xxx)(M_DBP vs. Z_DBP)^{**}, (xxx)(M_DBP vs. Z_DBP)^{**}, (xxx)(M_DBP vs. Z_DBP)^{**}, (xx)(M_DBP vs. Z_DBP)^{***}, (xx)(M_DBP vs. Z_DBP)^{**}, (xx)(M_DBP vs. Z_DBP)^{**}, (xx)(M$

Key:

***p < 0.01 (highly significant difference)

** p < 0.05 (significant difference)

*p (no significant difference)

- Post Hoc
- ***p<0.01

++p<0.05

⁻p (no significant difference)



Figure 3. Concentrations of phthalates along the coast of Mtwara. A: Diisobutyl phthalate (DiBP) B: Dibutyl phthalate (DBP), C: DiBP, DBP and DEHP concentration comparison. MTFW (Mtwara Ferry Fish Market Beach-Seawater), MTFS (Mtwara Ferry Fish Market Beach-Sediment), MTFA (Mtwara Ferry Fish Market Beach-A. antiquata), MKW (Mikindani-Seawater Sample), MKS (Mikindani-Sediment), MKA (Mikindani-A. antiquata), RUW (Ruvula-Seawater), RUS (Ruvula-Sediment), MSW (Msimbati-Seawater) and MSS (Msimbati-Sediment). Error Bar= Standard deviation (SD, n=3). Part per billion (ppb)= ng/mL for seawater, ng/g dw (dry weight) for sediment), ng/g fw (fresh weight) for *A. antiquata*.

Phthalates in Mtwara samples

Figure 3 compares the presence of DiBP and DBP in sediment, seawater, and A. antiquata samples collected at four Mtwara sites (Mtwara Ferry Fish Market Beach, Mikindani, Ruvula, and Msimbati). DiBP concentrations in sediments ranged from 4.30 \pm 0.60 to 9.71 \pm 0.14 ng/g dw, with the highest concentration observed at Mtwara Ferry Fish Market Beach. Seawater samples had DiBP concentrations from 5.82 ± 1.02 to 11.15 ± 0.76 ng/mL, with the highest concentration at Mtwara Ferry Fish Market Beach. A. antiquata from Mtwara Ferry Fish Market Beach had a higher DBP concentration (4.43 \pm 0.95 ng/g fw) compared to Mikindani ($3.53 \pm 0.62 \text{ ng/g}$ fw). DBP concentrations in sediments ranged from 4.56 \pm 1.21 to 10.42 \pm 0.89 ng/g dw, with the highest concentration observed at Mtwara Ferry Fish Market Beach. Seawater samples had DBP concentrations from 3.71 ± 0.58 to 14.35 ± 1.21 ng/mL. Statistical analysis revealed no significant differences in DiBP and DBP concentrations between seawater and sediments (Table 3).

Phthalates in Tanga samples

Figure 4 compares the results obtained from the Tanga coast, which indicated the presence of phthalates (DiBP, DBP, and DEHP) in sediment, seawater and *A. antiquata* samples. The concentration of DiBP in sediments varied between 5.12 ± 2.05 and 10.72 ± 1.27 ng/g dw, with the highest level observed at Pangani Fish Market. In seawater, DiBP concentrations ranged from 4.76 ± 1.71 to 9.56 ± 1.65 ng/mL, with the highest level found at Tanga Raskazone Beach. *A. antiquata* samples had DiBP levels of 2.61 ± 0.56 ng/g fw for Tanga Sahare Fish Market Beach and 1.69 ± 0.65 ng/g fw for Pangani Fish Market Beach. DBP concentrations in sediments ranged from 5.67 ± 0.98 to 11.23 ± 0.93 ng/g dw, with the highest concentration observed at Tanga Sahare



Figure 4. Concentrations of phthalates along the coast of Tanga. A: Diisobutyl phthalate (DBP) B: Dibutyl phthalate (DBP), C: Bis(2-ethyhexyl) phthalate (DEHP), D: DiBP, DBP and DEHP concentration comparison. TSBW: Tanga Sahare Fish Market Beach - Water, TSBS: Tanga Sahare Fish Market Beach - Sediment, TSBA: Tanga Sahare Fish Market Beach-*A. antiquata*, PFMW: Pangani Fish Market Beach-Seawater, PFMS: Pangani Fish Market Beach - Sediment, TSBS: Tanga Raskazone Beach-Sediment, TMBW: Tanga Mkongeni Beach-Seawater, TMBS: Tanga Mkongeni Beach-Sediment. Error Bar= Standard deviation (SD, n=3). Part per billion (ppb)= ng/mL for seawater, ng/g dw (dry weight) for sediment), ng/g fw (fresh weight) for *A. antiquata*.

Fish Market Beach. In seawater, DBP concentrations ranged from 4.86 ± 0.71 to 9.32 ± 1.16 ng/mL, with the highest level found at Tanga Sahare Fish Market Beach. *A. antiquata* from Tanga Sahare Fish Market Beach also exhibited a higher DBP concentration (3.17 ± 0.97 ng/g fw) compared to those from Pangani Fish Market Beach (1.48 ± 0.67 ng/g fw). Figure 4D shows that DBP had the highest concentrations, followed by DiBP, while DEHP had the lowest levels. Statistical analysis confirmed significant differences in mean concentrations amongst the sampling sites in Tanga (p<0.05) (Table 3), with DiBP showing significantly higher levels compared to DBP and DEHP.

Phthalates in Zanzibar samples

Figure 5 compares the concentrations of phthalates in sediments and seawater from four sites in Zanzibar (Pwani Mchangani, Zanzibar Ferry Beach, Zanzibar Bwawani Komba, and Zanzibar Mazizini Fish Market). The results showed varying concentrations of DiBP, DBP, and DEHP across the sampling locations (Table 3). DiBP concentrations ranged from 4.72 ± 0.51 to 12.87 ± 2.45 ng/g dw in sediments, with the highest concentration observed at the Zanzibar Ferry Beach. In seawater, DiBP concentrations ranged from 3.07 ± 1.46 to 9.87 ± 2.02 ng/mL, with the highest concentration again found at Zanzibar Ferry Beach. The concentration of DiBP in A. antiquata from Zanzibar Mazizini Fish Market was 2.97 ± 0.93 ng/g fw. For DBP, sediment concentrations ranged from 4.44 ± 2.54 to 9.54 ± 2.45 ng/g dw, while seawater concentrations ranged from 5.23 ± 0.93 to 6.78 ± 1.13 ng/mL. DEHP concentrations in sediments and seawater were quantifiable at various sites. DiBP had the highest concentrations among the phthalates analysed (Fig. 5D). Statistical analysis indicated no significant differences in phthalate



Figure 5: Concentrations of phthalates in Zanzibar. A: Diisobutyl phthalate (DBP) B: Dibutyl phthalate (DBP), C: Bis(2-ethyhexyl) phthalate (DEHP), D: DiBP, DBP and DEHP concentration comparison. PMW: Pwani Mchangani-Seawater, PMS: Pwani Mchangani-Sediment, ZFW: Zanzibar Ferry Beach-Seawater, ZFS: Zanzibar Ferry Beach-Seawater, ZBKS: Zanzibar Bwawani Komba-Sediment, ZBKW: Zanzibar Bwawani Komba-Seawater, ZMW: Zanzibar Mazizini Fish Market-Seawater, ZMS: Zanzibar Mazizini Fish Market-Seawater, ZMS: Zanzibar Mazizini Fish Market-Seawater, ng/g dw (dry weight) for sediment), ng/g fw (fresh weight) for *A. antiquata*.

concentrations between sediments and seawater (p > 0.05), but there were significant differences observed amongst the phthalates in seawater (p < 0.05) (Table 3).

Cumulative concentration of phthalate in sediment, seawater and Anadara antiquata

Due to their similar mode of toxicity, it has been recommended that the cumulative concentration of phthalates in the environment should also be considered (Araki *et al.*, 2020, Chen *et al.*, 2020 and Sumner *et al.*, 2019). Higher concentrations of phthalates were evident in samples collected from Dar es Salaam sites, particularly at Selander Bridge (45.20 and 44.57 ng/mL in seawater and sediment, respectively). Generally, seawater, sediment and *A. antiquata* samples from Dar es Salaam sites exhibited higher cumulative concentrations than samples from other sites (Figure 6). However, statistically, there was no significant difference in the concentrations of phthalates between seawater and sediment matrices (p > 0.05).

Bioconcentration of phthalates in the cockle Anadara antiquata

Table 4 presents the bioconcentration factor (BCF) and biota sediment accumulation factor (BSAF) values of phthalates (DiBP, DBP, and DEHP) in *A. antiquata* at various sampling sites. The BCF values ranged from 0.18 at Pangani Fish Market Beach to 0.95 at Kawe Beach. Similarly, the BSAF values vary, with the lowest value of 0.16 at Pangani Fish Market Beach and the highest of 1.02 at Kawe Beach. These findings indicate variations in the accumulation potential of phthalates in *A. antiquata* across different sampling sites.

Correlation analysis

Table 5 shows Pearson's correlation coefficients of phthalates (DiBP, DBP, DEHP) and physico-chemical parameters in seawater and sediment samples, respectively. The finding depicts the extent and direction of associations among DiBP, DBP and DEHP and temperature, pH, EC and TDS. The findings show



Figure 6. Cumulative concentration of Diisobutyl phthalate (DiBP), dibutyl phthalate (DBP) and Bis (2-ethylhexyl) phthalate) in marine sediment, seawater and A. antiquata along the Indian Ocean Coast. A: Diisobutyl phthalate (DiBP) B: Dibutyl phthalate (DBP), C: Bis(2-ethyhexyl) phthalate (DEHP), D: DiBP, DBP and DEHP concentration comparison. SW: Selander Bridge-Seawater, SS: Selander Bridge-Sediment, PFW: Posta Ferry Beach-Seawater, PFS: Posta Ferry Beach-Sediment, KW: Kawe Beach-Seawater, KS: Kawe Beach-Sediment, KUW: Kunduchi Beach-Seawater and KUS: Kunduchi Beach-Sediment. MTFW (Mtwara Ferry Fish Market Beach -Seawater), MTFS (Mtwara Ferry Fish Market Beach-Sediment), MTFA (Mtwara Ferry Fish Market Beach -A. antiquata), MKW (Mikindani-Seawater Sample), MKS (Mikindani-Sediment), MKA (Mikindani-A. antiquata), RUW (Ruvula-Seawater), RUS (Ruvula-Sediment), MSW (Msimbati-Seawater) and MSS (Msimbati-Sediment). TSBW: Tanga Sahare Fish Market Beach-Seawater, TSBS: Tanga Sahare Fish Market Beach-Sediment, TSBA: Tanga Sahare Fish Market Beach-A. antiquata, PFMW: Pangani Fish Market Beach-Seawater, PFMS: Pangani Fish Market Beach-Sediment, PFMA: Pangani Fish Market Beach-A. antiquata, TRBW: Tanga Raskazone Beach-Seawater, TRBS: Tanga Raskazone Beach-Sediment, TMBW: Tanga Mkongeni Beach-Seawater, TMBS: Tanga Mkongeni Beach-Sediment. PMW: Pwani Mchangani-Seawater, PMS: Pwani Mchangani-Sediment, ZFW: Zanzibar Ferry Beach-Seawater, ZFS: Zanzibar Ferry Beach-Seawater, ZBKS: Zanzibar Bwawani Komba-Sediment, ZBKW: Zanzibar Bwawani Komba-Seawater, ZMW: Zanzibar Mazizini Fish Market -Seawater, ZMS: Zanzibar Mazizini Fish Market-Sediment, ZMA-Zanzibar Mazizini Fish Market-A. antiquata.

that DiBP in seawater had a slightly positive correlation with DBP (r = 0.66) and a weak positive correlation with DEHP (r = 0.40), while DBP demonstrated a strong positive correlation with DEHP (r = 0.77). Correlations between phthalates and physical-chemical parameters are generally weak in both seawater and sediments, with some negative correlations noted between pH and phthalates, and weak positive correlations between EC and DEHP (r = 0.42). In sediment samples (Table 5), DiBP exhibited a strong positive correlation with DBP (r = 0.84) and a moderate positive correlation with DEHP (r = 0.58). On the other hand, a strong positive correlation between the concentrations of DBP and DEHP was evident (r = 0.73).

Discussion

Occurrences of phthalates on the coast of Tanzania Three of the 16 targeted phthalates, namely DiBP, DBP, and DEHP, were detected and quantified in seawater and sediments from sampling sites in two regions of the Tanzanian mainland (Dar es Salaam and Tanga) and at Zanzibar Island, whereas only DiBP and DBP were detected in samples from the Mtwara area. Statistical analysis using One Way ANOVA revealed that the cumulative concentrations of DiBP, DBP, and DEHP were generally higher in sediments and seawater at Dar es Salaam beaches (Selander Bridge, Kawe Beach, Posta Ferry Beach and Kunduchi Beach) than at Mtwara, Tanga, and Zanzibar.

The high prevalence of phthalates at the Dar es Salaam sites can be explained by the highest level of anthropogenic activities in the region, which include 532 industries and 5,383,728 inhabitants that account for 5.4 % of the population in Tanzania (NBS, 2022). The Msimbazi River, which runs for 35 km through Dar es Salaam has been identified as the main channel for the flow of organic pollutants to the city's coast. Domestic wastes and wastewater from nearby factories in Tabata and Ubungo, landfill sites, and horticultural activities in the river basin contribute to the pollution (Nchimbi et al., 2022). The Dar es Salaam coast also receives water from the Zinga and Kizinga rivers flowing through the industrial suburbs of Kurasini, Mbagala, and Kigamboni. Industrial effluents, garage waste, pesticides from nearby horticulture sites, and domestic plastic waste in these river basins are potential sources of phthalate contamination (Nchimbi et al., 2022). Phthalate contamination may also come from recreational and fishing activities on Dar es Salaam's popular beaches, where swimwear and plastic fishing nets are common.

Sampling site	Concentration factor	DiBP	DBP	DEHP
	BCF	0.95	0.89	0.97
Kawe Beach (K)	BSAF	1.02	0.77	0.78
	BCF	0.4	0.18	Х
Mtwara Ferry Fish Market Beach (MTF	BSAF	0.30	0.46	Х
Mikindani (MK)	BCF	0.5	0.38	Х
	BSAF	0.35	0.42	Х
$\mathbf{T} = \{\mathbf{C}, \mathbf{L}, $	BCF	0.32	0.34	Х
langa Sanare Fish Market Beach (18B)	BSAF	0.26	0.28	Х
	BCF	0.18	0.3	Х
Pangani Fish Market Beach (PFM)	BSAF	0.16	0.89	Х
	BCF	0.35	0.45	Х
Zanzibar Ferry Beach (ZF)	BSAF	0.62	0.58	Х

Table 4. Bioconcetration factor (BCF) and biota sediment accumulation factor (BSAF) of individual phthalates in *A. antiquata*. X – could not be calculated.

The presence of phthalates in the protected mangrove forests of Ruvula and Msimbati, which are 43 and 36 kilometres from Mtwara town, respectively, can find support in a study by Mayoma *et al.* (2020) along the Tanzanian coastline, which reported the presence of microplastics. The microplastics could potentially be a source of phthalate contamination in these protected coastal areas (Weideman *et al.*, 2013; Kida and Koszelnik, 2021). The findings indicate that phthalate pollution is a widespread problem along Tanzania's coast and indicates the need for control and monitoring efforts.

The findings of the current study indicate significant associations between phthalates in both seawater and sediment samples, as revealed by Pearson's correlation coefficients (Table 5). The positive correlations between DiBP, DBP, and DEHP suggest that these phthalates originate from similar pollution sources. Notably, the strength of these relationships is stronger in sediment samples (Table 5), suggesting similar adsorption properties of these chemicals in sediments. These observations agree with the literature on phthalate sorption behaviour (Staples *et al.*, 1997). It is commonly recognised that the sorption of phthalate esters (PAEs) to soil, sediment, or suspended solids is influenced by their relative hydrophobicity (Staples *et al.*, 1997). Furthermore, a study in JiangHan Plain reported that DiBP, DBP and DEHP coexisted in soil, sediments, and groundwater (Liu et *al.*, 2013).

Table 5. Person correlation coefficients for diisobutyl phthalate (DiBP), butyl phthalate (DBP), and bis(2-ethylhexyl phthalate) (DEHP) and temperature (TEMP), pH, electrical conductivity (EC), and total dissolved solid (TDS) in seawater and sediment samples. Perfect positive correlation: r = 1, Strong positive correlation: $0.7 \le r \le 0.99$, Slightly positive correlation: $0.4 \le r \le 0.69$, Weak positive correlation: $0.1 \le r \le 0.39$, No correlation: $-0.1 \le r \le 0.39$, Slightly negative correlation: $-0.4 \ge r \ge -0.69$, Strong negative correlation: $-0.7 \ge r \ge -0.99$, Perfect negative correlation: r = -1.

	Parameters	DiBP	DBP	DEHP	TEMP	рН	EC	TDS
water	DiBP							
	DBP	0.66						
	DEHP	0.41	0.77					
	TEMP	0.47	0.53	0.39				
Se	pН	-0.31	-0.23	-0.16	-0.59			
	EC	-0.14	0.11	0.42	0.12	0.13		
	TDS	-0.34	-0.23	-0.16	-0.59	0.99	0.13	
	DiBP							
	DBP	0.84						
ent	DEHP	0.58	0.73					
lim	TEMP	0.153	0.19	0.17				
Sed	pН	-0.09	0.16	-0.20	-0.01			
	EC	0.16	0.31	0.35	0.48	0.29		
	TDS	-0.199	-0.28	-0.18	-0.03	-0.51	-0.25	

Moreover, it has been shown that dispersion and partition coefficients increase with the carbon chain length of phthalates (Liu *et al.*, 2013). Specifically, the sorption rate of DiBP and DBP was found to be approximately 10 %, compared to 1 % for DEHP (Liu *et al.*, 2013). The findings reported by Liu *et al.* (2013) agree with the strong correlation observed between DiBP and DBP in the present study, as compared to DEHP. By considering the collective evidence from the literature, the findings from this study contribute to the understanding of the fate and behaviour of phthalate contaminants in coastal areas, particularly along the coast of Tanzania.

Comparison with other studies

Table 6 provides a comparison between phthalate concentrations recorded in the current study and other relevant studies from the marine environment in different regions of the world. The table specifically highlights the concentrations of DiBP, DBP, and DEHP in water, sediments and biota. It can be observed in Table 6 that the present study reveals contrasting concentration ranges of phthalates in seawater compared to findings from other studies. Mackintosh et al. (2006) found lower concentrations of these phthalates in water from False Creek Harbor, Vancouver. Similarly, Jebara et al. (2021) reported relatively lower concentrations along the north-eastern coastline of Tunisia. Sánchez-Avila et al. (2012), who investigated the Bay of Biscay in Spain and the Port Sea in the Mediterranean Sea, also observed lower concentrations of these phthalates. Additionally, Fossi et al. (2012) who examined the Mediterranean Sea in Italy, reported lower concentrations of these phthalates in studied areas.

Table 6. Comparison of DiBP, DBP, and DEHP concentrations with other studies.

Locations	DiBP	DBP	DEHP	References
Seawater (ng/mL)				
Dar es Salaam	11.53-12.4	13.08-20.63	nd-12.57	This study
Mtawara	3.71-14.35	5.82-11.70	nd	This study
Tanga	4.56-9.56	4.86-9.32	nd	This study
Zanzibar	3.07-9.87	5.23-6.78	nd-3.31	This study
False Creek Harbor, Vancouver	0.005	0.11	0.275	Mackintosh et al. (2006)
North-Eastern coastline-Tunisia	0.075	0.017	0.071	Jebara <i>et al</i> . (2021)
Bay of Biscay, Spain	-	8.3×10 ⁻⁵	64×10^{-4}	Sa'nchez-Avila et al. (2012)
Port sea, Mediterranean Sea, Spain	-	-	$0.6 \times 10^{-4} - 0.006$	Sa'nchez-Avila et al. (2012)
Sardinian Sea, Mediterranean Sea, Italy	-	-	0.023	Fossi et al. (2012)
Ligurian Sea, Mediterranean Sea, Italy	-	-	0.018	Fossi et al. (2012)
Sediment (ng/g dw)				
Dar es Salaam	11.54-13.35	12.09-18.65	nd-12.57	This study
Mtawara	4.56-10.42	4.30-9.71	nd	This study
Tanga	5.12-10.72	5.67-7.87	nd-4.61	This study
Zanzibar	4.72-12.87	4.44.9.54	nd-4.67	This study
Kaohsiung Harbor-Taiwan	21.9 - 69.5	37.3 - 259	259-21,559	Chen et al. (2017)
North-Eastern coastline-Tunisia	0.219	0.055	4.594	Jebara <i>et al</i> . (2021)
Korean bays	0.011	0.003	0.46	Kim et al. (2020)
Korean coast	0.009	0.001	0.38	Lee et al. (2020)
False Creek Harbor,Vancouver	0.004	0.103	2.9	Mackintosh et al. (2006)
Tropical Western Pacific Ocean	1.87 -14.43	2.24 - 12.97	2.01-9.19	Zhang et al. (2019)
Biota (ng/g fw)				
A. antiquata, Dar es Salaam	11.82	12.19	5.87	This study
A. antiquata, Mtawara	2.6-2.72	3.53 - 4.43	nd	This study
A. antiquata, Tanga	1.69-2.61	1.48-3.17	0.87-1.37	This study
A. antiquata, Zanzibar	2.97	3.31	0.86	This study
North-Eastern coastline-Tunisia (ng/g))	0.817	1.771	0.921	Jebara <i>et al</i> . (2021)
S. aurata, Mahdia coast (fw basis)		< 0.01	< 0.0125	Beltifa et al. (2017)

A similar trend can be observed in the sediment samples. Chen et al. (2017) investigated phthalates in Kaohsiung Harbor in Taiwan, where the concentrations were higher than those reported in this study. Jebara et al. (2021) examined phthalates in the north-eastern coastline of Tunisia, while Kim et al. (2020) and Lee et al. (2020) studied Korean bays and the Korean coast, respectively, showing lower concentrations of phthalates compared to the results obtained in this study. A similar comparison can be observed when results obtained from the present study are compared to those reported by Mackintosh et al. (2006) who observed lower levels in the False Creek Harbor, Vancouver. Furthermore, Zhang et al. (2019) revealed the presence of different concentrations of these phthalates relative to the present study in the Tropical Western Pacific Ocean.

The potential risk of phthalates in the marine ecosystem

Phthalate esters, like other organic pollutants, undergo alkaline hydrolysis and biodegradation in marine ecosystems. The resulting metabolites from alkaline hydrolysis and biodegradation can have potentially harmful ecological impacts on marine ecosystems (Prasad, 2021; Gao and Chi, 2015). These compounds have the ability to acquire estrogenic activity when exposed to light, leading to the production of 4-hydroxy phthalates. Exposure to phthalates, as well as their metabolites, has been found to reduce fertilization rates in marine organisms, primarily due to their endocrine-disrupting properties (Hu *et al.*, 2020; Miller *et al.*, 2020; Gobas *et al.*, 2003; Burgos-Aceves *et al.*, 2021).

The findings of this study on the bioconcentration of phthalates in *A. antiquata* are consistent with studies that have reported significantly varying concentrations of phthalates amongst different marine biota (Miller *et al.*, 2020; Sun *et al.*, 2021; Rios-Fuster *et al.*, 2022) (Table 6). As a filter feeder, *A. antiquata* can accumulate phthalates in their tissues from the water they filter (Miller *et al.*, 2020). *A. antiquata*, similar to other bivalves, can also ingest sediment particles along with the associated phthalates, leading to bioconcentration (Miller *et al.*, 2020). The bioconcentration of phthalates in marine ecosystems has implications for human health and the environment as they potentially affect the health of the animals and the wider food web (Gobas *et al.*, 2003).

The bioconcentration of phthalates in marine ecosystems could also have broader ecological implications such as disruption of marine diversity and abundance of marine organisms as a result of their impact on the endocrine system and on reproduction and development of organisms (Gobas et al., 2003; Burgos-Aceves et al., 2021). Furthermore, with regards to biota contamination, Jebara et al. (2021) investigated the north-eastern coastline of Tunisia and reported lower concentrations of phthalates in fish when compared to the concentration in A. antiquata obtained in the present study. Beltifa et al. (2017) examined S. aurata along the Mahdia coast and found lower concentrations of these phthalates. The current findings underscore the importance of taking measures to reduce the use and release of phthalates into the environment to safeguard the health of both marine and human life.

Environmental and policy implications of the results

The differences in phthalate concentrations observed between the current study and other studies indicate the impact of regional and local factors on contamination levels. Factors such as industrial activities, waste disposal practices, and proximity to pollution sources can contribute to the differences in phthalate levels.

The correlation analysis conducted on marine sediment and seawater samples along the Tanzanian coastline revealed no strong correlation between phthalates. The interpretation of correlation coefficients alone does not provide definitive evidence of pollution sources. However, the coefficients indicate potential associations between phthalates (DBP and DEHP) and their occurrence in the analysed samples. To gain an understanding of the pollution sources of phthalates, further investigations that extend beyond the scope and limitations of the current study are needed. Source identification studies, including source apportionment modelling (Giglioli et al., 2021) and chemical fingerprinting (Lorgeoux et al., 2016), can offer valuable insights into pinpointing specific pollution sources of phthalates in the environment. These additional approaches would contribute to a more accurate assessment of the origins and factors influencing phthalate contamination.

Despite no universally acceptable worldwide guideline for all phthalates, the concentrations of DBP, DiBP, and DEHP in sediments and seawater revealed in this study are a cause for concern as they exceed the minimum allowable concentrations established by various independent environmental regulatory authorities. For example, in China, DBP and DEHP in drinking water should not exceed 3 and 8 ng/ mL, respectively (Ministry of Health of the People's Republic of China, 2006). On the other hand, the National Environment Management Council (NEMC) and Tanzania Bureau of Standards (TBS) have not set limits for Tanzania. It is crucial to note that phthalates are harmful to both the environment and human health, and can be detrimental even at low exposure levels. High concentrations of phthalates can have severe effects on human health and the environment, such as harming aquatic life, disrupting the endocrine system, and impacting reproduction and development (Chen *et al.*, 2020).

It is critical to consider the possible danger posed by phthalates and to reduce their concentrations in the environment. The marine ecology of the WIO is a vital component of the biodiversity of our planet, and any negative impacts on it could have repercussions on the larger ecosystem and ultimately on human populations that depend on the resources the ocean provides. In this regard, it is essential that environmental stakeholders and pertinent authorities in the WIO region work together to address this issue. Relevant government agencies in Tanzania may create suitable guidelines to regulate the use and disposal of phthalate-containing materials/products to protect community health and the environment. Furthermore, close monitoring and enforcement of these guidelines, and collaboration with other stakeholders to create public awareness about the potential health risks of phthalate exposure are required.

Conclusions

This study revealed that three phthalates, DiBP, DBP, and DEHP, were prevalent in seawater, sediments and A. antiquata collected from the sampling sites in Dar es Salaam, Tanga, and Zanzibar, while DiBP and DBP were prevalent in Mtwara. The Dar es Salaam coast had a significantly higher prevalence of phthalates compared to the other sites. The concentrations of DiBP, DBP, and DEHP exceed the maximum allowable levels established by environmental regulatory authorities in some parts of the world, raising concerns about their potential harm to the environment and human health. The high levels of phthalates in the studied WIO region can be linked to the high density of anthropogenic activities, including industries, agricultural activities, and other waste-producing domestic activities. Therefore, it is crucial for appropriate stakeholders and relevant regulatory

authorities to work collectively towards reducing the concentrations of phthalates in the environment by developing and enforcing appropriate regulations and creating public awareness.

Acknowledgements

This project was funded by the Western Indian Ocean Marine Science Association (WIOMSA) through its marine research grant (MARG-I) project number MARG-I-2021-30.

References

- Araki A, Bamai YA, Bastiaensen M, Van den Eede N, Kawai T, Tsuboi T, Miyashita C, Itoh S, Goudarzi H, Konno S, Covaci A (2020) Combined exposure to phthalate esters and phosphate flame retardants and plasticizers and their associations with wheeze and allergy symptoms among school children. Environmental Research 1 (183): 109212 [https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envres.2020.109212]
- Arslan P, Özeren SC, Dikmen BY (2021) The effects of endocrine disruptors on fish. Environmental Research and Technology 4 (2): 145-51 [https://doi. org/10.35208/ert.860440]
- Beltifa A, Feriani A, Machreki M, Ghorbel A, Ghazouani L, Di Bella G, Van Loco J, Reyns T, Mansour HB (2017) Plasticizers and bisphenol A, in packaged foods sold in the Tunisian markets: study of their acute in vivo toxicity and their environmental fate. Environmental Science and Pollution Research 24: 22382-92 [https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-017-9861-0]
- Bi M, Liu W, Luan X, Li M, Liu M, Liu W, Cui Z (2021) Production, use, and fate of phthalic acid esters for polyvinyl chloride products in China. Environmental Science & Technology 55 (20): 13980-9
- Burgos-Aceves MA, Abo-Al-Ela HG, Faggio C (2021) Impact of phthalates and bisphenols plasticizers on haemocyte immune function of aquatic invertebrates: A review on physiological, biochemical, and genomic aspects. Journal of Hazardous Materials 5 (419): 126426 [https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2021.126426]
- Burns DT, Danzer K, Townshend A (2002) Use of the term" recovery" and" apparent recovery" in analytical procedures (IUPAC Recommendations 2002). Pure and Applied Chemistry 74 (11): 2201-2205 [https://doi.org/10.1351/pac200274112201]
- Cao Y, Lin H, Zhang K, Xu S, Yan M, Leung KM, Lam PK (2022) Microplastics: A major source of phthalate esters in aquatic environments. Journal of Hazardous Materials 432: 128731 [https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jhazmat.2022.128731]

- Chaudhry AA (2018) Plastic pollution: Impacts on biodiversity. On Behalf of Pakistan Engineering Congress; Pakistan Engineering Congress: Punjab, Pakistan, June 2018. 73 pp
- Chen CF, Chen CW, Ju YR, Dong CD (2017) Determination and assessment of phthalate esters content in sediments from Kaohsiung Harbor, Taiwan. Marine Pollution Bulletin. 124 (2): 767-74
- Chen H, Chen K, Qiu X, Xu H, Mao G, Zhao T, Feng W, Okeke ES, Wu X, Yang L (2020) The reproductive toxicity and potential mechanisms of combined exposure to dibutyl phthalate and diisobutyl phthalate in male zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). Chemosphere 258: 127238 [https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2020.127238]
- Cheng Z, Nie XP, Wang HS, Wong MH (2013) Risk assessments of human exposure to bioaccessible phthalate esters through market fish consumption. Environment International 1 (57): 75-80
- De-la-Torre GE, Dioses-Salinas DC, Dobaradaran S, Spitz J, Nabipour I, Keshtkar M, Akhbarizadeh R, Tangestani M, Abedi D, Javanfekr F (2022) Release of phthalate esters (PAEs) and microplastics (MPs) from face masks and gloves during the COVID-19 pandemic. Environmental Research 215: 114337 [https://doi. org/10.1016/j.envres.2022.114337]
- Fossi MC, Panti C, Guerranti C, Coppola D, Giannetti M, Marsili L, Minutoli R (2012) Are baleen whales exposed to the threat of microplastics? A case study of the Mediterranean fin whale (*Balaenoptera physalus*). Marine Pollution Bulletin 64: 2374–2379
- Gao J, Chi J (2015) Biodegradation of phthalate acid esters by different marine microalgal species. Marine Pollution Bulletin 99 (1-2): 70-75 [https://doi.org/10.1016/j. marpolbul.2015.07.061]
- Giglioli S, Colombo L, Contestabile P, Musco L, Armiento G, Somma R, Vicinanza D, Azzellino A (2020) Source apportionment assessment of marine sediment contamination in a post-industrial area (Bagnoli, Naples). Water 12 (8): 2181 [https://www.mdpi. com/2073-4441/12/8/2181#]
- Gobas FA, Mackintosh CE, Webster G, Ikonomou M, Parkerton TF, Robillard K (2003) Bioaccumulation of phthalate esters in aquatic food-webs. Series Anthropogenic Compounds: Phthalate Esters: 201-225 [Doi: 10.1007/b11467]
- Godswill AC, Godspel AC (2019) Physiological effects of plastic wastes on the endocrine system (Bisphenol A, Phthalates, Bisphenol S, PBDEs, TBBPA). International Journal of Bioinformatics and Computational Biology 4 (2): 11-29

- Hammer Ø, Harper DA, Ryan PD (2001) PAST: Paleontological statistics software package for education and data analysis. Palaeontologia Electronica 4 (1): 9
- He MJ, Lu JF, Wang J, Wei SQ, Hageman KJ (2020) Phthalate esters in biota, air and water in an agricultural area of western China, with emphasis on bioaccumulation and human exposure. Science of the Total Environmen, 698: 134264
- Heo H, Choi MJ, Park J, Nam T, Cho J (2019) Anthropogenic occurrence of phthalate esters in beach seawater in the southeast coast region, South Korea. Water 12 (1): 122 [https://doi.org/10.3390/w12010122]
- Holland M (2018) Socio-economic assessment of phthalates: OECD Environment Working Papers (133). OECD Publishing, Paris [https://doi.org/10.1787/ a38a0e34-en]
- Hu J, Jiang K, Tang X, Liu H, Zhang H, Yang X, Nie X, Luo H (2020) Chronic exposure to di-n-butyl phthalate causes reproductive toxicity in zebrafish. Journal of Applied Toxicology 40 (12): 1694-1703 [https://doi. org/10.1002/jat.4030]
- Jebara A, Albergamo A, Rando R, Potortì AG, Turco VL, Mansour HB, Di Bella G (2021) Phthalates and non-phthalate plasticizers in Tunisian marine samples: Occurrence, spatial distribution and seasonal variation. Marine Pollution Bulletin. 163: 111967 [https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2021.111967]
- Kida M, Koszelnik P (2021) Investigation of the presence and possible migration from microplastics of phthalic acid esters and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Journal of Polymers and the Environment: 599-611 [https://doi.org/10.1007/s10924-020-01899-1]
- Kim S, Lee YS, Moon HB (2020) Occurrence, distribution, and sources of phthalates and non-phthalate plasticizers in sediment from semi-enclosed bays of Korea. Marine Pollution Bulletin 151: 110824 [https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.110824]
- Lee YS, Lim JE, Lee S, Moon HB (2020) Phthalates and non-phthalate plasticizers in sediment from Korean coastal waters: occurrence, spatial distribution, and ecological risks. Marine Pollution Bulletin 154: 111– 119 [https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2020.11119]
- Liang P, Xu J, Li Q (2008) Application of dispersive liquid–liquid microextraction and high-performance liquid chromatography for the determination of three phthalate esters in water samples. Analytica Chimica Acta 609 (1): 53-8 [https://doi.org/10.1016/j. aca.2007.12.025]
- Liu H, Zhang D, Li M, Tong L, Feng L (2013) Competitive adsorption and transport of phthalate esters in the clay layer of JiangHan plain, China. Chemosphere 92 (11): 1542-9 [https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.04.026]

- Lo Brutto S, Iaciofano D, Lo Turco V, Potortì AG, Rando R, Arizza V, Di Stefano V (2021). First assessment of plasticizers in marine coastal litter-feeder fauna in the Mediterranean Sea. Toxics 9 (2): 31 [https://doi. org/10.3390/toxics9020031]
- Lorgeoux C, Moilleron R, Gasperi J, Ayrault S, Bonté P, Lefèvre I, Tassin B (2016) Temporal trends of persistent organic pollutants in dated sediment cores: chemical fingerprinting of the anthropogenic impacts in the Seine River basin, Paris. Science of the Total Environment 541: 1355-1363 [https://doi. org/10.1016/B978-0-12-803832-1.00003-9]
- Mackintosh CE, Maldonado JA, Ikonomou MG, Gobas FA (2006) Sorption of phthalate esters and PCBs in a marine ecosystem. Science of the Total Environment 40: 3481–3488 [https://pubs.acs.org/doi/ abs/10.1021/es0519637]
- Mi L, Xie Z, Zhao Z, Zhong M, Mi W, Ebinghaus R, Tang J (2019) Occurrence and spatial distribution of phthalate esters in sediments of the Bohai and Yellow seas. Science of the Total Environment. 653: 792-800 [https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.10.438]
- Miller ME, Hamann M, Kroon FJ (2020) Bioaccumulation and biomagnification of microplastics in marine organisms: A review and meta-analysis of current data. PLoS One 15 (10): e0240792 [https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0240792]
- Ministry of Health of the People's Republic of China (2006) Standardization administration of the People's Republic of China. Chinese Standards for Drinking Water Quality (GB5749-2006)
- National Bureau of Statistics (NBS) (2022) Population and housing census [https://www.nbs.go.tz/index.php/en/ census-surveys/population-and-housing-census/]
- Nchimbi AA, Shilla DA, Kosore CM, Shilla DJ, Shashoua Y, Khan FR (2022) Microplastics in marine beach and seabed sediments along the coasts of Dar es Salaam and Zanzibar in Tanzania. Marine Pollution Bulletin 185: 114305 [https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2022.114305]
- Oehlmann J, Schulte-Oehlmann U, Kloas W, Jagnytsch O, Lutz I, Kusk KO, Wollenberger L, Santos EM, Paull GC, Van Look KJ, Tyler CR (2009) A critical analysis of the biological impacts of plasticizers on wildlife. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 364 (1526): 2047-2062 [https:// doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2008.0242]
- Paluselli A, Fauvelle V, Galgani F, Sempere R (2018) Phthalate release from plastic fragments and degradation in seawater. Environmental Science & Technology 53 (1): 166-75 [https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b05083]

- Prasad B (2021) Phthalate pollution: environmental fate and cumulative human exposure index using the multivariate analysis approach. Environmental Science: Processes & Impacts. 23 (3): 389-399 [https:// doi.org/10.1039/D0EM00396D]
- Rios-Fuster B, Alomar C, González GP, Martínez RM, Rojas DL, Hernando PF, Deudero S (2022) Assessing microplastic ingestion and occurrence of bisphenols and phthalates in bivalves, fish and holothurians from a Mediterranean marine protected area. Environmental Research 214: 114034 [https://doi. org/10.1016/j.envres.2022.114034]
- Sanchez-Avila J, Tauler R, Lacorte S (2012) Organic micropollutants in coastal waters from NW Mediterranean Sea: sources distribution and potential risk. Environment International 46: 50-62 [https://doi. org/10.1016/j.envint.2012.04.013]
- Savoca D, Arculeo M, Barreca S, Buscemi S, Caracappa S, Gentile A, Persichetti MF, Pace A (2018) Chasing phthalates in tissues of marine turtles from the Mediterranean Sea. Marine Pollution Bulletin 127: 165-169 [https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2017.11.069]
- Seyoum A, Pradhan A (2019) Effect of phthalates on development, reproduction, fat metabolism and lifespan in *Daphnia magna*. Science of the Total Environment 654: 969–977 [doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.11.158]
- Shabeer TA, Girame R, Utture S, Oulkar D, Banerjee K, Ajay D, Arimboor R, Menon KR (2018) Optimization of multi-residue method for targeted screening and quantitation of 243 pesticide residues in cardamom (Elettaria cardamomum) by gas chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (GC-MS/MS) analysis. Chemosphere 193: 447-53 [https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2017.10.133]
- Staples CA, Peterson DR, Parkerton TF, Adams WJ (1997) The environmental fate of phthalate esters: a literature review. Chemosphere 35 (4): 667-749 [https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(97)00195-1]
- Sumner RN, Tomlinson M, Craigon J, England GC, Lea RG (2019) Independent and combined effects of diethylhexyl phthalate and polychlorinated biphenyl 153 on sperm quality in the human and dog. Scientific Reports 9 (1): 3409 [https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-019-39913-9]
- Sun C, Chen L, Zhao S, Guo W, Luo Y, Wang L, Tang L, Li F, Zhang J (2021) Seasonal distribution and ecological risk of phthalate esters in surface water and marine organisms of the Bohai Sea. Marine Pollution Bulletin 169: 112449 [https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.marpolbul.2021.112449]
- Taleuzzaman M (2018) Limit of blank (LOB), limit of detection (LOD), and limit of quantification (LOQ).

Org. Organic & Medicinal Chemistry International Journal 7 (5) [Doi: 10.19080/OMCIJ.2018.07.555722]

- Vered G, Kaplan A, Avisar D, Shenkar N (2019) Using solitary ascidians to assess microplastic and phthalate plasticizers pollution among marine biota: a case study of the Eastern Mediterranean and Red Sea. Marine Pollution Bulletin. 138: 618-625 [https://doi. org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.12.013]
- Weideman EA, Perold V, Donnarumma V, Suaria G, Ryan PG (2013) Proximity to coast and major rivers influence the density of floating microplastics and other litter in east African coastal waters. Marine Pollution Bulletin 188: 114644 . [https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2023.114644]
- Zhang ZM, Zhang HH, Zou YW, Yang GP (2018) Distribution and ecotoxicological state of phthalate esters in the sea-surface microlayer, seawater and sediment of the Bohai Sea and the Yellow Sea. Environmental Pollution 240: 235-247 [https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.envpol.2018.04.056]
- Zhang Q, Song J, Li X, Peng Q, Yuan H, Li N, Duan L, Ma J (2019) Concentrations and distribution of phthalate esters in the seamount area of the Tropical Western Pacific Ocean. Marine Pollution Bulletin 140: 107-115
- Zhang Y, Jiao Y, Li Z, Tao Y and Yang Y (2021) Hazards of phthalates (PAEs) exposure: A review of aquatic animal toxicology studies. Science of the Total Environment 771: 145418 [doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.145418]

Original Article

Seasonal variation in mineral concentrations of four marine fish species retained by fishers in Vanga and Msambweni, Kenya

Athman Mwakaribu^{1,2}, Cosmas Munga^{1*}, Paul Njihia³

Western Indian Ocean JOURNAL OF Marine Science

Open access

Citation:

Mwakaribu A, Munga C, Njihia P (2023) Seasonal variation in concentrations of selected minerals in four of the most retained marine fish species by small scale fishers in Vanga and Msambweni on the south coast of Kenya. Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science 22(2): 125-133 [doi: 10.4314/wiojms.v22i2.9]

Received: Maio 18, 2023

Accepted: October 13, 2023

Published: December 12, 2023

Copyright:

Owned by the journal. The articles are open access articles distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY 4.0) licence.

* **Corresponding author:** ckamunga2014@tum.ac.ke

¹ Department of Environment and Health Sciences, Marine and Fisheries Programme, Technical University of Mombasa, PO Box 90420 – 80100, Mombasa, Kenya;

² Kenya Fisheries Service, PO Box 48511, Nairobi, Kenya; ⁸ Department of Pure and Applied Sciences, Technical University of Mombasa, PO Box 90420 – 80100, Mombasa, Kenya

Abstract

Marine fish is a rich source of minerals in the diet of humans, but seasonal variation in fish mineral concentrations is relatively unstudied. We investigated seasonal mineral concentrations among four marine fish species retained by small scale fishers in Msambweni and Vanga fishing villages in Kenya. The fish species were Siganus sutor (rabbitfish) in Msambweni and Decapterus macarellus (mackerel scad), Sphraena forsteri (bigeye barracuda) and Sphyraena obtusata (obtuse barracuda) in Vanga. Mineral concentrations were quantified in 120 fish specimens (60/season) and their mineral supplementation potential evaluated. The concentrations of Potassium (K), Magnesium (Mg), Zinc (Zn), Iron (Fe) and Iodine (I) were determined using Inductively Coupled Plasma Optical Emission Spectrometry. K, Mg, Zn and I levels in fish samples varied between seasons with higher concentrations during the wet and cool southeast monsoon (SEM) season (April to October). However, Fe concentration was significantly higher during the dry and warm northeast monsoon (NEM) (November to March). S. fosteri recorded the highest concentrations of Mg (72.29 mg/100g in SEM) and Fe (3.63 mg/100g in NEM). S. sutor was the richest source of K (410.21 mg/100g in SEM). These two species also recorded the highest concentration of I (57.6 µg/100g in SEM) while D. macarellus had the highest Zn concentration (5.84 mg/100g in SEM). Mineral concentrations were dependent on fish species as well as season, influencing the mineral intake in Msambweni and Vanga villages.

Keywords: fish minerals, seasonal variation, small-scale fisheries, south coast of Kenya

Introduction

Micronutrients refer to minerals and vitamins required by the body in trace amounts but their impact on overall body health is critical (Awuchi *et al.*, 2020). Micronutrient deficiency is a universal subject with specifically higher prevalence rates in underdeveloped nations (Abeywickrama *et al.*, 2018) with wide spread impacts exhibited in vulnerable groups such as children, women, the middle and old aged (Tulchinsky, 2010). Nutritional deficiency has been observed to be most regular in underdeveloped regions of sub-Saharan Africa and South Asia (Black *et al.*, 2013). An estimated two billion people worldwide and one out of three people in developing countries are affected by vitamin and mineral deficiencies, particularly Zinc, Iron and Iodine making them susceptible to diseases such as anaemia and goitre (Abeywickrama *et al.*, 2018; Borwankar *et al.*, 2007).

Available data shows high prevalence rates for specified micronutrient deficiency for Potassium, Magnesium,

Iron, Zinc and Iodine in a large portion of the population especially in developing countries, which are key elements for normal body functioning (Abeywickrama et al., 2018; Fiorentini et al., 2021; Kumssa et al., 2021). Potassium regulates blood pressure, muscle contraction and stimulates effective transmission of nerve impulses which is necessary for effective functioning of nerves within the human body (Mogobe et al., 2015; Kumssa et al., 2021). Iron is key for the synthesis of haemoglobin in red blood cells which increases the efficiency of oxygen transport to all body parts (Alas et al., 2014). Zinc plays an important role in enzyme reactions as well as cell growth and division (Alas et al., 2014; Mohanty and Singh, 2018). Iodine from marine fish is necessary for thyroxine hormones which regulate body metabolism, shields against goitre, and in children it is a requirement for normal growth and mental development (Pal et al., 2018). Magnesium plays a crucial role in various physiological functions such as protein synthesis, membrane integrity, hormone secretion, nerve function, blood pressure regulation, and various metabolic processes (Schwalfenberg and Genuis, 2017). Marine fish are rich sources of these essential mineral elements when consumed in adequate amounts (Zaman et al., 2014).

Fish is an essential nutrient dense animal food source for numerous households in the world (Ajayi, 2016; Reksten et al., 2020b). The nutritional composition of fish plays a role in promoting the health of consumers in both developed and third world countries (Béné et al., 2015). Fish supplies crucial micronutrients including minerals, fatty acids and vitamins which are imperative to prevent malnutrition (Bennet et al., 2018; Chan et al., 2019). Fish is an essential source of minerals such as Calcium, Phosphorus, Potassium, Magnesium, Zinc, Iron, Fluorine, Selenium and Iodine (Ahmad et al., 2018). These mineral elements contribute to stimulation of metabolic and physiological activities, subsequent growth and development and maintaining proper health of living organisms (Abdulkarim et al., 2015). Insufficiency of mineral elements in the human body causes mineral deficiency diseases such as anaemia, goitre, genetic disorders, poor growth and development (Bhandari and Banjara, 2014: Mogobe et al., 2015).

Fish are a rich source of minerals which they absorb from water and the feed material they consume (Lall and Tibbetts, 2009). Mineral composition of marine fish is relatively higher compared to freshwater fish and can differ according to season as well as biological traits (Nurnadia et al., 2013; Palanikumar et al., 2014). Composition of minerals in marine fish species ranges between 0.1 to 1.5 % of individual wet weight (Nurnadia et al., 2013). However, geographical locations and seasons influence feed composition, which consequently affect the biochemical composition of fish muscle including mineral concentrations (Olgunoglu et al. 2014; Shija et al., 2019). Further, findings by Aldulkarim et al. (2015) show that mineral content of marine fish is influenced by climatological differences between the warm and dry northeast monsoon (NEM) and the wet and cool southeast monsoon (SEM) seasons. Fish mineral levels are largely determined by the availability of nutrients in water and the type of diet, which varies with seasons (Khitouni et al., 2014). Marine fish do not supply the same level of nutrients throughout the year (Barkat et al., 2022).

Artisanal fisheries form a fundamental source of food for many regions, especially developing nations (Thilsted et al., 2016; Lancker et al., 2019). Along the Kenya coast, these fisheries support over 13,000 small scale fishers (Fondo et al., 2014: Wanyonyi et al., 2017). Fish forms an integral part of the diet among local residents along the Kenyan coast (Mwakaribu et al., 2022). On the south coast in particular which is an active fishing area, fish harvested by artisanal fishers are especially salient for the overall health of local inhabitants (Agembe et al., 2010). Without it, natives could not afford to consume sufficient proteins, omega-3 fatty acids, or crucial micronutrients such as vitamin A, Iron, Calcium, Potassium, Magnesium, Zinc and Iodine on a regular basis. However, no information is available on mineral composition of Siganus sutor, Decapterus macurellus, Sphyraena forsteri and Sphyraena obtusata which are among the most retained fish species from the artisanal fisheries on the south coast of Kenya (Mwakaribu et al., 2022). Taking into consideration the importance of fish in maintaining human health, this study determined the seasonal concentrations of K, Mg, Zn and I in fish samples, and assessed the potential of fish as a remedy for mineral deficiency. This study hypothesized that mineral concentration in fish samples is influenced by season and species type.

Materials and methods Study area

This study was conducted in Msambweni and Vanga fishing areas on the south coast of Kenya. Msambweni is located more than 50 km from the city of Mombasa, situated at S 04046'53", E 039048'13" and Vanga further south at the border with Tanzania situated at S 04039'37", E 039013'11" (Ogongo *et al.*, 2015; Fig. 1). Both sites started as small fishing villages but have been developing rapidly over time, characterized by improved infrastructure and increasing population. The sites are among the most active fishing areas in Kenya where the artisanal fishery is considered a major source of livelihood (Agembe *et al.*, 2010). Fishing grounds in these areas have been reported to be rich in biological diversity and provide a vital food source and boosts the economy and wellbeing of the local fishing Sphraena forsteri and Sphyraena obtusata from Vanga were identified as the most retained fish species for local home consumption (Mwakaribu *et al.*, 2022.). A total of 60 fresh specimens were randomly collected from the respective fish landing sites adding up to 120 specimens sampled in both NEM and SEM season. Sampled fish specimens were measured for individual total length (TL) (cm) and weight (g), gutted, cleaned, wrapped in plastic foil to maintain freshness, labelled, and transported in polystyrene



Figure 1. Location of Msambweni and Vanga fishing areas, south coast of Kenya, where retained fish for household consumption was monitored over the study period (Mwakaribu et al., 2022).

communities (KCDP, 2016). Fishing activities mainly occur within nearshore reef lagoons characterised by artisanal multi-gear and multi-fleet operators targeting and landing multiple species (Agembe *et al.*, 2010), and are highly influenced by the NEM and SEM seasons.

Data collection

Fish sampling and preparation for mineral analysis Following one year of shore-based catch assessments, Siganus sutor from Msambweni, Decapterus macarellus, cooler boxes topped with ice to the Kenya Marine and Fisheries Research Institute (KMFRI) for further analysis in the natural products and postharvest technology laboratory.

Seasonal mineral content composition of K, Mg, Zn, Fe and I in the sampled fish specimens was determined according to the Association of Official Analytical Chemists (AOAC) analysis method (AOAC, 2012; Kiczorowska *et al.*, 2019). Inductively Coupled

Plasma Optical Emission Spectrometry (ICP-OES) was used to quantify the mineral levels. In the laboratory, the samples were washed with deiodized water, deboned, head and fins removed, filleted (AOAC, 2000), followed by pounding fleshy portions of the fish using a porcelain crucible. During the procedure for mineral quantification of K, Mg, Zn and Fe, 2.5 g of pounded fish flesh was weighed using an analytical weighing balance, ground in porcelain crucible then dried using a hot plate. Afterwards, the samples were incinerated at 550 °C overnight using a muffle furnace and then treated with 5 ml 6 M hydrochloric acid (HCl), and 10 ml of 0.1 M nitric acid (HNO₃) (AOAC 2012: Mogobe et al., 2015; Njinkoue et al., 2016). For Iodine quantification, 0.2 g of fish sample was weighed and then treated with 5 ml of 6 M nitric acid and 2 ml concentrated hydrogen peroxide before being mounted on a microwave digester. The solutions were left for a duration of 2 hours before being transferred to volumetric flasks topped with 50 ml ultra-pure water and used for determination of mineral content (Mogobe et al., 2015).

Data and statistical analyses

Sizes of sampled fish specimens were subjected to statistical test to determine differences in fish sizes between seasons using 1-way ANOVA for parametric data and the Kruskal-Wallis test for non-parametric data. For mineral content analysis, 1-way ANOVA was also used to test for significant differences in fish mineral concentration in sampled fish species between seasons. STATISTICA version 7 statistical software was used for the statistical tests at a significance level of p < 0.05, and homogeneity of variances confirmed using the Levene's test accepted at p > 0.05 as a requirement for using the ANOVA parametric test.

Results

Size variation of randomly sampled fish specimens

Sizes of the fish specimens varied between seasons (Table 1). Sphyraena obtusata and Decapterus macarellus were significantly larger in SEM compared to NEM season (1-way ANOVA, p < 0.05 in both cases). Results of 1-way ANOVA confirmed that Siganus sutor were larger in the NEM season than SEM season (df = 1, f = 51.340, p = 0.000). Kruskal-Wallis test indicated that Sphyraena forsteri were significantly larger in the NEM season than SEM season (p = 0.000).

Mineral concentration of sampled fish specimens

Results of mineral concentration varied widely among these fish species and to some extent concentrations differed between the seasons (Table 2). Seasonal variability of K, Mg, Zn, Fe and I levels in fish samples was evident.

Mineral concentration in Sphyraena obtusata

Results of 1-way ANOVA indicated that Fe concentration was significantly higher in the warm NEM season $(2.59 \pm 0.024 \text{ mg/100g})$ than in the wet SEM season $(0.64 \pm 0.016 \text{ mg}/100\text{g}) \text{ (df =1, f = } 4382.580, p = 0.000).$ The same test confirmed that K concentration was significantly higher in the SEM season (384.25 ± 3.051 mg/100g) than the NEM season (255.57 ± 2.627 mg/100g) (p = 0.000). Mg concentration was higher in SEM than NEM but not significantly different (Kruskal-Wallis test (p = 0.070). Zn concentration was significantly higher in SEM than NEM (2.69 \pm 0.034; 1.45 ± 0.006 mg/100g) (Kruskal-Wallis: p = 0.000). Similar I concentration of 13.48 ± 0.807 mg/100g and 14.93 ± 0.793 mg/100g were recorded for NEM and SEM, respectively and this was not significantly different (1-way ANOVA: df = 1, f = 1.631, p = 0.210) (Table 2).

Table 1. Mean \pm SE total length and weight of fish specimens sampled for mineral content analysis. The symbol * indicates a statistically significant difference at p < 0.05.

Species	Common name	Area	Mean Weight (g)	Mean Length (cm)	n
Siganus sutor	Rabbitfish	Msambweni	320 ± 16.7 (NEM) vs 172.3 ± 12.7 (SEM)	28.8 ± 0.55 (NEM) vs 22.8 ± 0.60 (SEM)*	30
Sphyraena forsteri	Bigeye barracuda	Vanga	34.3 ± 0.8 (NEM) vs 25.6 ± 1.9 (SEM)	18.7 ± 0.08 (NEM) vs 16.6 ± 0.36 (SEM)*	30
Sphyraena obtusata	Obtuse barracuda	Vanga	49.8 ± 5.1 (NEM) vs 132.1 ± 11.4 (SEM)	21.3 ± 0.80 (NEM) vs 31 ± 1.01 (SEM)*	30
Decapterus macarellus	Mackerel scad	Vanga	41.9 ± 0.1 (NEM) vs 66.2 ± 1.8 (SEM)	16.8 ± 0.14 (NEM) vs 19.0 ± 0.16 (SEM)*	30

Species	K(mg/100g)	Mg(mg/100g)	Zn(mg/100g	Fe(mg/100g)	l(μ/100g)
S. obtusata	255.57 ± 2.627 (NEM)	36.23 ± 0.807 (NEM)	1.45 ± 0.006 (NEM)	2.59 ± 0.024 (NEM)	13.48 ± 0.807 (NEM)
	vs 384.25 ± 3.051 (SEM)*	vs 38.30 ± 0.366 (SEM)	vs 2.69 ± 0.034 (SEM)*	vs 0.64 ± 0.016 (SEM)*	vs 14.93 ± 0.793 (SEM)
D. macarellus	242.12 ± 3.548 (NEM)	35.26 ± 0.752 (NEM)	1.49 ± 0.035 (NEM)	2.31 ± 0.029 (NEM)	13.87 ± 0.213 (NEM)
	vs 304.19 ± 2.759 (SEM)*	vs 47.56 ± 0.509 (SEM)*	vs 5.84 ± 0.054 (SEM)*	vs 2.06 ± 0.024 (SEM)*	vs 18.33 ± 0.412 (SEM)*
S. forsteri	$246.25 \pm 4.716 \text{ (NEM)} \\ \pm 382.28 \pm 3.802 \text{ (SEM)}*$	33.42 ± 0.658 (NEM) vs 72.29 ± 1.525 (SEM)*	2.69 ± 0.017 (NEM) vs 4.51 ± 0.107 (SEM)*	3.63 ± 0.021 (NEM) vs 1.52 ± 0.032 (SEM)*	14.04 ± 0.165 (NEM) vs 17.53 ± 0.240 (SEM)*
S. sutor	248.73 ± 3.109 (NEM)	26.63 ± 0.320 (NEM)	0.65 ± 0.023 (NEM)	2.75 ± 0.037 (NEM)	35.40 ± 0.859 (NEM)
	vs 410.21 ± 3.546 (SEM)*	vs 57.96 ± 0.926 (SEM)*	vs 3.79 ± 0.051 (SEM)*	vs 2.76 ± 0.038 (SEM)	vs 57.60 ± 1.679 (SEM)*

Table 2. Results of seasonal mineral composition by fish species sampled over the study period. The symbol * indicates a statistically significantdifference at p < 0.05.

Mineral concentration in Decapterus macarellus

The concentration of Fe in *D. macarellus* was significantly higher in NEM (2.31 \pm 0.029 mg/100g) than SEM season (2.06 \pm 0.024 mg/100g) (1-way ANOVA: df = 1, f = 44.000, p = 0.000). K and Mg concentrations were significantly higher in SEM season than NEM season (Kruskal-wallis test: p = 0.000 for both cases). Zn concentration was significantly higher in SEM (5.84 \pm 0.054 mg/100g) than NEM (1.49 \pm 0.035 mg/100g) (1-way ANOVA: df = 1, f = 10.760, p = 0.000). The concentration of I was also significantly higher in SEM than NEM (1-way ANOVA: df = 1, f = 104.990, p = 0.000) (Table 2).

Mineral concentration in Sphyraena forsteri

The concentration of Mg in this fish species was significantly higher in SEM (72.29 \pm 1.525 mg/100g) than NEM (33.42 \pm 0.658 mg/100g) (1-way ANOVA: df = 1, f = 720.940, p = 0.000). For this species I concentration was also higher in SEM (17.53 \pm 0.240 mg/100g) than NEM (14.04 \pm 0.165 mg/100g) (1-way ANOVA: df = 1, f = 155.94, p = 0.000). The Kruskal-Wallis test confirmed that K, Fe and Zn concentrations were significantly higher in SEM than NEM season (p < 0.05 in all cases) (Table 2).

Mineral concentration in Siganus sutor

In this species Fe concentration was similar in both seasons (2.75 \pm 0.037; 2.76 \pm 0.038 mg/100g for NEM and SEM, respectively). The concentrations of K, Mg, Zn and I were significantly higher in SEM than NEM (1-way ANOVA: p < 0.05 in all cases) (Table 2).

Discussion

In reference to the recommended dietary intake for minerals (DRI, 2001; World Health Organization, 2004), this study confirmed that *S. sutor* (rabbitfish),

D. macarellus (mackerel scad), S. forsteri (bigeye barracuda) and S. obtusata (obtuse barracuda) are an essential source of K, Mg, Zn, Fe and I. However, the concentrations of these minerals in the selected fish species was largely influenced by species type and seasons. This confirms to the work of Varljen et al. (2013) and Abdulkarim et al. (2015) who revealed that fish do not supply similar concentrations of minerals to consumers, as nutritive value of fishes differ with species and seasons. The present study therefore allows the hypothesis to be accepted that the levels of K, Mg, Zn, Fe and I are indeed significantly influenced by fish species and seasons. Varying climatological conditions between the warm northeast monsoon (NEM) and cool southeast monsoon (SEM) seasons may have caused the variation in concentration of minerals in the selected fish species. Similar variations in fish mineral concentration were also reported by Abdulkarim et al. (2015) who further asserted that season is an important factor that alters the mineral concentration in fish considerably. In all fish species investigated in the present study, K was the most dominant mineral followed by Mg. The lowest recorded mineral concentration in fish specimens in this study were I, Fe and Zn. Similar studies by Reksten et al. (2020a) and Nordhagen et al. (2020) also observed lower concentrations of these three minerals in fish muscles compared to Mg, K, Ca and Na concentrations. Zn concentration ranged between 0.5 and 6.13 mg/100 g which is similar to results reported by Nurnadia et al. (2013) and Zaman et al., (2014).

Among the sampled species, Potassium concentrations ranged between 242 and 410 mg/100 g. The results agree with findings by Nordhagen *et al.* (2020) whose K concentration in fish ranged between 177 and 513 mg/100 g. Findings by Reksten *et al.* (2020a) on

Potassium content in fish were within the same range. K concentration in the four selected species was significantly higher in the SEM season compared to NEM season. Abdulkarim et al. (2015) reported that macro minerals such as K and Mg were higher in the wet season than the dry season. The species S. sutor had the highest concentration of Potassium compared to the other species with concentration ranging between 248 and 410 mg/100 g. A similar study by Wahyuningtyas et al. (2017) reported that S. sutor is a richer source of K than Mg, Fe and Zn. Adequate levels of K in S. sutor makes it a preferable diet for K supplementation especially for pregnant and lactating women who require levels of 4,000 mg/day and 4,400 mg/day, respectively (Strohm et al., 2017). S. forsteri, S. obtusata and D. macarellus are also key sources for K with sufficient levels ranging between 304 to 384 mg/100 g in the wet and cool SEM season.

The Mg concentration in all the sampled species across the study sites ranged between 26.6 and 72.2 mg/100 g. Results of this study agree with the findings of Reksten et al. (2020a) who reported Mg concentration in fish muscles ranging between 29 and 75 mg/100 g. These results were also similar to findings of Nordhagen et al. (2020) who found Mg concentrations in fish muscles ranging between 18 and 57 mg/100 g. However, Mg concentrations in the present study were significantly higher during the wet and cool SEM season ranging between 38 and 72 mg/100 g. A study conducted by Abdulkarim et al. (2015) revealed the same results which indicated Mg concentration in Rastrineobola argentea to be 72.96 mg/100 g in SEM season and 54.73 mg/100 g in the warm NEM season. The species S. forsteri had the highest Mg concentration of 72.2 mg/100 g during the SEM season making it a suitable supplement for Mg. This species could be a suitable dietary component for active male adults who require Mg concentrations of 420 mg/day, children who require Mg concentrations ranging between 80 mg/day and 240 mg/day depending on their age, pregnant mothers who need 360 mg/day and lactating mothers who require 400 mg/day (Grober et al., 2015). S.sutor, S.forsteri and D.macarellus are also preferable sources of Mg with concentrations of between 26 and 57 mg/100 g and are also more nutritious during the SEM season compared to NEM season.

Zn composition in all the selected fish samples ranged between 0.64 and 5.84 mg/100 g. These results were in line with those presented by Nurnadia *et al.* (2013), and Kawarazuka and Bennet (2011) where Zn content in fish species ranged between 0.15 and 20 mg/100 g. Wahyuningtyas et al. (2017) also reported the mean Zn concentration in Siganus sutor to be 1.13 mg/100 g, which matches these results where Zn in S.sutor ranged between 0.65 and 3.79 mg/100 g. D.macarellus had the highest zinc content (1.49-5.84 mg/100 g) compared to the other species making it a good meal to supplement zinc deficiency. Findings of Khalaf et al. (2012) also indicated that D.macarellus which recorded zinc levels of between 0.95 and 14.3 mg/100 g, is a better source of Zn compared to D. macrosoma and D.russelli. This makes D.macarellus a good choice of meal for children who require between 12 and 23 mg/day of Zn subject to their age, teenagers who need 34 mg/day and all adults including pregnant and lactating mothers who need 40 mg/day for effective normal body functioning (Institute of Medicine, Food and Nutrition Board, 2001).

Fe content among the studied fish samples ranged between 0.64 and 3.63 mg/100 g with significantly higher concentrations in the warm NEM season. Palanikumar et al. (2014), Zaman et al. (2015), Reksten et al. (2020a), Reksten et al. (2020b) and Nordhagen et al. (2020) reported similar results ranging from 0.2 and 7.01 mg/100 g. Palanikumar et al. (2014) further reported the mean Iron concentration in S.obtusata species to be 0.05 mg/100 g. However, S.forsteri recorded the highest Fe concentration of 3.63 mg/100 g thus forming a preferable part of the diet especially for lactating mothers who require 10 mg/day, pregnant mothers who require 27 mg/day and females who require between 15 and 18 mg/day to make up for the iron lost during their menstruation period (Clifford et al., 2015). S. obtusata, D. macarellus and S. sutor are also recommended dietary items to prevent iron deficiency due to their significant concentrations of Fe ranging between 0.64 and 2.76 mg/100 g.

Iodine (I) content in selected fish specimens ranged between 13.48 and 57.60 µg/100 g. Nordhagen *et al.* (2020) reported similar results where I levels in various fish species ranged between 6.7 and 160 µg/100 g. Previous studies by Reksten *et al.* (2020a) and Reksten *et al.* (2020b) also reported similar concentrations of I in fish ranging between 22 and 280 µg/100 g. In the selected fish species for this present study, *S.sutor* showed the highest levels of I, followed by *D.macarellus, S.forsteri* and *S.obtusata* in that order. All these species can be used as key dietary constituents to prevent I deficiency especially in pregnant mothers who require 220 µg/day and lactating mothers who need 290 µg/day (DRI, 2001; Alvarez-Pedrerol *et al.*, 2010). All these species were richer in I during the wet and cool SEM season than the warm NEM. Albdulkarim *et al.* (2015) also reported that fish are richer in I during the wet season compared to the dry season. *S.sutor* highly recommended for pregnant and lactating mothers due to their high concentrations of Iodine.

All the sampled fish species in this present study were found to be richer in minerals during the wet and cool SEM than warm and dry NEM season. This could be attributed to the availability of more nutrients and dietary materials as well as an increase in minerals washed into the sea from land through various freshwater inlets (Abdulkarim et al., 2011; Abdulkarim et al., 2015). For Vanga, long rains during the SEM season are linked to high nutrient influx from the river Umba, Mwena and Ramisi into Vanga and Jimbo fishing grounds (Opello et al., 2006; Wanyonyi et al., 2017). However, Fe content for D.macarelus, S.obtusata and S.forsteri was significantly higher in the NEM season than the SEM season but S.sutor content was unaffected by these seasons. According to Kessler et al., 2020, dust, which is higher in the warm and dry NEM season compared to the wet and cool SEM season is a very important source of Fe to the ocean. Additionally, Fe content in fish muscles could be higher, lower or unaffected by seasons depending on the geographical conditions Abdulkarim et al. (2011).

Conclusions

This study reveals that fish is a rich source of K, Mg, Zn, Fe and I which has the potential to contribute to good nutrition of local fishing communities if consumed in adequate amounts. As a result, fish intake can be used to combat malnutrition and remedy various nutritive deficiencies and health problems. However, only small amounts of fish are retained for home use by artisanal fishers in both Msambweni and Vanga (Mwakaribu et al., 2022). The variability in fish mineral concentration is dependent on fish species as well as the seasonal dynamics. Selected fish elemental analysis indicated that marine fish are richer in minerals during the SEM than the NEM season. Conversely, Fe content in fish is higher in NEM than SEM season. The local fishing communities on the south coast of Kenya could increase fish consumption to supplement deficiencies for K, Mg, Zn and I, especially during the SEM season, and Fe deficiency during the NEM season. This study should be extended to the entire Kenya coast focussing on a wide range of fish species in order to identify the best species to supplement particular mineral deficiencies and the best time to consume more fish.

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to the Western Indian Ocean Marine Science Association (WIOMSA) which funded this study through a MARG l research grant. We thank our field assistants Mr Joshua Omweri (KMFRI) and Mr Dennis Oigara (Vanga Assistant Fisheries Officer, Kwale County) for helping with species identification which was useful in selection of samples. We thank KMFRI for the laboratory space and Ms Winnie Jefwa, a laboratory technician, for her assistance in mineral analysis of selected fish samples.

References

- Abdulkarim B, Sulaiman M, Bolorunduro PI, Balogun JK (2011) Seasonal variations in the proximate and mineral contents of three freshwater fish species of the families *Mochokidae*, *Mormyridae* and *Schilbedae* from Mairuwa Reservoir, Faskari, Katsina State Nigeria. Journal of Biological and Environmental Sciences 8 (3): 7-12
- Abdulkarim B, Bwathondi POJ, Benno BL (2015) Seasonal variations in the mineral composition of some commercially important fish species of Lake Victoria- Tanzania. International Journal of Agricultural Sciences 5 (3): 426-434
- Abeywickrama HM, Koyama Y, Uchiyama M, Shimizu U, Iwasa Y, Yamada E, Ohashi K, Mitobe Y (2018) Micronutrient status in Sri Lanka: A review. Nutrients 10 (1583): 1-20
- Agembe S, Mlewa CM, Kaunda-Arara B (2010) Catch composition, abundance and length-weight relationships of groupers (Pisces: Serranidae) from inshore waters of Kenya. Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science 9 (1): 91-102
- Ajayi CO (2016) Food security status of artisanal fishers and concerns of bycatch in Nigeria. Asian Research Journal of Agriculture 2 (2): 1-10
- Ahmad RS, Imran AA, Hussain MB (2018) Nutritional composition of meat. In: Arshad MS (ed) Meat Science and Nutrition: 61-77 [doi: 10.5772/intechopen.77045]
- Alas A, Ozcan MM, Harmankaya M (2014) Mineral contents of head, caudal, central fleshy part, and spinal columns of some fishes. Environmental Monitoring Assessment 186 (2): 889-894
- Alvavez-Pedrerol M, Ribas-Fito N, Rodriguez A, Soriano D, Guxens M, Mendez M, Sunyer J (2010) Iodine sources and iodine levels in pregnant women from an area without known iodine deficiency. Clinical Endocrinology 72 (1): 81-86
- AOAC (2000) Association of Official Analytical Chemists. Official Methods of Analysis. Vol. II, 17th Edition, AOAC, Washington DC: 237-242

- AOAC (2012) Official methods of analysis of AOAC International, 19th ed. AOAC International, Gaithersburg, MD, USA, Official Method 2008.01. Revised October 2013.
- Awuchi CG, Igwe VS, Amagwula I, Echeta CK (2020) Health benefits of micronutrients (vitamins and minerals) and their associated deficiency diseases: A systematic review. International Journal of Food Sciences 3 (1): 1-32
- Barakat I, Saad A, Nisafi I (2022) Influence of seasonal variation on the biochemical composition of both sexes of the round sardinella *Sardinella aurita* (Valenciennes, 1847) caught in the marine water of Lattakia Governorate (Syria). Journal of Materials and Environmental Science 13 (7): 747-775
- Black RE, Victoria CG, Walker SP, Bhutta ZA, Christian P, Onis M (2013) Maternal and child undernutrition and overweight in low-income and middle-income countries. Lancet 382 (9890): 427-451
- Béné C, Barange M, Subasinghe R, Pinstrup-Andersen P, Merino G, Hemre G, Williams, M (2015) Feeding 9 billion by 2050 –Putting fish back on the menu. Food Security 7: 261-274 [doi: 10.1007/s12571-015-0427-z]
- Bennet A, Patil P, Kleisner K, Rader D, Virdin J, Basurto X (2018) Contribution of fisheries to food and nutrition security. Current Knowledge Policy and Research 18: 1-46
- Bhandari S, Banjara MR (2014) Micronutrients deficiency, a hidden hunger in Nepal: Prevalence, causes, consequences and solutions. International Scholarly Research Notices 2015: 1-9 [doi:10.1155/2015/276469]
- Borwankar R, Sanghvi T, Houston R (2007) What is the extent of vitamin and mineral deficiencies?: Magnitude of the problem. Food and Nutrition Bulletin 28 (1): 174-181
- Chan YC, Tran N, Pethiyagoda S, Crissman CC, Sulser TB, Phillips MJ (2019) Prospects and challenges of fish for food security in Africa. Global Food Security 20: 17-25
- Clifford J, Niebaum K, Bellows L (2015) Iron: An essential nutrient. Food and Nutrition Series 9 (356): 1-3
- Dietary Reference Intakes (DRI) (2001) Dietary Reference Intakes for Vitamin A, Vitamin K, Arsenic, Boron, Chromium, Copper, Iodine, Iron, Manganese, Molybdenum, Nickel, Silicon, Vanadium, and Zinc. Institute of Medicine (US) Panel on Micronutrients. Washington (DC). National Academies Press (US. pp. 258-488 [doi: 10.17226/10026]
- Fiorentini D, Cappadone C, Farruggia G, Prata C (2021) Magnesium: biochemistry, nutrition, detection, and

social impact of diseases linked to its deficiency. Nutrients 13 (4): 1136 [doi: 10.3390/nul3041136]

- Fondo EN, Kimani EN, Munga CN, Aura CM, Okemwa G, Agembe S (2014) A review on Kenyan fisheries research: 1970-2009. Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science 13 (2): 143-162
- Grober U, Schmidt J, Kisters K (2015) Magnesium in prevention and therapy. Nutrients 7: 8199-8226 [doi:10.3390/nu7095388]
- Institute of Medicine, Food and Nutrition Board (2001) Dietary reference intakes for Vitamin A, Vitamin K, Arsenic, Boron, Chromium, Copper, Iodine, Iron, Manganese, Molybdenum, Nickel, Silicon, Vanadium, and Zinc. National Academy Press, Washington, DC
- Kawaruzka N, Bennet C (2011) The potential role of small fish species in improving micronutrient deficiencies in developing countries: building evidence. Public Health Nutrition 14 (11): 1927-1938
- Kessler N, Armoza-Zvuloni R, Wang S, Basu S, Weber PK, Stuart RK, Shaked Y (2020) Selective collection of iron-rich dust particles by natural Trichodesmium colonies. The ISME Journal 14: 91-103
- Khalaf MA, Al-Najjar T, Alawi M, Disi AA (2012) Levels of trace metals in three fish species *Decapterus macrellus, Decapterus macrosoma* and *Decapterus russelli* of the family carangidae from the Gulf of Aqaba, Red Sea, Jordan. Natural Science 4 (6): 362-367
- Khitouni IK, Mihoubi NB, Bouain A, Rebah FB (2014) Seasonal variation of the chemical composition, fatty acid profiles and mineral elements of *Diplodus annularis* (Linnaeus, 1758) caught in the Tunisian coastal water. Journal of Food and Nutrition Research 2 (6): 306-311
- Kiczorowska B, Samolinska W, Grela ER, Bik-Malodzinska M (2019) Nutrient and mineral profile of chosen fresh and smoked fish. Nutrients 11: 1448 [doi: 10.3390/nu11071448]
- Kumssa DB, Joy EJM, Broadley MR (2021) Global trends (1961–2017) in human dietary Potassium supplies. Nutrients 13 (4): 1369 [doi: 10.3390/nul3041369]
- Lall SP, Tibbetts SM (2009) Nutrition, feeding, and behaviour of fish. Veterinary Clinics of North America - Exotic Animal Practice 12 (2): 361-372
- Lancker K, Fricke L, Schmidt JO (2019) Assessing the contribution of artisanal fisheries to food security: A bioeconomic modelling approach. Food Policy 87: 101740
- Mogobe O, Mosepele K, Masamba WRL (2015) Essential mineral content of common fish species in Chanoga, Okavango Delta, Botswana. African Journal of Food Science 9 (9): 480-486

- Mohanty BP, Singh SD (2018) Fish and human nutrition. Aquaculture in India. Narendra Publishing House, Delhi, India. pp 561-581
- Mwakaribu A, Munga C, Dzoga M, Njihia P, Mulala D (2022) Retained fish catches of artisanal fishers is dependent on fishing area, season and fishing gear type: A case study from the south coast of Kenya. Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science 21 (2): 11-23
- Njinkoue JM, Gouado I, Tchoumbougnang F, Ngueguim JHY, Ndinteh DT, Fomogne-Fodjo CY, Schweigert FJ (2016) Proximate composition, mineral content and fatty acid profile of two marine fishes from Cameroonian coast: *Pseudotolithus typus* (Bleeker, 1863) and *Pseudotolithus elongatus* (Bowdich, 1825). NFS Journal 4: 27-31
- Nordhagen A, Rizwan AA, Aakre I, Reksten AM, Pincus LM, Bøkevoll A, Mamun A, Thilsted TH, Somasundaram T, Kjellevold M (2020) Nutrient composition of demersal, pelagic and mesopelagic fish species sampled off the coast of Bangladesh and their potential contribution to food and nutrition security- The EAF-Nansen Programme. Foods 9: 730
- Nurnadia AA, Azrina A, Amin I, Mohd Yunus AS, Mohd Izuan Effendi H (2013) Mineral contents of selected marine fish and shellfish from the west coast of Peninsular Malaysia. International Food Research Journal 20 (1): 1338-1343
- Olgunoglu IA (2014) Review on omega-3 (n-3) fatty acids in fish and seafood. Journal of Biology, Agriculture and Healthcare 7 (12): 38-45
- Opello G, Nguli M, Machua S, Tole M, Massa H, Mwangi S, Ong'anda H (2006) Land-based activities, pollution sources and levels in water and sediment in the coastal and marine area of Kenya: Draft report, UNEP-GEF WIO-LaB Project- Addressing Land Based Activities in the Western Indian Ocean, Mombasa, Kenya.1-44 pp
- Pal J, Shukla BN, Maurya AK, Verma HO, Pandey G, Amitha G (2018) A review on role of fish in human nutrition with special emphasis to essential fatty acid. International Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Studies 6 (2): 427-430
- Palanikumar M, Annathai RA, Shakila JR, Shanmugam SA (2014) Proximate and major mineral composition of 23 medium sized marine fin fishes landed in the Thoothukudi Coast of India. Journal of Nutrition and Food Sciences 4 (1): 1-7 [doi:4172/2155-9600.1000259]
- Reksten AM, Joao-Correia-Victor AM, Nascimento-Neves EB, Christiansen SM, Ahern M, Uzomah A, Lundebye AK, Kolding J, Kjellevold M (2020a) Nutrient and

chemical contaminant levels in five marine fish species from Angola—The EAF-Nansen Programme. Foods 2020 9: 629 [doi:10.3390/foods9050629]

- Reksten AM, Somasundaram T, Kjellevold M, Pincus L, Nordhagen A, Bøkevoll A, Pincus LM, Rizwan AA, Mamun A, Thilsted SH, Htut T, Aakre I (2020b) Nutrient composition of 19 fish species from Sri Lanka and potential contribution to food and nutrition security. Journal of Food Composition and Analysis 91: 103508
- Schwalfenberg GK, Genius SJ (2017) The importance of magnesium in clinical healthcare. Scientifica 4179326: 1-14 [doi: 10.1155/2017/4179326]
- Shija SMY, Shilla DA, Mihale MJ (2019) Variation of proximate contents in selected marine fish from Tanzanian coast due to seasonality and processing methods. Huria Journal 26 (1): 30-49
- Strohm D, Ellinger S, Leschik-Bonnet E, Matretzke F, Heseker H (2017) Revised reference values for Potassium intake. Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism 71: 118-124 [doi:10.1159/000479705]
- Thilsted SH, Thorne-Lyman A, Webb P, Bogard JR, Subasinghe R, Phillips MJ, Allison EH (2016) Sustaining healthy diets: the role of capture fisheries and aquaculture for improving nutrition in the post-2015 era. Food Policy 61: 126-131
- Tulchinski TH (2010) Micronutrient deficiency conditions: Global health issues. Public Health Reviews 32 (1): 243-255
- Varljen J, Sulic S, Brmalj L, Obersnel V, Kapovic M (2013) Lipid classes and fattyacid composition of *Diplodus* vulgaris and Conger conger originating from Adriaticsea. Food Technology Biotechnology 41: 149-156
- Wahyuningtyas LA, Nurilmala M, Sondita MFA, Taurusman AA, Sudrajat AO (2017) Nutrient profile of Rabbit fish (*Siganus* spp.) from the Kepulauan Seribu (Thousand Islands) Jakarta, Indonesia. International Food Research Journal 24 (2): 685-690
- Wanyonyi I, Karisa J, Gamoyo M, Mbugua J (2017) Factors influencing migrant fisher access to fishing grounds. Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science 16 (2): 27-39
- World Health Organization (WHO) (2004) Vitamin and mineral requirements in human nutrition, 2nd ed. World Health Organization.
- Zaman MM, Naimul N, Abu-Tareq MA, Nasima K (2014) Nutrient contents of some popular freshwater and marine fish species of Bangladesh. Bangladesh Journal of Zoology 42 (2): 251-159

Original Article

Western Indian Ocean JOURNAL OF Marine Science

Silas MO, Mgeleka SS, Kangwe JS (2023) River discharge, fishing effort and catch composition of

prawn fisheries in coastal Tanzania.

Western Indian Ocean Journal

of Marine Science 22(2): 135-145 [doi: 10.4314/wiojms.v22i2.10]

Open access

Citation:

Received: August 3, 2023

Accepted: November 13, 2023

Published:

Copyright:

December 19, 2023

(CC BY 4.0) licence. * Corresponding author:

Owned by the journal. The articles are open access

articles distributed under

the terms and conditions of the

Creative Commons Attribution

mathewsilas28@gmail.com

River discharge, fishing effort and catch composition of prawn fisheries in coastal Tanzania

Mathew O. Silas^{1,2*}, Said S. Mgeleka^{1,3}, Simon J. Kangwe¹

¹ Tanzania Fisheries Research Institute, Box 78850, Dar es Salaam Centre, Tanzania ³ Department of Ecology, Environment and Plant Sciences, 106 91 Stockholm University, Stockholm, Sweden

² Deep Sea Fisheries Authority, Box 56, Zanzibar

Abstract

This study examined the relationships between river discharge, fishing effort and catch composition of prawn fisheries in coastal Tanzania. Key assumptions were that river discharge would be a good indicator of rainfall and that the number of fishing vessels would reflect fishing intensity. We investigated whether reduced river discharge or increased fishing effort caused the collapse of the industrial prawn fishery in 2007, and which of these factors delayed recovery prior to reopening the fishery in 2017. The analysis showed a positive relationship between Catch Per Unit Effort (CPUE) and river discharge, with decreased river flow resulting in reduced prawn catches. The number of fishing vessels had little impact on CPUE before 2003, but thereafter CPUE declined even when fishing effort was reduced by 50%. A shift in trawl catches from a prawn-dominated fishery to a fish-dominated fishery was observed four years before the collapse. The trend in river discharge persisted below average (22 m³/s) between 2000 and 2007. Forewarning of low river discharge, changing trawl catch composition, and increasing effort may have led to developing proactive strategies to minimise the impact of a changing regime on fish stocks and dependent communities. We recommend establishing a monitoring system to anticipate similar events in the future.

Keywords: industrial fisheries, prawn species, overfishing, fisheries management

Introduction

Fluctuations in prawn catch are a worldwide concern (Schlenker *et al.*, 2023; Silas, 2011); recently, these have been attributed to the growing influence of anthropogenic pressures, including pollution, mangrove cover loss, reduced river flow, erratic rainfall patterns, and climate change (Cheung *et al.*, 2012; Gammels-rød, 1992; Hoguane, 2012; IPCC, 2021; Kasan *et al.*, 2023; Perry *et al.*, 2005; Schilling *et al.*, 2023; Silas *et al.*, 2023). Like many other aquatic organisms, prawns are highly sensitive to environmental changes. Their relatively short lifespan further exacerbates their vulnerability to these varying conditions (Silas, 2011). The studies by Turschwell *et al.* (2022) and Blamey *et al.* (2022) have highlighted the intricate relationship between prawns and their habitat, indicating that

can have far-reaching consequences on their populations. As such, the fluctuations in prawn catch are not solely due to natural variations but are deeply rooted in human-induced disturbances to their ecosystems. Given the intricate relationship between prawns and their environment and the numerous anthropogenic pressures they face, managing prawn populations has become an arduous task. Balancing the economic interests of fisheries and the ecological well-being of prawn populations requires comprehensive strategies that address the root causes of fluctuations. Finding solutions to mitigate the impact of anthropogenic pressures while safeguarding sustainable growth of prawn populations present a significant challenge to fisheries management (Silas, 2011; Turschwell *et al.*,

even slight alterations in environmental parameters

2022). This study aimed to delve into the complexities surrounding fluctuating prawn catches in Tanzania, shedding light on the underlying causes and potential implications, and proposing avenues for effective and sustainable management in the face of such challenges.

The prawn fishery is an important economic activity supporting Tanzania's economy and the livelihood of coastal communities (Malauene et al., 2021; Silas, 2011; Swaleh et al., 2015). Despite the benefits provided, this fishery was closed in 2007 due to low catches of all prawn species common in Tanzania (Appendix 1). Before the closure however, industrial fishers had already begun to reduce their fishing vessels since 2004 (Silas, 2011; TAFIRI, 2021). In 2007, the Ministry of Livestock and Fisheries of Tanzania banned industrial prawn fishing to allow the diminished stock to recover (Mwakosya et al., 2010). In 2017, a decade after the ban, the prawn fishery was reopened with improved measures to ensure long-term sustainability (TAFIRI, 2021). These additional regulations included a closed fishing season between September and March for the northern fishing grounds (encompassing Bagamoyo and Pangani) and between August and April for the southern fishing grounds (including Kilwa and Kisiju) (Fig. 1). Also, fishing vessels were limited to four on each of the two major fishing grounds (MLF, 2022). Furthermore, following the reopening, previously established management measures that were in effect before the closure in 2007, including limitation on fishing operations to a 12-hour window during daylight to prevent unregulated practices at night, the imposition of a vessel capacity not exceeding 500 HP, and the strict prohibition of tickler chain usage were also reinstated for improved sustainability (MLFD, 2009; Silas, 2011).

Since prawns have a high fecundity rate, between 40 000 to 320 000 eggs (Teikwa and Mgaya, 2003), after a short period of closure, it could have been expected that the population of prawns would bounce back; however, the recovery took a decade (i.e., from 2007 to 2017) (Mwakosya *et al.*, 2010; TAFIRI, 2021). Assessing other factors that might have been at play or contributed to prawn collapse and possibly a delayed recovery is vital. For Tanzania, research studies that examine factors linked to prawn catch are scarce, and the available studies are restricted to some bays (Mosha and Gallardo, 2013; Semba *et al.*, 2016). Consequently, extrapolating the findings to the entire coastline is challenging. For instance, Mosha and Gallardo (2013)

highlighted how salinity affects prawn availability and abundance in the Pangani estuarine environment, whilst Semba *et al.* (2016) examined the relationship between phytoplankton and prawn productivity in the Rufiji delta, both studies being confined to a local area; however, effective management requires a broader understanding of varying conditions and habitats where organisms are found (Silas *et al.*, 2023).

In that regard, limited information on factors affecting prawn catches at a larger scale, for example, in coastal Tanzania, creates a challenge for managers. Without a comprehensive understanding of the factors determining prawn catches and availability at a larger scale, they have no choice but to rely solely on input control measures, including traditional effort controls. This is because other management options, such as habitat restoration and pollution control, require a better understanding of the factors involved (Farmery et al., 2015; Swaleh, et al. 2015). This article aims to fill the knowledge gap regarding the longterm trend of prawn harvests and their relationship with precipitation patterns. To achieve this, river discharge was examined as a proxy for rainfall patterns to determine whether changes in prawn catches were associated with river discharge before the closure of the prawn fishery in 2007. Doing so provides a more comprehensive understanding of the factors influencing prawn availability beyond fishing pressure. This knowledge is essential for improved prawn resource management and may help to explain the delayed recovery a decade after the moratorium in 2007.

Materials and Methods

Study area

The three main prawn-fishing zones on Tanzania's coastline are examples of the nation's abundant and diverse aquatic life, and they also provide habitat for other fisheries like sardines (Silas, 2022). Zone 1 is situated in the northern part of the coast, close to Bagamoyo and Saadani, and estuarine conditions are supported there by the Pangani, Wami and Ruvu rivers, which originate from the Kilimanjaro and Nguru mountain ranges, and the Uluguru Mountains, respectively. Zone 2 is located at the mouth of the Rufiji River which is the largest and longest river in Tanzania, originating from the Poroto and Kipengere mountain ranges in the southern highlands. Zone 3 is south of the Rufiji Delta, also influenced by the Rufiji River. Tanzania's prawn fisheries benefit from the favourable conditions created by these major rivers (see Fig. 1).
Data Sources

The data utilised in this study pertains to the period before closure in 2007 and encompasses prawn catch and effort data, as well as river discharge data between rainfall patterns and marine fish catch and migration, as highlighted by other studies (Cheung *et al.*, 2012; IPCC, 2021; Perry *et al.*, 2005).



Figure 1. Map of the prawn fishing zones on the coast of Tanzania.

from 1988 to 2007. River discharge data was used to evaluate its impact on prawn catches, given its role in determining availability and catch variability in other coastal regions of the Western Indian Ocean, including neighbouring Mozambique (Malauene *et al.*, 2021). This study also considered the relationship

Prawn catch data

Several data sources, including logbooks, vessel monitoring systems (VMS), at-sea inspections, port sampling, and an observer programme, were used to obtain information on industrial prawn catch and fishing effort and ensure data quality. Prawn trawlers are obliged by law to keep logbooks that record their fishing operations, including the date, time, location, time spent fishing, species of prawns caught and information on bycatch. All commercial prawn trawlers have VMS devices that communicate satellite position, speed, and direction information to the Fisheries Department. Before submitting data recorded in the logbooks to the Fisheries Department, the onboard observer checks the information logged to ensure accuracy. The Fisheries Department then digitises and includes the information in the annual statistics report books and also submits data to the Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations (MLF, 2020).

River discharge data

Daily discharge data in cubic meters per second (m^{*}/s) was extracted from the Hydrological Year Book of Tanzania (https://www.maji.go.tz/) for the major rivers flowing into the main prawn fishing grounds in the coastal Indian Ocean. Although the Hydrological Year Book contains long-term data, this analysis was limited to data for the study period.

Data processing

Prawn relative abundance was estimated by a method described by Harley *et al.* (2001), whereby fish catch rates (CPUE) were standardised by dividing the total weight of fish landed by the number of fishing vessels involved in the fishing. Using this method, it was possible to compute an index which was employed to approximate the prawn population's relative abundance:

Catch rate (CPUE) = $\frac{Wt}{No}$

Where 'Wt' represents the wet weight of landed prawns and/or fish measured in kg, and 'No' is the number of fishing vessels involved when fishing.

Since the available prawn catch data were recorded on a yearly basis and lacked seasonal representation, an alternative approach had to be adopted. Therefore, the mean annual river discharge was computed as a proxy to compare with the limited prawn catch data. This allowed investigation of potential correlations or relationships between the two variables despite the low resolution of the prawn catch data.

Analysis

R version 4.2.0 was used for all statistical analyses and ggplot2 for plotting (R Core Team 2013, 2021). To investigate whether fishing effort or other factors influenced prawn catch, detrended indices of precipitation and prawn catch were developed. This process helped eliminate noise and other irregularities, thus enhancing the precision of predictions. For detrending, a yearly mean discharge rate in m⁻³ s⁻¹, mean prawn catch in tons/day, and mean proportion of prawn to fish catch was used. This was used to assess the relationship between prawn catch and discharge rates between 1988 and 1997 with a generalised linear model. Bar charts of detrended CPUE and discharge were also prepared to see when the values were above or below average.

Furthermore, a table was constructed examining the association between detrended discharge values and the detrended proportion of the prawn-to-fish catch ratio to assess if any and when changes occurred in the catch composition based on the prawn-to-fish catch ratio (Table 1).

Results

The impact of fishing effort on the prawn fishery Prawn catches (measured in CPUE) fluctuated from the late 1980s to the closure in 2007 (Fig. 2). Prawn CPUE declined while effort increased until early 2003, when the maximum number of 26 fishing vessels was reached (Fig. 2). After that period, prawn catch dropped by 50 % from 1 320 to 661 tons in just a year (between 2003 and 2004) in spite of no drop in effort. The drop in catch prompted industrial fishers to reduce the number of fishing boats for the following three years, but CPUE continued to decline. In 2005, only 14 fishing vessels (56 % of the 25) were left operational. In 2007, the fishing companies further reduced the number of fishing vessels to 10, with no increase in CPUE. In 2007, the fisheries department officially closed the prawn fishery.

Trends of prawn catch and river discharge rate

Figure 3 illustrates the deviation from the long-term average of river discharge (m³/sec) and CPUE (ton/day). Positive values indicate above-average conditions, while negative values indicate below-average conditions. There was a gradual rise in river discharge since 1988, which peaked in 1992. In the subsequent years, discharge rates fell below the long-term average, reaching their lowest levels in 1993 and 1994. However, from 1995 to 1996, the discharge rates increased and exceeded the long-term average. In 1997, the discharge rates fell below the long-term average again, followed by an increase in discharge rates from 1998 to 2000. Below-average discharge rates characterised the period from 2001 to 2007.



Figure 2. The relationship between CPUE; a tonnage-per-boat measure of relative prawn abundance, and the number of fishing boats from 1988 to the fishery's closure in 2007.

Except for 1989, CPUE values remained above average from 1988 to 1996, spanning almost a decade. However, in 1997, the CPUE dropped below the long-term average, and this trend persisted until the prawn fishery was officially closed in 2007. Notably, the highest CPUE value was recorded in 1990, after which there was a general decline in prawn CPUE until the fishery closure in 2007. In general, during the late 1980s to early 1990s, when the discharge rate was above average, the CPUE was also above average. Similarly, from early 2000 to 2007, when the discharge rate was below average, the CPUE was below average. However, between 1995 and 1997, discharge and CPUE were at their average levels.

Correlation between prawn catch and river discharge

Figure 4 shows a positive relationship between detrended CPUE and discharge data. This relationship implies the amount of water pouring into



Figure 3. The trend of river discharge and prawn catch (CPUE) on the Tanzanian coast between 1988 to 2007. the CPUE and discharge rate data are detrended.



Figure 4. The relationship between prawn catch and discharge rate for two decadal periods from 1988 to 1997 on the coast of Tanzania. Data are detrended, and a generalised linear model is used for fitting while standard errors are presented in grey.

the ocean from the river or stream (discharge); if it decreases, the prawn catch per unit effort (CPUE) also declines, whereas an increase in discharge results in an increased catch.

Switch in trawl catch composition

The composition of trawl catches shifted from a prawn-dominated fishery in the 1980s to a fish-dominated one from early 2000 (see catch proportion column in Table 1). This shift was apparent nine years before the prawn fishery was closed. Based on these statistics, the change in trawl catch composition coincided with below-average river flow. This result indicates a possible link between river discharge trends and a switch in catch composition, particularly from the early 2000s. Therefore, increasing trawl vessels, particularly after the early 2000s, when changed to fish-dominated, increased bycatch levels. For instance, in the final years before the closures, the prawn composition comprised roughly 30 % of the catch, indicating that more fish were captured than prawns.

Discussion

The prawn fishery along the coast of Tanzania has been a crucial source of livelihood for coastal communities and a significant contributor to the country's economy (MLF, 2020; Silas, 2011). However, overfishing, combined with environmental factors such as decreased river flow, has led to a decline in prawn populations, ultimately resulting in the closure of the prawn fishery in 2007. This study aimed to investigate the link between extended-term trends of prawn harvest and precipitation patterns, using river discharge as a proxy for rainfall patterns. River discharge was chosen as it influences prawn populations and their well-being globally (Turschwell *et al.*, 2022). Variations in river flow, such as seasonal changes, flood events, and human-induced alterations, directly and indirectly impact prawn habitats and behaviour. During the wet season, for example, increased river flow facilitates juvenile prawn transportation into estuaries and coastal areas, promoting higher catch rates (Silas, 2011; Silas *et al.*, 2023).

Based on such considerations, the fluctuation of prawn catches for Tanzania was evaluated, and the findings suggest a positive relationship between detrended CPUE and river discharge. The presence of this relationship may suggest that a decrease in river or stream water flow (discharge) reduces the prawn abundance, resulting in low catches. Gammelsrød (1992) and Hoguane (2012) also documented comparable results of low catch at reduced discharges. The link between river flow and prawn abundance is also described for other regions. For regions where the wet and dry season persists, reduced river flow during the dry season

Table 1. Changes in trawl catch composition from prawn-dominated to fish-dominated from the prawn fishing grounds off the coast of Tanzania. Green values in the discharge column indicate above-average discharge rates, while red values indicate below-average discharge rates. In the catch proportion column, green values indicate years when the prawn catch was above-average, while red values show years when the catch was below average.

Year	Discharge	Prawn (tons)	Fish (tons)	Prawn: Fish	Detrended Discharge	Detrended catch proportion
1988	21.42	650.93	988.25	0.66	▼0.71	▼0.55
1989	27.54	688.84	978.50	0.70	▲ 5.41	▼0.50
1990	29.6	960.69	647.47	1.48	▲7.47	▲0.28
1991	33.6	669.02	460.77	1.45	▲11.47	▲ 0.25
1992	32.23	663.85	462.85	1.43	▲10.10	▲0.23
1993	14.6	597.21	398.11	1.50	▼7.53	▲ 0.29
1994	11.98	1014.09	575.81	1.76	▼10.15	▲ 0.55
1995	23.75	795.44	765.54	1.04	▲1.62	▼0.17
1996	22.31	769.65	598.72	1.29	▲ 0.18	▲0.08
1997	19.31	699.06	610.50	1.15	▼2.82	▼0.06
1998	31.88	995.56	537.88	1.85	▲ 9.75	▲0.64
1999	27.12	688.01	609.52	1.13	▲4.99	▼0.08
2000	24.33	909.72	958.13	0.95	▲2.20	▼0.26
2001	18.81	1193.69	1010.31	1.18	▼3.32	▼0.02
2002	17.23	926.08	296.35	3.12	▼4.90	▲1.92
2003	21.75	1320.06	931.16	1.42	▼0.38	▲ 0.21
2004	19	661.06	862.36	0.77	▼3.13	▼0.44
2005	15.92	467.04	868.97	0.54	▼6.21	▼0.67
2006	14.35	312.08	792.64	0.39	▼7.78	▼0.81
2007	15.85	202.46	642.17	0.32	▼6.28	▼0.89

concentrates prawns in specific locations, making them more susceptible to fishing pressure (Broadley *et al.*, 2020). Also, flood events are linked to disrupting prawn habitats, causing short-term declines in the catch, but in some other areas, these events enhance coastal productivity, benefiting prawn populations in the long run (Duggan *et al.*, 2019; Malauene *et al.*, 2021). Such relationships may plausibly explain a delayed recovery of prawn populations following the ban of the industrial prawn fishery in 2007 to the subsequent reopening in 2017, as prawns are highly prolific.

Similarly, the composition of trawl catches along the coast of Tanzania changed from being predominantly prawn in the early 1980s to being dominated by fish in early 2000, nine years before the prawn fishery was officially closed (Table 1). Such evidence suggests that if the catch composition switch had been observed earlier (due to the increased retention of fish bycatch as CPUE of prawns decreased), it could have alerted managers of the possible outcome of a collapse. Additionally, the data indicates that the shift in prawn composition occurred nine years following below-average river flow, which suggests a potential correlation between river discharge trends and changes in trawl catch composition. Comparable changes have been documented in other regions, where early maturing fish populations dominate as they respond easily to changes (Galván et al., 2022; Levine et al., 2023). For example, in the Pacific Arctic, where the water temperature is increasing and salinity is reduced due to melting ice (a phenomenon similar to increased river flow), the fish composition is reported to have changed (Levine et al., 2023), a comparable effect to fish composition change in the prawn fishery of Tanzania. Though prawns are less likely to be affected negatively by increased salinity at an estuarine scale, other species may be affected. An example of such change happened in Patagonia when alien species invaded the area due to such changing conditions (Galván et al., 2022).

Rapid urbanisation and large agricultural expansion characterising the coastal regions has increased water usage in most countries, including Tanzania (Lazaro *et al.*, 2019; NBS, 2018; Seeteram *et al.*, 2019). Combined with extensive land-use changes, subsequent water diversions, and the creation of dams for power projects, it will likely continue to cause river volumes to decline further. These trends are expected to further escalate the impacts on fisheries productivity, including a continued decline in some important fisheries, including prawns and other species that depend on nutrient flux from major rivers. The persistence of reduced river discharges highlights the importance of implementing an Ecosystem Approach to Fisheries (EAF) management and other conservation efforts to help mitigate and safeguard vital ecosystems that support fisheries productivity, an important component of human livelihoods (Eriksson *et al.*, 2016; Silas, 2022).

Other conservation efforts, for example, input control (limiting fishing vessels and time), persisted before the fishery was closed, and neither had a positive impact. It is now emphasised that a practical management approach should consider other factors, including the environment. For example, had the managers observed the catch composition switch and decreased discharge, they would have responded earlier. Therefore, it is suggested that to achieve the fishery's longterm sustainability, an EAF should to be implemented (FAO, 2020). To ensure a consistent and sustainable prawn supply, effective fisheries management strategies that consider the complex interactions between fishing pressure, environmental factors, and the well-being of both prawn populations and the communities that rely on them should be considered.

Though a link was found between prawn catch, trawl catch composition and river discharge, several challenges were also encountered. One of the significant challenges was the lack of consistent and reliable data on prawn catches. The available data were often reported annually and scattered across different sources, making it challenging to comprehensively analyse the monthly relationships (at a much higher resolution). Also, the ban on the prawn fishery in 2007 limited data availability during the ban period, making it difficult to establish the long-term trends of prawn catches and river discharge during the ban. Another challenge was the difficulty separating the effects of fishing pressure from those of other factors, including the environment, in this case, discharge. However, errors were minimised by detrending the data sets used.

Considering the influence of various unexplored variables in this study, including seawater temperature and salinity, on prawn abundance (Hoguane, 2012; Ndunguru et al., 2022), further research is advocated to unravel the complexities of these factors. If all factors had been investigated, the way could have been paved for developing more practical and feasible management strategies for prawns. In addition, since the industrial and artisanal fishery both depend on the same stock, it would be important to understand the coupling between the two fisheries. Also, it could have helped to understand how the artisanal fishery contributed to prawn collapse or a delayed recovery, as artisanal fishers continued fishing after the ban. Understanding these interactions would have provided a more comprehensive picture of how this fishery is affected, enabling the development of an effective monitoring plan involving all relevant stakeholders. In this type of fishery, where artisanal and industrial fishers target the same stock, it is important to have an effective and sustainable management strategy that safeguards resources for the benefit of the large numbers of the population that depends on them.

Conclusion and recommendations

The results of the is study indicate a correlation between changes in prawn catch and river flow, emphasising the need for stakeholders to prioritise and address challenges affecting fish supply; for example, managing watersheds with a multisectoral approach. This may include avoiding obstructing river flow to a degree where other users are impacted. For example, when constructing dams for hydropower stations or irrigation schemes, sufficient water should be left to continue downstream to maintain critical ecosystem processes. Additionally, it is recommended that other factors (e.g., change in mangrove cover, sea water temperature) that were not explored in this study, are investigated. It is also suggested that governments and NGOs invest in alternative livelihood opportunities to reduce reliance on fisheries as the only source of income. These alternatives may include promoting ecotourism activities, developing alternative fisheries, and offering training and education programmes to support entrepreneurship and small business development, as Silas et al. (2020) recommended when examining why fishing communities persist in fishing when catches are declining.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful for the opportunity to build on our previous MSc study completed in 2011. We want to acknowledge the importance of adequately crediting sources and acknowledging previous work in maintaining academic integrity and ensuring the transparency and trustworthiness of our research. We thank the Department of Fisheries and River Basin Authorities for providing data on prawn catch and river discharge. We recognise the valuable contributions made by these organisations and appreciate their efforts to support scientific research. We would also like to thank our colleagues and advisors for their valuable insights and suggestions, which have helped shape the direction and focus of our research.

References

- Blamey LK, Plagányi ÉE, Hutton T, Deng RA, Upston J, Jarrett A (2022) Redesigning harvest strategies for sustainable fishery management in the face of extreme environmental variability. Conservation Biology 36 (3): e13864 [doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/ cobi.13864]
- Broadley A, Stewart-Koster B, Kenyon RA, Burford MA, Brown C (2020) Impact of water development on river flows and the catch of a commercial marine fishery. Ecosphere 11 (7): e03194
- Cheung WWL, Pinnegar J, Merino G, Jones MC, Barange M (2012) Review of climate change impacts on marine fisheries in the UK and Ireland. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 22 (3): 368-388 [doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.2248]
- Duggan M, Bayliss P, Burford MA (2019) Predicting the impacts of freshwater-flow alterations on prawn (*Penaeus merguiensis*) catches. Fisheries Research 215: 27-37
- Eriksson H, Adhuri DS, Adrianto L, Andrew NL, Apriliani T, Daw T, Evans L, Garces L, Kamanyi E, Mwaipopo R, Purnomo AH, Sulu RJ, Beare DJ (2016) An ecosystem approach to small-scale fisheries through participatory diagnosis in four tropical countries. Global Environmental Change 36: 56-66 [doi:http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2015.11.005]
- FAO (2020) The state of world fisheries and aquaculture; Sustainability in action. FAO, Rome. 224 pp [doi:https://doi.org/10.4060/ca9229en]
- Farmery A, Gardner C, Green BS, Jennings S, Watson R (2015) Life cycle assessment of wild capture prawns: expanding sustainability considerations in the Australian Northern Prawn Fishery. Journal of Cleaner Production 87: 96-104 [doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jclepro.2014.10.063]
- Galván DE, Bovcon ND, Cochia PD, González RA, Lattuca ME, Reinaldo MO, Rincón-Díaz MP, Romero MA, Vanella FA, Venerus LA (2022) Changes in the specific and biogeographic composition of coastal fish assemblages in Patagonia, driven by climate change, fishing, and invasion by alien species. In: Global

change in Atlantic coastal Patagonian ecosystems: A journey through time. Springer. pp 205-231

- Gammelsrød T (1992) Variation in shrimp abundance on the Sofala Bank, Mozambique, and its relation to the Zambezi River runoff. Estuarine, coastal and shelf science 35 (1): 91 [doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0272-7714(05)80058-7]
- Harley SJ, Myers RA, Dunn A (2001) Is catch-per-unit-effort proportional to abundance? Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 58 (9): 1760-1772 [doi:10.1139/f01-112]
- Hoguane AM, da Lucia Cuamba E, Gammelsrød T (2012) Influence of rainfall on tropical coastal artisanal fisheries a case study of Northern Mozambique. Revista de Gestão Costeira Integrada-Journal of Integrated Coastal Zone Management 12 (4): 477-482 [doi:https:// doi.org/10.5894/rgci338]
- IPCC (2021) Climate change 2021: The physical science basis. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. 3949 pp
- Kasan NA, Ikhwanuddin M, Manan H, Zakaria NS, Kamaruzzan AS, Rahim AIA, Ishak AN (2023) Assessment on water quality parameter and nutrients level of Nyatuh River in relations with *Macrobrachium rosenbergii* prawn populations. Tropical Life Sciences Research 34 (1): 51-66 [doi:10.21315/tlsr2023.34.1.4]
- Lazaro E, Agergaard J, Larsen MN, Makindara J, Birch-Thomsen T (2019) Urbanisation in rural regions: the emergence of urban centres in Tanzania. The European Journal of Development Research 31: 72-94
- Levine RM, De Robertis A, Grünbaum D, Wildes S, Farley EV, Stabeno PJ, Wilson CD (2023) Climate-driven shifts in pelagic fish distributions in a rapidly changing Pacific Arctic. Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography 208: 105244 [doi:https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr2.2022.105244]
- Malauene BS, Lett C, Marsac F, Roberts MJ, Brito A, Abdula S, Moloney CL (2021) Spawning areas of two shallow-water penaeid shrimps (*Penaeus indicus* and *Metapenaeus monoceros*) on the Sofala Bank, Mozambique. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 253: 107268 [doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2021.107268]
- MLF (2020) Fisheries Annual Statistics Report, Ministry of Livestock and Fisheries, Tanzania [https://www. mifugouvuvi.go.tz/]
- MLF (2022) Guidlines to observe for prawn fishing in 2022 season. The Ministry of Livestock and Fisheries, Tanzania [https://www.mifugouvuvi.go.tz/]
- MLFD (2009) The fisheries regulations (GN.No. 308 of 28/8/2009). [https://www.mifugouvuvi.go.tz/]

- Mosha EJ, Gallardo WG (2013) Distribution and size composition of penaeid prawns, *Penaeus monodon* and *Penaeus indicus* in Saadan estuarine area, Tanzania. Ocean & Coastal Management 82: 51-63 [doi:https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2013.05.003]
- Mwakosya CA, Kuguru B, Senkondo E, Kulekana JJ, Ulotu ESJ, Mhitu H, Matola H, Budeba Y L, Ngatunga BP, Kangwe SJ, Mahongo SB, Silas M (2009) Report on the assessment of the effectiveness of closure of commercial prawn trawling in Tanzania coastal waters. Tanzania Fisheries Research Institute (TAF-IRI). 95 pp
- Mwakosya C, Kuguru B, Senkondo E, Kulekana J, Ulotu E, Sululu H, Mhitu H, Matola H, Budeba Y, Ngatunga B (2010) The assessment of the effectiveness of closure of commercial prawn trawling in Tanzania coastal waters. Report prepared by Tanzania Fisheries Research Institute for Marine Coastal Environment Management Programme. 89 pp
- NBS (2018) National Population Projections. pp 1-113[doi:https://www.nbs.go.tz/]
- Ndunguru S, Njau M, Lugendo BR (2022) Effects of temperature and salinity on incubation time, hatching success, and larvae survival of the Giant Tiger Prawn *Penaeus monodon* under experimental conditions. Tanzania Journal of Science 48 (2): 435-446
- Perry AL, Low PJ, Ellis JR, Reynolds JD (2005) Climate change and distribution shifts in marine fishes. Science 308 (5730): 1912-1915 [doi:https://doi. org/10.1126/science.1111322]
- R Core Team R (2013) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing [https://www.r-project.org/]
- R Core Team R (2021) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing [https://www.r-project.org/]
- Schilling HT, Johnson DD, Hanamseth R, Suthers IM, Taylor MD (2023) Long-term drivers of catch variability in south-eastern Australia's largest portunid fishery. Fisheries Research 260: 106582 [doi:https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.fishres.2022.106582]
- Schlenker LS, Stewart C, Rock J, Heck N, Morley JW (2023) Environmental and climate variability drive population size of annual penaeid shrimp in a large lagoonal estuary. Plos One 18 (5): e0285498
- Seeteram NA, Hyera PT, Kaaya LT, Lalika MCS, Anderson EP (2019) Conserving rivers and their biodiversity in Tanzania. Water Resources and Industry 11 (12): 2612

- Semba M, Kimirei I, Kyewalyanga M, Peter N, Brendonck L, Somers B (2016) The decline in phytoplankton biomass and prawn catches in the Rufiji-Mafia Channel, Tanzania. Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science 15 (1): 15-29
- Silas MO (2011) Review of the Tanzanian prawn fishery. Master's thesis. University of Bergen. 50 pp
- Silas MO, Mgeleka SS, Polte P, Sköld M, Lindborg R, de la Torre-Castro M, Gullström M (2020) Adaptive capacity and coping strategies of small-scale coastal fisheries to declining fish catches: Insights from Tanzanian communities. Environmental Science & Policy 108: 67-76 [doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envsci.2020.03.012]
- Silas MO (2022) Patterns of small-scale coastal fisheries and local fisheries management in Tanzania : adaptation to a changing climate. Doctoral thesis, Comprehensive Summary. Department of Ecology, Environment and Plant Sciences, Stockholm University, Stockholm. 82 pp
- Silas MO, Semba ML, Mgeleka SS, Van Well L, Linderholm HW, Gullström M (2023) Using fishers' local ecological knowledge for management of smallscale fisheries in data-poor regions: Comparing seasonal interview and field observation records in East Africa. Fisheries Research 264: 106721 [doi:https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.fishres.2023.106721]
- Swaleh K, Kaunda-Arara B, Ruwa R, Raburu P (2015) Ecosystem-based assessment of a prawn fishery in coastal Kenya using ecological indicators. Ecological Indicators 50: 233-241 [doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ecolind.2014.11.013]
- TAFIRI (2021) Assessment of the status of Tanzanian Mainland prawn fishery resources. South-West Indian Ocean Fisheries Governance and Shared Growth Program (SWIOFish). Consultancy report submitted to the Ministry of Livestock and Fisheries Development. 93 pp
- Teikwa E, Mgaya Y (2003) Abundance and reproductive biology of the penaeid prawns of Bagamoyo coastal waters, Tanzania. Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science 2 (2): 117-125
- Turschwell MP, Stewart-Koster B, Kenyon R, Deng RA, Stratford D, Hughes JD, Pollino CA (2022) Spatially structured relationships between white banana prawn (*Penaeus merguiensis*) catch and riverine flow in the Northern Prawn Fishery, Australia. Journal of Environmental Management 319: 115761 [doi:https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2022.115761]

Appendix

Appendix 1. Prawn species composition in the Tanzanian marine waters.

No	Scientific name	Common name
1	Penaeus (Fenneropenaeus) indicus	White prawn
2	Metapenaeus monoceros	Speckled shrimp
3	Panaeus semisulcatus	Green tiger prawn
4	Penaeus monodon	Giant tiger prawn
5	Penaeus (Marsupenaeus) japonicus	Kuruma prawn
6	Exhippolysmata ensirostris	Hunter shrimp
7	Macrobranchium rude	Hairy river prawn
8	Nematopalaemon tenuipes	Spider prawn
9	Metapenaeus stebbingi	Peregrine Shrimp
10	Penaeus (Melicertus) canalculatus	Witch prawn
11	Penaeus (Melicertus) latisulcatus	Western king prawn

Source: Silas (2011) and Mwakosya et al. (2009)

Original Article

Mitigating proximate impacts of tropical cyclone landfalls in the Southwest Indian Ocean

Charles Serele^{*1}, Michel Kouadio¹, Francois Kayitakire¹

¹ Research and Development Department, African Risk Capacity (ARC), 1 Eglin Road, Sunninghill, 2157 Johannesburg, South Africa

Western Indian Ocean JOURNAL OF Marine Science

Open access

Citation:

Serele C, Kouadio M, Kayitakire F (2023) Mitigating proximate impacts of tropical cyclone landfalls in the Southwest Indian Ocean. Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science 22(2): 147-161 [doi: 10.4314/wiojms.v22i2.11]

Received: June 23, 2023

Accepted: November 13, 2023

Published: December 20, 2023

Copyright:

Owned by the journal. The articles are open access articles distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY 4.0) licence.

* **Corresponding author:** charles.serele@arc.int

Abstract

The occurrence and impacts of tropical cyclones in the Southwest (SW) Indian Ocean were investigated over five cyclone seasons (November to April) between 2018/19 and 2022/23. Data describing cyclone characteristics, affected populations and economic losses from cyclone landfalls in Madagascar and Mozambique were extracted from the African Risk Capacity (ARC)'s Tropical Cyclone Explorer (TCE) software. Of 56 cyclones that formed in the region, 27 landfalls occurred with an average of 2.8 per season in Madagascar and 2.6 in Mozambique, mainly in January and February of each year. Most cyclone landfalls in Madagascar were categorized as moderate tropical storms (MTS, 43 %) and intense tropical cyclones (ITC, 22 %). In Mozambique, landfalls were mostly ITC (31 %) followed by MTS (23 %). Landfalls of very intense tropical cyclones (VITC) were more common in Mozambique (15 %) than Madagascar (7 %). An average of 1.8 million and 775,000 people per season were exposed to strong cyclone winds in Madagascar and Mozambique, respectively, with economic losses from cyclones per season averaging \$544 million in Madagascar and \$170 million in Mozambique. The African Risk Capacity (ARC), a specialized agency of the African Union, has implemented a parametric insurance solution to mitigate the proximate effects of cyclones damage on vulnerable populations. Four modules to estimate losses caused by cyclone events are described; the hazard-, vulnerability / damage-, - exposure- and insurance modules. Initial outcomes of the ARC's parametric cyclone insurance policy in Madagascar and Mozambique are discussed. Since its launch in 2020, the ARC's parametric cyclone insurance policy including its Replica partner allocated a total payout of \$12.2 million to Madagascar following the landfalls of cyclones BATSIRAI in 2022 and FREDDY in 2023.

Keywords: cyclone, climate change, landfall, parametric insurance, Madagascar, Mozambique, African Risk Capacity (ARC)

Introduction

The Southwest Indian Ocean (SWIO) region is one of the most active areas in the world in terms of tropical cyclone development (Malan *et al.*, 2013). On average, 11-12 cyclones with wind speeds greater than 63 km/h and often exceeding 200 km/h occur yearly in the region (Mavume *et al.*, 2009). Several studies show that climate change is making cyclones stronger (rapid intensification, higher maximum wind speeds and more intense and very intense cyclones), wetter (strong storm surges, excessive rainfall, and risk of high coastal and inland flooding), and slower moving after making landfall on inhabited lands (Kossin *et al.*, 2020; Knutson *et al.*, 2019). In addition to huge economic losses, tropical cyclones have caused a trail of death and destruction, and physical losses across countries. Cyclone disasters significantly contribute to the high levels of poverty and food insecurity in the affected countries and exacerbate the existing conditions caused by previous disasters (World Bank, 2015; Clayton, 2012). The strong winds, excessive rains and flooding associated with cyclones have a devastating impact on national economies and on the livelihoods of local people (Nash *et al.*, 2015; Harvey *et al.*, 2014). Moreover, they weaken people's resilience, plunge communities into indescribable poverty, and expose them to increased risks of water-related diseases such as cholera, and trauma, as recently occurred in Mozambique and Malawi during cyclone FREDDY (IOM, 2023; UNICEF, 2023).

Although most modelling studies predict a decrease in the overall frequency of tropical cyclones, several authors also predict an increase in the global average intensity of these cyclones (Knutson et al., 2020). Data from international disaster databases shows that the risk of cyclones making landfall in the SWIO region over Madagascar was four times higher between 2000 and 2023 than between 1950 and 1999, and two and a half times higher for Mozambique for the same periods (EM-DAT, 2023). This implies a higher risk for Madagascar which is among the ten most exposed countries to cyclonic disasters in the world due to its geographical position in the SWIO region (Rakotoarimanana et al., 2022). Despite the damage caused to Madagascar, Mozambique and many other cycloneprone countries already struggling to recover from previous climate-induced disasters, measures taken to reduce or mitigate the effects of cyclones are still unsustainable, making local populations even more vulnerable to natural disasters. Furthermore, these countries have relatively weak disaster warning, preparedness, and adaptation strategies, and need more financial support to respond quickly and effectively to cyclone disasters. In addition, most developing countries generally lack the financial capacity to intervene quickly before, during and after disasters, often forcing them to reallocate funds from the national budgets to respond to a crisis and save vulnerable populations (Ndlovu, 2020). In most instances, humanitarian aid funds are insufficient to cover all the immediate needs of vulnerable populations (OCHA, 2012).

As an African Union Specialized Agency, the African Risk Capacity Group (ARC Agency and ARC Ltd), here referred to as ARC, was established to help African governments improve their capabilities to better plan, prepare for and respond promptly to natural disasters triggered by extreme weather events. Furthermore, through ARC Ltd, the financial affiliate of the Group, ARC offers risk pooling and transfer services. Its members are African governments comprising countries that have adopted a policy each year, as well as capital contributors such as, among others, the British Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office (FCDO) and the German Development Cooperation (BMZ/ KfW). By shifting the burden of natural disaster risks away from governments, ARC facilitates a more deliberate approach to disaster response. It disburses funds to finance pre-approved contingency plans to respond quickly to disasters. In November 2020, ARC launched its sovereign tropical cyclone parametric insurance policy for the Indian Ocean region to provide rapid financing and early response to countries affected by tropical cyclones (African Risk Capacity, 2020a). Unlike traditional insurance, which pays compensation based on the actual damage observed, parametric insurance (also known as index-based insurance) relies on the measurement of a specific index (parametric index) to establish the amount of compensation (Sengupta and Kousky, 2020). The risk transfer parameters are defined according to each country's risk profile, and the parametric insurance policy is structured accordingly. The country receives an insurance payout within a two-week period when the level of damages caused by a tropical cyclone triggers the insurance policy. The ARC cyclone parametric insurance policy is also extended to humanitarian partners under the ARC Replica programme, which allows humanitarian actors (called Replica partners) to replicate the conditions of the cyclone insurance policy of selected countries.

At the start of the season, each country participating in the cyclone risk pool pays a premium directly linked to the amount of risk it transfers to the Insurers. Several donors help countries finance premiums through a premium support facility based on agreed upon criteria. Donors often cover a bigger portion of the premium especially for new countries while encouraging a gradual increase of premium budget allocation from countries' national budget as a way of strengthening the disaster risk management and financing culture within the government system. This study aims to investigate the occurrence of cyclones in the SWIO region (Fig. 1), and their impacts on Madagascar and Mozambique. It also highlights the importance of ARC's parametric insurance policy in mitigating the risks of tropical cyclones in the Indian Ocean region.

Materials and methods

Tropical Cyclone Insurance Product

Since the fifteen tropical cyclone events that formed during the 2018-2019 cyclone season in the SWIO region, including the devastating cyclones IDAI and KENNETH which led to the death of over a thousand people and caused extensive destruction to property, agricultural lands, and infrastructure in Mozambique (Hope, 2019), countries in the SWIO region have shown renewed interest in parametric insurances to facilitate timely response to tropical cyclone-related disasters. To respond to the needs of its member states, the ARC developed a tropical cyclone model capable of accurately estimating the risk and losses due to cyclone events, and this model underpins the insurance transaction to provide rapid financing and early response to longitude), maximum wind speed (Vmax), maximum wind radius (Rmax), radius of the environment (Renv).

The tropical cyclone model, which is at the heart of the ARC parametric insurance product covers hazards related to winds and storm surges. It combines characteristics of cyclone hazards with exposure and vulnerability data to model the populations affected and the economic losses for six countries, namely, Madagascar, Mozambique, Comoros, Tanzania, Mauritius, and Seychelles. The cyclone parametric insurance



Figure 1. Study area and geographic coverage of the ARC Tropical Cyclone Explorer (TCE).

countries affected by cyclones (African Risk Capacity, 2020b). The ARC tropical cyclone model uses cyclone track information produced by the US Joint Typhoon Warning Center (JTWC) and the Regional Specialized Meteorological Centre (RSMC)/La Reunion, based on the Automated Tropical Cyclone Forecast (ATCF) system, a global reporting system that replicates reports from WMO-mandated agencies in cyclone-affected regions. The ATCF file (resolution of 30 arcseconds \approx 1 km x 1 km) includes near real-time data (A-deck) and archive data (B-deck) with the following characteristics for each cyclone: location of the eye (latitude and

product is implemented through four modules, logically sequenced to offer a reliable estimate of losses caused by cyclone events (Fig. 2):

a) Hazard module:

This module uses the A-deck system files as a source of cyclone characteristics data for the modelling of cyclones wind field and storm surge height. However, to be consistent with tropical cyclone dynamics in the SWIO region, simulated events are generated using the best available historical event information for the region. Indeed, historical cyclone records since 1983



Figure 2. Generic framework of the ARC tropical cyclone insurance product.

contain only a small subset of the potential range of cyclones likely to occur. Risk modelling deploys statistical techniques to generate stochastic databases of cyclones that share the fundamental characteristics of the historical dataset but provides a solid basis for probabilistic risk assessment. Several synthetic tropical cyclone events are therefore generated for the SWIO region using the tropical cyclone tracks known as STORM (Synthetic Tropical cyclone geneRation Model) (Bloemendaal et al., 2020). This methodology uses a combination of all best-track data available from the International Best Track Archive for Climate Stewardship (IBTrACS) (Knapp et al., 2010). However, as the best-track data from the JTWC are more complete than those from RSMC/La Réunion, they were used to develop stochastic tracks on 1,500-years (≈10,000 cyclones) over the period of 1983 to 2013. This stochastic catalog generated from STORM presents all the characteristics of historical data and provides a solid basis for estimating risk probabilities. For the wind field parametrisation, the ARC tropical cyclone model is based on the SLOSH (Sea, Lake, and Overland Surges from Hurricanes) approach (Jelesnianski et al., 1992) which uses the relationship developed by Quiring et al. (2011) and Nederhoff et al. (2019) to estimate the radius of maximum winds for historical storms, the radius of tropical storm force winds and the radius to environment. It includes basin specific relationships more applicable to the SWIO region, which significantly improves wind depictions for

historical storms and estimation of real-time events. The hydrodynamic model used to simulate the storm surge is the three-dimensional modified Princeton Ocean Model (Blumberg, 1992), which considers wave configuration and tidal dynamics. It can carry out simulations of intrinsically satisfactory quality in post-event mode when the trajectory of the cyclone is known with the best possible estimate of the relevant characteristics associated with cyclone event. During an active cyclone event in the SWIO region, upon receipt of warnings from JTWC and RSMC, the hazard module runs a simulation of the new forecast to produce near-real time detailed, geographically distributed hazard layers of maximum winds and storm surge height induced by the tropical cyclone. Based on these hazard layers, hazard estimates are generated by applying sector-specific damage and impact models to those hazard results, and later ingested into the vulnerability/damage module.

b) Vulnerability/Damage module:

The structural vulnerability approach that relies on engineering models and information on local building characteristics to determine vulnerability curves has been considered (Pita *et al.*, 2013). This approach uses local data, including details on building composition, to model vulnerability under specific tropical cyclone conditions (Wilson *et al.*, 2022). Impact algorithms corresponding to four generic exposure classes have been developed to translate hazard estimates

into economic impact estimates at exposure locations. These impact algorithms account for damage due to key event perils produced by cyclones (e.g., winds and storm surges) and accommodate the range of vulnerabilities within the composite exposure categories. The wind damage curves are derived from a third power function based on cyclone winds and the type of exposures, while the storm surge damage curves are linear, starting at 0.2 meters inundation, with maximum damage occurring with inundation of 3 meters for agricultural and low-density exposures, 6 meters for medium-density, and 10 meters for high-density exposures. The loss functions are specific to each asset class and the data for the historical database events are produced using the updated exposure data, custom damage functions for each asset class, and winds and storm surge data associated with each historical data. Loss estimation focuses exclusively on direct, physical damage to exposed assets and building contents. It is designed to estimate the replacement value of affected assets. The loss at each grid point is the sum of damage to the structure and contents, while the total loss for an administrative region is the total losses for each grid point in the region. The total loss for the country is the sum of the administrative regions. The result of calculating the modelled loss for every cyclone is an exceedance probability curve showing the value of loss which is likely to be incurred at given levels of probability.

c) Insurance module:

Using specific contract terms, this module translates exposure loss estimates into loss estimates for a portfolio of assets. Payout estimates are determined when the actual economic losses caused by a cyclone exceeds the trigger point also called the attachment point (defined by the policyholder). The maximum payout (coverage limit) is paid at the exit level (exhaustion point), which represents the value of the loss at which the full payout is due to the policyholder.

d) Exposure module:

The exposures which are inputs of the vulnerability/ damage module correspond to human, structural or agricultural assets located in the risk zone; exposures to cyclones generally increase as populations continue to move and expand near coasts (UN, <u>2017</u>; Crowell *et al.*, 2010). The resolution of the exposure data is consistent with the data in the stochastic database and post-event hazard footprints, and it was estimated at 30 arcseconds (\approx 1 km² grid cells) using a combination of satellite remote sensing, population estimates and GDP data. Population data is from WorldPop (www.worldpop.org), while GDP data is updated to 2017 using country-level GDP from the World Bank and CIA World Factbook databases and is used to estimate the replacement value of different asset classes (World Bank, 2023; CIA, 2023). Each 1 km² grid cell is classified into four classes based on MODIS landuse classification and population density: rural, mixed (rural/urban), medium-density urbanized and high-density urbanised. Each individual exposure record consists of the geographic and administrative area location, and three elements are used to estimate the loss from the hazard at that exposure location: exposure of four classes, number of units of exposure, and value per unit of exposure. In addition to the above, each administrative area is assigned weather construction variables which are applied to all exposures within that area. The construction quality variables apply as adjustments to the loss curves in loss evaluation. Construction quality is estimated based on past damaging events, or experts' judgement based on available data. This global exposure database includes an estimate of the physical assets, designed to provide reasonable estimates for losses (replacement value) from cyclone hazards.

Extraction of Cyclone Impacts Data

The tropical cyclone insurance product is integrated into the Tropical Cyclone Explorer (TCE) software, a dedicated online platform developed by ARC which allows users to visualise cyclone characteristics, calculate the affected population and economic losses caused by cyclones, and the payout amount which insured countries are entitled to receive in the event of a cyclone disaster (African Risk Capacity, 2020c). To investigate the occurrence of cyclones in the Indian Ocean region, as well as their impacts on Madagascar and Mozambique, the TCE was used to extract data on cyclone characteristics and impacts from the 2018/19 to 2022/23 seasons (a cyclone season runs from November to April in the Indian Ocean region). Indeed, when a cyclone system is active in this region, JTWC and the RSMC/La Reunion issue a warning bulletin every six hours detailing the characteristics of the cyclone. Data from these bulletins are used to forecast the track of the cyclone and this information is ingested into TCE to produce estimates of the populations affected and economic losses caused by this cyclone. TCE begins to monitor the characteristics of any cyclone when its maximum sustained wind (MSW) reaches the minimum threshold of 63 km/h based on the 10-minute average sustained winds unit at 10 meters above terrain. All named cyclones considered in this study were

Classification of cyclones	Maximum sustained winds(km/h)
Moderate Tropical Storm (MTS)	63 <= MSW <= 88
Severe Tropical Storm (STS)	89 <= MSW <= 112
Tropical Cyclone (TC)	118 <= MSW <= 165
Intense Tropical Cyclone (ITC)	166 <= MSW <= 212
Very Intense Tropical Cyclone (VITC)	> 215

Table 1. Classification of cyclones based on the maximum sustained winds (MSW)*.

*10-minute sustained wind

grouped into five categories according to the RSMC/ La Reunion's cyclone intensity scale as indicated in Table 1. Thus, in this paper, the word "cyclones" refers to all types of tropical cyclone events; and the windspeed considered for the categorisation is the maximum speed reached throughout the cyclone course. Although the TCE loss calculations are available for six countries in the SWIO region, only Madagascar and Mozambique, which experienced cyclone landfalls during these five seasons, were considered in this study.

Results and Discussion

Occurrence of tropical cyclones in the SWIO

Monitoring of tropical cyclones using TCE has shown that fifty-six cyclones of different categories have formed over the past five seasons from 2018/19 to 2022/23 in the SWIO region (Fig. 3). The most frequent cyclone categories occurring in the SWIO are Intense Tropical Cyclone (ITC) accounting for 32 % of all events, followed by Moderate Tropical Storm (MTS) (30 %), Tropical Cyclone (TC) (22 %) and Severe Tropical Storm (STS) (9 %) (Fig. 4). On the other hand, the most severe category of cyclones, namely, the Very Intense Tropical Cyclone (VITC), represents 7 %. It is worth mentioning that cyclones of moderate intensity, namely MTS, appear every season. On average, 11.2 tropical cyclones formed per season in the SWIO region. The 2018/19 was an above-average cyclone season for Mozambique, while Madagascar faced no

cyclones. Indeed, the season was very active with fifteen cyclones formed, 60 % of which were ITC (Fig. 4). Three cyclones, DESMOND (MTS) in 2019, IDAI (ITC) and KENNETH (ITC) in 2019 made landfall over Mozambique. The Mozambique cyclone season was dominated by nine ITCs, including the two most devastating cyclones IDAI and KENNETH which caused significant loss of life, damage, and destruction in their paths. IDAI made landfall in the port city of Beira with winds exceeding 175 km/h on March 14, and continued inland affecting Mozambique, Zimbabwe, and Malawi. Cyclone IDAI has since been labelled the deadliest cyclone in southern Africa, and six weeks later the follow up landfall of KENNETH (195 km/h) in northern Mozambique made a record as the first time Mozambique had experienced two severe cyclones in the same season (IFRC, 2019; MISAU, 2019). Tropical cyclones IDAI and KENNETH caused significant destruction and damage in the provinces of Cabo Delgado, Sofala, Manica, Zambezia and Tete, killing at least 648 people (45 deaths from KENNETH and at least 603 deaths from IDAI), injuring nearly 1,700 people and leaving around 2.2 million people in need of urgent humanitarian assistance and protection (OCHA, 2019).

The 2019/20 season was slightly below-average in terms of cyclones (Fig. 4). Ten cyclones including four MTS (40 %) were recorded during that season. From these ten, three cyclones hit Madagascar; BELNA



Figure 3. Proportion of cyclone occurrences (all seasons).



Figure 4. Category of tropical cyclones per season.

(TC) in 2019, DIANE (MTS) in 2020 and FRANCISCO (MTS) in 2020. BELNA was the season's first cyclone to hit Madagascar (Soalala, Boeny region) on December 9 at the TC stage with winds of 145 km/h. Mozambique did not experience any cyclone landfall during the 2019/20 season.

The 2020/21 season was marked by 12 cyclones, a number higher than the seasonal average. The TC category dominated the season, accounting for 42 % of all cyclones (Fig. 4). Of the 12 cyclones, three made landfall over Madagascar and Mozambique. Indeed, at the beginning of the season, both CHALANE (STS) in 2020 and ELOISE (TC) in 2021 hit Madagascar and Mozambique. ELOISE was more damaging for Mozambique which was hit on January 23 near the city of Beira with winds of 140 km/h (against 100 km/h for Madagascar). It caused widespread damage and flooding on a long swathe of coastline of Mozambique and impacted an area that was still recovering from cyclone IDAI which hit the same place in March 2019. ELOISE was followed by GUAMBE (TC) in 2021 and IMAN (MTS) in 2021 which respectively hit Mozambique and Madagascar but did not cause significant damages. Twelve named cyclones formed during the 2021/22 season, with MTS accounting for the highest occurrence (50 % of all cyclones). Among these 12 events, six made landfall over Madagascar in 2022; ANA (MTS), BATSIRAI (ITC), DUMAKO (MTS), EMNATI (ITC), GOMBE (ITC) and JASMINE (STS), and three in Mozambique ANA (MTS), GOMBE (ITC) and JASMINE (STS) during the same year. BATSIRAI was the most devastating cyclone of the 2020/21 season and the worst to hit Madagascar since ENAWO in 2017 (OCHA, 2022). It made landfall near the northern town of Mananjary (Vatovavy region) on February 5 with winds of 165 km/h and extreme gusts exceeding 230 km/h.

The 2022/23 season was a below-average cyclone season with a total of seven cyclones of which 43 % reached the stage of TC (Fig. 4). Two cyclones, CHE-NESO (MTS) and FREDDY (VITC) made landfall over Madagascar in 2023. From these two, FREDDY was a powerful and compact event that severely affected both Madagascar and Mozambique. After CHENESO, FREDDY was the second cyclone to hit the east coast of Madagascar on February 21 (near Mananjary) with winds of 130 km/h. It crossed Madagascar and made its first landfall on the coast of Mozambique on February 24 as a severe storm. FREDDY later re-emerged in the Mozambique Channel, and a week later made a second landfall in Mozambique near Quelimane District (Zambezia Province) on March 11 with winds of 148 km/h. FREDDY brought destructive winds and extreme rains that hit large areas in Madagascar, Mozambique, southern Malawi, northeast Zimbabwe, and southeast Zambia (OCHA, 2023). Freddy made history as the longest-lasting tropical cyclone on record.

Table 2 shows the seasonal landfalls of cyclones over Madagascar and Mozambique. With six cyclones in 2021/22, Madagascar recorded the highest number of landfalling cyclones in a single season. Madagascar and Mozambique have had at least one cyclonefree season, in 2018/19 for Madagascar and 2019/20

Cyclone	Number of	Madagascar		Mozambique	
seasons	occurrences	Number of landfalls	Ratio	Number of landfalls	Ratio
2018/19	15	0	0.0	5*	0.4
2019/20	10	3	0.2	0	0.0
2020/21	12	3	0.2	3	0.2
2021/22	12	6	0.4	3	0.2
2022/23	7	2	0.2	2*	0.2
Total	56	14	1.0	13	1.0
Average	11.2	2.8	0.2	2.6	0.2

Table 2. Seasonal landfalls of cyclones over Madagascar and Mozambique.

*Take into account multiple landfalls from the same cyclone

for Mozambique. The 56 cyclones formed between 2018/19 and 2022/23 in the SWIO region caused in total 27 landfalls (48 %) in Madagascar and Mozambique. Madagascar experienced 14 landfalls (52 %), compared to 13 (48 %) for Mozambique. However, there have been three occasions when the same cyclone made multiple landfalls on the Mozambican coasts. This happened in 2018/19 with cyclones DESMOND and IDAI, and in 2022/23 with FREDDY. On average, 2.8 and 2.6 cyclones per season have made landfall in Madagascar and Mozambique respectively (Table 2). The same highest landfall ratio (0.4) recorded for Mozambique in 2018/19, and Madagascar in 2021/22 could be explained by warmer than usual sea surface temperatures produced by the propagation of ocean waves in the SWIO region (Vitart et al., 2003; Mann and Emanuel, 2006; Fitchett et al., 2014). As underlined by Shultz et al., (2020), most storms that form over unusually warm waters tend to intensify rapidly, and many end up on inhabited lands, factors that may be linked to climate change. Figure 5 shows that most cyclones (65 %) made landfalls in Madagascar during January and February with a preponderance of cyclones in January (36 %). Rakotoarimanana *et al.* (2022) also found similar results when analysing cyclone landfalls over Madagascar from 2000 to 2022. In Mozambique, 54 % of the landfalls also occurred in January and February, with the highest number of landfalls (31 %) occurring in January. However, based on the observations from these five seasons, for Mozambique, there is as much chance of a cyclone making landfall in February as in April. For both countries, cyclone landfalls can be expected mainly in January and in February, and to a lesser extent in April for Mozambique.

Analysis of the proportion of the categories of cyclones that made landfall in Madagascar shows that they have not been regularly distributed over the past five seasons (Fig. 6a). The cyclones that most often make landfall are mainly of moderate intensity (MTS) representing 43 %, followed by intense tropical cyclones (ITC) with 22 %. Very intense tropical cyclones (VITC) seem rarer (7 %) in Madagascar. In Mozambique, the distribution of cyclones seems





Figure 5. Monthly landfalling of tropical cyclones.



Figure 6. Proportion of the category of landfalling cyclones in Madagascar and Mozambique.

more balanced compared to Madagascar (Fig. 6b). However, unlike Madagascar, the cyclones that made landfall in Mozambique are mostly of high intensity (ITC) and represent 31 %, followed by moderate intensity cyclones (MTS), which are 23 %. On the other hand, very intense tropical cyclones (VITC) represent a more significant proportion (15 %) in Mozambique than in Madagascar. Furthermore, it is worth mentioning that in Madagascar and Mozambique, when the first cyclone that makes landfall is of high intensity, the second has been known to be of low intensity and vice versa.

Impacts of tropical cyclones as estimated by TCE

The consequences of tropical cyclones over the past five seasons have been devastating for Madagascar and Mozambique. The impacts of these cyclones on populations exposed to strong winds (\geq 118 km/h, minimum of a TC stage) and economic losses as estimated by the TCE are presented in Figures 7, 8, Table 3a and Table 3b. From 2018/19 to 2022/23, an average of 1.8 million people per season were exposed to high-intensity cyclones with winds exceeding 118 km/h in Madagascar. Although Madagascar experienced 14 landfalling cyclones, TCE estimated that in the first three seasons (2018/19, 2019/20, and 2020/21), only 32,000 people were exposed to strong winds. The number of people exposed to strong winds increased significantly with the landfall of the devastating cyclones BATSIRAI in 2021/22 and FREDDY in 2022/23, which impacted 6.8 million and 2.2 million people, respectively as

Cyclone seasons	Cyclone names	Populations exposed (≥ 118 km/h)	Direct economic losses (USD)	Total economic losses (USD)
	DESMOND	-	-	
2018/19	IDAI	-	720,000	721,000
	KENNETH	-	-	
	BELNA	32,261	9 million	
2019/20	DIANE	0	0	9 million
	FRANCISCO	0	0	
	CHALANE	0	5,000	
0000/01	ELOISE	0	265,000	070 000
2020/21	IMAN	0	0	270,000
	GUAMBE	-	-	
	ANA	0	0	
	BATSIRAI	6,868,285	2,200 million	
0.001/00	DUMAKO	0	86,000	2,256 million
2021/22	EMNATI	25,765	54 million	
	GOMBE	0	12,000	
	JASMINE	0	2 million	
0,000,000	CHENESO	0	5 million	4.07
2022/23	FREDDY	2,202,461	482 million	487 million

Table 3a. TCE estimated population and economic losses for Madagascar.

Cyclone seasons	Cyclone names	Populations exposed (≥ 118 km/h)	Direct economic losses (USD)	Total economic losses (USD)
	DESMOND	0	0	
2018/19	IDAI	810,205	328 million	422 million
	KENNETH	425,949	94 million	
	BELNA	-	-	
2019/20	DIANE	-	-	-
	FRANCISCO	-	-	
	CHALANE	0	1 million	227 million
0000/01	ELOISE	964,386	226 million	
2020/21	IMAN	-	-	
	GUAMBE		10,000	
	ANA	0	250,000	
	BATSIRAI	-	-	
0.001/00	DUMAKO	-	-	84 million
2021/22	EMNATI	-	-	
	GOMBE	693,525	84 million	
	JASMINE	0	0	
0.000/08	CHENESO	-	-	100
2022/23	FREDDY	980,000	123 million	123 million

Table 3b. TCE estimated population and economic losses for Mozambique.

estimated by TCE. In Mozambique, the average seasonal number of people exposed to strong winds was 775,000; however, unlike Madagascar, the number of people exposed in Mozambique was almost evenly distributed over the past five seasons (Fig. 7). Mozambique has experienced five major cyclones, including IDAI and KENNETH, both of which occurred in 2018/19 and exposed 1.2 million people to winds exceeding 118 km/h. The other three devastating cyclones, ELOISE in 2020/21, GOMBE in 2021/22, and FREDDY in 2022/23, brought strong winds that severely affected 2.6 million people in Mozambique. In addition to the populations exposed, TCE estimates direct economic losses due to cyclone winds and storm surges. Still, this does not consider indirect economic losses or losses due to flooding covered by another ARC parametric insurance product dedicated to river flooding. Tables 3a and 3b and Figure 8 clearly show that the cyclone BATSIRAI, which hit Madagascar in 2021/22, set the record as the costliest cyclone in the SWIO region over the past five seasons, with total economic losses of \$2.2 billion. Indeed, TCE estimated that the Top 5 list of the costliest cyclones affecting both Madagascar and Mozambique over the



Figure 7. Population exposed to high winds (Source: TCE).



Figure 8. Total direct economic losses (Source: TCE).

past five seasons is dominated by BATSIRAI (\$2.2 billion), followed by FREDDY (\$605 million), IDAI (\$329 million), ELOISE (\$226 million) and KENNETH (\$94 million). Furthermore, for Madagascar, the three costliest cyclones (BATSIRAI, EMNATI and FREDDY) occurred in 2022 and 2023, while for Mozambique, the three costliest cyclones (IDAI, ELOISE, and FREDDY) occurred with a two-year interval (2019, 2021 and 2023). As a result, the total direct economic losses caused by cyclones over the past five seasons is estimated at \$2.72 billion for Madagascar compared to \$855 million for Mozambique.

Tropical cyclone parametric insurance policy Triggering of the cyclone policy

Under the ARC tropical cyclone insurance policy, realtime monitoring and post-event reports are issued for any cyclone affecting countries with winds exceeding 63 km/h. The TCE enabled the monitoring of the characteristics of cyclones over the past seasons. As shown in the previous section, about one-third (32 %) of cyclones forming in the SWIO region have affected mainly Madagascar and Mozambique, and the heavy rains associated with those cyclones also affected countries such as Malawi, Zimbabwe, Zambia, Mauritius, Comoros, and La Reunion. Due to its high exposure to cyclones, Madagascar was the first country to subscribe to the ARC parametric insurance policy in the 2020/21 season.

Since the launch of the ARC cyclone parametric insurance policy in 2020, Madagascar has experienced landfalls of eleven cyclones of different categories ranging from MTS to VITC. During the occurrence of these cyclones, ARC provided countries with daily early warning information on the severity and geographic location of cyclones, areas at risk and expected impacts (number of populations at risk and economic losses) to help countries and humanitarian organisations put in place pro-active measures such as the preventive evacuation of vulnerable populations and the prepositioning of logistics necessary for emergency responses. For example, based on early warning information provided by the ARC before the landfall of the cyclone FREDDY in February 2023, the government of Madagascar evacuated 7,000 people in the coastal region who were in the path of the cyclone, while school and public transportation were suspended (African Risk Capacity, 2023). Three business days after the end of a cyclone event, ARC sent the policyholder a post-event loss report showing the total economic losses due to the cyclone and the amount of the payout the insured country was entitled to under the insurance policy. The policy is triggered when the total economic losses exceed the attachment point (or trigger point) pre-defined in the policyholder's contract.

Of the 11 cyclones that have made landfall in Madagascar since 2020, only two of high intensity, namely BATSIRAI and FREDDY, triggered the ARC cyclone parametric insurance policy. Indeed, BATSIRAI a devastating cyclone that hit Madagascar in February 2022, near the northern town of Mananjary (Vatovavy region) triggered the insurance policy for the first time. The economic losses associated which BAT-SIRAI were estimated at \$2.2 billion by TCE. These losses are direct losses solely due to wind and storm



Figure 9. Payouts from ARC's cyclone parametric insurance coverage (Source: TCE).

surge hazards, and do not consider damages due to flooding, nor indirect economic costs (Table 3a). The calculation of the payout as per the ARC parametric insurance policy showed that these economic losses had exceeded the attachment point of \$155 million pre-defined in Madagascar's cyclone policy. As a result, a payout of \$10.7 million was paid by ARC to the Government of Madagascar under the 2021/22 parametric insurance policy against the risks of tropical cyclones (Fig. 9). In February 2023, FREDDY, a powerful and long-lasting cyclone, made landfall in Madagascar, near Mananjary, an area already affected by BATSIRAI in 2022. FREDDY has caused economic losses estimated at \$482 million (Table 3a), thus exceeding the attachment point of \$165 million indicated in Madagascar's cyclone policy. Therefore, in the aftermath of FREDDY, the government of Madagascar received a \$1.2 million payout from ARC (Fig. 9). In both cases of cyclones BATSIRAI and FREDDY, the transfer of the payouts to the Government of Madagascar was processed within two weeks after the publication of the post-event loss report. These payouts enabled the government of Madagascar to quickly implement response activities to protect the vulnerable populations and save lives.

Response activities implemented to mitigate cyclone risks

Under the tropical cyclone insurance policy, ARC works in tandem with countries to develop contingency plans where a list of intervention activities is agreed upon beforehand, which may include the provision of health and nutrition support, food assistance to the affected populations, educational materials, reconstruction of schools, etc. These pre-approved plans ensure there is a strategy for a rapid use of the insurance payout (if any) for response activities, in the event the country is hit by a cyclone. For example, following the landfall of BATSIRAI, the government of Madagascar has managed to intervene for immediate assistance and early recovery in the eastern regions of Vatovavy, Fitovinany, and Atsimo Atsinanana by assisting over 85,000 beneficiaries. The main intervention activities consisted of food assistance to 26,500 households, nutritional and health support for children and pregnant/ breastfeeding women for about 6,500 households, reconstruction of 850 traditional huts and provision of household kits, supplying construction materials to health and education centres for 315 classrooms, etc. (African Risk Capacity, 2022). With the payout received following FREDDY's landfall in Madagascar, interventions were conducted in the six most affected towns, namely, Benenitra, Morombe, Sakaraha, Morondava, Manja, and Mahabo (African Risk Capacity, 2023). The intervention activities included food distribution to 13,300 households, seeds, and fertilizers to 6,000 households and cash transfer to 4,300 households. The Replica cyclone policy for Madagascar, backed by ARC's cyclone parametric insurance, also triggered a payout of \$301,000 due to damages caused by the cyclone FREDDY. Therefore, the World Food Programme (WFP), the Replica partner for Madagascar, provided food assistance in the form of food distribution to over 33,000 beneficiaries at high risk of acute food insecurity, mainly in the district of Mananjary in the Vatovavy region (African Risk Capacity, 2023). Through WFP, beneficiaries received more than two months of assistance to meet their immediate needs.

Since its launch in 2020, the ARC's cyclone parametric insurance policy and its Replica partner have allocated a total payout of \$12.2 million to the government of Madagascar to provide a rapid and effective response following the landfalls of cyclones BAT-SIRAI and FREDDY, thereby protecting its vulnerable population and saving countless lives and livelihoods. This participation of Madagascar in the ARC parametric insurance policy and the Replica programme complemented the government efforts towards reducing the impacts of cyclone disasters on their most vulnerable populations. This is very important because, the faster the response, the more lives and livelihoods are protected after a natural disaster such as a cyclone.

As seen above in Table 2, over the past five seasons, Mozambique has experienced thirteen landfalls of cyclones that have caused devastating damage. These cyclones have caused an average economic loss of \$170 million per season as estimated by TCE. Table 4 indicates the TCE simulated payouts that Mozambique would have benefitted if the country had subscribed to the ARC's cyclone parametric insurance policy. The results of the simulations showed that the economic losses caused by cyclones during the 2020/21 and 2022/23 seasons, would have exceeded the attachment point. As a result, a total amount of \$7.3 million would have been paid to the government of Mozambique for damages caused by the cyclones ELOISE in 2021 and FREDDY in 2023 (Table 4). These funds would have enabled the government of Mozambique to quickly assist the affected population by evacuating populations at risk, provision of health and nutritional supplies, food distribution, school materials, or reconstruction of schools and health centers.

Conclusions

Although the analysis of five cyclone seasons and a total of 27 cyclones that made landfall may not allow for statistically significant comparisons, it provides valuable information on the frequency, intensity and impacts of cyclones in the SWIO region, particularly in Madagascar and Mozambique, as well as highlights the relevance of the payouts generated by the ARC parametric insurance policy. This study showed that the ARC's parametric insurance policy and its cyclone monitoring engine, the TCE, successfully captured the occurrence and impacts of tropical cyclones in the SWIO region, especially in Madagascar and Mozambique.

As shown for Madagascar, the innovative parametric insurance solution offers by ARC works well as demonstrated by the two successive payouts that the country received following the landfalls of BATSIRAI and FREDDY which enabled the government's timely response to protect its vulnerable populations. The ARC's cyclone parametric insurance policy is an integral part of countries' disaster risk management and climate resilience strategies. Not only does it helps reduce the financial burden on countries, but it also gives incentives to take prevention and preparedness measures. This is especially critical given how the landfall of tropical cyclones has endangered the lives and livelihoods of millions of people in Madagascar and Mozambique. As post-cyclone recovery efforts are limited by financial constraints due to the significant investments required to assist vulnerable populations, ARC will continue to work with all cycloneprone countries in the SWIO region to encourage them to join the cyclone risk pool. Their participation in the cyclone insurance policy will help build their climate resilience, strengthen their disaster response and recovery capacities, and reduce their vulnerability to climate threats. Comoros has followed Madagascar's example by subscribing to the ARC's cyclone parametric insurance policy. Discussions are underway with other countries in the SWIO region for their future participation in the coming cyclone risk pool. Modelling studies have suggested that there will be a global increase in cyclone intensity in the 21st century (Bengtsson, 2007; Knutson et al., 2010). Given this vulnerability of populations in southern African regions, the need for parametric insurance coverage

Table 4. Payouts simulated by TCE for Mozambique.

Simulated insurance Direct economic losses Cyclone seasons **Cyclones names** payouts (USD)* (USD) ELOISE 5.9 million 2020/21 326 million 2021/22 GOMBE 84 million 0 million 2022/23FREDDY 123 million 1.4 million

*Risk Transfer Parameters: Exhaustion point = \$502 million, Attachment point = \$91 million, Coverage limit = \$18 million, Ceding percentage = 4.38% and Premium = \$1.7 million

must be a high priority for all cyclone-prone countries. It is indeed an effective way to provide faster and more flexible funds to victims of cyclones that would otherwise be difficult to ensure. Furthermore, since tropical cyclones are typically accompanied by heavy rains that cause widespread flooding and considerable damage, ARC is considering upgrading its parametric insurance product to account for the effect of excessive precipitation associated with cyclones.

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to Dr Frederic Vitart from the European Centre for Medium-Range Weather Forecasts (*ECMWF*), and colleagues from the African Risk Capacity (ARC), namely, Dr Robert Agyarko, Elizabeth Sibanda, Lucy Nyirenda, Hussein Madih, and Blessing Siwela for their constructive inputs that helped refine this paper.

References

- African Risk Capacity (2020a) Launch of the first parametric tropical cyclone risk insurance product in Africa. [https://au.int/en/pressreleases/20201221/joint-auarc-press-release-launch-first-parametric-tropicalcyclone-risk]
- African Risk Capacity (2020b) ARC Tropical Cyclone Risk Model, African Risk Capacity (ARC) [https://www. arc.int/resources]
- African Risk Capacity (2020c) The Tropical Cyclone Explorer (TCE) platform [https://tce.arc.int/]
- African Risk Capacity (2022) Final implementation plan of the Government of Madagascar, 2021-2022 seasons - Cyclones, 11 February 2022. Internal document, unpublished
- African Risk Capacity (2023) Back to office report: Validation of the final implementation plan for the tropical cyclone FREDDY in Antananarivo, Madagascar, 3-5 May 2023. Internal document, unpublished
- Bengtsson L (2007) Tropical cyclones in a warmer climate. WMO Bulletin 56 (3): 196-203
- Bloemendaal N, Haigh I, de Moel H, Muis, S (2020) Generation of a global synthetic tropical cyclone hazard dataset using STORM. Nature Scientific Data 7: 40-52
- Blumberg A, Mellor G (1992) A description of a three-dimensional coastal ocean circulation model. In: Heaps N (ed) Three-Dimensional Coastal Ocean Models. American Geophysical Union, New York, NY, 1987. 208 pp

CIA (2023) The world factbook [https://www.cia.gov/]

- Clayton A (2012) Destructive storms, dormant policies: The impact of cyclones on food security in Madagascar. Africa Portal 46 (46):16
- Crowell M, Coulton K, Johnson C, Wescot J (2010) An estimate of the US population living in 100-year coastal flood hazard areas. Journal of Coastal Research 26 (2): 201-211
- EM-DAT (2023) The international disasters database [https://www.emdat.be/]
- Fitchett J, Grab S (2014) A 66-year tropical cyclone record for south-east Africa: temporal trends in a global context. International Journal of Climatology 34 (13): 3604-3615
- Harvey A, Rakotobe Z, Rao S, Dave R, MacKinnon L (2014) Extreme vulnerability of smallholder farmers to agricultural risks and climate change in Madagascar. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 369 (1639): 1-12
- Hope M, (2019) Cyclones in Mozambique may reveal humanitarian challenges of responding to a new climate reality. The Lancet 3: 338-339
- IFRC (2019) Real-Time Evaluation Mozambique Tropical cyclones Idai and Kenneth (2019). Final Report, 8 August 2019. 82 pp
- IOM (2023) Humanitarian needs in Malawi and Mozambique remain high amid cholera outbreak [https:// www.iom.int/news/humanitarian-needs-malawi-and-mozambique-remain-high-amid-cholera-outbreak]
- Jelesnianski C, Chen J, and Shaffer W (1992) SLOSH: Sea, lake, and overland surges from hurricane phenomena. NOAA Technical Reports NWS 48. 71 pp
- Kossin J, Knapp K, Olander T, Velden C (2020) Global increase in major tropical cyclone exceedance probability over the past four decades. Proceedings of the National Academy of Science 117: 1975-1980
- Knapp K, Kruk M, Levinson D, Diamond H and Neumann C (2010) The international best track archive for climate stewardship (IBTrACS) unifying tropical cyclone data. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 91: 363-376
- Knutson T, Camargo S, Chan J (2019) Tropical cyclones and climate change assessment: Part I: Detection and attribution. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 100: 1987-2007
- Knutson T, Camargo J, Chan J, Emanuel K, Chang-Hoi H (2020) Tropical cyclones and climate change assessment: Part II: Projected response to anthropogenic warming. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 101 (3): 303-325

- Mann E, Emanuel A (2006) Atlantic tropical cyclone trends linked to climate change. EOS Transactions of the American Geophysical Union 87 (24): 233-244
- Malan N, Reason C, Loveday B (2013) Variability in tropical cyclone heat potential over the Southwest Indian Ocean. Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans 118: 6734-6746
- Mavume A, Rydberg L, Rouault Mv, Lutjeharms J (2009) Climatology and landfall of tropical cyclones in the South-West Indian Ocean. Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science 8 (1): 15-36
- MISAU (2019) Mozambique National Institute of Health (INS), World Health Organization (WHO). Tropical cyclones Idai and Kenneth Mozambique, Ministerio da Saude - National Situation Report 1, 10th May 2019. 16 pp
- Nash J, Pribyl K, Klein J, Endfield H, Kniveton R, Adamson D (2015) Tropical cyclone activity over Madagascar during the late nineteenth century. International Journal of Climatology 35 (11): 3249-3261
- Nederhoff K, Giardino A, van Ormondt M, Vatvani D (2019) Estimates of tropical cyclone geometry parameters based on best-track data. Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences 19: 2359-2370
- Ndlovu L (2022). Can parametric insurance mitigate Africa's climate risk? World Economic Forum 4 August 2022 [https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2022/08/ parametric-insurance-africa-climate-change-risk/]
- OCHA (2012) Funding for remaining humanitarian needs clearly insufficient. Press Release, Port-au-Prince, 24 July 2012 [https://reliefweb.int/report/haiti/ funding-remaining-humanitarian-needs-clearly-insufficient]
- OCHA (2019) Humanitarian response plan. Revised following Cyclones Idai and Kenneth, November 2018 - June 2019, May 2019
- OCHA (2022) Southern Africa: Cyclone Season, Flash Update No. 5, 10 February 2022
- OCHA (2023) Mozambique: Severe tropical storm FREDDY, Flash Update No. 10, 15 March 2023

- Pita G, Pinelli J, Gurley K, Hamid S (2013) Hurricane vulnerability modelling: development and future trends. Journal of Wind Engineering and Industrial Aerodynamics 114: 96-105
- Rakotoarimanana H, Pandin R, Waloejo S (2022) Analysis of tropical cyclones 2000-2020 in Madagascar. *Disaster Advances 15* (3): 13-20
- Sengupta R, Kousky C (2020) Parametric insurance for disasters. Wharton Risk Center Primer [https:// riskcenter.wharton.upenn.edu/wp-content/ uploads/2020/09/Parametric-Insurance-for-Disasters_Sep-2020.pdf]
- Shultz J, Sands D, Kossin J, Galea S (2020) Double environmental injustice- climate change, Hurricane Dorian, and the Bahamas. New England Journal of Medicine 382: 1-3
- Quiring S, Schumacher A, Labosier C, Zhu L (2011) Variations in mean annual tropical cyclone size in the Atlantic. Journal of Geophysical Research 116: D09114
- UNICEF (2023) Children at risk of cholera in aftermath of Cyclone Freddy, 19 March 2023 [https://www. unicef.org/press-releases/children-risk-cholera-aftermath-cyclone-freddy]
- United Nations (2017) Factsheet: people and oceans. In: The ocean conference United Nations. UN, New York
- Vitart F, Anderson D, Stockdale T (2023) Seasonal forecasting of tropical cyclones landfall over Mozambique. Journal of Climate 16: 3932-3945
- Wilson K, Baldwin J, Young R (2022) Estimating tropical cyclone vulnerability: A review of different opensource approaches. Hurricane Risk in a Changing Climate 2: 255-281
- World Bank (2015) Madagascar overview: Development news, research, data [https://www.worldbank.org/en/ country/madagascar/overview]
- World Bank (2023) GDP (current US\$) [https://data. worldbank.org/]

Instructions for Authors

Thank you for choosing to submit your paper to the Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science. These instructions ensure we have everything required so your paper can move through peer review, production, and publication smoothly.

Any queries should be sent by e-mail to the Editorial Secretariat: wiojms@fc.ul.pt; jppaula@fc.ul.pt; mmcravo@fc.ul.pt.

Editorial Policy

The Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science (WIOJMS) is the research publication of the Western Indian Ocean Marine Science Association (WIOMSA). It publishes original research papers or other relevant information in all aspects of marine science and coastal management as original articles, review articles, and short communications (notes). While submissions on tropical and subtropical waters of the western Indian Ocean and the Red Sea will be given primary consideration, articles from other regions of direct interest to the western Indian Ocean will also be considered for publication.

All manuscripts submitted to the Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science are accepted for consideration on the understanding that their content has not been published elsewhere and is not under consideration by any other journal. Manuscripts and all illustrations should be prepared according to the instructions provided below. Submissions will be subject to a pre-review by the Editor-in-Chief or a member of the Editorial Board and those that fall within the remit of the journal, make a substantial contribution to the field of research, and are in the correct style and format, will be sent for review. Manuscripts that do not meet these criteria will be rejected. Every manuscript will be double-blind reviewed by at least two referees competent in the field of interest.

The research studies must comply with international and national ethical guidelines, including the use of animals in research as well as sampling of endangered species and sensitive habitats.

Submission

Authors should submit an electronic version of the manuscript online by registering as an author on the AJOL website¹ and following the submission prompts. This can be accessed directly or via the link provided at the journal's page on the WIOMSA website². Authors are asked to suggest the names of at least two referees with respective email contacts in the submission message to the editor, avoiding suggested reviewers from the author(s) institution.

The submission must be accompanied by the following documents:

- Complete manuscript single file in word format with the following content sequence:
 - \cdot cover page with title, authors and affiliations;
 - · manuscript (title, abstract, keywords, introduction, main body text, acknowledgements, and references);
 - · tables in editable Word format;
 - \cdot figures (maps, graphs and others) in best possible resolution.

¹ https://www.ajol.info/index.php/wiojms/login

² https://www.wiomsa.org/publications-2/wio-journal-of-marine-science/

- Original files of graphs and diagrams (such as Excel, Power-point, e-Primer, R script, etc.).
- Files of maps (pdf, tiff or jpeg) in high resolution.

In each published WIOJMS issue, the cover has a different colour photograph relevant for the themes of the respective articles. Should the author(s) have high-quality images for which they hold the copyright, they may propose its inclusion as cover for the issue.

The Manuscript

1. The manuscript is your own original work, and does not duplicate any other previously published work, including your own previously published work.

2. The manuscript has been submitted only to the Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science; it is not under consideration or peer review or accepted for publication or in press or published elsewhere.

3. By submitting your manuscript to the Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science, you are agreeing to any necessary originality checks your manuscript may undergo during the peer-review and production process.

4. Contributions must be written in English. Any consistent spelling and publication styles may be used. Please use single quotation marks, except where 'a quote is "within" a quotation'. Long quotations of 40 words or more should be indented without quotation marks. If English is not your first language we suggest that an English-speaker edits the text, before submission.

5. The journal recommends that authors have their manuscripts checked for language by an English native speaker before submission.

6. All persons who have a reasonable claim to authorship should be named in the manuscript as co-authors and should have been involved in the fundamental aspects of the manuscript; the corresponding author acts on their behalf in all matters pertaining to publication of the manuscript. The order of names should be agreed by all authors.

7. The manuscript must be typed in a normal type font (e.g. Times New Roman font size 12, or Arial font size 11) and 1.5 line spacing. Sequential line numbers should be inserted on the manuscript. The total number of pages should not exceed 20 manuscript pages (excluding figures and tables), both for Original Articles and Review Articles. Short Communications must not exceed 8 manuscript pages.

8. Species names must be in italics; the genus is written in full at the first mention in the Abstract, again in the main text, figure and table legends, and abbreviated thereafter.

9. Tables and Figures (maps, graphs and others): originals of all figures should follow the **Guidelines for illustra-tions** referred below. The lettering should be of a size readable after reduction for the final layout. Authors are requested to indicate the recommended position of figures and tables in the left-hand margin of the text. A separate sheet at the end of the document should be used for each table and figure, with the corresponding legend.

10. The international system of units (SI Units) must be used throughout; abbreviations and acronyms should be identified where they first appear; mathematical symbols and formulae should be used only when absolutely necessary and should be clearly defined in the text.

11.A complete **Original Article** manuscript must include the following: title page, abstract, keywords, introduction, materials and methods, results, discussion, acknowledgements, references, tables and figures (with figure legends) in that order.

a. Title Page: this should contain a concise title and the names of authors followed by affiliations and their complete postal addresses, phone numbers, and email addresses. The corresponding author and email address must be indicated.

b. Abstract: the abstract should not exceed 200 words and should be a single paragraph. It should briefly describe the main points of the manuscript.

c. Keywords: four to six key words are required for indexing purposes. Keywords must be written in lower case letters unless when referring names, separated by comas. Avoid using the same words as in the title.

d. Introduction: a brief survey of relevant literature and objectives of the work should be given in this section. Thus, the introduction should largely be limited to the scope, purpose and rationale of the study.

e. Materials and Methods: the methodology used should be clearly explained, including relevant references, such that another person can repeat the procedures. It should provide the framework to gain answers to the questions or problems identified. Sampling methods must be elaborated as well as analytical frameworks and model specifications.

f. Results: the text should be as objective and descriptive as possible. Only material pertinent to the subject should be included. Avoid presenting the same information in both graphical and tabular form.

g. Discussion: this section could be combined with the above to present "Results and Discussion". It should interpret the results in view of the problems identified in the introduction, as well as in relation to other published work. The final paragraph of this section could include concluding remarks and recommendations for future work.

h. Citations: authors should be cited using their surnames, followed by the year of publication. Two authors should be separated by 'and'. If there are more than two authors, only the first author, followed by "*et al.*", should be given. This and other Latin or foreign terms should be italicized.

i.Acknowledgement/s: this section should be brief. Authors are advised to limit acknowledgements to substantial contributions to the scientific and technical aspects of the paper, financial support or improvements in the quality of the manuscript.

j.References: the reference section must contain an alphabetical list of all references mentioned in the text of the manuscript, and the journal rules should be followed strictly. Limit punctuation and special fonts as indicated and give all journal names in full. Cross checking of references in the text to the cited literature and vice-versa is the responsibility of the author(s). Examples for citations from periodicals, books and composite works are given below:

• **Periodicals.** Here the following should be sequentially listed: author's name/s, initials, year of publication, full title of paper, periodical (in full), volume, first and last page numbers.

Example: Richardson K, Beardall J, Raven J (1983) Adaptation of unicellular algae to irradiance: An analysis of strategies. The New Phytologist 93: 157-191

• **Books**. The following should be listed: author's or editor's name, initials, year of publication, full title, publisher, place of publication, total pages.

Example: Kirk TJO (1983) Light and photosynthesis in aquatic ecosystems. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. 401 pp

• **Composite works or serials.** The sequence should be as above, but also should include full title of paper followed by In: editor(s) if any, full title of publication, publisher, etc., and the first and last page numbers.

Example: Sathyendranath S, Platt T (1993a) Remote sensing of water-column primary production. In: Li WKW, Maestrini SY (eds) Measurement of primary production from the molecular to the global Scale. ICES Marine Science Symposia, Vol. 97, Copenhagen. pp 236-243

• Articles with a Digital Object Identifier (DOI).

Example: Gooseff MN, McKnight DM, Lyons HJ, Blum RJ (2002) Weathering reactions and hyporheic exchange controls on stream water chemistry in a glacial meltwater stream in the McMurdo Dry Valleys. Water Resources Bulletin 38 [doi: 10.1029/2001WR000834]

k. **Tables and Figures:** each table and figure should be numbered consecutively, accompanied by a complete caption, and must be cited in the text. Please follow the **Guidelines for illustrations** for details.

l.Supplementary material: in case it is found relevant, authors may submit appendices with relevant information of major interest for the interpretation of the manuscript results. This is not applicable for the raw data of normal research. The editors will decide its eventual inclusion as appendices.

- 12. A complete **Review Article** manuscript must include the following: title page, abstract, keywords, introduction, main body text (the central sections vary with specific divisions according to the theme), acknowledgements, references, tables and figures (with figure legends) in that order.
- **13.** A complete **Short Communication** manuscript must include the same structure as an Original Article in a shorter format.

Failure to follow any point of these guideline may delay or compromise the editorial process. Unless there are communication problems, all communications and exchange of documents shall be made strictly via the AJOL editorial interface. Authors must comply with timing for processing manuscripts, either requested revisions or proof check, or otherwise inform the editors of any delays.

Guidelines for illustrations

Figures

To maintain a graphic consistency throughout all articles and issues of the journal, we advise the use of these guidelines.

The original figures files should be sent separately from the text file to ensure the good quality of the figure reproduction.

Color palette

To maintain visual harmony in the illustrations, we recommend using mainly a monochromatic palette with the introduction of the Western Indian Ocean Journal's identity blue color.

When necessary to allow greater contrast between patterns and colors, the use of the secondary palette is considered.



secondary



Graphs

Graphs should be clear and appealing figures.

The lettering should be of a size readable after reduction for the final layout.

We recommend using the Helvetica font in its various styles (Regular, Medium, Italic, Bold) for the axes and captions of graphs and other figures, as it is a classic, simple and easy reading font.

Preferably exported to pdf files to maintain viewing quality. They must be also sent separately in an editable format in the program in which they were made, for possible edits if necessary.



Example of formatted graph according to WIOJMS graphical guidelines

Published articles per year on WIOJMS.

Photographs

Photographs should have good quality/resolution to maximise contrast and detail during printing (15cm longest edge @300 dpi), be focused and well composed.



Example of low resolution not enough for printing



Example of high resolution good for printing

Maps

Maps must have good resolution for efficient viewing and good reading



Example of low resolution not enough for printing



Example of high resolution good for printing

The Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Sciences is the research publication of the Western Indian Ocean Marine Science Association (WIOMSA). It publishes original research papers or other relevant information in all aspects of marine science and coastal management as articles, reviews, and short communications (notes).

